
Place and Resources Overview 
Committee
Date: Tuesday, 1 June 2021
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: In accordance with the decision taken by Full 

Council on 4 May 2021, this informal meeting will 
take place virtually.  Decisions will be made by the 
appropriate officer following a ‘minded to’ decision 
by members of the committee.

Membership: (Quorum 3) 

Daryl Turner (Chairman), Les Fry (Vice-Chairman), Mike Barron, Pauline Batstone, 
Ryan Hope, Sherry Jespersen, Carole Jones, Val Pothecary, Andrew Starr and Roland Tarr

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services on 
01305 252209 / lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free public 
app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.

Due to the current coronavirus pandemic the Council has reviewed its approach to holding 
committee meetings. Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting and listen 
to the debate online by using the following link: Link to view Place & Resources Overview 
Committee live at 10.00am on 1 June 2021

Members of the public wishing to view the meeting from an iphone, ipad or android 
phone will need to download the free Microsoft Team App to sign in as a Guest, it is 
advised to do this at least 30 minutes prior to the start of the meeting.   

Please note that public speaking has been suspended.  However Public Participation will 
continue by written submission only.  Please see detail set out below. 

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  A recording of the meeting will be available on the council’s 
website after the event. 

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ODEyYTRjZjMtYzFhMy00ZmVmLTk0MzUtMTNkNzdmYmJmZGYy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%220a4edf35-f0d2-4e23-98f6-b0900b4ea1e6%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22e945dac7-c7f0-449d-b9aa-53ead0dfb0e6%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ODEyYTRjZjMtYzFhMy00ZmVmLTk0MzUtMTNkNzdmYmJmZGYy%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%220a4edf35-f0d2-4e23-98f6-b0900b4ea1e6%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22e945dac7-c7f0-449d-b9aa-53ead0dfb0e6%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a


A G E N D A

Page No.

1  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To disclose any pecuniary, other registerable or personal interest as 
set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their disclosure 
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the 
interest and any action they propose to take as part of their 
declaration. 

If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 
in advance of the meeting.

3  CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE

To receive any updates from the Chairman of the Place and 
Resources Overview Committee.

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 
from town and parish councils and members of the public.

Public speaking has been suspended for virtual committee meetings 
during the Covid-19 crisis and public participation will be dealt with 
through written submissions only. 

Members of the public who live, work or represent an organisation 
within the Dorset Council area, may submit up to two questions or a 
statement of up to a maximum of 450 words.  All submissions must be 
sent electronically to lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by the 
deadline set out below.  When submitting a question please indicate 
who the question is for and include your name, address and contact 
details.  Questions and statements received in line with the council’s 
rules for public participation will be published as a supplement to the 
agenda.

Questions will be read out by an officer of the council and a response 
given by the appropriate councillor or officer at the meeting.  All 
questions, statements and responses will be published in full within the 
minutes of the meeting.  The deadline for submission of the full text 
of a question or statement is 8.30am on Tuesday 25 May 2021.

mailto:lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


5  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS

To receive questions submitted by councillors. The deadline for receipt 
of questions is 8.30am on Tuesday 25 May 2021.

6  IMMOBILISATION AND REMOVAL OF VEHICLES PARKED IN 
CONTRAVENTION OF ON-STREET AND OFF-STREET PARKING 
PLACES

5 - 18

To consider a report of the Head of Highways.

7  ASSET TRANSFER POLICY 19 - 78

To consider a report of the Corporate Director for Property and Assets.

The report included on the agenda is the report to be presented to 
Cabinet on 22 June 2021.  The committee are invited to review the 
report and provide comments to Cabinet.

8  STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING POLICY 79 - 96

To consider a report of the Business Solutions Analyst.

9  WEYMOUTH HARBOUR AND ESPLANADE FLOOD AND 
COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGIC OUTLINE CASE

97 - 318

To consider a report of the Service Manager – Major Projects.

10  MANAGEMENT OF COUNCIL OWNED TREES 319 - 336

To consider a report of the Service Manager for Coast and 
Greenspace.

11  PLACE AND RESOURCES OVERVIEW COMMITTEE FORWARD 
PLAN

337 - 352

To review the Place and Resources Overview Committee Forward 
Plan.

To review the Cabinet Forward Plan.

12  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 



notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes.

13  EXEMPT BUSINESS

To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following 
item in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph x of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended).

The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the 
item of business is considered.

There is no exempt business.



Place & Resources Overview Committee
1 June 2021
Immobilisation and Removal of Vehicles 
Parked in Contravention of On-Street and 
Off-Street Parking Places

Support of the committee
Portfolio Holder: Cllr R Bryan, Highways, Travel and Environment

Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: J Sellgren, Executive Director of Place
 

Report Author: Jack Wiltshire
Title: Head of Highways
Tel: 01963 365921
Email: Jack.wiltshire@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation:

That the Place and Resources Overview Committee support the approach 
outlined to remove vehicles parked in contravention of on-street and off-street 
parking regulations.

Reason for Recommendation: 

It is an offence to park in contravention of the relevant traffic orders. However, 
vehicles continue to do so. The option to remove vehicles is necessary so that a 
fair approach to enforcement can be taken. Furthermore, it is important that we 
can ensure inappropriate parking does not inhibit passage along our highways 
and in particular access for emergency vehicles.

1. Executive Summary 

It is Dorset Council’s aim to undertake a fair and transparent approach to the 
immobilisation and removal of vehicles on its highways and car parks. The linked 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



policy document “Immobilisation and Removal of Vehicles Parked in 
Contravention of On-Street and Off-Street Parking Places” outlines the policy 
used in relation to immobilisation and removal of vehicles parked in contravention 
of on and off-street parking restrictions.

These guidelines are designed to deal with vehicles that are parked in 
contravention in the following circumstances:

• Persistent evader vehicles found parked in contravention
• Fraudulent use of disabled persons parking blue badges or an article that 

purports to be a disabled blue badge. 
• Parked in a disabled persons parking bay without displaying a disabled 

blue badge.
• Parked using a fraudulent permit, scratch card or pay and display parking 

ticket; inclusive of cashless parking sessions and virtual permits
• Parked in a manner that causes serious obstruction to emergency 

services and other highway users.

2. Financial Implications

We are able to charge release fees if vehicles are collected. However, this is 
capped at £105 plus the original Penalty Charge Notice amount. The process to 
remove a vehicle is likely to cost a similar amount. Where a release fee is 
charged, there is not likely to be a significant financial cost to Dorset Council if 
vehicles are removed.

In certain situations, it may be more cost effective to not charge a release fee. 
For example, if the cost of setting up and manning a suitable temporary 
compound is greater than the likely income from release fees. In such 
circumstances a typical rate for removal/repositioning of vehicles to ensure the 
highway remains unobstructed would be in the order of £1,500 per day. 
Instances where vehicles need to be removed without charging a release fee are 
likely to be low. Based on experience from 2020, we could expect to enact this 
around five times a year. The annual cost would therefore be in the region of 
£7,500.

3. Well-being and Health Implications 

The risk associated with blocking access for emergency vehicles has potential 
health and wellbeing implications. Following this approach would have a positive 
impact in this respect.
  
4. Climate and ecological implications

This approach improves access to our coast, countryside and greenspaces. 

Page 6



5. Other Implications

There are no other implications to different areas of the council.

6. Risk Assessment

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has 
been identified as:
Current Risk: Medium
Residual Risk: Low

7. Equalities Impact Assessment. There are no equalities implications 
arising from this report.

8. Appendices

Immobilisation and Removal of Vehicles Parked in Contravention of On-Street 
and Off-Street Parking Places

9. Background Papers None

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Immobilisation and Removal of Vehicles Parked in 
Contravention of On-Street and Off-Street Parking Places

 Contents

1. Introduction.....................................................................................................................................................2
2. Dorset Council Priorities.................................................................................................................................2
3. General Definitions.........................................................................................................................................2
3.2 Designated Parking Places.........................................................................................................................2
3.3 Parking Device............................................................................................................................................3
4 Persistent Evaders .........................................................................................................................................3
5 Contravening the Blue Badge Scheme ..........................................................................................................3
6 Fraudulent Use of Parking Devices................................................................................................................4
7 Hazard or Obstruction ....................................................................................................................................4
Exemptions:........................................................................................................................................................... 5
8. Other Vehicle Removals.................................................................................................................................5
9. Scope of the Guidelines .................................................................................................................................6
10. Legislation & Guidance...............................................................................................................................6
11. Process.......................................................................................................................................................7
12. Associated Costs ........................................................................................................................................7
13. Conditions of Guidelines.............................................................................................................................7
15. Procedural Guidance..................................................................................................................................9

Page 9



1. Introduction

It is Dorset Council’s aim to undertake a fair and transparent approach to the 
immobilisation and removal of vehicles on its highways and car parks. These 
guidelines outline the policy used in relation to immobilisation and removal of 
vehicles parked in contravention of on and off-street parking restrictions.

These guidelines are designed to deal with vehicles that are parked in contravention 
in the following circumstances:

 Persistent evader vehicles found parked in contravention
 Fraudulent use of disabled persons parking blue badges or an article that 

purports to be a disabled blue badge. 
 Parked in a disabled persons parking bay without displaying a disabled blue 

badge.
 Parked using a fraudulent permit, scratch card or pay and display parking ticket; 

inclusive of cashless parking sessions and virtual permits
 Parked in a manner that causes serious obstruction to emergency services and 

other road users.

These guidelines comply with the statutory provisions of the Traffic Management 
Act 2004, which governs the enforcement of parking contraventions. It has also 
been developed in accordance with the Operational Guidance to Local Authorities: 
Parking Policy and Enforcement issued by the Department for Transport (DfT) in 
March 2008, revised November 2010, March 2015 and June 2020.

Parking contraventions are dealt with by the issue of a Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) 
and, in appropriate circumstances, the removal of the vehicles. 

2. Dorset Council Priorities

These guidelines contribute to the following Council Corporate Priorities:
 Unique Environment

• improve access to our coast, countryside and greenspaces
 Strong, healthy communities

• support communities to be connected, inclusive, safe and active
• keep Dorset connected, with better transport and digital links between 

communities
 Economic Growth

• improve the provision and use of sustainable transport 

3. General Definitions

3.1 Authorised Officers

Officers as listed in Section 13 below are authorised to instruct immobilisation 
and removal of vehicles in contravention of the Traffic Management Act 2004.

3.2 Designated Parking Places

For the purposes of these guidelines, the meaning of Designated Parking Places 
shall be the definition prescribed under section, 32 33, & 45 of the Road Traffic 

Page 10



Regulation Act (RTRA) 1984.

3.3 Parking Device

For the purposes of these guidelines, the meaning of Parking Devices shall be the 
definition prescribed under section 51 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act (RTRA) 
1984

4 Persistent Evaders

4.1 A persistent evader is where a vehicle has three or more recorded contraventions 
for the vehicle and the PCN’s are not paid, represented or appealed against within 
the statutory time limits; or their representations and appeals have been rejected 
but the penalty charge notices remain unpaid. A persistent evader’s vehicle can be 
removed following the issue of a penalty charge notice when parked in 
contravention of the Traffic Management Act 2004.

4.2 The Traffic Management Act 2004, and regulations made under it, prohibit the 
Enforcement Authority from immobilising or removing a persistent evader vehicle 
until at least 15 minutes have elapsed following the issue of a penalty charge 
notice (PCN) parked in contravention in a designated parking place.

4.3 Persistent evader vehicles when parked in contravention on the highway but not 
in a designated parking place may be liable for instant immobilisation or 
removal by the Enforcement Authority immediately following the issue of a 
penalty charge notice (PCN).

5 Contravening the Blue Badge Scheme

5.1 Vehicles that are parked and are displaying a disabled person's parking blue badge 
but not in accordance with the regulations.

This may include vehicles displaying a disabled parking blue badge that is:

 Copied or Counterfeit
 Expired or Expired / Altered
 The Badge Holder is deceased
 The Badge has been reported lost or stolen
 The Badge has been cancelled by the Issuing Authority
 Abuse of a valid badge has been clearly established
 In the case of an Organisational Badge - the Organisation ceases to exist

5.2 Vehicles parked in contravention and in breach of the regulations in a designated 
parking place, the Traffic Management Act 2004 and Regulations made under it, 
prohibit the Enforcement Authority from immobilising or removing the vehicle until 
at least 30 minutes have elapsed following the issue of a penalty charge notice 
(PCN).

5.3 For vehicles parked in contravention and in breach of the regulations on the 
highway not in a designated parking place may be liable for instant 
immobilisation or removal by the Enforcement Authority immediately following the 

Page 11



issue of a penalty charge notice (PCN)
5.4 A vehicle parked in a disabled persons' parking place, without displaying a valid 

disabled person's badge, may be subject to immobilisation or removal.

6 Fraudulent Use of Parking Devices

6.1 A vehicle is parked in contravention whilst displaying a fraudulent parking device, 
inclusive of cashless parking sessions, virtual permits, and or a parking device 
which is:

 Copied or Hybrid or Wholly Counterfeit
 Expired and or Expired / Altered
 Reported lost or stolen
 Cancelled by the Issuing Authority
 Parking device is not issued for that vehicle
 Abuse had been clearly established
 The holder is no longer authorised to use the parking device
 In the case of a Business Permit - The business ceases to exist

A vehicle parked in contravention whilst displaying a fraudulent parking device in a 
designated parking place. The Traffic Management Act 2004 and Regulations 
made under it prohibit the Enforcement Authority from immobilising or removing the 
vehicle until at least 30 minutes have elapsed following the issue of a penalty charge 
notice (PCN).

6.3 Vehicles parked in contravention whilst displaying a fraudulent parking device on 
the highway but not in a designated parking place may be liable for instant 
immobilisation or removal by the Enforcement Authority immediately following the 
issue of a penalty charge notice (PCN)

7 Hazard or Obstruction

A vehicle is parked in contravention, in a way that is dangerous to other road users; 
and/or emergency service vehicles. Vehicles parked in contravention but not 
exclusive of the restrictions listed below will be deemed to be causing Hazard or 
Physical Obstruction.

Contravention 01
Description Parked on a restricted part of the highway during prescribed 

hours. The definition of road includes the verge or footway if it is 
also part of the Traffic Regulation Order.

Contravention 02
Description Parked or loading/unloading in a restricted street where waiting

and loading/unloading restrictions are in force
Contravention 21
Description Parked in a suspended bay or space or part of a space
Contravention 26
Description Parked in a special enforcement area more than 50cm from 

the edge of the carriageway and not within a designated
parking place

Contravention 47
Description Stopped on a restricted bus stop or stand

Page 12



Contravention 48
Description Stopped in a restricted area outside a school when prohibited.
Contravention 99
Description Stopped on a pedestrian crossing or crossing area marked by

zigzags

Exemptions: 
a) The Enforcement Authority will observe exemptions to the enforcement of 

the above parking contraventions for Emergency vehicles (Police, Fire, 
Ambulance Services); and or other vehicles carrying out emergency or 
statutory works.

b) Vehicles displaying a valid Blue Badge must not be clamped and should not 
be removed. If such a vehicle is dangerously or obstructively parked, it 
should be repositioned nearby, preferably within view of its previous 
location. 

c) Diplomatic vehicles bearing a "D" or "X" vehicle registration mark or 
personalised registration plates with a "D" Vehicle Excise License. If such a 
vehicle is dangerously or obstructively parked, repositioning nearby is 
suggested. (Legal requirement - Diplomatic Privileges Act 1964).

d) In the following circumstances after a PCN has been issued vehicles must 
not be clamped in situ. They could be removed, although in some 
circumstances re-positioning may be better:

i. When the vehicle is causing a major obstruction to traffic or a danger to 
pedestrians or other road users, or is parked on an operational bus lane, 
cycle lane, bus stop, or taxi rank. Consideration should also be given to 
the likely time lapse which will occur before a clamped vehicle is un-
clamped and moved. If such time delay is likely to extend the presence of 
the vehicle to a time when it will become an obstruction, e.g. the vehicle 
is in a non-operational bus lane, which is due to commence in an hour or 
so, then the vehicle should be removed instead of being clamped. For 
cases of obstruction where or when no parking restriction is in force, no 
action can be taken, and it will be necessary to seek the assistance of the 
police.

ii. When a vehicle is parked adjacent to a fire exit, across an access used by 
emergency vehicles or leading to private premises. 

iii. When a vehicle is parked in a specially designated reserved parking bay, 
e.g. disabled person, doctor, or diplomatic bay.

iv. When a vehicle is parked in a suspended parking place.
v. When a vehicle is parked adjacent to a dropped footway or raised 

carriageway.
vi. When a vehicle is parked on zig zag lines.

8. Other Vehicle Removals

In addition to the reasons stated above, vehicles may also be immobilised or 
removed if they are considered abandoned or are untaxed. This is carried out under 
different legislation to the Traffic Management Act 2004.

Page 13



9. Scope of the Guidelines

These Guidelines are designed to deal with persistent evader vehicles, vehicles 
parked in breach of the Blue Badge Scheme Regulations, vehicles using fraudulent 
parking devices, and vehicles that are parking dangerously or causing an obstruction 
on the public highway. The guidelines apply within the boundaries of Dorset Council 
including the adopted public highway and any land owned by Dorset Council.

For the purposes of these Guidelines, the meaning of “Road” shall be the definition 
as contained in the Road Traffic Regulation Act (RTRA) 1984 and Traffic 
Management Act (TMA) 2004.

All TMA 2004 removals can attract an appeal from the owner/keeper; these will be 
treated in the same manner as a PCN appeal. If successful in appeal, all money paid 
in respect of the removal and storage of the vehicle will be reimbursed.

10. Legislation & Guidance

Theses Vehicle Removal Guidelines have been developed in line with the Secretary 
of State’s recommendations and in conjunction with the following documents:

 Traffic Management Act 2004   Traffic Management Act 2004 (legislation.gov.uk)
 Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (legislation.gov.uk)
 Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978  Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 (legislation.gov.uk)
 The Removal and Disposal of Vehicle Regulations 2008 The Removal, Storage and Disposal 

of Vehicles (Prescribed Sums and Charges) Regulations 2008 (legislation.gov.uk)
 Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 Clean Neighbourhoods and 

Environment Act 2005 (legislation.gov.uk)
 The Vehicles Excise Duty (Immobilisation, Removal and Disposal of Vehicles) 

Regulations 1994 (as amended). The Vehicle Excise Duty (Immobilisation, 
Removal and Disposal of Vehicles) Regulations 1997 (legislation.gov.uk)

 General Regulations for Clamping and the Removal and Disposal of Vehicles 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2007 The Removal and Disposal of Vehicles 
(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2007 (legislation.gov.uk)

 The Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) General 
Regulations 2007 (SI 2007/3483) The Civil Enforcement of Parking 
Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007 (legislation.gov.uk)The

 Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (Representations and 
Appeals) (England) Regulations 2007 (SI 2007/3482)  The Civil 
Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (England) Representations and 
Appeals Regulations 2007 (legislation.gov.uk)

 The Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (Guidelines on Levels of
Charges) (England) Order 2007 (SI 2007/3487)  
The Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (Guidelines on Levels of Charges) (England) 
Order 2007 (legislation.gov.uk)

 The Disabled Persons (Badges for Motor Vehicles) (England) Regulations 2000  
The Disabled Persons (Badges for Motor Vehicles) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2007 
(legislation.gov.uk)

 Department for Transport (DFT) Operational Guidance Traffic Management Act 
2004  How local authorities should enforce parking restrictions - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

 Department for Transport (DFT) The Blue Badge Scheme Local Authority 
Guidance   Blue Badge scheme local authority guidance (England) - GOV.UK 

Page 14

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/18/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/27/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1978/3
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2008/2095/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2008/2095/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/16/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/16/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/2439/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/2439/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3484/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3484/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3483/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3483/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3482/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3482/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3482/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3487/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/3487/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2531/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/2531/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-enforcement-of-parking-contraventions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-badge-scheme-local-authority-guidance-england/blue-badge


(www.gov.uk)
 Parking Enforcement Guidelines 2015  How local authorities should enforce 

parking restrictions - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
 Diplomatic Privileges Act 1964 Diplomatic Privileges Act 1964 (legislation.gov.uk)

11. Process
If payment is to be taken for the release of an immobilised vehicle or reclaiming a removed 
vehicle, the owner/keeper will be required to produce proof of identity, address, and vehicle 
ownership; pay the prescribed sums and charges for the vehicle removal and any incurred 
storage fees before the vehicle can be released.
Payment of the penalty charge notice issued prior to the vehicle removal remains payable 
under the standard procedures laid out on the notice.

12. Associated Costs
The associated costs for vehicle removal, storage and or disposal of vehicles removed 
for parking contraventions under Traffic Management Act 2004; are prescribed by The 
Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions (Guidelines on Levels of Charges) 
(England) Order 2007 (SI 2007/3487)  

 £40 for release of immobilised vehicle
 £105 for vehicle removal
 £12 per day vehicle storage or each day or part day during which the vehicle is 

impounded
 £50 vehicle disposal

In addition to the prescribed sums and charges, the owner/keeper will be required to pay 
the amount payable for the penalty charge notice issued to that vehicle on the date the 
vehicle was removed.

All vehicle immobilisations and removals can attract an appeal from the owner or keeper 
of the vehicle. These appeals are to be treated the same as a PCN appeal, SI 
2007/3482. If an appeal is successful, all monies paid in respect of the immobilisation, 
removal and storage of the vehicle will be reimbursed in full.

Whilst there is a legal obligation only to pay the PCN, the removal charge and any 
associated storage charges, the owner should be encouraged to pay all the outstanding 
charges when collecting the vehicle.  When obtaining the name and address of the 
vehicle’s keeper, it will be established when they took ownership of the vehicle if the 
outstanding PCNs date back further than 3 months.

A system will be in place to allow for payment of all monies owing as expediently as 
possible, linked to the Dorset Council Parking Administration back office system.

13. Conditions of Guidelines
The final decision to immobilise or remove a vehicle parked in contravention of this 
Policy & the Traffic Management Act 2004 will be taken by authorised officers. For the 
purpose of this policy, Authorised Officer includes:
 Duty Silver Officer
 Head of Highways or their deputy

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-blue-badge-scheme-local-authority-guidance-england/blue-badge
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-enforcement-of-parking-contraventions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-enforcement-of-parking-contraventions
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1964/81/contents


 Service Manager for Parking Services or their deputy
 Parking Services Team Leader or their deputy
 Parking Enforcement Team Leader or their deputy

A senior authorised officer may immobilise or remove a vehicle without following this 
guidance if there are compelling grounds to do so.

14. Disclaimers
The Guidelines shall be enforced from the date of adoption and will remain in force until 
formally revoked or superseded. These Guidelines will be reviewed annually, or when 
legislation changes dictate.

Page 16



Civil Enforcement Officer (CEO) issues PCN, records 
evidence, and photographs all vehicle sides in 
relation to vehicle condition i.e. scratches, dents.
Details passed to CEO Supervisor.

Vehicle parked in contravention of TMA 2004 and in 
Breach of Policy

Contravention of the Guidelines - Authorised Officer sanctions 
immobilisation and/or removal - contacts vehicle removal 
contractor for removal of the vehicle to storage area. 

CEO Supervisor to refer information to Authorised 
Officers, for a decision on whether the vehicle is to 
be immobilised or removed.

No contravention of the 
Guidelines or the owner removes 
the vehicle - Authorised Officers 
decline vehicle immobilisation or 
removal.

Civil Enforcement Officer (CEO) or supervisor to remain on 
site until vehicle removal begins.

Owner contacts the Council - proof of 
vehicle ownership established, and check 
carried out for outstanding PCN’s

Owner fails to contact the council within 35 days, the vehicle is either 
scrapped or auctioned in accordance with The Removal and Disposal of 
Vehicle Regulations 1986 as amended by The Removal & Disposal of 
Vehicles (Amendment) (England) Regulation 2007"

Vehicle is removed and transported to suitable area.

Contact and inform the Police of the vehicle removal on 
the 101 number or PHONE or by email.

15. Procedural Guidance

Driver returns whilst removal 
taking place, Vehicle to be 
released unless a persistent 
evader, or all wheels are on board 
the removal vehicle or 2 wheels in 
rear drop cradle. PCN stands.

CEO records on PCN 
No further action.

Vehicle is released/collected.
Owner is directed to storage area for 
release. If release payment is 
charged, PCN & any Removal & 
Storage fees taken electronically. 

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet
22nd June 2021
Asset Transfer Policy

For Recommendation to Cabinet
Portfolio Holder: Cllr T Ferrari, Economic Growth, Assets & Property 

Local Councillor(s):

Executive Director: J Sellgren, Executive Director of Place
 

Report Author: Dave Thompson
Title: Corporate Director of Property & Assets
Tel: 01305 221339
Email: dave.thompson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public 

Recommendation: That Cabinet: -

1. Agree the Asset Transfer Policy relating to the transfer of Council owned 
property assets of both Low and High Value to Town & Parish Councils 
together with Voluntary and Community based (third sector) organisations as 
attached to this report at Appendices 1 & 2.

2. Delegate to the Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth, Assets and Property 
and the Portfolio Holder for Customer Services & Communities when acting in 
agreement with each other the authority for determining and approving all such 
transfers 

Reason for Recommendation:     

Dorset Council recognises that the devolution of assets to local communities, 
particularly to town and parish councils and voluntary and community based 
organisations (third sector) can make a significant contribution to enabling them to 
be stronger, more resilient and sustainable in order to support services within their 
local areas. 

Dorset Council is committed to pro-actively seeking to transfer appropriate assets 
in order to provide benefits to local communities.

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



This policy seeks to provide a fair and transparent framework for the transfer of 
Council owned property assets (land and buildings) to the Community being town 
and parish councils or third sector organisations as appropriate.

1. Executive Summary 

Strong, healthy communities is one of the priorities within the Council Plan 
requiring, amongst other things, that the Council will: -

 work collaboratively with town and parish councils and communities to 
identify and deliver what they think is important

 recognise when the voluntary, community and social enterprise sector is 
better placed to provide a service and support them in their work

The delivery of services by Town & Parish Councils and those of voluntary and 
community organisations is growing both in terms of scale and importance and as 
a result the role that these organisations can play in regeneration and delivery of 
services is increasingly recognised by Government and national policy makers.

The Council recognises the positive contributions that Parish & Town Councils 
together with those provided by voluntary and community groups (Third sector) to 
their local areas. 

The purpose of this policy is to facilitate and support communities to access 
Council property assets for this purpose whilst protecting the Council’s financial 
integrity, fiduciary duty, and wider accountabilities such as Health & Safety.

The establishment of clearly defined policies and processes which provides a fair 
and transparent framework in order to assess, determine and approve the basis of 
any proposed transfers is required as none is currently in existence.

This report sets out the policy and procedures for Asset transfer namely: -
 those assets valued at £15k or less as recommended by the Corporate 

Director of Property and determined and approved by the Portfolio Holders 
for Economic Growth, Assets & Property and Customer & Community 
Services

 those assets valued in excess of £15k as recommended by an Asset 
Transfer Board consisting of Senior Council Officers and Portfolio Holders 
and determined by the Portfolio Holders for Economic Growth, Property & 
Assets and Customer & Community Services. 

The Council is under no obligation to transfer property assets to Town & Parish 
Councils or Voluntary/Community (third sector) groups and any decision to do so 
will be taken in the knowledge of alternative disposal options (if any).

Page 20



2. Financial Implications

As a result of transferring assets to Town & Parish Councils and or to Voluntary 
and Community groups the Council may decide to forego fully or partially the 
benefit of rental income or a potential capital receipt in ‘lieu’ of the social benefits 
that a transfer may provide. 

3. Climate implications

The Council has declared a climate and ecological emergency and is committed 
to taking direct action to reduce the negative environmental impact of any services 
it provides. 

Organisations applying for an asset transfer will be required to detail how the 
transfer will benefit the environment.

4. Other Implications

Any disposals will require Legal input in terms of exchanging and completing 
contracts of sale and ongoing input from Finance in terms of the review of 
business cases, impact on capital and revenue budgets together with the 
monitoring and management of capital receipts.  

The Council has the discretionary power under the General Disposal Consent 
(England) 2003 and S123 of the Local Government Act to consider disposals of 
surplus assets at less than best consideration where such disposal is likely to 
contribute to the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or 
environmental wellbeing of the Dorset Council area and its residents provided that 
the value of the asset is less than £2m.
  
Should the value of the asset be more than £2m and it is proposed to transfer or 
dispose of the asset at an undervalue the approval of the Secretary of State is 
required.

5. Risk Assessment

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has 
been identified as:
Current Risk: Low
Residual Risk: Low

6. Equalities Impact Assessment

It is envisaged that there will be a series of individual transfers that will emanate 
from this strategy. As individual applications are submitted and approval given a 
separate EqIA will be prepared for each.

Page 21



7.        Place & Resources Overview Committee

This policy will be considered by the Place & Resources Overview Committee of 
the 1st June 2021.

8.        Appendices

 Appendix 1- Low Value Asset Transfer Policy  
 Appendix 2- High Value Asset Transfer Policy

9.      Background Papers

 The Dorset Council Plan 2020-2024

10.      Background

10.1    Asset transfer relates to town, parish councils, voluntary and community 
           organisations ability to acquire the buildings, either at market value or at a 
           discount, in order to deliver services that meet local needs and is seen as 
           one way in which Local Authorities can support the development of social 
           economy organisations and thereby meet their wider strategies for renewal 
           and improved delivery of services at a local level.   

10.2 Asset transfers to local communities can be used as a facilitator of social, 
           environmental and community regeneration.

10.3 The transfer of assets to town and parish Councils as well as voluntary and 
            community organisations can strengthen confidence and ties with local 
            areas and can sometimes enable new investment to be attracted

10.4 The Quirk Review was part of a Government programme for empowering 
           communities and to overcome barriers to more community asset 
           management and ownership, taking account of the need to manage 
           risks. The Quirk Report highlighted the following main points: -    

 Any sale or transfer of an asset needs to realise social and/or community 
benefits and used in the public interest

 Organisations must have capacity to take over and manage the asset in a 
sustainable way

 Organisations must be properly constituted and governed
 Public interest concerns regarding any transfer need to be addressed
 Community groups should not be overburdened with property asset 

management
 Risks should be minimised/managed and benefits must outweigh the risks
 The Quirk report recommends that guidelines are issued to groups on the 

transfer of assets and community management and ownership.

Page 22



10.5 The Council reserves the right, however, to transfer low value assets 
           such as roadside patches to organisations that are not legally constituted,  
           for example, local gardeners provided that they satisfy the Council from a 
           due diligence perspective as to their honesty, integrity, trust and capability.

10.6 The extent of Asset Transfers can range from an unrestricted freehold sale 
           at full market value, where the Town & Parish Councils or voluntary and 
           community groups are offered first refusal to purchase. Asset Transfers    
           usually involve, however, a sale or lease of Council or other publicly owned 
           assets, at less than full market value as a means to further local social, 
           economic and/or environmental objectives.
. 
10.7 An Asset Transfer Policy will serve to inform and guide the Councils 
           support through its management of property assets. It also provides a 
           structure for objectively considering applications, case by case, according 
           to their own merits.

10.8 As part of Local Government Re-Organisation c100 assets were previously 
    transferred to Town and Parish Councils and Dorset Council currently 
    lease a further c120 assets to Town & Parish Councils and Community & 
    Voluntary groups.

11      Asset Transfer Policy

  11.1    The proposed Asset Transfer Policies are included with Appendices 1 &2 
             to this report.

  11.2.   An option to consider the transfer of a property asset to a Town or Parish 
             Council or a Community, Voluntary sector can be prompted either by the 
             Council identifying a property asset that it decides is surplus to its needs or 
             by a Town or Parish Council or a Community/Voluntary Organisation 
             approaching the Council. 

  11.3.  The long-term viability and benefits of each proposal for Asset Transfer will 
             be evaluated against other options eg disposal by way of open market sale, 
             commercial lease or alternative Council use and weighted to give due 
             consideration to any social or other benefits being proposed.

   11.4   Each Asset Transfer application will be considered on its own merits. For 
             high value asset transfers, applicants will be required to submit a 
             supporting business case. 

   11.5   In considering any Asset Transfer application three objective key tests are 
             applied particularly with regard to high value transfers: -

 ‘the organisation test’

Page 23



 ‘the property test’
 ‘value for money/best value test’

 11.6 The organisation test considers the following as recommended in 
          accordance with the Quirk recommendations namely: -

 It is a recognised public body or legally constituted group, 
charity or not for profit organisation

 It is willing and able to take legal responsibility for the 
asset/assets to be transferred eg health and safety, running 
costs etc

 It has a defined and working governance structure
 Its funding sources are reliable
 It is commercially competent
 It has access to appropriate skills and capacity to safely 

manage the property
 There is sufficient alignment between the applicant and the 

Council’s objectives and plans
 The Council may consider other organisation types such as 

Local Clubs and Organisations for low value transactions only   
subject to appropriate due diligence being undertaken

  11.7   The property test consists of the following: -
 There is no foreseeable need for the property
 There are no legal or property title impediments to the transfer
 Property value has been determined for consideration as part 

of the ‘Value for Money’ test

  11.8.    The value for money test comprises: -
 For high value asset transfers a business case will be required
 If the property asset is to be transferred at less than best 

consideration, the community organisation must demonstrate 
objectively the benefit of the value of their proposals with social 
value considerations being weighted against commercial 
benefits

 Any asset transfer application must be able to stand scrutiny of 
any question of State Aid

 The Council is under no obligation to transfer property assets to 
Town and Parish Councils or voluntary/community groups and 
any decisions are taken with knowledge of alternative disposal 
options (if any).

     
   12     Basis of the Asset Transfer 

     12.1 The general presumption is that all low value asset disposals will be 
              transferred by means of a freehold sale based on the Council’s standard 

Page 24



              sale agreement which are non-negotiable.

      12.2  No revenue payments or subsidies will be provided to any applicant in 
               relation to any asset transfer except in exceptional circumstances for 
               assets considered to be of a high value, or which are complex as solely 
               determined by Dorset Council.   

      12.3  The individual circumstances of larger asset transfers will determine the 
                basis of the property transfer which will consider the following main 
                items: -

 Property Interest to be transferred which can range from 
short term to long term leasehold arrangements and 
freehold sale

 The use of sub-letting arrangements which would be subject 
to Council approval

 Use Restriction and clawback/overage which places 
controls over future use to ensure that profit is not 
generated on the back of the transfer

 Reversionary clauses to protect against failure and future 
disposal

 Indemnities on transfer to protect against a failure of the 
applicant to fulfil responsibilities

 Right of use free of charge should the Council have any 
limited form of future use

13     Process for the Asset Transfer
   

13.1 All requests relating to an Asset Transfer must be made using the 
Standard application form/pack.  

13.2 Applications in the first instance should be directed to the Council’s 
Assets and Property Dept who will manage the process within estimated 
timescales which are provided to act as guidance. 

    
    14      Summary & Conclusion

    14.1   The establishment of a clearly defined set of policies and procedures   
              which provides a fair and transparent framework in order to assess,   
              determine and approve the basis of any proposed asset transfers is 
              required as currently there is none currently in existence.

    14.2.  The purpose of the proposed policy is to facilitate and support Town & 
               Parish Councils together with voluntary and community organisations
               (third sector) to access Council property assets whilst protecting the 
               Council’s financial integrity, fiduciary duty and other accountabilities such  
               as Health & Safety.  

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Dorset Council

Asset Transfer Policy

Low Value Assets 
(less than or equal to £15,000)

Date Published: June 2021

Page 27



2

Contents

Introduction Page 3

Background Page 3-5

Scope of this Policy Page 5

Transfer Arrangement                    Page 5-6

Eligibility & Assessment Criteria Page 6-7

Principles Page 7-8

The Asset Transfer Process Page 8-10

Appeals                                                                                           Page 10

Timescales Page 10-11

Adoption of Policy Page 11

ANNEX A Page 12
CURRENT LEGISLATION

ANNEX B Page 13
PROPERTY OUT OF SCOPE TRANSFER PROCESS

ANNEX C Page 14
ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

ANNEX D Page 15
TRANSFER PROCESS FLOWCHART

ANNEX E Page 16-24
TRANSFER OF PROPERTY 
GUIDANCE & APPLICATION FORM

Page 28



3

1. Introduction

1.1 Dorset council recognises that the devolution of assets to local 
communities, particularly to town and parish councils, can make a 
significant contribution to enabling them to be stronger, more resilient 
and sustainable.

1.2 Dorset Council is committed to pro-actively seeking to transfer 
appropriate assets in order to provide benefits to local communities.

1.3 This policy supports the delivery of a devolution programme which 
aims to: -

 Improve outcomes for local communities-through enabling assets 
to be more tailored to meet the diverse needs of communities

 Increase local control over assets-through enabling town and 
parish councils in particular as democratically elected bodies, to 
take decisions on how best to meet local needs

1.4 This policy document will be reviewed annually in accordance with 
any appropriate legislation as currently set out at Annex A with any 
proposed amendments delegated to the relevant Portfolio Holders

2. Background

2.1 Dorset Council has responsibility for land and buildings through 
various means: -

 Owned Assets-Dorset Council hold either a freehold interest or 
long lease (virtual freehold, usually in excess of 100 years) of the 
asset.

 Dedicated assets-Dorset Council has responsibility to maintain 
land due to a historical contractual obligation but does not have the 
freehold ownership for example areas of public open space or play 
areas under planning agreements

 Statutory responsibility-Dorset Council has the responsibility for 
maintaining assets and provide services under legislations, for 
example highway land or closed burial grounds

2.2 The disposal of assets by Dorset Council broadly fall under two 
types: -

Page 29



4

 Market sales-where ‘best consideration’ is obtained widely 
interpreted as the best price/market value (as defined by the Red 
Book)

 Disposal at less than best consideration-this could either be a 
transfer for a nominal sum or reduced purchase price but will 
certainly be lower than the market value 

2.3 Assets will be considered for transfer where one or more of the 
following benefits will be provided: -

 The transfer of the asset will provide social, economic or 
environmental well-being benefits to the local community (for 
example through the ability to manage and regulate ‘open spaces’ 
at a local level)

 The transfer would be a ‘tidying up’ exercise passing incidental 
pieces of land and landscaping or parts of these to a local level

 The asset has the potential to provide for a community facility 
which a parish/town council, third sector or community group has 
demonstrated that they have the skills, drive and access to 
resources to deliver (for example a village hall)

 The transfer of the asset will enable the continuation of a service 
or use of a facility to the local community that Dorset Council is no 
longer able to provide (for example public conveniences)

 A community partnership can be entered into based on public 
access to and use of an asset

 It is believed that a town/parish council or other community group 
would be able to secure a grant and/or have access to funding 
streams not available to Dorset Council

2.4 Dorset Council reserves the right not to dispose or transfer its assets 
to others for reasons including but not limited to: -

 The financial impact or potential impact from loss or income or the 
benefit of a capital receipt which outweighs the social value being 
created in isolation

 Adjoining/surrounding land not being transferred
 Potential for redevelopment either with or without Dorset Council 

land
 Historic and or complex land issues which would make a 

disposal/transfer resource prohibitive to Dorset Council
 There being a large number of small non-strategic open space 

land parcels that require significant due diligence and incur 

Page 30



5

significant legal costs and may be best served through a service 
delegation agreement

 There is a statutory responsibility and any transfer would also 
require the transfer or undertaking of any service responsibilities  

3 Scope of this Policy

3.1 The scope of this policy document applies to community asset 
transfers.

3.2 Community asset transfer involves the transferring of land, buildings 
or other property assets (referred to as assets throughout this document) 
from a statutory body to a Town and Parish Council or community 
organisation in order to achieve public benefit.

3.3 The application of this policy may be triggered by either external 
requests from local organisations and/or triggered by Dorset Council 
through identifying that an asset is declared ‘surplus’ to requirements 
following a review of a particular asset or part of a programme of 
possible asset transfer reviews.

3.4 Those Assets that are currently outside the scope of this Policy are 
detailed at Annex B.

4.  Transfer Arrangement For Low Value Assets

4.1 The transfer of the responsibility for a low value asset will be 
determined by the Corporate Director of Property & Assets in 
conjunction with the Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth, Assets & 
Property and the Portfolio Holder for Customer & Community Services. 
All such requests will be considered and decided upon following 
submission of an Asset Transfer Application form.

4.2 There is a policy presumption that where an asset is to be 
transferred this will be offered on the basis of a freehold transfer in order 
to maximise local control and provide opportunities for the applicant to 
consider investment in the asset and/or other funding opportunities.

4.3 The Council will undertake to contract for any freehold transfers in 
accordance with Dorset Council’s standard terms and conditions to 
include conditions on any transfer to protect the future community use of 
the property by way of restrictions, preferential arrangements for Dorset 
Council use, future sale of the property by way of an equitable share in 

Page 31



6

any benefits derived and financial, project failure or there no longer 
being a requirement through the use of reversionary mechanisms. Any 
conditions will be considered by the Corporate Director of Property in 
conjunction with the Portfolio Holders for Economic Growth, Property & 
Assets and the Portfolio Holder for Customer & Community Services. 

5. Eligibility & Assessment Criteria

5.1 The following eligibility criteria would apply: -

Criteria Description
a) The Asset Transfer Policy is open to:

 Parish or Town Councils
 Unincorporated charitable organisations
 Companies limited by guarantee with charitable 

status
 Community Interest Companies limited by 

guarantee
 Community Benefit Industrial & provident 

Societies with an asset lock
 Community Interest Company limited by shares
 Other organisations or clubs that satisfy Dorset 

Council’s due diligence checks
b) Organisations can be

 Legal entities
 Non profit making
 Local clubs or Organisations
 Have community and or social objectives; and 

or
 Be located within the boundaries of Dorset 

Council area or can demonstrate that they 
provide services within the area to residents

c) All community assets must remain open to the wider 
public. This does not disqualify special interest 
proposals or groups; however, evidence must be 
provided of how the asset will be used in an inclusive 
way

d) Applicants must provide full contact details for the 
organisation including someone with the relevant 
decision-making authority

e) Applicants must provide supporting evidence where 
required and complete all sections of required forms

Page 32



7

5.2 Dorset Council will not consider expressions of interest from 
organisations which are political or with political affiliations, organisations 
engaged in supporting candidates for political office, individuals or 
businesses who intend to primarily run the service or use the asset for 
commercial gain.

5.3 In addition to the eligibility criteria set out above the assessment of 
requests will consider the following criteria areas:

 Community Benefit
 Local Control
 Sustainability
 Governance of legal structure
 Financial standing
 Maintenance and ability to maintain and manage assets
 Commitment

Further details on the assessment criteria are set out in Annex C.

6. Principles

6.1 Dorset Council is committed to applying the following principles in 
how it considers property transfer requests: -

 Being transparent in the process for asset transfers including 
timelines and decision making with as much information 
published online as possible

 Providing timely information to local organisations to make an 
initial view on whether they are interested in discussing property 
transfer arrangements

 Assessing property transfer requests fairly through the 
application of this policy

 No capital or other funding will be provided as part of the transfer 
and all future costs would be covered by the organisation taking 
on the asset 

 No rents or charges will be applied for use by Dorset Council 
should there be any potential ongoing or temporary space 
requirement identified by the Council provided the requirement 
for such space is not unreasonable and does not exceed 25% of 
net internal area or of the available hours

Page 33



8

 Where assets are identified as being surplus and no interest in 
them has been expressed by other parties the Council will 
consider closure of a facility, cease maintaining an asset where it 
is safe to do so, ‘stopping up’ a building or facility’ and/or its 
possible demolition taking due regard of any historical 
significance and requirements to consult, allowing an asset to 
return to its natural state.

 Provision of a named contact and respond in a timely manner to 
all property transfer requests

7. The Asset Transfer Process

7.1 The Asset Transfer Process is set out at Annex D and consists of the 
following elements as set out in paragraph’s 8 to 14 below: -

8. Decision Making

8.1 Any organisation expressing an interest in particular assets will need 
to submit a request using the Council’s standard Asset Transfer 
Application Form as provided at Annex E. 

8.2 The application will be initially screened by the Dorset Council’s 
Property Dept to determine whether they fall within or outside of this 
policy and whether the value of the asset being the subject of any 
request is below or above £15,000.

8.3 An evaluation will also be undertaken as to the financial impact or 
potential impact to Dorset Council weighted against the social value 
being created 

8.4 Following consideration of any asset transfer requests a decision by 
Dorset Council and the respective applicant organisation is needed on 
the sign-off of individual asset transfers. All such decisions will be taken 
in accordance with this policy and endorsed by the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holders for Property & Assets and Customer & Community Services as 
delegated by Cabinet.

8.5 The Council may need to balance the competing interests of 
community groups and an assessment will need to be made as to the 
option that will deliver most sustainable benefit to the local community. 

8.6 In considering the best terms for an individual asset transfer a 
recommendation will be made on the capital subsidy, if required, below 

Page 34



9

market value in order to maximise the use of the asset for community 
benefit. Market subsidies will only apply in relation to assets considered 
under this policy.

9. Pre-Application Stage

9.1 As part of Dorset Council’s commitment to the transfer of assets 
support will be provided to town and parish councils and community 
organisations, where required, to enable them to consider submitting an 
Asset Transfer Application Form. In particular this will include: -

 Online guidance and information including template Asset Transfer 
Application form

 A named contact to support organisations to submit Asset Transfer 
Applications and to keep applicant updated at all stages of transfer 
process

10. Stage 1 Expressions of Interest Submission

10.1 On receipt of an Asset Transfer Application form Dorset Council’s 
Property Dept will then: -

 Check that the application meets the policy criteria and the value 
of the asset

 Check that the applicant meets the eligibility criteria to be 
considered and notify the applicant accordingly

 Inform the applicant if there is more than one interested party and 
whether a shortlisting process is required

10.2 Once an application has been confirmed as meeting the policy 
criteria and the Council confirms it is willing to consider any such transfer 
Dorset Council’s Property Dept will then: -

 Notify the local member(s) and seek their views
 Supply, if requested, the following information to the applicant

     -estimated maintenance costs
     -estimated value of the property (if any)
     -condition survey report and any other relevant information

10.3 Parishes/Town Councils & Community Groups may wish to 
undertake their own due diligence exercises and in doing so will be 
responsible for any such works and legal costs associated with them.

Page 35



10

10.4 If the applicant wishes to then proceed with the transfer request, in 
light of this information, then the expression of interest will be considered 
by the Corporate Director of Property & Assets who will determine in 
conjunction with the relevant Portfolio Holders the preferred applicant (if 
more than one interested party), whether to agree to the transfer and 
any conditions that may form part of the transaction or reject it.

The Guidance and Expression of Interest Form is shown at Annex E

11. Stage 2 Basis of Any Transfer

11.1 All Low Value Assets Transfers will be offered on the basis of a 
freehold transfer following acceptance of the Application. Any such terms 
and conditions stipulated by the Council will be non-negotiable.

11.2 Dorset Council’s standard form of contract/lease will be used for all 
asset transfers although the Council reserves the right to vary these at its 
sole discretion in exceptional circumstances.

11.3 The decision on the sign off of all transfers will be delegated by 
Cabinet to the Portfolio Holders for Customer and Community Services 
and Economic Growth, Assets & Property.

12. Appeals

12.1 All applicants are entitled to appeal against an element of this policy 
if they feel that a decision has been unfair/and or there has been a breach 
of policy,

12.2 Appeals should be made in writing via the Complaints Team stating 
clearly the issue or reference to the part of the policy that has been 
breached, within 28 days of the decision being made.

12.3 The appeal will be managed in line with the Council’s stage 2 
complaints procedure. Dorset Council’s decision is regarded as final.

13. Timescales

13.1 All asset transfers are unique and it is difficult to provide specific 
timescales. However, Dorset Council will endeavour subject to the 
number and extent of applications and the workload priorities of the 

Page 36



11

Assets & Property and Legal Directorates to seek to adopt the following: 
-

13.2 Pre-Application
Allow for between 4 weeks for Applications to be submitted from time 
property is first declared surplus/advertised.

13.3 Stage 1
In order to assess and evaluate an application (particularly where a 
number of expressions of interest have been submitted for the same 
assets and a short listing process is required) and for an applicant once 
in receipt of all relevant information to confirm they wish to proceed a 
period of between 8-12 weeks from receipt of an application or from the 
deadline for submitting Applications should be allowed. Should an 
application be placed on hold the Applicant will be informed within this 
timeframe of the time required by the Council to consider alternative 
options (dependent on the number of applications received and being 
considered at any one time).

13.5 Stage 2
Work with successful applicant(s) to agree a realistic timetable for final 
completion of the asset transfer with a target timescale of between 8-12 
weeks

14. Adoption of Policy

16.1 Following the approval and adoption of this Policy by Cabinet 
guidance and templates will be developed and published to support 
organisations to submit expressions of interest.

16.2 This policy will apply for all transfers as from the beginning of July 
2021 and will not be applied retrospectively.

16.3 Where leasehold arrangements are currently in place this policy will 
be applied at the point in time where any such leases are due for renewal

Page 37



12

ANNEX A
CURRENT LEGISLATION 

Local Government Act 1972 (1972 Act)-S123 sets out that Local 
Authorities must obtain ‘best consideration’ for all disposals 

Local Government Act 1972: General Disposal Consent 2003 (‘General 
Consent order’)-gives permission for Councils to dispose at less than 
best consideration provided if the value foregone is less than £2m (in 
capital terms) and the transaction benefits the economic, social or 
environmental wellbeing of the area. If the value foregone is greater than 
£2m approval from the Secretary of State is required.

Local Government finance act (1988)

RICS Valuation-Professional Standards (“Red Book”)-defines market 
value when considering the price obtained from a disposal

Localism Act 2011-introduced the concept of local communities taking 
more control of assets in their area.

European Commission State Aid Rules-rules to avoid state aid rules 
which could distort competition to be reviewed post Brexit.

Page 38



13

ANNEX B
PROPERTY OUT OF SCOPE TRANSFER PROCESS

It is proposed that some types of properties are considered out of scope 
of this policy. This means that Dorset Council will not consider such 
requests under this policy.

The Council is undertaking a range of strategic property reviews to 
inform the best use of those assets for the benefit of all Dorset residents.

Some types of assets are best managed strategically and thereby 
retained by Dorset Council just as others are best managed locally.

The following property areas are out of scope: -

 Assets held for investment purposes both those assets that 
generate a net income for Dorset Council and those held for future 
capital, revenue regeneration or corporate realisations

 Vacant land or buildings that may generate a capital receipt, 
regeneration revenue or corporate aspirations

 Assets of a rural nature given Dorset Council’s role as a small 
holding’s authority

 Education and statutory early years premises due to Dorset 
Council’s role as a Local Authority for education purposes (unless 
such assets have been declared surplus)

 Care facilities that form part of a Care contract
 Residential Properties given Dorset’s role as a Housing Authority
 Land held for future development by Dorset Council or partner 

schemes as it would not be financially prudent to devolve land and 
be required to repurchase it in the future

 Car parks owned and run by Dorset Council
 Buildings used primarily as delivery sites for Dorset Council 

Services
 Potential buildings which may be considered as Community 

Access Points/Hubs in later years to ensure maximum potential for 
building redevelopment/investment

 Vacant Land or buildings that can generate a capital receipt in 
excess of £10,000 which is the de-minimus level for capital 
accounting purposes.

Page 39



14

ANNEX C
ASSESSMENT CRITERIA 

All applicants will be required to complete an Expression of Interest.

Template Forms will be published online as part of a transfer toolkit. 
These template forms will include sections to complete in relation to the 
criteria areas with an expectation that more detailed information would 
be provided where a business plan is required.

Assessment Criteria Area EOI Evidence Business Plan Evidence
A) Community Benefit Statement of intended 

community benefits
Strong track record of 
delivery of community 
benefit

Evidence of community 
impact and residential 
consultation on proposal

b) Local Control Meet organisational 
eligibility criteria

Evidence that residents will 
have a say in future 
decisions on the property

c) Sustainability Ability to manage 
property

Clear long-term plan for 
viability

A risk assessment and how 
risks will be mitigated

d) Governance & Legal 
Structure

Meet eligibility criteria Settled legal entity with 
proven ability to manage 
change

e) Financial standing Established record of 
financial probity

Established record of 
financial probity with 
evidence of long-term plan

f) Maintenance Ability to manage 
property

Proven record of managing 
maintenance issues

g) Commitment Willingness to 
participate in 
evaluation

Willingness to participate in 
evaluation and share 
learning

Page 40



15

ANNEX D TRANSFER PROCESS FLOWCHART

Stage 1

Stage 2 

Assets identified by the council to be surplus 
to requirement and can be considered for 
release or Asset Transfer Application Form 
received from Town/Parish councils or 
community groups. 

Assets not available 
or application not 
within policy- 
process stops

Application Accepted - Legal 
services instructed Terms of 
Transfer drafted using standard 
lease/contract

Community Asset Transfer 
complete and handed over to 

organisation and takes 
responsibility for Asset 

Assets Available-Asset Value determined to be less 
than £15k-application within policy-Local Members 
Informed/Consulted -determined By Corporate 
Director of Property with Portfolio Holders    

Page 41



16

                                                                               

ANNEX E 
TRANSFER OF PROPERTY 
GUIDANCE & APPLICATION FORM 

Dorset Council

Asset Transfer Guidance Document

&

Application Form

(For All Asset Values)

Page 42



17

Date:
Contents

General considerations & Practicalities Page 21-22

Application Guidance Page 22

Application Form Page 23-27

Page 43



18

1. General Considerations

Before making an application for the transfer of an asset from Dorset 
Council it is important to consider your options carefully. Below are some 
general aspects which should be considered before making an 
application.

The aims and objectives for the land and building-by having clear 
objectives it is possible whether premises are needed and the amount of 
space and type of facilities required.

The need and demand for the asset.

The decision to take responsibility for an asset should benefit the local 
community by allowing you to provide facilities more efficiently and 
effectively. It is important to consider the monetary costs and time 
needed to maintain a building.

2. Practicalities

It is important to have a financial plan outlining the funding of the assets.

Where an asset is to be transferred initial costs may include surveying 
and legal fees, each party will be expected to pay their own costs. It is 
also important to consider that an asset can generate a number of 
ongoing costs.

These may include: -

 Council tax/business rates
 Utilities (electricity, water etc)
 Insurance-building, contents and public liability
 Repairs-reactive and planned maintenance
 Security
 Administration
 Alterations and adaptions
 Cleaning and caretaking

Page 44



19

Dorset Council will be able to provide limited information in this respect. 
As such it is advisable for Town/Parish Councils or Community groups to 
undertake their own due diligence.

Where an asset is proposed to transfer, a Premises Management Plan is 
required detailing who will be responsible for decisions relating to the 
property, along with responsibilities for the day to day management 
arrangements and compliance legislation issues which need to be 
addressed which can include fire safety, health and safety, security etc. 
Dorset Council reserves the right to challenge plans submitted.

Your organisation must also have the capacity to take on the ownership 
of the property, along with the statutory considerations that can include 
but are not limited to: -

 Health & Safety at Work Act 1974
 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
 Occupiers Liability Act 1957
 Landlord & Tenant Act 1954
 Charities Act 2011
 Town & Country Planning Act 1960 and subsequent regulations
 Equality Act 2010
 Building Act 1994
 Defective Premises Act 1972
 Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012

3. Application Guidance

If you are satisfied that your Organisation has a genuine need to take on 
the asset and the ability to do so, please complete the Application Form 
below.

When completing the application form(s) it is important that you provide 
as much information as possible so that your application can be properly 
assessed. Please do not hesitate to provide additional sheets if required.

If you require any additional guidance on the process or help with the 
completion of the application forms please contact the Personal 
Assistant to the Corporate Director of Property & Assets who will 
organise the necessary assistance. A copy of the Dorset Council’s Asset 
Transfer Policy is also available on our website or by request.

Page 45



20

ASSET TRANSFER APPLICATION FORM

4. Organisation Details

Name of Organisation

Address of Organisation

Post Code
Telephone Number
E Mail Address

Contact Details

Name of Contact
Position Held
Address (if different from 
above)

Post Code
Telephone Number
E Mail Address

Solicitor’s Details

Name of Solicitor
Contact
Address

Post Code
Telephone Number
E Mail Address

Page 46



21

Where assets are transferred for a nil or less than market consideration 
the financial cost to Dorset Council will be weighed against the 
community benefit. Please indicate which of the following community 
benefits will be provided by the transfer of this asset: -

1. The transfer of this asset will provide social, economic or 
environmental well-being benefits for the local community. For 
example, through the ability to manage and regulate an open 
space at local level

2. The transfer would be a ‘tidying up’ exercise, passing incidental 
pieces of land and landscaping, or parts of these, to local level 

3. The asset has the potential to provide for a community facility, for 
example, a village hall, which the Council, Community Group or 
other body has demonstrated they have the skills, drive and 
resources to deliver 

4. The transfer of the asset will enable the continuation of a service to 
the local community that Dorset Council are no longer to provide 
eg public conveniences 

5. A community partnership can be entered into based on public 
access to and use of an asset 

6. It is believed that the applicant would be able to secure grant 
funding and or have access to funding streams not available to 
Dorset Council 

Name & Address of Asset to be transferred and Land Registry DN 
reference: -

Proposed use of the Asset: -

Proposed Means of transfer (ie lease or freehold): -

The Council has the discretionary power under the General Disposal 
Consent (England) 2003 and S123 of the Local Government Act to 
consider disposals of surplus assets at less than best consideration 
where such disposal is likely to contribute to the promotion or 
improvement of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of the 

Page 47



22

Dorset Council area and its residents. Please indicate below how this 
proposed transfer will contribute in any of these ways: -

5. Economic Benefits

How will the transfer benefit the 
local economy?

Social Benefits

How will the transfer provide the 
social benefit to the community?

Environmental Benefits

How will the transfer benefit the 
environment?

Other

Any other information to support 
the transfer?

Page 48



23

Should Dorset Council consider that the transaction at less than best 
value will meet the requirements of the General Disposal Consent Act, a 
valuation of the property asset will be undertaken to determine best 
value. Any costs incurred by Dorset Council in seeking the relevant 
valuation advice will be met by the applicant.

When considering the disposal pf public open space, the legal 
requirements of the Council to advertise proposed disposals and 
consider objections must be complied with. Applicants will be required to 
meet the costs of advertising the proposed disposal. 

6. Declaration

I confirm that I am authorised to sign this application on behalf of (name 
of organisation) and that to the best of my knowledge and belief all the 
information provided is true and correct. I confirm that I have considered 
all the financial implications of the asset acquisition and that I am 
satisfied that (name of organisation) is able to meet all anticipated costs 
and obligations.

I enclose copies of: -

Plan outlining the asset to be considered for transfer with the site 
boundary marked in red.

Management structure if required

Premises Management Plan

Community Consultation (if available)

Business Plan (if available) 

Any other documents you think may be helpful when assessing your 
application.

Name (print) Signature

Position

Date

Page 49



24

Please return this completed form to:
Carly Galloway
Senior Projects, Contracts & Funding Manager
Assets & Property Directorate
County Hall
Colliton Park
Dorchester
DT1 1XJ

Or e mail: -

Carly.Galloway@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 50



1

Dorset Council

Asset Transfer Policy

High Value Assets

(Assets with a Value in excess of £15,000 and/or Highly Complex)

Date Published: June 2021

Page 51



2

Contents

Introduction Page 3

Background Page 3-5

Scope of this policy Page 5

Transfer Arrangement               Page 5-7

Eligibility & Assessment Criteria Page 7-8

Principles Page 8-9

The Asset Transfer Process Page 9-12

Appeals                                                                                           Page 12

Timescales Page 13

Ongoing Reviews Page 13

Adoption of policy Page 14

ANNEX A Page 15
CURRENT LEGISLATION

ANNEX B Page 16
PROPERTY OUT OF SCOPE TRANSFER PROCESS

ANNEX C Page 17
ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

ANNEX D Page 18
TRANSFER PROCESS FLOWCHART

ANNEX E Page 19-27
TRANSFER OF PROPERTY 
GUIDANCE & APPLICATION FORM

Page 52



3

1. Introduction

1.1 Dorset council recognises that the devolution of assets to local 
communities, particularly to town and parish councils, can make a 
significant contribution to enabling them to be stronger, more resilient 
and sustainable.

1.2 Dorset Council is committed to pro-actively seeking to transfer 
appropriate assets in order to provide benefits to local communities.

1.3 This policy supports the delivery of a devolution programme which 
aims to: -

 Improve outcomes for local communities-through enabling assets 
to be more tailored to meet the diverse needs of communities

 Increase local control over assets-through enabling town and 
parish councils in particular as democratically elected bodies, to 
take decisions on how best to meet local needs

1.4 This policy document will be reviewed annually in accordance with 
any appropriate legislation as currently set out at Annex A with any 
proposed amendments delegated to the relevant Portfolio Holders

2. Background

2.1 Dorset Council has responsibility for land and buildings through 
various means: -

 Owned Assets-Dorset Council hold either a freehold interest or 
long lease (virtual freehold, usually in excess of 100 years) of the 
asset.

 Dedicated assets-Dorset Council has responsibility to maintain 
land due to a historical contractual obligation but does not have the 
freehold ownership for example areas of public open space or play 
areas under planning agreements

 Statutory responsibility-Dorset Council has the responsibility for 
maintaining assets and provide services under legislations, for 
example highway land or closed burial grounds

Page 53



4

2.2 The disposal of assets by Dorset Council broadly fall under two 
types: -

 Market sales-where ‘best consideration’ is obtained widely 
interpreted as the best price/market value (as defined by the Red 
Book)

 Disposal at less than best consideration-this could either be a 
transfer for a nominal sum or reduced purchase price but will 
certainly be lower than the market value 

2.3 Assets will be considered for transfer where one or more of the 
following benefits will be provided: -

 The transfer of the asset will provide social, economic or 
environmental well-being benefits to the local community (for 
example through the ability to manage and regulate ‘open spaces’ 
at a local level)

 The transfer would be a ‘tidying up’ exercise passing incidental 
pieces of land and landscaping or parts of these to a local level

 The asset has the potential to provide for a community facility 
which a parish/town council, third sector or community group has 
demonstrated that they have the skills, drive and access to 
resources to deliver (for example a village hall)

 The transfer of the asset will enable the continuation of a service 
or use of a facility to the local community that Dorset Council is no 
longer able to provide (for example public conveniences)

 A community partnership can be entered into based on public 
access to and use of an asset

 It is believed that a town/parish council or other community group 
would be able to secure a grant and/or have access to funding 
streams not available to Dorset Council

2.4 Dorset Council reserves the right not to dispose or transfer its assets 
to others for reasons including but not limited to: -

 The financial impact or potential impact from loss of income or the 
benefit of a capital receipt which outweighs the social value being 
created in isolation

 Adjoining/surrounding land not being transferred
 Potential for redevelopment either with or without Dorset Council 

land

Page 54



5

 Historic and or complex land issues which would make a 
disposal/transfer resource prohibitive to Dorset Council

 There being a large number of small non-strategic open space 
land parcels that require significant due diligence and incur 
significant legal costs and may be best served through a service 
delegation agreement

 There is a statutory responsibility and any transfer would also 
require the transfer or undertaking of any service responsibilities  

3 Scope of this Policy

3.1 The scope of this policy document applies to community asset 
transfers.

3.2 Community asset transfer involves the transferring of land, buildings 
or other property assets (referred to as assets throughout this document) 
from a statutory body to a Town and Parish Council or community 
organisation in order to achieve public benefit.

3.3 The application of this policy may be triggered by either external 
requests from local organisations and/or triggered by Dorset Council 
through identifying that an asset is declared ‘surplus’ to requirements 
following a review of a particular asset or part of a programme of 
possible asset transfer reviews.

3.4 Those Assets that are currently outside the scope of this Policy are 
detailed at Annex B.

4.  Transfer Arrangements for High Value Assets

4.1 The transfer of the responsibility for a high value asset will be 
determined by an Asset Transfer Board chaired by the Portfolio Holder 
for Economic Growth, Assets & Property and consisting of Portfolio 
Holders and Senior Council Officers as set out in paragraph 8.2 below 
which will meet on a quarterly basis or as appropriate to consider all 
such requests. All such requests will be considered and decided upon 
following the submission of an Asset Transfer Application Form and 
where considered appropriate supported by a Business Plan.
 
The Asset Transfer Board will after considering recommendations from 
the Corporate Director for Assets & Property determine the most 
appropriate arrangements for a transfer on a case-by case basis taking 
into consideration factors such as applicant preference, financial and 

Page 55



6

legal considerations etc. The different types of arrangement are broadly: 
-

 Freehold transfer-this is where an asset is permanently transferred 
to a local organisation in accordance with Dorset Council’s 
standard terms and conditions

 Long Term Lease-25 years or more in relation to a building in 
accordance with Dorset Council’s standard terms and conditions

 Short term lease or other management arrangement-a lease less 
than 25 years or license to occupy or other tenancy agreement in 
accordance with Dorset Council’s standard terms and conditions

These three options are Dorset Councils preferred approach.

4.2 Other types of solutions that might also be considered are: -

 Community Use Agreement with a local organisation or a local 
school to protect community use access and prices with zero 
subsidy and risk transfer to the third party within a partnership 
working agreement.

 Management Contract a long-term lease, contract and service 
specification to a specialist service delivery provider which may 
link to a capital investment by a third party with zero subsidy, full 
risk transfer and potential income share.

 Service Delegation Agreements-these are usually used where 
there is a large number of small non-strategic open space land 
parcels which are most efficiently and successfully managed via a 
service delegation agreement, In these cases a fixed term tenancy 
of 7 years (less 5 days) will be granted given that a lease of this 
length is exempt from s123 ‘best consideration’ tests. Longer 
leases would be considered but the costs of legal fees and due 
diligence could prove prohibitive.

4.3 There is a policy presumption that where an asset is to be 
transferred this will be offered on the basis of a long-term lease or 
freehold transfer basis, rather than short lease arrangements. This is in 
order to maximise local control and provide opportunities for the 
applicant to consider investment in the asset and/or other funding 
opportunities.

4.4 This policy does not set out a preference or hierarchy in regard to 
the choice of freehold or leasehold transfer in order to enable 
consideration to be given to the best option on a case by case basis as 

Page 56



7

determined by the Asset Transfer Board dependent on the value of the 
asset.

4.5 Short term lease arrangements may be considered under pilot 
arrangements; however, it is recognised that they may hinder the 
applicant in planning and investing in community service without long 
term certainty.

4.6 In regard to freehold transfers the Council will reserve the right to 
include conditions on any transfer to protect the future community use of 
the property by way of restrictions, preferential arrangements for Dorset 
Council use, future sale of the property by way of an equitable share in 
any benefits derived and financial, project failure or there no longer 
being a requirement through the use of reversionary mechanisms. Any 
conditions will be considered and determined by the Asset Transfer 
Board, as appropriate, on a case by case basis. 

5. Eligibility & Assessment Criteria

5.1 The following eligibility criteria would apply: -

Criteria Description
a) The Asset Transfer Policy is open to:

 Parish or Town Councils
 Unincorporated charitable organisations
 Companies limited by guarantee with charitable 

status
 Community Interest Companies limited by 

guarantee
 Community Benefit Industrial & provident 

Societies with an asset lock
 Community Interest Company limited by shares

b) Organisations must be
 Legal entities
 Non profit making
 Have community and or social objectives; and 

or
 Be located within the boundaries of Dorset 

Council area or can demonstrate that they 
provide services within the area to residents

c) All community assets must remain open to the wider 
public. This does not disqualify special interest 

Page 57



8

proposals or groups; however, evidence must be 
provided of how the asset will be used in an inclusive 
way

d) Applicants must provide full contact details for the 
organisation including someone with the relevant 
decision making authority

e) Applicants must provide supporting evidence where 
required and complete all sections of required forms

5.2 Dorset Council will not consider expressions of interest from 
organisations which are political or with political affiliations, organisations 
engaged in supporting candidates for political office, individuals or 
businesses who intend to primarily run the service or use the asset for 
commercial gain.

5.3 In addition to the eligibility criteria set out above the assessment of 
requests will consider the following criteria areas:

 Community Benefit
 Local Control
 Sustainability
 Governance of legal structure
 Financial standing
 Maintenance and ability to maintain and manage assets
 Commitment

Further details on the assessment criteria are set out in Annex C.

6. Principles

6.1 Dorset Council is committed to applying the following principles in 
how it considers property transfer requests: -

 Being transparent in the process for asset transfers including 
timelines and decision making with as much information published 
on line as possible

 Providing timely information to local organisations to make an 
initial view on whether they are interested in discussing property 
transfer arrangements

 Assessing property transfer requests fairly through the application 
of this policy

Page 58



9

 No capital or other funding will be provided as part of the transfer 
and all future costs would be covered by the organisation taking on 
the asset except in exceptional circumstances as solely 
determined by Dorset Council

 No rents or charges will be applied for use by Dorset Council 
should there be any potential ongoing or temporary space 
requirement identified by the Council.

 Where assets are identified as being surplus and no interest in 
them has been expressed by other parties the Council will 
consider closure of a facility, cease maintaining an asset where it 
is safe to do so, ‘stopping up’ a building or facility’ and/or its 
possible demolition taking due regard of any historical significance 
and requirements to consult.

 Provision of a named contact and respond in a timely manner to all 
property transfer requests

7. The Asset Transfer Process

7.1 The Asset Transfer Process is set out at Annex D and consists of the 
following elements as set out in paragraph’s 8 to 14 below: -

8. Decision Making

8.1 Any organisation expressing an interest in particular assets will need 
to submit a request using the Council’s standard Asset Transfer 
Application Form as provided at Annex E. 

8.2 The application will be initially screened by the Dorset Council’s 
Property Dept so as to determine whether they fall within or outside of 
this policy and whether the value of the asset being the subject of any 
request is above £15,000.

8.3 An evaluation will also be undertaken as to the financial impact or 
potential impact to Dorset Council weighted against the social value 
being created in isolation.

8.4 Following consideration of asset transfer requests a decision by 
Dorset Council and the respective applicant organisation is needed on 
the sign-off of individual asset transfers. All such decisions will be taken 
in accordance with this policy and endorsed by the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holders for Property & Assets and Customer & Community Services as 
delegated by Cabinet.

Page 59



10

8.5 An Asset Transfer Board will consider all Asset Transfer Requests 
for any asset whose value exceeds £15,000 and will oversee the 
transfer programme. This Board will comprise the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holders and senior officers within the Council namely the Corporate 
Director of Property & Assets, Representatives from Finance & Legal 
and other appropriate Service Directors as required. The Board will 
make recommendations to the relevant decision makers (the Portfolio 
Holders) on the detail of the transfer agreement terms and sign off.

8.6 The Council may need to balance the competing interests of 
community groups and an assessment will need to be made as to the 
option that will deliver most sustainable benefit to the local community. 

8.7 In considering the best terms for an individual asset transfer a 
recommendation will be made on the appropriate rental or capital 
subsidy, if required, below market value in order to maximise the use of 
the asset for community benefit. Rental or market subsidies will only 
apply in relation to assets considered under this policy.

9. Pre-Application Stage

9.1 As part of Dorset Council’s commitment to the transfer of assets 
support will be provided to town and parish councils and community 
organisations, where required, to enable them to consider submitting an 
Asset Transfer Application Form. In particular this will include: -

 Online guidance and information including template Asset Transfer 
Application form and business plan guidance

 A named contact to support organisations to submit Asset Transfer 
Applications and to keep applicant updated at all stages of transfer 
process

10. Stage 1 Expressions of Interest Submission

10.1 On receipt of an Asset Transfer Application form Dorset Council’s 
Property Dept will then: -

 Check that the application meets the policy criteria and the value 
of the asset

 Check that the applicant meets the eligibility criteria to be 
considered and notify the applicant accordingly

 Investigate alternative interested parties or uses for the site

Page 60



11

 Inform the applicant if there is more than one interested party and 
whether a shortlisting process is required

10.2 Once an application has been confirmed as meeting the policy 
criteria and the Council confirms it is willing to consider any such transfer 
Dorset Council’s Property Dept will then: -

 Notify the local member(s) and seek their views
 Supply the following information to the applicant, if requested: -

     -estimated maintenance costs
     -estimated value of the property (if any)
     -condition survey report and any other relevant information

10.3 Parishes/Town Councils & Community Groups may wish to 
undertake their own due diligence exercises and in doing so will be 
responsible for any such works and legal costs associated with them.

10.4 If the applicant wishes to then proceed with the transfer request, in 
light of this information, then the application will be considered by The 
Asset Transfer Board who will determine if the application passes the 
Stage 1 assessment, if more than one applicant those that are being 
shortlisted for consideration and the next step options which are:-

      -Business Plan required before decision
      
      -Application rejected

The Guidance and Expression of Interest Form is shown at Annex E

11. Stage 2 Business Plan Stage

11.1 The Council wishes to ensure that the transfer is successful as such 
a business plan will be required where an asset request is of value greater 
than £15,000

11.2 The Council recognises that completing a business plan will take the 
applicant time and effort and will only ask organisations that meet all of 
the eligibility criteria

11.3 Where it is agreed to carry out a pilot of a widespread devolution of 
properties a single business case will be required.

11.5 Where a business plan is required it is anticipated that supporting 
evidence will also be requested on the following areas: -

Page 61



12

 Health & safety arrangements in place
 Safeguarding arrangements
 Staffing and/or contractual arrangements
 Insurance
 Operational procedures & Maintenance Management
 Governance

11.4 All business plans will initially be evaluated by the Property Dept and 
presented to the Asset Transfer Board who will recommend to the 
Portfolio Holders, for their determination, the preferred applicant (if more 
than one interested party, whether to agree to the transfer and any 
conditions that may form part of the transaction or to place it on hold for 
further investigations into other possible options or to reject it.

11.6 The Council will consult local member(s) and Community Boards 
prior to a decision on transfers that require a business plan.

12. Stage 3 Basis of Any Transfer

12.1 Dorset Council will determine the basis of legal agreements for the 
transfer of an asset following either acceptance of the Application or the 
approval of a business plan (where appropriate). Any such terms and 
conditions stipulated by the Council will be non-negotiable.

12.2 Dorset Council’s standard form of contract/lease will be used for all 
asset transfers although the Council reserves to vary these at its sole 
discretion in exceptional circumstances. 

12.4 The decision on the sign off of all transfers will be delegated by 
Cabinet to the Portfolio Holders for Customer and Community Services 
and Economic Growth, Assets & Property.

13. Appeals

13.1 All applicants are entitled to appeal against an element of this policy 
if they feel that a decision has been unfair/and or there has been a breach 
of policy,

13.2 Appeals should be made in writing via the Complaints Team stating 
clearly the issue or reference to the part of the policy that has been 
breached, within 28 days of the decision being made.

Page 62



13

13.3 The appeal will be managed in line with the Council’s stage 2 
complaints procedure. Dorset Council’s decision is regarded as final.

14. Timescales

14.1 All asset transfers are unique and it is difficult to provide specific 
timescales. However, Dorset Council will endeavour to: -

14.2 Pre-Application
Allow 4 weeks for Applications to be submitted from time property is first 
declared surplus/advertised.

14.3 Stage 1
In order to assess and evaluate an application (particularly where a 
number of expressions of interest have been submitted for the same 
assets and a short listing process is required) a period of between 8-12 
weeks from receipt of an application (note this may vary depending on 
meeting dates of the Asset Transfer Board and volume of requests 
received) should be allowed. If more applications are received than can 
be processed. Should an application be placed on hold the Applicant will 
be informed within this timeframe of the time required by the Council to 
consider alternative options (dependent on the number of applications 
received and being considered at any one time).

14.4 Stage 2
Allow applicant(s) 6-8 weeks if full business plans are required and make 
final decisions within 8-12 weeks following submission of Applications or 
14-20 weeks if full business plans required (timescales may vary 
depending on Asset Transfer Board meeting dates and volume of 
business cases received)

14.5 Stage 3
Work with successful applicant(s) to agree a realistic timetable for final 
completion of the asset transfer with a target timescale of 12 weeks 
(dependent on type of transaction and Legal casework)

15. Ongoing Reviews 

15.1 The Council may wish to undertake ad hoc reviews so as to ensure 
the Community benefits are being delivered as per the bid submission and 
to reserve the right for assets to revert if the proposed benefits do not 
materialise.

Page 63



14

16. Adoption of Policy

16.1 Following the approval and adoption of this Policy by Cabinet 
guidance and templates will be developed and published to support 
organisations to submit expressions of interest.

16.2 This policy will apply for all transfers as from the beginning of July 
2021 and will not be applied retrospectively.

16.3 Where leasehold arrangements are currently in place this policy will 
be applied at the point in time where any such leases are due for renewal

Page 64



15

ANNEX A
CURRENT LEGISLATION 

Local Government Act 1972 (1972 Act)-S123 sets out that Local 
Authorities must obtain ‘best consideration’ for all disposals 

Local Government Act 1972: General Disposal Consent 2003 (‘General 
Consent order’)-gives permission for Councils to dispose at less than 
best consideration provided if the value foregone is less than £2m (in 
capital terms) and the transaction benefits the economic, social or 
environmental wellbeing of the area. If the value foregone is greater than 
£2m approval from the Secretary of State is required.

Local Government finance act (1988)

RICS Valuation-Professional Standards (“Red Book”)-defines market 
value when considering the price obtained from a disposal

Localism Act 2011-introduced the concept of local communities taking 
more control of assets in their area.

European Commission State Aid Rules-rules to avoid state aid rules 
which could distort competition to be reviewed post Brexit.

Page 65



16

ANNEX B
PROPERTY OUT OF SCOPE TRANSFER PROCESS

It is proposed that some types of properties are considered out of scope 
of this policy. This means that Dorset Council will not consider such 
requests under this policy.

The Council is undertaking a range of strategic property reviews to 
inform the best use of those assets for the benefit of all Dorset residents.

Some types of assets are best managed strategically and thereby 
retained by Dorset Council just as others are best managed locally.

The following property areas are out of scope: -

 Assets held for investment purposes both those assets that 
generate a net income for Dorset Council and those held for future 
capital, revenue regeneration or corporate realisations

 Vacant land or buildings that may generate a capital receipt, 
regeneration revenue or corporate aspirations

 Assets of a rural nature given Dorset Council’s role as a small 
holding’s authority

 Education and statutory early years premises due to Dorset 
Council’s role as a Local Authority for education purposes (unless 
such assets have been declared surplus)

 Care facilities that form part of a Care contract
 Residential Properties given Dorset’s role as a Housing Authority
 Land held for future development by Dorset Council or partner 

schemes as it would not be financially prudent to devolve land and 
be required to repurchase it in the future

 Car parks owned and run by Dorset Council
 Buildings used primarily as delivery sites for Dorset Council 

Services
 Potential buildings which may be considered as Community 

Access Points/Hubs in later years to ensure maximum potential for 
building redevelopment/investment

 Vacant Land or buildings that can generate a capital receipt in 
excess of £10,000 which is the de-minimus level for capital 
accounting purposes.

Page 66



17

ANNEX C
ASSESSMENT CRITERIA 

All applicants will be required to complete an Expression of Interest. A 
Business plan may also be required at stage 2 in relation to transfer 
requests over the value threshold of £15,000 for properties.

Template Forms will be published online as part of a transfer toolkit. 
These template forms will include sections to complete in relation to the 
criteria areas with an expectation that more detailed information would 
be provided where a business plan is required.

Assessment Criteria Area EOI Evidence Business Plan Evidence
A) Community Benefit Statement of intended 

community benefits
Strong track record of 
delivery of community 
benefit

Evidence of community 
impact and residential 
consultation on proposal

b) Local Control Meet organisational 
eligibility criteria

Evidence that residents will 
have a say in future 
decisions on the property

c) Sustainability Ability to manage 
property

Clear long-term plan for 
viability

A risk assessment and how 
risks will be mitigated

d) Governance & Legal 
Structure

Meet eligibility criteria Settled legal entity with 
proven ability to manage 
change

e) Financial standing Established record of 
financial probity

Established record of 
financial probity with 
evidence of long-term plan

f) Maintenance Ability to manage 
property

Proven record of managing 
maintenance issues

g) Commitment Willingness to 
participate in 
evaluation

Willingness to participate in 
evaluation and share 
learning

Page 67



18

ANNEX D TRANSFER PROCESS FLOWCHART

Stage 1

Stage 2 

Stage 3

                                                                                 

Assets identified by the council to be surplus 
to requirement and can be considered for 
release or Asset Transfer Application Form 
received from Town/Parish councils or 
community groups. 

Assets not available 
or application not 
within policy- 
process stops

Assets Available , Asset Value determined to be in excess of £15k- 
application within policy-Local Members informed/consulted-process 

continues for possible determination by Asset Transfer Board

Asset info released 
and Application 

considered

Organisation meets the minimum 
criteria – process continues if 
competition preferred group 

identified

Organisation does 
not meet criteria. 

Process stops. 

 Application for Asset Transfer considered by Asset Transfer Board 
and business plan submitted if required

Application not supported – Asset 
Transfer not able to be recommend for 

approval. Process stops 

Application is supported – Asset Transfer 
is able to be recommend

Process continues through 
delegated authorities and 
Legal Services instructed 

Community Asset Transfer 
complete and handed over to 

organisation and takes 
responsibility for Asset

Page 68



19

ANNEX E 
TRANSFER OF PROPERTY 
GUIDANCE & APPLICATION FORM 

Dorset Council

Asset Transfer Guidance Document

&

Application Form

(For All Asset Values)

Page 69



20

Date:
Contents

General considerations & Practicalities Page 21-22

Application Guidance Page 22

Application Form Page 23-27

Page 70



21

1. General Considerations

Before making an application for the transfer of an asset from Dorset 
Council it is important to consider your options carefully. Below are some 
general aspects which should be considered before making an 
application.

The aims and objectives for the land and building-by having clear 
objectives it is possible whether premises are needed, and the amount 
of space and type of facilities required.

The need and demand for the asset.

The decision to take responsibility for an asset should benefit the local 
community by allowing you to provide facilities more efficiently and 
effectively. It is important to consider the monetary costs and time 
needed to maintain a building.

2. Practicalities

It is important to have a financial plan outlining the funding of the assets.

Where an asset is to be transferred initial costs may include surveying 
and legal fees, each party will be expected to pay their own costs. It is 
also important to consider that an asset can generate a number of 
ongoing costs.

These may include: -

 Council tax/business rates
 Utilities (electricity, water etc)
 Insurance-building, contents and public liability
 Repairs-reactive and planned maintenance
 Security
 Administration
 Alterations and adaptions
 Cleaning and caretaking

Dorset Council will be able to provide limited information in this respect. 
As such it is advisable for Town/Parish Councils or Community groups to 
undertake their own due diligence.

Page 71



22

Where an asset is proposed to transfer, a Premises Management Plan is 
required detailing who will be responsible for decisions relating to the 
property, along with responsibilities for the day to day management 
arrangements and compliance legislation issues which need to be 
addressed which can include fire safety, health and safety, security etc. 
Dorset Council reserves the right to challenge plans submitted.

Your organisation must also have the capacity to take on the ownership 
of the property, along with the statutory considerations that can include 
but are not limited to: -

 Health & Safety at Work Act 1974
 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
 Occupiers Liability Act 1957
 Landlord & Tenant Act 1954
 Charities Act 2011
 Town & Country Planning Act 1960 and subsequent regulations
 Equality Act 2010
 Building Act 1994
 Defective Premises Act 1972
 Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012

3. Application Guidance

If you are satisfied that your Organisation has a genuine need to take on 
the asset and the ability to do so, please complete the Application Form 
below.

When completing the application form(s) it is important that you provide 
as much information as possible so that your application can be properly 
assessed. Please do not hesitate to provide additional sheets if required.

If you require any additional guidance on the process or help with the 
completion of the application forms please contact the Personal 
Assistant to the Corporate Director of Property & Assets who will 
organise the necessary assistance. A copy of the Dorset Council’s Asset 
Transfer Policy is also available on our website or by request.

Page 72



23

ASSET TRANSFER APPLICATION FORM

4. Organisation Details

Name of Organisation

Address of Organisation

Post Code
Telephone Number
E Mail Address

Contact Details

Name of Contact
Position Held
Address (if different from 
above)

Post Code
Telephone Number
E Mail Address

Solicitor’s Details

Name of Solicitor
Contact
Address

Post Code
Telephone Number
E Mail Address

Page 73



24

Where assets are transferred for a nil or less than market consideration 
the financial cost to Dorset Council will be weighed against the 
community benefit. Please indicate which of the following community 
benefits will be provided by the transfer of this asset: -

1. The transfer of this asset will provide social, economic or 
environmental well-being benefits for the local community. For 
example, through the ability to manage and regulate an open 
space at local level

2. The transfer would be a ‘tidying up’ exercise, passing incidental 
pieces of land and landscaping, or parts of these, to local level 

3. The asset has the potential to provide for a community facility, for 
example, a village hall, which the Council, Community Group or 
other body has demonstrated they have the skills, drive and 
resources to deliver 

4. The transfer of the asset will enable the continuation of a service to 
the local community that Dorset Council are no longer to provide 
eg public conveniences 

5. A community partnership can be entered into based on public 
access to and use of an asset 

6. It is believed that the applicant would be able to secure grant 
funding and or have access to funding streams not available to 
Dorset Council 

Name & Address of Asset to be transferred and Land Registry DN 
reference: -

Proposed use of the Asset: -

Proposed Means of transfer (ie lease or freehold): -

The Council has the discretionary power under the General Disposal 
Consent (England) 2003 and S123 of the Local Government Act to 
consider disposals of surplus assets at less than best consideration 
where such disposal is likely to contribute to the promotion or 
improvement of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of the 
Dorset Council area and its residents. Please indicate below how this 
proposed transfer will contribute in any of these ways: -

Page 74



25

5. Economic Benefits

How will the transfer benefit the 
local economy?

Social Benefits

How will the transfer provide the 
social benefit to the community?

Environmental Benefits

How will the transfer benefit the 
environment?

Other

Any other information to support 
the transfer?

Page 75



26

Should Dorset Council consider that the transaction at less than best 
value will meet the requirements of the General Disposal Consent Act, a 
valuation of the property asset will be undertaken to determine best 
value. Any costs incurred by Dorset Council in seeking the relevant 
valuation advice will be met by the applicant.

When considering the disposal pf public open space, the legal 
requirements of the Council to advertise proposed disposals and 
consider objections must be complied with. Applicants will be required to 
meet the costs of advertising the proposed disposal. 

6. Declaration

I confirm that I am authorised to sign this application on behalf of (name 
of organisation) and that to the best of my knowledge and belief all the 
information provided is true and correct. I confirm that I have considered 
all the financial implications of the asset acquisition and that I am 
satisfied that (name of organisation) is able to meet all anticipated costs 
and obligations.

I enclose copies of: -

Plan outlining the asset to be considered for transfer with the site 
boundary marked in red.

Management structure if required

Premises Management Plan

Community Consultation (if available)

Business Plan (if available) 

Any other documents you think may be helpful when assessing your 
application.

Name (print) Signature

Position

Date

Page 76



27

Please return this completed form to:
Carly Galloway
Senior Projects, Contracts & Funding Manager
County Hall
Colliton Park
Dorchester
DT1 1XJ

Or e mail: -

Carly.Galloway@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Place & Resources Overview Committee
1st June 2021
Street Naming and Numbering Policy

For Recommendation to Cabinet
Portfolio Holder: Cllr P Wharf, Corporate Development and Change

Local Councillor(s): Cllr Daryl Turner 

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development
 

Report Author: Emma Webb
Title: Business Solutions Analyst (GIS)
Tel: 01929 557317
Email: emma.webb@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation: To adopt the proposed Street Naming and Numbering Policy

Reason for Recommendation: The recommended option provides the 
opportunity for harmonisation, cost and administration efficiencies and reduced
risk.    

1. Executive Summary 
This report makes a recommendation to adopt a single Street Naming and 
Numbering policy for Dorset Council. This policy would replace the current 
documents in place at East Dorset District Council, North Dorset District 
Council and Purbeck District Council.

Whilst the predecessor authorities currently either hold individual policies 
or do not have a policy, the criteria for naming and numbering streets and 
properties differ and a harmonised approach is recommended to ensure a 
consistent approach across Dorset Council. This will reduce the risk of 
legal challenge.

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



2. Financial Implications
This report recommended the harmonisation of the fees and charges for 
the service.

3. Well-being and Health Implications 
No well-being or health implications have been identified.

  
4. Climate implications

No climate implications have been identified.

5. Other Implications
There are no other implications to different areas of the council.

6. Risk Assessment
Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk 
has been identified as:
Current Risk: Low
Residual Risk: Low

7. Equalities Impact Assessment
An equality impact assessment has been undertaken and is attached and 
there are no equalities implications arising from this report.

8. Appendices
Appendix 1 – Street Naming and Numbering Policy
Appendix 2 -  Equalities Impact Assessment

9. Background Papers
None

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Page 80



Street Naming 
and Numbering 
Policy
Policy summary

Purpose

The purpose of the Street Naming and Numbering Policy is 
to process all requests to name streets and to ensure that all 
properties in the Dorset Council area are assigned an official 
address that is clear and unambiguous. In turn, this will 
ensure that Council services, emergency services and other 
services are able to locate any property address.  

This policy will  replace the current documents in place at 
East Dorset District Council, North Dorset District Council 
and Purbeck District Council. West Dorset District Council 
and Weymouth and Portland Borough Council did not have 
an adopted policy.

Scope
Dorset Council, its customers and external organisations are 
all affected by the content of this policy; this includes all 
addresses, domestic and non-domestic.

Table of contents
1.  Introduction 2
2.  Background 2
3.  Unique Property Reference Number (UPRN) 3
4.  Legal Framework 3
5.  Street Naming 4 
6.  Numbering 5
7.  Flats and multi-occupancy buildings 7
8.  Allocation of property name/number or change of property name 7
9.  Altering an existing street name or renumbering properties 8
10.  Costs 9 
11.  Unauthorised street names and numbers 9
12.  Use and Retention of Data 9
13.  Limit of Responsibility/Compensation 10
14.  Street Nameplates 10
15.  Royal Mail 10

Appendix 4

Page 81



1. Introduction
Dorset Council is responsible for the naming of streets and numbering of 
properties within its area. The aim of this policy is to ensure that any new 
street names, building names and numbers are allocated logically and 
consistently as this enables:
 emergency services to find a property quickly and effectively
 post to be delivered efficiently
 visitors to locate their destination
 statutory undertakers to connect their services to premises and link them 

to a postal address for billing
 reliable delivery of services and goods by courier companies 
 records of service providers to be kept in an efficient manner
 Companies to accept an address for official purposes. For example, 

insurance, credit rating and contract acceptance.

Many legal transactions associated with properties can be withheld until they 
are identified by a street name and number.

This applies to all residential, commercial and industrial properties.

Street Naming and Numbering is an important function of Dorset Council as it 
allows Dorset Council to maintain a comprehensive, unambiguous and 
accurate list of addresses covering all properties in the Dorset Council area. 

The policy provides a framework for Dorset Council to operate its street 
naming and numbering function effectively and efficiently for the benefit of 
Dorset Council residents, businesses and visitors. It will also act as a guide to 
developers when considering new names for streets and give assistance to 
parish and town councils when carrying out the engagement process with 
regard to street names.

Royal Mail does not have any authority to issue or confirm official addresses 
but it is responsible for setting the post town and postcode for a property. An 
official address will be based on the geographical position of the property.

Policy details:
2. Background 
2.1 Dorset Council is a signatory to the Public Sector Geospatial Agreement 

(PSGA) which is a contractual framework that regulates the use of mapping 
and address data in local authorities. Through the PSGA authorities are 
contracted to maintain a Local Land and Property Gazetteer (LLPG) and to 
ensure the quality of the address information it contains. The authority is 
contracted under a data licence contained within the Data Co-operation 
Agreement (DCA) to create, maintain and deliver Authority Address Updates 
to the National Address Gazetteer (NAG) through the LLPG. This address 
information is electronically transferred to the NAG in an agreed format for 
use by Government, the emergency services and Ordnance Survey 
AddressBase Products. Address information that does not conform to the 

Page 82



agreed format will be rejected by the NAG and will not be eligible for post-
coding.

2.2 The structure of the address data to form a compliant address is set out in 
British Standard BS7666. 

2.3 Dorset Council’s LLPG is the single master source of correct address data for 
the Dorset Council area.

2.4 The purpose of the LLPG and NAG is to ensure that all properties can be 
identified by one correct address and not by multiple addresses which can 
occur when there are multiple data sources. 

2.5 This ensures that accurate and consistent geospatial based information is 
used and shared within and between public bodies throughout England and 
Wales. Dorset Council’s LLPG is the definitive addressing resource for use 
through all services and for the key revenue raising activities associated with 
Council Tax and Business Rates (NNDR) income. 

3. Unique Property Reference Number (UPRN) 
3.1 In addition to the traditional method of addressing a property the Government 

has introduced a British Standard (BS7666) for the precise identification of a 
property or plot of land. This is a standard format for the structure of an 
address. Each address has a 12-digit unique property reference number 
(UPRN). This UPRN permits additional information such as geographical co-
ordinates to be accessed, allowing the property to be precisely located on a 
map and contains information relating to the full life cycle of a property 
including its provisional, historic and alternate addresses and whether it is 
residential or commercial.

3.2 Every address contains a twelve-figure grid reference which makes it possible 
to locate it quickly on the computerised Ordnance Survey maps. This 
information supports the emergency services and service providers. It is also 
making possible a whole range of locational services available through 
emerging technology.

4. Legal Framework
4.1 Dorset Council has a variety of powers that it can use for the purposes of 

delivering the functions and performing the services to which this policy 
relates.  

4.2 Dorset Council has adopted:
 Towns Improvement Clauses Act 1847 together with the Public Health Act 

1875 (together referred to as the 'the First Scheme')
 s21 Public Health Acts Amendment Act 1907 
 s17 and s19 Public Health Act 1925

Page 83



4.3 Please note that if an application for an address is not received the property 
will not be exempt from paying Council Tax or Business Rates. Conversely, 
the payment of Council Tax or Business Rates does not make an address 
official.

4.4 Other forms of an address may exist (such as those on title deeds or held by 
third party databases) but have no legal standing.

4.5 Permissions required under the Planning Acts and Building Regulations 
approval, or other statutory permissions may be required, and you are 
advised to check the position with the appropriate officers before works 
commence. The official addressing of the property does not mean that these 
permissions or approvals have been given.

5. Street Naming
5.1 If a new street name is required, before applying to Dorset Council, an 

applicant should seek to engage with the Town or Parish Council in which the 
street is located to agree street names that are considered appropriate. If no 
agreement can be reached, Dorset Council will make the final decision.

5.2 Dorset Council will not support or approve any street name that:
 is the same or similar to one already in use in the same locality/town or is 

in close proximity to one with the same name but different suffix e.g. Birch 
Road and Birch Avenue

 include a number that could cause confusion e.g., 30 Two Foot Lane 
sounds like 32 Foot Lane

 could cause offence or be considered discriminatory particularly in regard 
to age, disability, race and ethnicity, faith and belief, sexual orientation, 
gender and sex

 would undermine the cohesiveness of local communities
 could cause spelling or pronunciation problems
 contains apostrophes or other punctuation
 uses a name with Royal connotations without consent of the Lord 

Chamberlain's office.
 advertise a product or business.

5.3 Living people will not have streets named after them to avoid causing offence 
either by inclusion or exclusion.

5.4 Street names referring to deceased people will be acceptable in some 
circumstances. Consideration would be given to the likelihood that the public 
perception of a deceased person may change considerably – for better or 
worse – in the future. Only surnames will be used (not forename and surname 
combined). Where the name proposed commemorates a person who has 
direct living descendants, permission must be sought, and evidence must be 
provided with the application. 

5.5 Unofficial marketing titles used by developers will not be acceptable. 

Page 84



5.6 All street names should end with one of the following suffixes:
 Street (for any thoroughfare) 
 Road (for any thoroughfare) 
 Way (for major road or thoroughfare) 
 Avenue (for residential roads) 
 Drive (for residential roads) 
 Grove (for residential roads) 
 Lane (for residential roads) 
 Gardens (for residential roads) subject to there being no confusion with 

any local open space 
 Place (for a square of an area surrounded by buildings) 
 Crescent (for a crescent shaped road) 
 Court/Close (for a cul-de-sac only) 
 Square (for a square only) 
 Hill (for a hillside road only) 
 Vale (for residential roads) 
 Rise (for residential roads) 
 Row (for residential roads) 
 Mews (for residential roads) 
 Terrace (row of properties)

5.7 Dorset Council is likely to oppose or is unlikely to approve any pedestrian 
route not named:
 Walk
 Alley
 Path
 Way

5.8 The street naming and numbering process will not be started until full
planning consent, as appropriate, has been obtained - in any event a Street 
Naming and Numbering application should be made at least 3 months prior to 
 the estimated completion date. 

5.9 After approval of an application, Dorset Council will look to confirm details with 
the applicant. Upon receipt of such confirmation, arrangements should be put 
in place to ensure that the name of an approved street is clearly displayed in a 
conspicuous location at or near each end, corner or entrance to a street.

6. Numbering
6.1 A proper sequence of numbers will be maintained. Once a property has been

numbered Dorset Council will not normally renumber it unless it is shown to 
cause consistent delivery problems and the renumbering will be in 
accordance with these criteria.

6.2 No numbers will be omitted from a numbering sequence, for example the 
number 13 will be included.

Page 85



6.3 Convention requires number 1 always to be on the left-hand side of a road. 
Through roads are numbered odds and evens in the direction they would be 
accessed from the principal road. Convention is to number odds on the left 
and evens on the right when entering from the principal road; however, 
numbering also depends on the layout of the development and roads.

6.4 Additional properties in streets that are currently numbered will always be 
allocated a property number possibly with a suffix. 

6.5 Private garages and similar buildings will not be numbered.

6.6 Buildings will be numbered according to the street in which the main entrance 
is to be found and the manipulation of numbering in order to secure a 
"prestige" address or to avoid an address which is thought to have undesired 
associations will not be permitted.

6.7 Individual properties in existing unnumbered roads will normally require 
property names. 

6.8 If a building is demolished, then the existing numbering sequence is retained 
and reused in any new development as far as possible. Where this is not the 
case, for instance, if a new street is created on the site, then new addresses 
will be created.

6.9 Depending on the size of the development, access, and other factors it may 
be appropriate to assign a new road name to a small development. However, 
this is at the discretion of the Street Naming and Numbering section.

6.10 The Royal Mail has advised that agricultural buildings which are not used for 
the receiving of postal deliveries will not be allocated a postal address. Dorset 
Council will only request an official address from Royal Mail where Dorset 
Council believes the property is being used for permanent residency or 
business. If the field or barn is not part of a larger site, that is a postal 
address, then it is not an address and does not qualify for any form of mail 
delivery. Royal Mail would not allocate a postal address to a piece of land, 
allotment or uninhabited barn or agricultural premises simply for the delivery 
of feed, satellite navigation purposes, utilities etc.

6.11 In the case of multiple accesses, a building can only have one name and one 
number. This is to avoid confusion and prevent the address becoming 
unwieldy. 

6.12 After approval of an application, Dorset Council will look to confirm details with 
the applicant. Upon receipt of such confirmation, arrangements should be put 
in place to ensure the property number and/or name is clearly displayed in a 
prominent position, visible from the street.

Page 86



7. Flats and multi-occupancy buildings
7.1 If a multi-occupancy building has entrances in more than one street, then 

each entrance may be numbered in the appropriate road.

7.2 Numbering sequences for flats are also dependent on whether the property 
has one shared communal delivery point (letterbox) or if there are individual 
delivery points for each flat.

7.3 A building which consists of flats, but which has only one shared communal 
delivery point (letterbox) is known by Royal Mail as a 'Multi Occupancy' 
building and the Royal Mail would not show the individual flats at that property 
on their Postcode Address File (PAF). The property address details would be 
held on PAF using the main postal address and all the flats will be listed on 
the Royal Mail Multi Occupancy database, which is available for purchase by 
external companies.

7.4 When flats are numbered internally or an existing property is converted into 
flats, the flats will be numbered not lettered e.g. Flat 1, 24 High Street, not Flat 
A, 24 High Street.

7.5 When flats are numbered, numbering will be sequential in a clockwise 
direction on each floor. In multi storey buildings numbering will start from the 
ground floor ascending consecutively. 

7.6 Existing or new buildings that have separate flats or business premises will be 
 allocated a separate street number for each flat or unit. Where this is not 
possible because of the existing numbering, all flats or units will be given one 
street number and number suffixes of "1", "2" etc. e.g. Flat 1, 24 High Street, 
Flat 2, 24 High Street, etc. Commercial premises will be allocated numbers 
and/or A, B, C etc.

7.7 Dorset Council reserves the right to impose its own numbering scheme where 
proposals are not considered adequate. 

7.8 Where a flat numbering scheme is implemented and not approved by the 
Council, enforcement action may be taken.

8. Allocation of property name/number or change of property name
8.1 This is relevant to a person seeking to:

 add a property name or number for the first time; or
 add a property name for the first time to an existing numbered property
 change a property name on an existing numbered/named property.

8.2 The naming of a numbered property is something that is additional to, and not 
a substitution for the property number. Any activity undertaken by Dorset 
Council in relation to the naming or renaming of a property is therefore 
performed on the strict understanding and on the condition that any such 
name is in addition to an existing property number and not a replacement or 
substitute. 

Page 87



8.3 An application that seeks the services of Dorset Council in relation to the 
naming and renaming of properties should normally be accompanied by at 
least three alternative property names, listed in order of preference. 

8.4 An application should only be made by the owner of the property, or if more 
than one, then with the consent of all the owners of the property. Securing 
such consent is the responsibility of the applicant and should be obtained in 
advance of submitting an application. Dorset Council reserves the right to 
proceed on the assumption that the submission of an application is good 
evidence that all necessary consent has been obtained. 

8.5 It is understood that Royal Mail will only hold a name for a property where 
there is no numbering scheme in place. If a property is named and numbered, 
the name of the property will only be held as an "alias". Therefore, even if 
Dorset Council incorporates the name of a property into its records, Royal 
Mail may not pass this name on to other organisations when they make their 
address database available to those other organisations.

8.6 Where there is a proposal to name a new property Dorset Council will allocate 
a property number unless it forms part of an existing street where no 
numbering exists.

8.7 Proposals to name a block of flats or other properties will be treated in the 
same way as any other property naming proposal.

9. Altering an existing street name or renumbering properties
9.1 From time to time a request may be made to rename or renumber an existing 

street. Any such request would need to show that the owners of all affected 
properties have been consulted and at least two thirds are in agreement with 
the proposal. 

9.2 The applicant should engage with the Town or Parish Council in which the 

street is located to agree any alterations to existing street names that it 
considers appropriate. If no agreement can be reached, Dorset Council will 
make the final decision.

9.3 All costs associated with providing and erecting street nameplates, will be met 
by the applicants. Once sited, Dorset Council will be responsible for 
maintaining any nameplates.

9.4 Dorset Council may decide that to improve the delivery of mail and the routing 
of emergency services a street should be re-named or properties in the street 
re-numbered. Any such request would need to show that the owners or 
residents of all affected properties have been consulted and at least two thirds 
are in agreement with the proposal. 

Page 88



9.5 If development takes place, existing properties may find that their primary 
access has changed onto a new street. Dorset Council will number existing 
properties onto the new street. Dorset Council will notify the owners/residents 
of the affected properties and give 30 days' notice in writing.

10. Costs
10.1 The full payment of charges is to be completed prior to any address changes 

or additions being made. Address changes made without contacting Dorset 
Council will not be officially recognised.

10.2 Dorset Council will endeavour to notify developers of new properties for the 
need of an official address and the process to follow. If an application is not 
received within 3 months before a completion date, Dorset Council may 
allocate official addresses for emergency services purposes with no further 
consultation. In this case internal notifications will be made for Council 
business purposes only (emergency services will be notified) but no external 
notifications will be made, and no postcodes will be allocated to the 
properties. When the developer or owner applies for official addresses later, 
the standard street naming and numbering processes and the current fees 
and charges will apply. 

10.3 Dorset Council can charge for:  
 Alterations in either name or numbers to new developments after an initial 

naming and numbering scheme has been approved
 Adding a name to or renaming an existing numbered property
 Naming a new street
 A request for the renaming of a street

10.4 Dorset Council's charges will be set out on its website and reviewed annually.

11. Unauthorised street names and numbers
11.1 Where street names and/or numbers are created without reference to Dorset 

Council, Dorset Council may take enforcement action.

12. Use and Retention of Data
12.1 We may share your information with other services of Dorset Council in the 

interests of transparency or if required by law and/or for fraud prevention and 
to pursue debtors. We will not share your personal data with any 
organisations or bodies outside of Dorset Council. 

12.3 We will only ever retain your personal information for as long as is necessary 
in accordance with our Records Retention Policy. Any personal data you 
provide to us will be held securely. In this instance we need to keep the 
information provided to help us properly manage the function, including to 
resolve disputes. After this time the information will be deleted from our 
systems and any hard copies securely shredded. 

Page 89



13. Limit of Responsibility/Compensation
13.1 Dorset Council accepts no responsibility or liability in relation to:

 any action or omission of any third party referred to or communicated with 
as part of the performance of any service identified in this policy;

 ensuring that Royal Mail allocates a postcode to a street name,
 the updating of Royal Mail records with any information provided to it by 

Dorset Council and the future maintenance and the making of any 
changes to the address records of Royal Mail including the postcode;

 the updating by any other third party of information provided to it by Dorset 
Council and the future maintenance and the making of any changes to the 
address records held by those third parties;

 correspondence and deliveries not being delivered to a correct address;
 an address being unavailable or incorrectly recorded on any database 

maintained other than by Dorset Council;
 Ordnance Survey maps or plans not featuring any property or street;
 the use or misuse of any street name, house name or property address by 

any third party.
 Please note that it may take at least six months and can be as long as 

twelve months for name changes or indeed new or amended addresses to 
appear in the systems of other companies and organisations, over which 
Dorset Council has no control.

 Non-delivery and mis-delivery of items and correspondence and the issue 
of complaints should be directed to the customer services department of 
the relevant delivery company.

 Third party maps may not show new properties or roads: again, changes 
to information can take some time to appear in third party products.

14. Street Nameplates
14.1 The developer shall be responsible for providing the nameplates for a new 

street once the name has been agreed with Dorset Council. New street 
nameplates must adhere to a specification provided by Dorset Council. 

14.2 Following installation, Dorset Council will take over responsibility for the 
future maintenance and replacement of all street nameplates, provided they 
have been installed to Dorset Council's specification.

15. Royal Mail
15.1 When an official address is agreed and issued by Dorset Council, Dorset 

Council will send it to Royal Mail for them to allocate a postcode.

15.2 The maintenance and any future changes to the postcode are the 
responsibility of Royal Mail.

15.3 The application of a postcode is entirely the responsibility of Royal Mail. If 
a property requiring a postcode does not meet Royal Mail's criteria for a 
postal address and a postcode is refused, Dorset Council do not have any 
power to change this decision.

Page 90



 

15.4 Royal Mail will not allocate postcodes to addresses that will not be receiving 
mail. This is because a postal address (postcode) is purely a routing 
instruction for the efficient delivery of mail. 

15.5 Royal Mail does not publish on its website addresses that are not completed 
and/or occupied. This means that in certain cases addresses that have been 
officially allocated and issued by the Local Authority may not be visible to 
anyone using the Royal Mail website to validate an address. This may also 
mean that other organisations using the Royal Mail Postcode Address File will 
also not be able to validate addresses. Enquiries or complaints are to be 
directed to Royal Mail.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
Before completing this EqIA please ensure you have read the guidance on the 
intranet.

Initial Information
Name: Emma Webb
Job Title: Business Solutions Analyst
Email address: emma.webb@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
Members of the assessment team: Emma Webb
Date assessment started: 04/05/2021
Date of completion: 13/05/2021
Version Number: 1

Part 1: Background Information
Is this (please tick or expand the box to explain)
Existing
Changing, updating or revision
New or proposed 
Other

Is this (please tick or expand the box to explain)
Internal (employees only)
External (residents, communities, 
partners)



Both of the above

What is the name of your policy, strategy, project or service being assessed?
Street Naming and Numbering Policy

What is the policy, strategy, project or service designed to do? (include the aims, 
purpose and intended outcomes of the policy)
The purpose of the Street Naming and Numbering Policy is to process all requests 
to name streets and to ensure that all properties in the Dorset Council area are 
assigned an official address that is clear and unambiguous. In turn, this will ensure 
that Council services, emergency services and other services are able to locate 
any property address.  

What is the background or context to the proposal?
This policy will replace the current documents in place at East Dorset District 
Council, North Dorset District Council and Purbeck District Council. West Dorset 
District Council and Weymouth and Portland Borough Council did not have an 
adopted policy.

Part 2: Gathering information
What sources of data, information, evidence and research was used to inform you 
about the people your proposal will have an impact on? 

Page 93

mailto:emma.webb@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


2

 Policies from the legacy councils. 

What did this data, information, evidence and research tell you?
Where existing policies existed, they were all slightly different, this policy will help 
to ensure that street names requests are dealt with in an appropriate way. 

Is further information needed to help inform this proposal?
No

Part 3: Engagement and Consultation
What engagement or consultation has taken place as part of this proposal?
This policy does not require us consult or engage.

How will the outcome of consultation be fed back to those who you consulted with?
N/A

Please refer to the Equality Impact Assessment Guidance before completing 
this section.
Not every proposal will require an EqIA. If you decide that your proposal does not 
require an EqIA, it is important to show that you have given this adequate 
consideration. The data and research that you have used to inform you about the 
people who will be affected by the policy should enable you to make this decision 
and whether you need to continue with the EqIA.

Please tick the appropriate option:
An EqIA is required 
(please continue to Part 4 of this document)
An EqIA is not required
(please complete the box below)

X

This policy, strategy, project or service does not require an EqIA because:
The policy has the potential to facilitate positive impacts for all individuals by 
ensuring that all properties are assigned an official address, so assisting in the 
efficient delivery of mail and emergency services being able to local properties 
quickly.

The policy also references that the council would not support or approve any street 
name that would cause offence or be considered discriminatory particularly in 
regard to age, disability, race and ethnicity, faith and belief, sexual orientation, 
gender and sex.
As such, this EqIA does identify any adverse impacts. 

Page 94



3

Name: Emma Webb   Job Title: Business Solutions Analyst Date: 13/05/2021

EqIA Sign Off

Officer completing this EqIA: Emma Webb Date: 14/05/2021

Equality Lead: Susan Ward-Rice Date: 14/05/2021

Second sign off: Becky Forrester Date:14/05/2021

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Place and Resources Overview Committee
1st June 2021
Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and 
Coastal Risk Management Strategic Outline 
Case
For Recommendation to Cabinet
Portfolio Holder: Cllr R Bryan, Highways, Travel and Environment

Cllr T Ferrari, Economic Growth, Assets & Property 

Local Councillor(s): Cllr Jon Orrell 

Executive Director: J Sellgren, Executive Director of Place
 

Report Author: Sarah Cairns
Title: Service Manager - Major Projects
Tel: 01305 252398
Email:  sarah.cairns@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation: That Place and Resources Overview Committee:
1. Invited to review the paper which is due to be considered by Cabinet on 22nd 

June 2021. Any comments made by the committee will be appended to the 
Cabinet paper.

Reason for Recommendation: 
Weymouth Town Centre and parts of the surrounding area are at risk of flooding 
and coastal erosion. With a projected acceleration in sea level rise and more 
intense weather events because of climate change, the problems facing 
Weymouth will increase significantly. 

Without investment in managing this flood and erosion risk, Weymouth faces 
increasing direct losses through flooded assets and infrastructure and indirect 
impacts such as a failing property market due to blight and increasing social 
deprivation. 

It is estimated that there are 400 businesses (based upon ONS figures) within 
the areas that are directly affected by future flood risk. The council are yet to 
develop a permanent solution to the objection in principle that the Environment 
Agency (EA) have to development in the flood zones around Weymouth Town 

Page 97

Agenda Item 9



Centre. Future development could create jobs within Weymouth and previous 
estimates have suggested this could be over 1000. 

Dorset Council as:
(i) The principal asset owner of harbour and seafront infrastructure,
(ii) The Local Planning Authority,
(iii) The defined Lead Local Flood Authority, and
(iv) The Coast Protection Authority;
needs to adopt a coherent plan for the long-term sustainable flood and coastal 
erosion risk management of Weymouth Harbour and the Esplanade.

1. Executive Summary 
The Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk Management 
(FCRM) Strategic Outline Case (SOC) document (Appendix 1) sets out the five 
business cases: strategic, economic, commercial, financial and management at a 
strategic level. They are based upon the Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade 
FCRM Strategy document (Appendix 2) which was approved by Cabinet in 
October 2020. The SOC sets out a holistic way of tackling all sources of flooding 
in Weymouth including fluvial, coastal (tidal inundation and wave overtopping), 
surface water and groundwater. The approach is to undertake a comprehensive 
programme of wall replacement and wall raising around both the Harbour and 
Esplanade frontages.  This will both reduce flood risk and replace deteriorating 
walls, some of which are already at the end of their design life.  It is a phased 
and adaptive approach which provides the opportunity to keep under review 
several factors including rates of climate change, asset deterioration and 
changes in spatial planning needs and requirements.

The project team are hoping to gain approval to submit the SOC to the EA’s 
Large Project Review Group (LPRG), which looks at all projects which are 
projected to cost in excess of £10million, and to agree the funding process of the 
Outline Business Case (OBC) production. Table 1 below states the current 
programme to progress to OBC and then phase 1 of construction.

Activity Date 

Strategic Outline Case – Submit to LPRG August 2021

Strategic Outline Case – LPRG Approval September 2021

Outline Business Case development 2021 – 2023

Outline Business Case – Submit to LPRG February 2023

Outline Business Case – Approval March 2023

Detailed Design & Consents Spring 2023 – 
Summer 2024

Page 98



Activity Date 

Construction Start – Initial Phases Winter 2024/25

Construction End – Initial Phases 2040 

Table 1: Current programme

2. Financial Implications
The scale of engineering construction works is significant and will require 
investment from multiple funding sources in line with Government’s Partnership 
Funding approach.  Total investment in excess of £115million in cash cost terms 
will be required over the next one-hundred years.  Funding and implementation 
of all phases of the Weymouth scheme over the next 100-years is estimated to 
be approximately (c.) £52m Present Value (PV), which will provide substantial 
flood and coast risk benefit estimated to be £470m PV with a Benefit Cost Ratio 
of 9 : 1. The wider financial benefits to Dorset and the South West Region will be 
several times greater.  

Cabinet agreement to the recommendations in this report will enable officers to 
submit the SOC to the EA’s LPRG to gain their approval to progress to the next 
business case stage.  We would also seek cabinet agreement to commence the 
OBC development in the autumn, including more detailed economic and design 
analysis.  Funding for the OBC, estimated to be £1.6m, will be provided from the 
existing Weymouth harbour wall works budget within the approved capital 
programme for 2021/22.
  
3. Climate implications
Coastal management schemes must account for accelerated sea level rise 
caused by climate change.  Sea level rise is expected to affect high water levels 
in Weymouth in comparison to the current level over the next 100 years.  The 
target Standard of Protection (SoP) against coastal flooding at Weymouth is 1 in 
200 years (0.5% annual probability of exceedance).  Over the next 100 years, the 
1 in 200-year level rises by 1.3m in the worst-case projections.  

If a 1 in 200-year flood event were to occur with existing walls levels still in place, 
various technical reports (which include computer flood modelling simulations) 
have estimated the number of residential and non-residential properties around 
the harbour and behind The Esplanade to be at risk of flooding.  In addition, the 
flood risk impacts from any failure of individual sections of harbour wall have 
been analysed.  In the present day (2020), 985 households are at Intermediate 
risk of flooding, in turn rising to 1,369 households at Very Significant risk of 
flooding by 2120. The terms ‘Intermediate’ and ‘Very Significant’ are defined in a 
technical footnote.

Within the area, coastal erosion risk is most prevalent to the northern part of the 
Weymouth seafront area, between the Pier Bandstand and the Greenhill Groyne. 

Page 99



The risk would increase if the seawall were to fail as a result of being 
undermined, particularly during storm events.  Once defences have failed and 
coupled with sea level rise, coastal erosion will occur.  Coastal erosion at 
predicted rates of between 0.5-1.0m/year, which poses risk to properties, 
Greenhill Gardens and the B3155 which runs parallel to the shoreline.  The 
narrowing or loss of the beach as sea levels rise would not only increase erosion 
risk but would also exacerbate flood risk through increased wave overtopping, 
particularly southwards of the Pier Bandstand.

Due to the high level nature of this SOC, greater analysis of the climate change 
impacts of the proposed works will be undertaken during the OBC process and 
the subsequent committee paper for that business case approval.

4. Other Implications
This SOC will have an impact defending Weymouth from the effects of climate 
change.  It will also have an impact on the economic sustainability of the town 
centre and the ability for regeneration to take place within Weymouth.

5. Risk Assessment
Having considered the risks associated with this decision; the level of risk has 
been identified as:
Current Risk: MEDUIM
Residual Risk: LOW

6. Equalities Impact Assessment
Due to the high-level nature of this SOC an EQiA is not applicable at this time, 
this has been agreed with the Diversity and Inclusion officer. Design of specific 
works that are derived from the SOC will consider the impact and carry out an 
EQiA.

7. Appendices
Appendix 1 – Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk 
Management Strategic Outline Case Final (inc. Apps) (WSP, April 2021).
Appendix 2 - Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk 
Management Strategy (WSP, June 2020).
Appendix 3 – FCRM Strategy EA Support Letter (EA, July 2020).

8. Background Papers
 Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk Management 

Strategy (WSP, June 2020).
 Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study (Jackson-Hyder, 2015 to 2018).
 Weymouth Model Updates (JBA, August 2016)
 Weymouth Inundation Modelling Study (JBA, February 2019)
 Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood & Coastal Risk Management 

Strategy Update (WSP, March 2019)
 Masonry Harbour Walls Condition Assessment (JBA, June 2019)

Page 100



 Sheet Pile Harbour Walls Condition Assessment (JBA, June 2019)
 Weymouth Beach Management Plan (Jacobs, July 2019).
 Weymouth Flood Risk Management Strategy (Royal Haskoning, 2010) 
 South Devon & Dorset Shoreline Management Plan (Halcrow, 2011).

9. Adaptive Pathway Approach

9.1 Dorset Council commissioned WSP UK to review a number of technical 
reports produced as part of the Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study, 
previously commissioned by Weymouth and Portland Borough Council 
(WPBC), in order to produce a 100-year strategy and subsequent SOC for 
Weymouth FCRM Scheme based on current and predicted flood & coastal 
erosion risk.

9.2 Based upon these reports and the latest sea level rise predictions WSP 
recommended an adaptive pathway approach to flood risk in Weymouth.  
The pathways included phased approaches to wall raising, wall 
replacements and the possible future inclusion of a tidal barrier.

9.3 The implementation of the pathway will help manage the risk of flooding 
and coastal erosion whilst providing the opportunity for other wider 
benefits to Weymouth such as commercial, amenity and recreation to be 
developed.  The approach remains flexible and can be adjusted to 
manage future changes including sea level risk predictions.  Full details 
can be found in Appendix 2 below.

Phase Harbour Sea 
Defence Wall

Esplanade Sea 
Defence

Harbour Walls 
General

Costs 
(including risk)

Phase 1 
2020 - 
2039

Replace 7 
sections of 
harbour walls 
and raise 9.

Repair Greenhill 
sea wall and 
continue beach 
management 
activities.

Replace 
sections of 
Peninsula 
walls.

£47m Capital 
Works 
£1m 
maintenance 
costs.

STRATEGIC REVIEW
Phase 2 
2040 - 
2059

Replace 9 
sections of 
harbour walls.

Consider further 
beach recharge.

£9m capital 
works 
£1m 
maintenance.

STRATEGIC REVIEW
Phase 3 
2060 - 
2120

Choice of 
either 
a) Further wall 
raising or 
b) Tidal Barrier

Replace Pavilion 
to Brunswick sea 
wall + promenade 
works + set back 
walls.

Replace/major 
repairs to 8 
walls in 
harbour.

£59m capital 
works (wall 
raising option)
£5m 
maintenance.

STRATEGIC REVIEW
Table 2: Adaptive pathway approach

Page 101



10. Cost Assessment and Funding

10.1 The capital costs for each of the interventions to deliver the adaptive 
pathway were calculated using the rates provided in the EA’s ‘Long-Term 
Costing Tool’.  This provides coastal defence construction cost estimates 
based on previously undertaken schemes.  

10.2 Maintenance costs have been considered to ensure whole life costs are 
inclusive of routine repairs and inspections.  In line with HM Treasury 
guidance and FCRM industry best practice, an ‘Optimism Bias’ uplift of 
60% has been added to all costs.  A summary of the high-level costing 
exercise for the 100-year adaptive pathway can be found tabulated below 
(Table 3).

Years Estimated 
Council 
contribution 

Estimated 
EA/Defra 
contribution 

Estimated 
Total cost 

Phase 1 2020 - 2039 £7m £40m £47m
Phase 2 2040 - 2059 £2m £7m £9m
Phase 3 2060 - 2120 £17m £42m £59m
TOTAL: without tidal barrier £26m £89m £115m

Phase 1 2020 - 2039 £7m £40m £47m
Phase 2 2040 - 2059 £2m £7m £9m
Phase 3 2060 - 2120 £43m £42m £85m
TOTAL: with tidal barrier £52m £89m £141m

Table 3: High-level costing for the 100-year adaptive pathway

10.3 At the present time, Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs 
(Defra) allocates funding to FCRM projects through the EA.  Flood and 
coastal erosion resilience partnership funding aims to share the costs 
between national and local sources of funding.  This approach allows any 
project where benefits are greater than costs to qualify for Flood Defence 
Grant-in-Aid (FDGiA).  It is a condition from Defra that the Government’s 
FDGiA funding settlement will realise a minimum of 15% ‘Partnership 
Funding’ contributions to its overall FCRM capital investment programme.

10.4 Dorset Council would be expected to be a significant contributor in the 
development and delivery of this strategic approach.  For example, the 
harbour wall component have wider benefits for the Council (other than 
flood defence) and therefore Dorset Council’s contribution should be at 
least equal or exceed the capital cost of the ‘Harbour Walls – General’ in 
addition to the routine maintenance costs that are usually incurred directly.  
The significant value of tourism and amenity benefit realised locally from 

Page 102



harbour and esplanade works would also support the need for investment 
by Dorset Council or other major beneficences.  The Council has 
recognised the need for flood defence investment and mechanisms are 
already in place for collecting and contributing to projects such as this.  
One such example is the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
which collects money as a result of new development. We have received 
£485,931.52 of CIL money to fund construction during phase 1.

10.5 It is intended that the strategy be reviewed at least twelve months prior to 
the commencement of each future phase of the pathway. In addition, it is 
anticipated that a light touch ‘refresh’ of the strategy be undertaken every 
five years.

10.6 EA officers have been involved with the delivery of the strategy and this 
SOC (& previous reports) from the outset as well as being on the project 
engagement group with regular progress meetings. The EA have helped 
steer the development of the strategy, and this SOC, and provided a letter 
to John Sellgren supporting the strategic approach of the council 
(Appendix 3). It should be noted that the current support provided by the 
EA does not commit their financial support at his stage. This SOC and the 
following OBC need to be developed and approved by Dorset Council 
cabinet for submission and review by the EA’s LPRG to help fund any 
scheme construction.

11. Outline Business Case Funding

11.1 The capital costs for each activity associated with OBC production have 
been calculated as part of the SOC financial case. This provides predicted 
costs for each activity based on previously undertaken schemes.

11.2 The capital costs to fund OBC production is typically funded by the local 
authority, however these costs can be fully recovered via FDGiA if the 
OBC is approved by the EA’s LPRG and progression to phase 1 
construction is underway.

OBC Section Assumptions OBC 
Estimate 
(£k)

Flood Modelling Collation of existing models and initial gap 
analysis. Improvements in representation of 
combined probabilities of all types of flooding. 
Application of latest UKCP 18 climate change 
scenarios and sensitivity testing for alternative 
FCRM scheme interventions (e.g. tidal 

£100k

Page 103



OBC Section Assumptions OBC 
Estimate 
(£k)

barrier). Modelling should also look at 
optimised timing of scheme interventions. 
Potential modelling efficiency to link to 
Dorset’s SFRA Level 2 requirements.

Engineering Site 
Investigation & 
Surveys

Analysis to identify surveys sufficient for 
outline design.

Prioritised surveys are likely to include ground 
investigation, topographic, bathymetric, 
statutory undertakers/utilities, UXO etc

£280k

Reference design 
– flood & erosion 
measures

Options assessment and outline design of 
proposed Weymouth Harbour wall 
replacements, esplanade and sea wall 
interventions, preliminary barrier design 
considerations and other interventions 
including beach management and surface 
water drainage.

£200k

Reference design 
– public realm

To enhance from consentable scheme only, 
through to high value public realm with 
consideration of public use/ access 
requirements.

£30k

Early Supplier 
Engagement and 
Early Contractor 
Involvement

To enhance cost certainty £25k

Stakeholder 
liaison

Significant engagement with Dorset Coast 
Forum to lead to strengthen support of the 
FCERM scheme.

£45k

Environmental 
assessment, 
investigation & 
surveys

Data reviewing, programming future surveys 
(eg benthic), statutory meetings, EIA 
Screening & Scoping, HRA, WFD, MMO, 

£160k

Page 104



OBC Section Assumptions OBC 
Estimate 
(£k)

heritage development to inform proposed 
FCERM scheme option selections.

Funding strategy/ 
negotiations

Financial case development, liaison with 
funding partners, agreements, viability 
assessments etc to refine cost and delivery 
certainty.

£40k

Broader Economic 
Assessment

Economic case development to include 
refinement of Recreational Gains & Losses 
related to amenity/tourism valuations. In 
addition, consideration of wider economic 
consequence, supporting economic resilience, 
and the unlocking of Weymouth’s economic 
potential.

£60k

Legal agreements Harbour and landowners to gain FCERM 
scheme support.

£40k

Dorset Council 
Staff Costs

Cost of in-house resource. £150k

OBC Production Including supporting studies e.g. Carbon 
appraisal, residual uncertainty etc

£100k

Risk 30% Optimism Bias applied to lead-in costs. £370k

TOTAL £1,600k

Table 4: Predicted OBC production costs

11.3 It is common for the local authority to cover the upfront costs of OBC 
production and then claim back the monies spent once the OBC has been 
approved by the EA’s LPRG. There are other funding options available, 
local levy and FDGiA, which have both been considered. It is likely that 
both these options would only partially fund the required £1,600k to 
produce the OBC and Dorset Council would have to provide some of the 

Page 105



upfront costs whichever option is chosen. It also has the potential to delay 
the start of OBC production if external funding is delayed.

11.3 The preferred option is to fund internally with the existing harbour wall 
works budget within the approved capital programme. This allows officers 
to procure services as soon as the SOC has been approved and allows us 
to keep within our current programme in table 1. 

12. Spatial Planning and Delivery

12.1 Following local government re-organisation in April 2019, Dorset Council 
has started work on preparing a new local plan which will replace those 
adopted local plans of the predecessor District and Borough Councils.

12.2 The Council intends to undertake a consultation on the emerging local 
plan in autumn/winter 2020, publish a pre-submission draft of the local 
plan in autumn/winter 2021 and adopt the new local plan in spring 2023.  
As part of preparations for the new local plan the Council will be 
undertaking a Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) that 
covers the entire Council area and a Level 2 SFRA for Weymouth.

12.3 The risks from flooding and coastal erosion around Weymouth Town 
Centre need to be effectively managed and mitigated in order to secure re-
development of parts of the town, and to encourage regeneration and 
investment.  The policies in the emerging local plan that relate to 
Weymouth will take account of both the Level 1 and 2 SFRA, in addition to 
this Harbour and Esplanade FCRM strategy.

12.4 The local plan is likely to;
 identify the parts of the town that need to be safeguarded to allow 

coastal and flood defences to be constructed,
 require that the design of development adjacent to flood risk and 

coastal erosion defences should take account of future plans (as 
outlined in the SOC) to alter or replace these defences,

 require that the Council or developers explore the opportunities to 
improve the quality of the public realm as part of any flood risk or 
coastal erosion defence works, and

 require that the design of coastal and flood defences takes account 
of Weymouth’s heritage assets (including conservation areas, listed 
buildings and scheduled monuments).

12.5 The Council has prepared an updated charging schedule for the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), and the priorities for spending on 
infrastructure. We have received £485,931.52 to help fund construction 
during phase 1.

Page 106



13.0 Next Steps

13.1 The next steps in progressing Phase 1 of the pathway (2020-2039) should 
begin by progressing to cabinet for approval of the SOC, and then 
subsequently going to the EA’s LPRG for their approval.

13.2 Once LPRG approval of the SOC is gained, development and production 
of an appropriate HM Treasury compliant OBC, a process that is 
programmed to be completed in March 2023.

13.2 Ambition and commitment from all stakeholders is required to ensure that 
this scheme is progressed.  Dorset Council and the EA will continue to 
work together to give full support to the pathway and endorse its 
progression.  

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Technical Footnote:
This footnote defines flood risk bands discussed in section 3.

Risk bands Description

Very Significant Greater than or equal to 5% Annual Exceedance 
Probability (AEP)

>5% AEP (standard of protection less than or equal 
to 1 in 20)

Significant Less than 5% AEP but greater than 2% AEP

<5% to >2% AEP (standard of protection 1 in 21 to 
1 in 49)

Intermediate From 2% AEP but greater than 1% AEP

2% to >1% AEP (standard of protection 1 in 50 to 1 
in 99)

Moderate From 1% AEP but greater than 0.5% AEP

1% to >0.5% AEP (standard of protection 1 in 100 
to 1 in 199)

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

   

 

 

 

 

WEYMOUTH FCRM SCHEME 

 

STRATEGIC OUTLINE CASE 

 

Page 109



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | i 

 

Recommendation 

This Strategic Outline Case (SOC) submission is recommended for assurance and 

approval to enable detailed appraisal and outline design of a comprehensive flood and 

coastal risk management (FCRM) scheme for Weymouth in Dorset.  

Initial project approval of £1,600k is sought to enable lead-in activities pursuant to the 

submission of an Outline Business Case (OBC). It is anticipated that this will be 

expended over 3 years from 2021 to 2023 and be funded by Dorset Council. 

Funding and implementation of all phases of the Weymouth scheme over the next 100 

years is estimated to be approximately £52m Present Value (PV), which will provide 

substantial flood and coast risk benefit estimated to be £470m PV with a Benefit Cost 

Ratio of approximately 9 : 1.  

It is anticipated that the delivery of this much needed scheme will also be a catalyst 

for regeneration and public realm enhancement, the combined benefits of which will 

significantly improve the lives and wellbeing of people residing, working and visiting 

Weymouth. This regeneration will unlock third party funding and reduce the burden on 

the taxpayer.  

Without adequate plans and strategies to adapt to flood and coastal risk, for which this 

proposed scheme is a major component, future development will be severely 

constrained. 

Based on available information it is understood that over 1,000 properties are at 

coastal flood risk (‘moderate’ and ‘intermediate’) in the present day, rising to over 

1,400 (mostly ‘very significant’) properties by 2120 as a consequence of climate 

change. The data quality score and robustness of the affected properties requires 

refinement and improvement through the development of this scheme. 

 

Version Control 

V3.0 | THIRD ISSUE - FINAL | May 2021 

 

Version History 

V2.0 | SECOND DRAFT (For Comment) | May 2021 

V1.0 | FIRST DRAFT (For Comment) | Mar 2021 

V0.1 | FIRST DRAFT | Mar 2021 

 

 

Page 110



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | ii 

 

Assurance and Approval Record 

RMA reference number: SCH3241 

Environment Agency reference number: xxxxx 

Date of submission to Environment Agency: xx/xx/xx 

 

Assurance from Risk Management Authority 

I confirm that this Strategic Outline Case meets our guidelines, quality assurance 

requirements, environmental obligations and Defra investment appraisal conditions. 

All internal approvals, including member approval, have been completed.  

Name of RMA Project Executive: Sarah Cairns | Service Manager for Major 

Projects, Dorset Council 

 

Approval from Risk Management Authority Council 

Version approved: v3.0 

Date: xx/xx/xx 

 

Endorsement from Environment Agency Area Flood and 

Coastal Risk Manager 

I confirm that the Strategic Outline Case is ready for assurance. 

Applications less than £1million - I have consulted with the Area Director and Senior 

Finance Business Partner External Funding & Grants. 

Applications up to £10million - I have consulted with the Director of Operations and 

the Deputy Director of Finance. 

Applications up to £20million - I have consulted with the Executive Director of 

Operations and the Director of Finance. 

Applications over £20million - I have consulted with the Executive Director of 

Operations, the Executive Director of FCRM and the Director of Finance. 

Name of Area Flood and Coastal Risk Manager: Ron Curtis 

Date: xx/xx/xx 

Page 111



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | iii 

 

[For administrative use only] 

 

Environment Agency Assurance and Technical Approval 

I recommend that the application is granted technical approval 

Name of AFCRM or Lead Assurance Reviewer: 

Date: 

[For administrative use only] 

 

Financial Approval 

[See Section A4 of the Financial Scheme of Delegation.] 

Name of Approving Officer: 

Date: 

Name of Approving Officer: 

Date: 

Name of Approving Officer: 

Date: 

FSoD reference: 

Date: 

 

Financial Scheme of Delegation Co-ordinator 

Notes 

[Write your block here] 

  

Page 112

https://defradev.sharepoint.com/sites/ea-qmsdev/ContentCloudLibrary/Instruction%20-%20Webpage%20template.aspx?WikiPageMode=Edit&InitialTabId=Ribbon.EditingTools.CPEditTab&VisibilityContext=WSSWikiPage


   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | iv 

 

Contents 

Recommendation ........................................................................................................ i 

Assurance and Approval Record .................................................................................ii 

1.0 Project Assurance Summary ................................................................................ 1 

2.0 Strategic Case ...................................................................................................... 7 

2.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................... 7 

2.2 Strategic context ............................................................................................... 8 

2.3 Environmental and other considerations ......................................................... 11 

2.5 Objectives ....................................................................................................... 26 

2.6 Current arrangements ..................................................................................... 27 

2.7 Main benefits .................................................................................................. 27 

2.8 Strategic risks, assumptions, constraints and dependencies .......................... 27 

2.9 Dependencies ................................................................................................. 30 

3.0 Economic Case .................................................................................................. 32 

3.1 Introduction ..................................................................................................... 32 

3.2 Critical success factors (CSF)......................................................................... 32 

3.3 Options Considered ........................................................................................ 33 

3.4 Economic appraisal ........................................................................................ 45 

3.5 Carbon appraisal ............................................................................................ 47 

4.0 Commercial Case ............................................................................................... 49 

4.1 Introduction and Procurement Strategy .......................................................... 49 

4.2 Efficiencies and commercial arrangements .................................................... 50 

5.0 Financial Case.................................................................................................... 53 

5.1 Summary of financial appraisal ....................................................................... 53 

5.2 Funding sources ............................................................................................. 56 

5.3 Expenditure and income profile ...................................................................... 59 

6.0 Management Case ............................................................................................. 61 

6.1 Project management ....................................................................................... 61 

6.2 Schedule ......................................................................................................... 66 

6.3 Outcomes/Benefits ......................................................................................... 66 

6.4 Risk management ........................................................................................... 67 

6.5 Assurance ....................................................................................................... 67 

6.6 Engagement with Stakeholders and compliance with the Equality Act 2010 .. 68 

List of References .................................................................................................... 70 

Page 113



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | v 

 

List of Abbreviations ................................................................................................. 74 

List of Appendices .................................................................................................... 76 

 

Page 114



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 1 

 

1.0 Project Assurance Summary 

This Strategic Outline Case (SOC) submission promotes a comprehensive flood and 

coastal risk management (FCRM) scheme for Weymouth in Dorset, referred to 

hereafter as the ‘FCRM scheme’.  

The SOC seeks assurance and approval to enable lead-in activities to progress 

scheme development pursuant to the submission of an Outline Business Case (OBC) 

for the FCRM scheme.  

The SOC had been produced in accordance with The Green Book: Central 

Government Guidance on Appraisal and Evaluation (HM Treasury, 2020) and Flood 

and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Appraisal Guidance (Environment Agency, 

2010) principles. 

This is an excellent opportunity to enhance the waterside environment of Weymouth 

by creating a more resilient and sustainable town that can meet the future needs of its 

residents, businesses and visitors. It is anticipated that third party contributions will be 

available due to the regenerative aspects of the project. 

Anticipated Overall Value of FCRM Scheme £113m (100yr Cash Cost) £52m (100 

yr PV) 

Assurance Value of Project (next stage) £1,600k (Dorset Council funding) 

Flood risk type: Fluvial / Coastal (tidal inundation and wave overtopping) / 

Pluvial/Surface Water / Groundwater 

Erosion: Coastal erosion / Weymouth Harbour quay wall collapse 

Numbers of households at flood and/or erosion risk? 

Table 1: Overview of current day and future households at risk (Note: The households at risk 
profile appears stark but is reflective that just a small increase in water level results in a large 
proportion of the town affected.) 

Household Risk 
Category 

Current day scenario 
(2020) 

Future scenario (2120) 

Very Significant Risk1 0 1,369 

Significant2 0 29 

Intermediate3 985 35 

Moderate4 51 19 

 

1 Greater than or equal to 5% AEP. ≥5% AEP (standard of protection less than or equal to 1 in 20) 
2 Less than 5% AEP but greater than 2% AEP. 2% AEP (standard of protection 1 in 21 to 1:49) 
3 From 2% AEP but greater than 1% AEP. 2% to >1% AEP (standard of protection 1 in 50 to 1 in 99) 
4 From 1% AEP but greater than 0.5% AEP. 1% AEP to >0.5% AEP (standard of protection 1 in 100 to 
1 in 199) 

Page 115



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 2 

 

Critical Infrastructure at risk now and in future? 

• A354 Highway (Westwey Road) (Main trunk road link to Portland). 

• B3155 Highway (Swannery Bridge/ King Street). 

• Network Rail Weymouth Railway Station. 

• Wessex Water Pumping Station. 

• RNLI Weymouth Lifeboat Station. 

• Power distribution substation and associated infrastructure. 

• Numerous ‘More Vulnerable’ classification (under National Planning Policy 

Framework) sites, for example; care homes, health services, social services 

provisions etc. 

Type, condition and residual life of existing defences? 

Existing limited Environment Agency defences with most recent flood protection 

scheme constructed in 2001/2002 to a crest level of 2.30mOD. Present day (2020) 

0.5% AEP extreme still water (sea) flood level is 2.43mOD (refer to Section 2.4.2 for 

further information on sea level risk and climate change projections). The Environment 

Agency assets are raised flood walls (AIMS condition grade fair or good) but are built 

upon existing quay/ harbour walls with current AIMS condition grade of poor and very 

poor. The existing walls and defences do not provide complete cut-off and localised 

flooding has been known to occur due to seepage and surface water problems. 

Environmental designations? 

See Section 2.3 for detailed environmental consideration. Designations of significance 

are summarised below. 

• Proximal to Radipole Lake Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Lodmoor SSSI 

and Portland Harbour Shore SSSI. Anticipated need for SSSI assent to enable 

implementation. 

• Isle of Portland to Studland Cliffs Special Area of Conservation (SAC) is outside of 

the scheme area and is deemed unlikely to require a Habitats Regulation 

Assessment.  

• United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) World 

Heritage Site (Dorset and East Devon Coast) Reference:1000101; Old Reference: 

13. 

• Multiple Grade I, II and II* Listed Buildings. 

• Scheduled Monuments (Nothe Fort, tramway and searchlight battery at The Nothe) 

Old Reference: 33199; Reference: 1020063. 

• National Trail/ Coastal Path and Public Rights of Way. 

Page 116



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 3 

 

How is flood and erosion risk managed? 

Currently managed by Dorset Council as: Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), Local 

Planning Authority (LPA), Coast Protection Authority (CPA), Harbour Authority and 

principal asset owner of Weymouth Harbour, managed Weymouth Beach, Esplanade 

and Radipole Lake infrastructure.  

The Environment Agency have a number of existing flood defence assets, along with 

their Main River (River Wey) and coastal overview responsibilities including operation 

and management of the beach frontage and flood defence assets at Preston Beach. 

Wessex Water (as the local water company) are a defined Risk Management Authority 

and have a responsibility for managing risk of flooding via the water and sewage 

network. 

Summarise the case for change? 

Weymouth already floods and is impacted by coastal erosion. With a robust prediction 

of an acceleration in sea level rise and more intense weather events as a result of 

climate change, the dual problems of flood risk and loss of beach facing Weymouth 

will increase significantly. Without investment in managing this flood and erosion risk, 

Weymouth faces increasing direct losses through flooded and eroded assets and 

infrastructure, with further indirect impacts such as a failing property market due to 

blight and increasing social deprivation. Weymouth is at risk from tidal flooding, wave 

overtopping, coastal erosion, fluvial flooding and surface water flooding. Investment 

now will afford the town time to adapt to this changing climate. 

The FCRM scheme will seek to address all sources of flood risk to ensure a strategic 

approach to management. This will prevent any ‘double-counting’ of benefits and allow 

the appropriate claiming of Outcome Measure 2 (OM2) households. 

Selected option? 

Options are to be developed through comprehensive appraisal as part of the OBC 

process.  

At this stage, Dorset Council have an agreed strategic adaptive pathway which does 

not foreclose future options or unnecessarily constrain future choice, which forms part 

of the internally approved (and supported by Environment Agency Wessex Area 

Team) Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy (Dorset Council, 2020c). The 

pathway currently identifies phased approaches to wall raising, wall replacements, 

continued beach management and the possible future inclusion of a tidal barrier. (See 

Section 3 Economic Case, Figure 9 and Appendix F for more detail) 

Page 117



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 4 

 

Economic cost and benefit of overall scheme (100yr Appraisal Period) 

All values are approximate. 

• Present Value Benefit - £470m. 

• Present Value Cost - £52m (Note: The PVc appears low as future phases are 

significantly discounted). 

• Net Present Value - £420m. 

• Benefit to Cost Ratio – 9 : 1. 

• Whole Life Cash Cost - £113m. 

Affordability of selected option 

• Raw Partnership Funding (50yr Duration of Benefit) score is 78%. 

• Adjusted Partnership Funding (50yr DoB) score is 102%. 

• PV Funding (50yr DoB) from Environment Agency (grant) is £ TBC c.£31m. 

• PV Funding (50yr DoB) from the Regional Flood and Coastal Committee is £ TBC 

c.£1.0m. 

• PV Funding (50yr DoB) from Dorset Council is £ TBC c.£8m. 

Risk allowance. 

• The total contingency amount is £40m (100yr Cash Cost). 

Top three residual risks. 

• Buildability and constructability. 

• Benefits and cost certainty and funding gap (in particular from low modelling 

confidence). 

• FCRM scheme endorsement (regulatory / statutory and third party interested 

parties). 

Permissions and consents 

• All consents & permissions to be secured post SOC assurance. 

Outcomes 

• OM2 – Anticipated to be c. 1,036 properties. 

• OM2b – Anticipated to be c. 72 properties. 

• OM3 – Anticipated to be c. 166 properties. (Through delivery of SMP2 Policy). 

Page 118



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 5 

 

Schedule of critical milestone dates 

Table 2: Schedule of critical milestone dates 

Activity Date  

Strategic Outline Case – Submit to LPRG  July 2021 

Strategic Outline Case – Approval September 2021 

Outline Business Case development 2021 – 2023 

Outline Business Case – Submit to LPRG  March 2023 

Outline Business Case – Approval April 2023 

Detailed Design & Consents Spring 2023 – Summer 2024 

Construction Start – Initial Phases Autumn 2024 

Construction End – Initial Phases 2040  

Page 119



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 6 

 

Strategic Case 
 

Why is a scheme needed and what is the strategic fit? 

 

  

Page 120



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 7 

 

2.0 Strategic Case 

2.1 Introduction 

Weymouth is a coastal town located on the south coast of England, at the mouth of 

the River Wey (Figure 1), known for its popular beach frontage and wide promenade 

along Weymouth Esplanade. It has an estimated population of just over 50,000 (2018 

census estimates). The main commercial town centre is bounded on three sides by 

water; the River Wey (Main River), the Weymouth Harbour and the Weymouth Bay/ 

Seafront. 

The Preston Beach and Lodmoor frontage to the north is an EA maintained coastal 

defence. As such it is excluded from the extents of this FCRM scheme which focuses 

on the main populous areas of Weymouth. Interaction between the cells will be further 

explored and refined in the next stages of FCRM scheme development. 

Figure 1: Site Location 

 

The town has grown and thrived on its connection to water and the sea, with 

Weymouth and Portland considered as some of the best sailing waters in the world, 

making it the sailing venue for the London 2012 sailing events. However, people and 

property face an increasing risk of flooding and erosion. As with many towns located 

at the confluence of a river and the sea, Weymouth is low lying and has experienced 

Page 121



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 8 

 

many flood and erosion events in its past. Climate change is causing an increase in 

flood risk due to sea level rise and increased storm event frequency and severity which 

is likely to see more flooding affecting Weymouth into the future without intervention. 

There is a very clear ‘cliff-edge’ of numerous commercial and residential properties 

entering the significant flooding category in around 10 to 15 years. 

It is becoming progressively more difficult to enable and promote development within 

the town under the current circumstance due to the current and future risk of flooding 

and associated acceptability of development from a planning perspective. It is 

anticipated that the scheme interventions can be integrated with public space and 

placemaking initiatives, in turn increasing business confidence and be a catalyst for 

positive regeneration. 

2.2 Strategic context 

The FCRM scheme is consistent and is aligned with all relevant strategy and policy, 

the most notable of which are summarised below. 

2.2.1 Global 

United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDG) (United Nations, 2015) 

Several of the UN SDG’s are relevant to the development of this scheme as 

summarised in Table 3.  

Table 3: Relevant UN SDGs 

 Goal 8 – Decent work and economic growth. The scheme 
can bring economic growth and regeneration to Weymouth 
town centre and the surrounding communities. 
 
 
 

 Goal 9 – Industry, Innovation & Infrastructure. The scheme 
is required to ensure Weymouth is resilient and has modern-
day infrastructure that is adaptive and efficient in response to 
a changing climate. 
 
 
 

 Goal 11 – Sustainable cities and communities. The scheme 
will provide resilience to cultural heritage, reduce the impacts 
to people affected by natural disasters (flooding and erosion) 
and offer access to safe and improved public spaces. 
 
 

Page 122



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 9 

 

 Goal 13 – Climate action. The scheme will strengthen 
Weymouth’s resilience and its ability to adapt to future 
climate change challenges. 
 
 
 

 Goal 14 – Life below water. The scheme will seek to improve 
water quality through reducing the impacts of sewer flooding. 
 
 
 
 

2.2.2 National 

A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment (HM Government, 

2018) 

One of the six primary goals outlined in the plan is to reduce the risk of harm from 

floods and other environmental hazards with strong response and capabilities by: 

• Making sure everyone is able to access the information they need to assess any 

risks to their lives and livelihoods, health and prosperity posed by flooding and 

coastal erosion. 

• Bringing the public, private and third sectors together to work with communities 

and individuals to reduce the risk of harm. 

• Making sure that decisions on land use, including development, reflect the level of 

current and future flood risk. 

• Ensuring interruptions to water supplies are minimised during prolonged dry 

weather and drought. 

• Boosting the long-term resilience of our homes, businesses and infrastructure. 

National FCRM Strategy for England (Environment Agency, 2020b) 

The National FCRM strategy has been split into three high level core ambitions 

concerning future risk and investment need. 

• Climate resilient places: working with partners to bolster resilience to flooding and 

coastal change across the nation, both now and in the face of climate change. 

• Today’s growth and infrastructure resilient to tomorrow’s climate; Making the right 

investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable growth and 

environmental improvements, as well as resilient infrastructure. 

• A nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change. 

Climate Change Act 2008 (HM Government, 2008)  

Page 123



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 10 

 

The Climate Change Act 2008 commits the UK Government to reduce carbon 

emissions to net zero by 2050. Dorset Council declared a Climate and Ecological 

Emergency in July 2020 (Dorset Council, 2020a), publishing a strategy and action plan 

to become carbon-neutral by 2040 and increasing climate resilience. 

2.2.3 FCRM 

Multiple reports relating to flooding and coastal erosion risks have been commissioned 

and/or undertaken by the former Weymouth & Portland Borough Council, Dorset 

Council and wider partners including the Environment Agency. The most relevant to 

this scheme are listed chronologically below. 

• Weymouth Flood Risk Management Strategy (Environment Agency, 2010). 

• Shoreline Management Plan Review (SMP2) Durlston Head to Rame Head 

(Halcrow, 2011) (adopted Weymouth & Portland Borough Council & Environment 

Agency) (Pertinent Policy Unit 5g16 Preston Beach to Weymouth – ‘Hold the Line’: 

Short, Medium and Long term epochs). 

• South West River Basin District River Basin Management Plan (Environment 

Agency, 2015b). 

• Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study (JacksonHyder, 2018). 

• Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood & Coastal Risk Management Strategy 

Update (WSP UK Ltd, 2019). 

• Weymouth Beach Management Plan (Jacobs, 2019). 

• Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy (Dorset Council, 2020c). 

2.2.4 Spatial Planning & Development  

The National Planning Policy Framework (Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 

Government, 2019) sets out the Government’s planning policies for England. Those 

policies ensure that inappropriate development in areas of flood risk are avoided and 

requires the use of the sequential and exception test to direct development to areas 

at low risk of flooding prior to consideration of development in medium to high risk 

areas. 

At a local level, development objectives are set out in the following documents. 

• West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (Weymouth & Portland Borough 

Council, 2015a). 

It should be noted that the new Dorset Council Local Plan is currently being developed 
with the Local Plan options consultation held in January 2021. It is expected that the 

new Dorset Council Local Plan will include policies relating to future FCRM needs 

around Weymouth. This will protect areas of land needed to enable future FCRM 

measures to be implemented which can incorporate a potential future tidal barrier to 

be constructed and operated. 

Page 124



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 11 

 

• Weymouth Town Centre Masterplan (Weymouth & Portland Borough Council, 

2015c). 

• Weymouth Town Centre Masterplan: Supplementary Planning Document 

(Weymouth & Portland Borough Council, 2015b). 

• Weymouth Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 2 (Weymouth & Portland 

Borough Council, 2009). (A new SFRA Level 2 is expected to be produced in the 

near future to support both a new Dorset Local Plan and an anticipated new Local 

Flood Risk Management Strategy). 

2.2.5 Coastal 

The coast of Dorset is of national and international importance. As such the following 

coastal plans, polices and strategies are of relevance to this scheme: 

• South Inshore and Offshore Marine Plan (HM Government, 2018). 

• Jurassic Coast Partnership Plan 2020-2025, Management Framework for the 

Dorset and East Devon Coast World Heritage Site (Jurassic Coast Trust, 2020). 

• The Dorset Coast Strategy (Dorset Coast Forum, 2011). 

• Dorset Harbours Strategy 2021 – currently in consultation. 

• Weymouth Beach Management Plan (Jacobs, 2019) 

2.2.6 Corporate 

The scheme has the support of local government and is aligned with and will support 

the delivery of the current corporate plans. 

• Dorset Council’s Plan | 2020 to 2024 (Dorset Council, 2020b). 

o Relevant priorities; Economic Growth, Unique Environment, Strong & 

Healthy Communities. 

• Wessex Regional Flood & Coastal Committee (RFCC) – ‘Priority location’ 

(identified within current committee strategy). 

2.3 Environmental and other considerations 

Work to understand the existing environmental baseline, constraints, opportunities 

and initial scheme environmental appraisal was undertaken to support earlier studies. 

It has been previously presented as a Preliminary Environmental Information Report 

(PEIR) (JacksonHyder, 2018). It was supported by an Indicative Landscape Plan (ILP) 

in line with Environment Agency best practice. 

To enable the PEIR process, consultation with key stakeholders was undertaken 

including; Natural England, Marine Management Organisation, Environment Agency, 

World Heritage Site Team and Dorset Council Natural Environment Team. 

Page 125



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 12 

 

2.3.1 Environmental Impact Assessment 

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Screening was undertaken for the 

construction and operational activities of a proposed FCRM scheme as it was 

previously understood in 2015. The proposed scheme could be considered to fall 

under Paragraph 10 (m) of Schedule 2 of Town & Country Planning (Environmental 

Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and Paragraph 69 of Schedule A2 of the 

Marine Works (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2007: 

‘Coastal work to combat erosion and maritime works capable of altering the coast 

through the construction of, for example, dykes, moles, jetties and other sea defences, 

excluding the maintenance and reconstruction of such works.’ 

An EIA Screening and Scoping opinion was requested from Weymouth and Portland 

Borough Council in their capacity as the Local Planning Authority pre Local 

Government Reorganisation (now Dorset Council).  

Pertinent topics arising from review of the environmental baseline conditions and 

consideration of potential options include: 

• ecology, 

• cultural heritage, and 

• landscape/townscape. 

Following engagement with the Local Planning Authority through screening and 

scoping opinion, topics requested to be scoped back into the EIA at the request of the 

LPA include: 

• human environment, 

• hydrology and flood risk, 

• geology, hydrogeology, soils & contaminated land, 

• traffic & transport, and 

• water quality & climatic factors. 

Further terrestrial and marine EIA Screening and Scoping will be undertaken as part 

of the next stage (OBC) of the FCRM scheme development in accordance with the 

Town & Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and 

Marine Works (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2007. 

2.3.2 Habitats Regulation Assessment 

Consideration of any works which may have effects on protected features of habitats 

under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 require Habitat 

Regulation Assessment (HRA).  

Page 126



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 13 

 

The nearest designated location is Isle of Portland to Studland Cliffs Special Area of 

Conservation (SAC).  

It is considered unlikely that the proposed scheme has the potential for any effects on 

the selected qualifying features and the conservation objectives of the conservation 

area. 

The PEIR (JacksonHyder, 2018) identified no requirement to undertake HRA, however 

this will be further reviewed as part of the next stage (OBC) of the FCRM scheme 

development as the proposed option development progresses. 

2.3.3 Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) Assent 

The scheme area of interest is proximal to Radipole Lake SSSI, Lodmoor SSSI (both 

currently managed by the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) under 

existing Water Level Management Plan’s) and in part within Portland Harbour Shore 

SSSI. As such, ‘assent’ from Natural England is likely to be required. 

Natural England, through previous earlier consultation, have stated that they do not 

anticipate direct significant ecological impacts with scheme proposals and as such 

have no major concerns, however this will be further reviewed as part of the next stage 

(OBC) of the FCRM scheme development as the proposed option development 

progresses.  

2.3.4 Water Framework Directive (WFD) 

All scheme activities and proposals will need to comply with the requirements of the 

South West River Basin Management Plan, and a WFD assessment will be required. 

The Coastal Water Body within which Weymouth Bay is located, is defined as “heavily 

modified” in terms of its hydro-morphological status and has a “good” overall ecological 

status (JacksonHyder, 2018). 

The River Wey Water Body and Wey Transitional Water Body are both ranked 

‘moderate’ in their overall classification as per the second cycle of river basin planning. 

A preliminary WFD assessment was completed as part of the PEIR for the Weymouth 

Bay Coastal Processes Study (JacksonHyder, 2018). The assessment concluded that, 

subject to the adoption of best practice in respect to pollution control and construction, 

the scheme would not inhibit the achievement of the WFD objectives of the water body. 

However, it is considered appropriate that a further ‘detailed’ assessment and 

associated works are likely once the scheme options are further refined in the next 

stages of the FCRM scheme. 

2.3.5 Landscape & Cultural Heritage 

The built heritage of Weymouth is clearly defined by its geography, geology and the 

landscape it has created in its peninsula relationship with the sea. This provides a 

Page 127



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 14 

 

strong sense of place with local distinctiveness, attractive to both residents and visitors 

alike. 

The FCRM scheme is located within Weymouth Town Centre Conservation Area 

(designated in 1974) and includes over 600 Listed Buildings (consisting a mix of Grade 

I, II and II*). In addition, to the south of Weymouth Harbour is the Nothe Fort, a 

Scheduled Ancient Monument. 

The development of the FCRM scheme options is likely to bring direct impact on the 

townscape character, which in certain locations may be sensitive to change. However, 

FCRM scheme options may also provide opportunity to enhance the public realm thus 

improving the amenity value of the local area and protect these historic and cultural 

heritage assets. 

The South West Coast Path and the English Coast Path – both of which are National 

Trails run through the FCRM scheme area which presents an opportunity to make 

positive improvements to the National Trails network. 

Further assessment of these topics will support the next stages of the FCRM scheme 

through the OBC process. It is recognised that scheme development within such a 

highly designated heritage environment will require significant consideration. 

2.3.6 Navigation 

Weymouth Harbour is an active port for commercial shipping, fishing, and recreational 

boating and personal watercraft with an existing RNLI Lifeboat Station. The 

‘conservancy’ of Weymouth Harbour and the ability to continue to safely navigate into 

and out of Weymouth Harbour must be given appropriate consideration in the 

development of FCRM scheme options. 

2.3.7 Harbour Revision Order / Transport and Works Act Order  

Dependent upon the final options choices, the consideration of a longer term tidal 

barrier may require either the securing of a Harbour Revision Order (HRO) or a 

Transport and Works Act Order (TWAO). Such consents are unlikely to be required 

for delivery of the first phases of the FCRM scheme. However, this should be reviewed 

at OBC stage to confirm if there are any impediments likely to occur in relation to 

obtaining any such consent to demonstrate feasibility of the FCRM scheme options, 

most notably a tidal barrier later in the benefits period. 

This matter has been reviewed at a high level as part of the Weymouth Tidal Barrier – 

Tidal Barrier Advice Report (Jacobs, 2021) which is included in Appendix F.2.4 The 

case for change. 

2.4.1 Case for change introduction 

Weymouth already floods and is impacted by coastal erosion, a number of examples 

of past flooding and wave overtopping events are presented in Figure 3 to Figure 7. 

Page 128



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 15 

 

With a robust prediction of an acceleration in sea level rise and more intense weather 

events as a result of climate change, the problems facing Weymouth will increase 

significantly. The dominant flood risk source, given climate change is from tidal 

inundation. 

Without investment in managing flood and coastal erosion risk, Weymouth faces 

increasing direct losses through flooded assets and infrastructure and indirect impacts 

such as a failing property market due to blight and increasing social deprivation. The 

impact of increasing flood depths and increasing frequency of flood occurrence will 

have significant adverse impact to people, for example through negative health and 

wellbeing effects. 

The case for the FCRM scheme aligns with all strategies set out in the numerous 

documents addressing the management of flood and coastal risk; of which more detail 

is provided in Section 2.2. 

Figure 2 shows the Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning centred on 

Weymouth town at a scale of 1:10,000. This illustrates the published flood zones and 

the Environment Agency’s Main River designation of the River Wey. 

Figure 2: Extract of Flood Map for Planning (Environment Agency, 2021b) 

 

Page 129



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 16 

 

Figure 3 Weymouth Esplanade – Wave overtopping in storm conditions (Date unknown pre-
2015) (Photo credit Dorset Echo) 

 

Figure 4 Weymouth Esplanade, Surface Water Flooding – 2010 (Photo credit – Dorset Echo) 

 

Page 130



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 17 

 

Figure 5 Weymouth Harbourside, Commercial Road – Tidal flooding, September 2019 (Photo 
credit James Moules, Dorset Echo) 

 

Figure 6 Weymouth Harbour, Custom House Quay Tidal Flooding, March 2020 (Photo credit 
James Birch, Dorset Echo) 

 

Page 131



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 18 

 

Figure 7 Weymouth Radipole combined tidal/fluvial flooding, 2012 (Photo credit Environment 
Agency) 

 

2.4.2 Sea level rise and climate change projections 

Coastal management schemes must account for accelerated sea level rise caused by 

climate change. In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (Ministry 

of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 2019), Flood Risk and Coastal Change 

Planning Practice Guidance (Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 

2014) and Flood and Coastal Risk Projects, Schemes and Strategies: Climate Change 

Allowances (Environment Agency, 2020a), climate change should be informed by the 

latest climate change projections, which currently references the UK Climate 

Predictions 2018 (UKCP18) project released in November 2018 (Met Office, 2018). 

The UKCP18 project was undertaken by the Met Office and funded by Defra, with the 

purpose of reviewing and updating climate change projections for the UK. Figure 8 

shows how sea level rise is expected to affect high water levels in Weymouth in 

comparison to the current +2.30m Ordnance Datum Newlyn (ODN) crest level over 

the next 100 years. 

The target Standard of Protection (SoP) against coastal flooding at Weymouth is 1 in 

200 years (0.5% annual exceedance probability – AEP), where extreme sea levels are 

based on the Coastal Flood Boundary Extreme Sea Levels (Environment Agency, 

2018) [Node_4736] which are values for still water sea levels only and do not account 

for any localised increase in sea level that may be induced by onshore wave action, 

orientation or topography. 

Page 132



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 19 

 

Figure 8: Projected rise in the predicted 1 in 200-year return period extreme tidal still water level 
at Weymouth up to 2120 under the UKCP18 ‘High’ emissions projection (WSP UK Ltd, 2019) 

 

Over this 100 year time period, the 1 in 200-year return period predicted extreme tidal 

water level can be seen to increase from a present-day (2020) level of +2.43m ODN 

to a level of +3.74mODN in 2120. This equates to a sea level rise of 1.3m over the 

next 100 years based on the UKCP18 projections and ‘High’ emissions scenario 

(Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP) 8.5, 95th Percentile). The current 

typical defence level is +2.30mOD around Weymouth Harbour and between 

+3.00mOD and +3.50mOD along the esplanade frontage. The esplanade requires a 

more significant crest height than that of the harbour as it defends against both still 

water levels and wave action. 

2.4.3 Existing tidal flood defences 

The most recent flood protection scheme constructed in Weymouth Harbour was that 

built in 2001/2002 by the Environment Agency. It was designed to a 1 in 200-year 

Standard of Protection (0.5% AEP) (without allowance for freeboard) which at that time 

required a crest level of +2.30mODN. This was the best standard of protection that 

was deliverable at that time.  

The wall heights around Weymouth Harbour vary with some higher and lower than the 

2001/2002 Environment Agency scheme level of +2.30mODN. There are multiple 

construction forms and types of wall assets built over centuries and are accordingly in 

variable condition. Corresponding residual asset life for wall sections range from less 

than a year up to greater than 60 years (JBA Consulting, 2019a) & (JBA Consulting, 

2019b). However, even walls with reasonable residual life may require raising or 

replacement in order to achieve the required crest level to afford flood risk protection.  

Page 133



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 20 

 

2.4.4 Properties at flood risk 

Various technical reports (which include computer flood modelling simulations) have 

estimated the number of residential and non-residential properties around Weymouth 

Harbour and behind the esplanade to be at risk of flooding if a 1 in 200-year return 

period (0.5% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP)) tidal flood event occurred. The 

flood risk mechanism could be one of, or a combination of, extreme still water level, 

wave overtopping, fluvial or surface water flooding. In addition, the flood risk impacts 

from any failure of individual sections of Weymouth Harbour quay walls have been 

analysed. 

The Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study (JacksonHyder, 2018) undertook 

modelling utilising TUFLOW software and calculated wave overtop volumes using 

empirical equations from the European Overtopping Manual (EurOtop). This was 

further developed through the Weymouth Inundation Modelling Report (JBA 

Consulting, 2019c). In this piece of work, the existing TUFLOW model was updated 

using EurOtop Neural Network calculation methods to derive wave overtopping 

volumes. In addition, scenarios of erosion beach loss were considered to review their 

influence on flood extents and depths. The flood inundation modelling built upon the 

TUFLOW model and also looked in limited detail at the impact of partial harbour wall 

collapse and combined probabilities of still water and tidal scenarios. 

Despite significant modelling activity to date, data quality and robustness of results 

remains uncertain. Limitations in modelling approach, the use of now outdated 

methods and the recent publication of new climate change and coastal flood boundary 

condition datasets require appropriate future consideration. 

Figure 9 is an example of the mapped outputs (although recognised to be in need of 

refresh and update) from modelling produced to depict the predicted flood extent 

across Weymouth during a 1 in 50, 100 & 200-year return period extreme tidal still 

water event during the 2065 scenario. 

 

Page 134



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 21 

 

Figure 9: Predicted flood extent of 1 in 50, 100 & 200-year return period combined (tide, surge 
and wave overtop) event during 2065 scenario (JBA Consulting, 2019c). (Note: Sea level rise 
predictions have increased since the undertaking of this numerical modelling) 

 

2.4.5 Surface water risk 

Weymouth also has existing surface water flood risk, prominent in the low-lying Park 

District of the town, which is serviced by a combined foul water and surface water 

drainage system (operated by Wessex Water). The Park District is significantly lower 

than the Esplanade, by approximately 1~1.52m in places. Surface water and wave 

overtopping from the Esplanade has the potential to flow down the side roads into the 

Park District area and pond there causing problems both in terms of the depth of flood 

water and its velocity, resulting in significant hazard and additional pressure on an 

already stretched historic combined sewerage system with limited capacity. 

The vulnerability of the people in the areas at risk of surface water flooding, and 

secondary surface water flooding associated to wave overtopping, must also be taken 

into consideration as part of the FCRM scheme options. There are a number of care 

homes and retirement flats in the Park District area, with a more vulnerable population. 

They would be at increased risk from a flood event and would require more significant 

assistance should an evacuation be required. The Park District area is acknowledged 

Page 135



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 22 

 

as having a high level of deprivation and is listed within the highest decile of the English 

indices of deprivation. 

Figure 10 shows the Environment Agency Long Term Flood Risk Map filtered on 

Surface Water flood extents (only) centred on Weymouth town, (note – does not 

recognise surface water flood risk as a consequence of wave overtopping or tidal 

seepage from the Esplanade). 

Figure 10: Environment Agency Long Term Flood Risk Map filtered on surface water flood ex-
tents (Environment Agency, 2021a) 

 

Park District 

Radipole 

Inner Harbour 

Peninsula 

Page 136



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 23 

 

2.4.6 Fluvial Flood Risk 

Whilst the dominant flood risk source is that of tidal inundation, made more severe 

through sea level rise, the ‘Main River’ River Wey flows behind the town centre and 

discharges into the harbour, via sluice gates at Westham Bridge.  

Previous modelling undertaken in Weymouth Model Updates (JBA Consulting, 2016) 

considered combined tidal and fluvial joint probability events and simulated these with 

varying return periods and climate change scenarios. The outputs of such, 

demonstrated that combined events are significantly biased to the tidal event, this 

having the strongest influence on the flood risk. Simulated flooding extents and depths 

during such an event was, therefore, very similar to the tidal event, with the main risk 

arising from the harbour. 

Fluvial baseline simulations found that even with increases in river flows, Radipole 

Lake absorbs much of the impact from a fluvial event. Westham Bridge and its 

associated sluice gates limits the discharge into the harbour, thereby removing any 

fluvial only flood risk downstream of the bridge. 

The importance of the management of Radipole Lake and the requirement for and 

operation of Westham Bridge sluice gates must be considered to ensure their 

effectiveness for both flood risk management and nature conservation purposes. 

2.4.7 Coastal Erosion Risk 

Within Weymouth Bay, erosion risk is present along both (i) the Esplanade (Weymouth 

seafront – managed under an approved Beach Management Plan (Jacobs, 2019)), (ii) 

Weymouth Harbour and iii) Preston Beach (Lodmoor seafront), which are considered 

further hereafter. As stated earlier in the Strategic Case, management of coastal 

erosion of the Preston Beach frontage to the north of Weymouth Esplanade, lies 

outside the extents of this FCRM scheme. Interaction between the cells will be further 

explored and refined in the next stages of FCRM scheme development, noting that 

previous studies (JacksonHyder, 2018) supported this separation. 

(i) The Esplanade (Weymouth seafront) 

The risk is greatest to the northern part of the Weymouth seafront area, between the 

Pier Bandstand and the Greenhill Groyne. The risk would increase if the seawall were 

to fail as a result of being undermined, particularly during storm events.  

Once defences have failed and coupled with sea level rise, a period of initial ‘coastal 

catch-up’ would most likely occur. Coastal catch up describes the behaviour of the 

coast which can exhibit an increased level of short-term shore retreat in the immediate 

period following the loss of coastal protection before recession falls to a lower and 

more constant rate. 

Coastal erosion at rates between 0.5-1.0m/year poses risk to properties (Jacobs, 

2019), Greenhill Gardens and the B3155 highway which runs parallel to the shoreline. 

Page 137



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 24 

 

Figure 11 illustrates a predicted erosion loss of between 25 and 50m after 50 years 

after the point of defence failure, which would rise to between 50 and 100m after 100 

years (Jacobs, 2019). An erosion loss of just 25m would render the loss of the 

promenade as well as the majority of properties located between the beach and the 

B3155 road which will be further reviewed as part of the next stage (OBC) of the FCRM 

scheme development as the proposed option development progresses. 

Figure 11: Map of Coastal Erosion Risk Zones (Jacobs, 2019) 

 

(ii) Weymouth Harbour 

In a Do-Nothing scenario respective sections of Weymouth Harbour quay walls will 

come to the end of their useful life and will fail, leading to the commencement of 

erosion. This results in an initial erosion envelope that occurs in the year of wall failure, 

then a yearly advancement of erosion given the anticipated twice daily tidal scour 

action and the friable nature of the ground beneath Weymouth. Figure 12 illustrates 

properties and their distance to the initial erosion envelope. 

Page 138



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 25 

 

Figure 12: GIS Map of Weymouth harbourside properties coloured by their distance from the 
initial erosion envelope as marked by the purple line (WSP UK Ltd, 2019) 

 

(iii) Preston Beach (Lodmoor seafront) 

The Preston Beach frontage comprising a managed beach frontage and an 

engineered raised wall seaward of Preston Road forms the next flood cell north from 

Weymouth Harbour and the Esplanade which is maintained and operated by the 

Environment Agency. 

The management and any future raising requirements of the flood defences within the 

Preston Beach flood cell will be required to ensure a comprehensive FCRM scheme 

within Weymouth.  

Further consideration regarding of the long term flood risk management and 

adaptation proposed at Present Beach could impact on the scope of this FCRM 

scheme and may present opportunities for efficiencies between adjacent FCRM 

strategies. 

Page 139



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 26 

 

2.4.8 Groundwater Flood Risk 

It is understood that the groundwater flooding within Weymouth may be linked to tidal 

water levels and associated seepage through the historic Weymouth Harbour quay 

wall (JacksonHyder, 2018).  

It is also understood that parts of Weymouth are situated on alluvial valley deposits 

and have spring/groundwater flood risk potential. 

Consideration of the connectivity between tidal, fluvial and groundwater levels and 

flooding will be a key consideration in the FCRM scheme development. 

2.5 Objectives 

The key objectives for the scheme have been set to reflect the importance of delivering 

robust and sustainable infrastructure, whilst acknowledging the importance of the area 

for commercial business, future redevelopment opportunities and tourism purposes. 

The objectives of the scheme were considered and discussed at length by both the 

members of the Project Steering Group and Project Board. Formal adoption of the 

objectives below was confirmed by the Project Board, March 2021. 

1. To manage the risk of flooding and coastal change to people, property, 

infrastructure and activities over the next 100 years. 

2. To develop an understanding of future climate change impacts beyond the next 

100-years, in order to provide time for the community to adapt to a changing 

climate, whilst recognising Dorset Council’s declared Climate and Ecological 

Emergency.  

3. To provide a platform for future regeneration and growth of the town centre, 

Weymouth Harbour and the Esplanade, whilst ensuring construction minimises 

disruption to local residents, businesses and existing harbour and beach 

operations. 

4. To provide the opportunity to enhance the public waterfront and recreational route 

around Weymouth Harbour and along the Esplanade. 

5. To ensure the historic environment is protected, preserving where possible historic 

features and the heritage of the town. 

6. To align with the policies set out in the Dorset Local Plan.  

7. Deliver environmental enhancement and overall improvement in the quality of the 

natural environmental. 

8. To identify solutions that efficiently minimises carbon emission impacts and make 

a positive contribution towards carbon emission reduction in support of Dorset 

Council’s Climate and Ecological Strategy targets for carbon reduction.  

Page 140



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 27 

 

2.6 Current arrangements 

The existing Weymouth Harbour and the Esplanade frontage consists of multiple 

construction types, forms, ownerships and highly variable condition states. There are 

a number of existing formalised FCRM assets owned and operated by both Dorset 

Council and the Environment Agency. 

The project area is included within the Environment Agency’s flood warning service 

and is identified by five separate flood warning areas. 

In general terms, Dorset Council are continuing their Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk 

Management function in line with legislative requirements, policies and strategies. 

These activities include: 

• flood risk investigation & improvements; 

• beach management strategies & coastal monitoring; 

• cliff defence and coastal asset management; 

• inspection, maintenance and management of FCRM assets;  

• environmental enhancement projects; and 

• promoting and delivering capital works. 

2.7 Main benefits 

The scheme will deliver a high standard of protection against flood and coastal erosion 

for Weymouth; reducing risk to properties, businesses, infrastructure and commerce 

up to 2120 and beyond. Whilst the Outcome Measure 2 (OM2) count is modest at 

1,036 households, the overall economic benefit better portrays the scale and effect of 

the potential flood risk reduction. It should be noted that there are significant ‘people-

related’ benefits associated with the scheme which is the over-riding focus of the next 

six-year government investment plan for flood and coast risk projects.  

The total economic benefit to the nation as currently assessed is c.£470m when 

compared with the Do Nothing scenario. 

Local financial benefits are significant by avoiding damage to properties and 

infrastructure, disruption to businesses and tourism, and unlocking appropriate sites 

for growth. 

2.8 Strategic risks, assumptions, constraints and 

dependencies 

A full risk register (see Appendix E) has been produced and used actively through the 

project by both the Project Delivery Team and Project Board. The risk register is 

reviewed at least monthly, the top risks of which are summarised in Table 4 below. 

Page 141



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 28 

 

Table 4: Summary of Significant Risks based on Risk Register (see Appendix E) 

RR 
No 

Key Risk  Mitigation 

001-
002 

Covid-19: Impact on fu-
ture perception and use of 
public realm streetscape 
impacting current design 
and potential project de-
lay associated to re-
strictions 

Monitor evolving changes alongside de-
sign development and integrate potential 
delay uncertainties into OBC programme. 

003-
004 

Strategy endorsement: 
Statutory and non-statu-
tory support/ objection re-
sulting in delay to scheme 
implementation and po-
tential scheme design 
changes 

Clear governance structure, reporting, 
progress/ review and programme identi-
fied and continually reviewed. Prepare 
and implement stakeholder engagement 
plan early in OBC to influence strategy 
development (inc. key stakeholders, or-
ganisations, landowners, user groups, 
and other relevant interested parties). 

005-
006 

Funding: Benefit & Cost 
certainty and potential re-
sulting funding gap 

Undertake comprehensive modelling to 
establish robust damages/benefits as-
sessment. 

Develop funding strategy and refine pro-
ject costs further during OBC through fur-
ther assessment and survey work to in-
crease confidence and reduce funding 
gap if identified. Work in collaboration with 
EA to be aware of any forthcoming 
changes to the PF calculator algorithms or 
funding mechanisms. 

007-
012 

Planning and consenting 
(including environmental 
impacts): Objection and 
delay to implementation 
of scheme with risk to fur-
ther assessment work, 
mitigation and design 
changes 

Prepare and implement stakeholder en-
gagement plan early in OBC development 
to influence strategy development with rel-
evant engagement and pre-app/ scoping/ 
screening identify further proportionate 
environmental assessment work, project 
risks, mitigation requirements and oppor-
tunities to inform the cost plan, pro-
gramme and design. (Engagement inc. 
key stakeholders, organisations, landown-
ers, user groups, and other relevant inter-
ested parties). 

013-
017 

Earthworks/ Ground pen-
etrating works/ contami-
nation/ asbestos: Risk of 
delay/ design change 

Proportionate survey work to be under-
taken to inform design development. Pre-
liminary investigations (e.g. desk top 
study) to be undertaken at OBC stage 

Page 142



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 29 

 

RR 
No 

Key Risk  Mitigation 

from identification of site 
constraints 

with further requirements identified to in-
form future design development. 

019 

Buildability and construc-
tability: hydraulic model-
ling changing the design 
parameters currently con-
sidered leading to abor-
tive or design rework 

Undertake further hydraulic modelling 
early in OBC to inform the basis of design.  

018- 
020 

Buildability and construc-
tability: Unexpected engi-
neering complexities and 
interaction with existing 
built environment 

Undertake proportionate concept/ outline 
design development as part of OBC tak-
ing into account associated assessments/ 
studies to develop robust scheme to be 
taken forward with identification and man-
agement of risks through proportionate 
risk management process in accordance 
with CDM 2015 requirements. 

021-
022 

Maintenance & Operation 
and Public Safety: Asset 
deterioration and risk of 
failure which may in-
crease over time associ-
ated to more frequent and 
extreme storm events  

Continue to monitor condition and deterio-
ration of existing assets to refine and influ-
ence strategy phasing at OBC stage, in 
accordance with CDM 2015 requirements 
(including proposed asset future). (This 
may include asset register based on EA 
AIMS data). Future inspection and 
maintenance strategy (or operational 
maintenance manual) of existing assets to 
be developed alongside detailed design 
including integration of cost allowance for 
anticipated future intervention as part of 
OBC whole life costing. 

022-
024 

FCRM and Public Safety: 
Exceedance of SoP, in-
creased rate of climate 
change and impact on 
public safety/ emergency 
access 

Continue to develop design against cur-
rent national climate change guidance 
with sensitivity assessment for various al-
ternative scenarios as part of OBC to in-
form basis of design. Design to consider 
impact of work and extreme event impact 
on public safety, access and egress dur-
ing works and during operation through-
out assessment period. 

025-
026 

New policy, guidance 
documents, appraisal 
tools or emerging scheme 
that could impact the 
FCRM Scheme 

Monitor evolving changes and emerging 
scheme and integrate into OBC with al-
lowance for potential delay uncertainties 
into OBC programme and cost profile/ op-
timism bias/ risk allowance 

Page 143



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 30 

 

There are a number of constraints on the FCRM scheme, as listed below; 

• The need to minimise disruption (both in construction and operation) to adjacent 

businesses, harbour operations and the residents & community of Weymouth. 

• The town is heavily used in the summer months as a tourist destination and as 

such construction works need to have due regard. 

• The requirement not to increase flood risk (adverse impact) due to implementation 

of the scheme through any permanent or temporary works. 

• Recreational boat use, an active commercial fishery and RNLI Lifeboat Station 

exist in Weymouth Harbour. Impacts to navigation and marine construction works 

are of particular importance to this stakeholder group.  

• Funding constraints given the multiple funding partners required in order to ensure 

viability. 

• The need to minimise impacts on the natural terrestrial, marine and historic 

environment. 

2.9 Dependencies  

The FCRM scheme is dependent upon obtaining multiple consents, licenses and 

permissions to carry out the required construction work.  

Realisation of the full benefits over the 100-year scheme appraisal duration is 

dependent upon future continued implementation of the adaptive pathway, notably in 

2040 and 2060. Therefore, securing commitment to future capital funding and ongoing 

maintenance is an essential dependency. 

Agreements with individual affected landowners and approval from statutory 

undertakers for any alterations to apparatus will be required.  

Page 144



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 31 

 

Economic Case 
 

Is there a case for investment? 

  

Page 145



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 32 

 

3.0 Economic Case 

3.1 Introduction 

Throughout this section, ‘options’ should be considered as preferred strategic 

approaches or ways forward for the FCRM scheme, as opposed to finalised 

engineering designs. 

The economic case for the project has been appraised in accordance with the 

standard guidance for the appraisal of flood risk management projects, including: 

• Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management: Appraisal Guidance (Environment 

Agency, 2010); 

• Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management: A Manual for Economic Appraisal 

1st Edition (‘The Multi-Coloured Manual’) and accompanying Handbook (E. 

Penning-Rowsell, et. al., 2013); 

• The Green Book: Central Government Guidance on Appraisal and Evaluation (HM 

Treasury, 2020) and associated supplementary guidance; and 

• Flood and coastal risk projects, schemes and strategies: climate change 

allowances (Environment Agency, 2020a). 

3.2 Critical success factors (CSF) 

The Critical Success Factors (CSFs) are the attributes that are essential to the 

successful delivery of the FCRM scheme. 

Table 5 sets out the CSFs for the project as defined by the project team and endorsed 

by the Project Board during a Project Board Meeting held on 12 January 2020 and 

subsequent meeting actions. 

Table 5: Critical Success Factors 

No 
Critical Success 
Factor 

Measurement Criteria 
Importance (1-5) 
(Where 1=high, 
5=Low) 

1 Policy 

Is the preferred option in line with the 
National FCRM Strategy, SMP, 
Approved FCRM Strategy, council 
strategy and cabinet decisions and 
Local/Business Plans? 

1 

2 Affordability 

Is Partnership Funding required in 
addition to FDGiA, and are 
contributions (including any Dorset 
Council commitment) likely to be 
forthcoming? 

2 

Page 146



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 33 

 

No 
Critical Success 
Factor 

Measurement Criteria 
Importance (1-5) 
(Where 1=high, 
5=Low) 

3 Technical 

Is the option technically sound i.e. 
able to provide the required FCRM 
function? 
Can the option be implemented 
without unacceptably high technical 
risks and accommodated within the 
existing constraints? 

2 

4 Environment 

Is the option likely to be acceptable 
from an environmental, heritage & 
carbon standpoint? Can the option be 
delivered with an acceptable level of 
disruption to harbour and beach 
operations? Does the option provide 
additional benefits in terms of ecology 
and the local community (beyond risk 
reduction)? 

2 

5 
Health, Safety & 

Wellbeing 

Is the option safe to construct, 
through its design life and in future? 
Does the option provide an 
acceptably low level of risk for users 
(the public, maintenance staff etc) 

1 

6 Amenity 
Does the option provide for present 
and known future amenity use? 

2 

 

3.3 Options Considered 

The following section provides a summary of the identified options and the economic 

appraisal work that has been undertaken to date to inform the FCRM scheme. The 

long list and short list of options has been developed based upon a number of previous 

studies, including: 

• Weymouth Flood Risk Management Strategy (Environment Agency, 2010);  

• Weymouth and Portland Borough Council Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes 

Study Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade (JacksonHyder, 2018); 

• Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade: FCRM Strategy Update (WSP UK Ltd, 2019);  

• Weymouth Harbour Walls Condition Survey 2018-19 (Masonry Wall Condition 

Survey Report) (JBA Consulting, 2019a); 

• Weymouth Harbour Walls Condition Survey 2018-19 (Sheet Pile Condition Survey 

Report) (JBA Consulting, 2019b); 

• Weymouth Beach Management Plan (Jacobs, 2019); and 

Page 147



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 34 

 

• Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk Management Strategy 

(Dorset Council, 2020c). 

Within the option consideration three broad approaches have been considered: 

• Do Nothing – assumes no further intervention including cessation of all 

maintenance and operation. 

• Do Minimum – maintain the ‘status quo’ through continued maintenance and 

operation of the existing assets, however no new assets or asset raising. 

• Do Something – can consider a combination of maintaining existing assets, 

constructing new assets and/ or retrofitting existing assets to provide a Standard 

of Protection (SoP) against tidal flooding of at least  a 1 in 200 year return period 

event (0.5% AEP) over the appraisal period. SoP for wave overtopping limits, fluvial 

flooding, surface water and drainage capacity and joint probability scenarios should 

be defined at OBC stage, recognising the dominant flood risk source is tidal. 

Three groups with six zones are considered throughout the FCRM scheme extent for 

the differing interventions/measures against each zone’s local setting, flood/erosion 

risk profile and their associated constraints and opportunities. The groups and zones 

are summarised in Table 6 and Figure 13. 

Table 6: Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade Zones 

 
Group 

Sub 
Section 

Location Risk Sources 

Zone 1 

Esplanade 

North 
Greenhill Groyne to 
Pier Bandstand Tidal inundation, wave 

overtopping, coastal 
erosion, groundwater, 
surface water tide 
locking  

Zone 2 Central 
Pier Bandstand to 
Jubilee Clock  

Zone 3 South 
Jubilee Clock to 
Pavilion Peninsula 

Zone 4 

Harbour 

Outer 

Pavilion Peninsula to 
Harbour Foot Ferry 
Harbour Foot Ferry 
to Nothe Point 

Tidal inundation, wave 
overtopping, 
groundwater, surface 
water tide locking 

Zone 5 Inner 
Harbour Walls inland 
from Zone 4 

Tidal/ fluvial 
inundation, 
groundwater, surface 
water tide locking 

Zone 6 Radipole Lake 
North of Westham 
Bridge 

Fluvial inundation, 
fluvial and surface 
water tide locking 

Page 148



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 35 

 

Figure 13: Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade Zones 

 

A long list of options has been considered within each group to define a short list and 

strategy preferred option for the FCRM scheme. The long list assessment has used a 

qualitative multi criteria assessment with consideration of criteria summarised within 

Table 7. 

Table 7: Long List Assessment Criteria 

Group Attributes 

Engineering 

• Technical Feasibility/ Constructability 

• Durability/Maintenance 

• Safety (Construction & Long Term) 

Economics 

• Benefit/ Loss 

• Capital Cost 

• Maintenance/ Operational Cost 

Environmental and 
Social 

• Impacts 

• Enhancement Opportunities 

Flood and Coastal 
Erosion Risk 

• Current day 

• Future flood risk 

Page 149



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 36 

 

3.3.1 Long List of Options 

Table 8: Long List of Options 

 
Option 
Group 

Description 
Overview 

Technical (Design & Delivery) Environmental and Social Economic 
Flood Risk (including climate 

change) 
Shortlisted/ 

Rejected 

Zone 1, 
2 & 3 

Do 
Nothing 

Assumes no 
further 
intervention 
including 
cessation of all 
maintenance 
and operation. 

Lack of maintenance may lead to 
reduced serviceable life and SoP 
of asset. 

Reduced beach amenity could 
have a negative impact on 
human health benefit. 
Promenade may become danger 
to public if not maintained and as 
a result of increased overtopping 
rates. Reduced beach width 
reduces socio-economic value to 
public. 
Townscape could fall into 
disrepair from continued storm 
damage and increased 
overtopping, this will become 
increasingly unsightly with storm 
debris and damage. 
Cultural assets (including a 
number of listed building) are 
likely to be damaged from 
increased overtopping.  
Damaged assets and increased 
overtopping may restrict 
pedestrian and vehicle access. 

No Capital Expenditure (CapEx) 
and Operational Expenditure 
(OpEx). 
Damage and increased 
frequency of overtopping could 
have a significant impact on local 
tourism, trade, businesses, 
property and infrastructure 
limiting potential for economic 
growth. 

Current day some overtopping 
from high return periods. 
Reduced SoP and increase in 
risk of flooding into the future 
associated to sea level rise with 
increased risk of breach/ 
inundation and wave 
overtopping. 
Reduced beach width increases 
the risk of undermining/ scour of 
the promenade assets which 
increases the risk of erosion and 
a breach of the defence. 
 

Shortlisted 
for appraisal 
purposes. 

Do 
Minimum 

Maintain the 
‘status quo’ 
through 
continued 
maintenance 
and operation of 
the existing 
assets, however 
no new assets 
or asset raising. 

Disproportionate increase in 
maintenance expected into the 
future 

Low CapEx.  
Disproportionate increase in 
OpEx in future with increased 
overtopping resulting in 
increased asset deterioration. 
Significant impact on local 
tourism, trade, businesses, 
property and infrastructure. 
Damage and increased 
frequency of overtopping could 
have a significant impact on local 
tourism, trade, businesses, 
property and infrastructure 
limiting potential for economic 
growth. 

Shortlisted 
for appraisal 
purposes. 

Do 
Something 

Beach 
management. 

Periodic beach recycling to 
maintain beach levels to reduce 
risk of wave overtopping flooding 
and undermining of seawalls that 
could lead to failure and onset of 
coastal erosion (Jacobs, 2019). 
Increased SoP of erosion 
protection measures reduces the 
risk of undermining to flood 
protection assets. 

Maintaining beach width provides 
socio-economic value to public. 
Impacts on ecology and aquatic 
ecology are to be considered as 
part of beach management 
(Jacobs, 2019). 

On-going OpEx, potential for 
future CapEx to maintain beach 
management. 

Erosion protection and flood risk 
benefit. 
 

Shortlisted. Promenade/ 
wall erosion 
protection. 

Property flood 
resilience. 

Design feasibility of integrating 
measures into listed building and 
between buildings requiring 
cohesive design with a number 
of public and private stakeholder. 

During deployment, likely to 
impede pedestrian and vehicular 
access. 
Impact on townscape and listed 
buildings. 

Significant CapEx and future 
OpEx with multiple stakeholders. 

Reliance on deployment may 
disproportionately increase into 
future as overtopping increases. 
Continued overtopping would 
overwhelm public drainage 
network. 

Rejected. 

P
age 150



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 37 

 

 
Option 
Group 

Description 
Overview 

Technical (Design & Delivery) Environmental and Social Economic 
Flood Risk (including climate 

change) 
Shortlisted/ 

Rejected 

Surface water 
drainage 
enchantments 
(gravity outfalls, 
attenuation, 
pumping). 
 

Feasibility of achieving a gravity 
discharge is limited and may 
require a pumped discharge. 

Increased drainage capacity 
would reduce the risk of 
combined sewer surcharging and 
risk to human health. 

On-going OpEx for pumped 
discharges. 

Flood risk benefit during high tide 
events when tide locking 
prevents discharge. 

Shortlisted. 

Raised/ crown/ 
recurve/ wave 
wall (at front of 
promenade, set 
back, either with 
or without 
promenade 
raising) with 
nearshore or 
offshore 
breakwater. 

Design feasibility of breakwater. 
Breakwater would reduce 
nearshore wave energy and 
reduce the heigh of wall required 
to limit overtopping to a save 
level.  

Impact of breakwater on local 
and regional sediment transport 
and evolution, regional erosion, 
and aquatic ecology. 
Townscape and visual impact of 
a breakwater and wall.  
Wall impact on linkage between 
the town, promenade and beach 
Impact of breakwater on 
recreational and international 
sailing and other water sports. 

Potential reduced tourism from 
adverse effects to local economy 
as a result of breakwater effect 
on water sports. Significant 
CapEx and OpEx. 

Reduce nearshore wave energy 
and overtopping. 

Rejected. 

Demountable 
defences. 

Design feasibility of limiting wave 
overtopping. 

Limited impact on townscape 
and visual when demountable 
defences are not deployed. 

CapEx for retrofitting the existing 
promenade to include. OpEx for 
maintenance, storage and 
deployment of demountable 
defences. 

Flood risk benefit, however 
reliant on advance warning to 
enable deployment in time. 
May require increased frequency 
of deployment into the future. 

Rejected. 

Raised/ crown 
wall (at front of 
promenade, set 
back, either with 
or without 
promenade 
raising) without 
breakwater. 

Structural and geotechnical 
feasibility of building raised walls 
on existing historic assets with 
limited foundations. Assessment 
required to determine if new 
construction is more appropriate 
when considering whole life 
costing. Spatial constraints 
associated to introducing ramps/ 
steps to maintain public access 
over raised walls would require 
appropriate spatial planning 
maintain local setting. 

Townscape and visual impact of 
local setting from a raised wall.  
Wall impact on linkage between 
the town, promenade and beach. 

CapEx and OpEx. Whole life 
costing should consider the 
potential benefit of wholesale 
replacement with option of 
replacement and future raising 
being staged into the future to 
align with future sea level rise. 

Erosion protection and flood risk 
benefit. 

Shortlisted. 

Zone 4 
& 5 

Do 
Nothing 

Assumes no 
further 
intervention 
including 
cessation of all 
maintenance 
and operation. 

Walls are expected to fail by 
2040 if not maintained, leading to 
collapse of surrounding 
properties and infrastructure. 

Harbour may become danger to 
public and commercial 
operations if not maintained and 
as a result of increased 
frequency in flood events. 
Townscape could fall into 
disrepair from continued storm 
damage and increased 

No CapEx and OpEx,  
Damage and increased 
frequency of flood events could 
have a significant impact on local 
tourism, trade, businesses, 
property and infrastructure 
limiting potential for economic 
growth. 

Asset failure would lead to tidal 
inundation and erosion, with 
significant risk to property and 
life. 
Future risk of overtopping of 
remaining assets 

 Shortlisted 
for appraisal 
purposes. 

P
age 151



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 38 

 

 
Option 
Group 

Description 
Overview 

Technical (Design & Delivery) Environmental and Social Economic 
Flood Risk (including climate 

change) 
Shortlisted/ 

Rejected 

Do 
Minimum 

Maintain the 
‘status quo’ 
through 
continued 
maintenance 
and operation of 
the existing 
assets, however 
no new assets 
or asset raising. 

Current day crest provides SoP 
less than 0.5% AEP tidal event 
and has no freeboard for climate 
change. SoP would reduce and 
continued tidal exposure may 
decrease serviceable life and 
any rebuild to the same SoP 
would provide a disproportionate 
benefit. 

frequency in flood events, this 
will become increasingly 
unsightly resulting in 
degeneration. 
Cultural assets (including a 
number of listed building) are 
likely to be damaged from 
increased overtopping. 
Damaged assets and increased 
overtopping and increased 
frequency in flood events may 
restrict pedestrian and vehicle 
access. 

Low CapEx. 
Disproportionate increase in 
OpEx in future with increased 
overtopping resulting in 
increased asset deterioration. 
Significant impact on local 
tourism, trade, businesses, 
property and infrastructure. 
Damage and increased 
frequency of flood events could 
have a significant impact on local 
tourism, trade, businesses, 
property and infrastructure 
limiting potential for economic 
growth. 

Current day crest provides SoP 
less than 0.5% AEP tidal event 
and has no freeboard for climate 
change, therefore SoP would 
decrease over time resulting in 
increased risk and frequency of 
flooding.  

 Shortlisted 
for appraisal 
purposes. 

Do 
Something 

Sea/ quay wall 
replacement 
(sheet piled wall 
with tie-back, 
diaphragm cut 
off wall, 
masonry or 
concrete 
retaining wall). 

Varying condition and interim 
defence raising with varying crest 
level throughout Weymouth 
Harbour creates a technical 
challenge. Requirement for 
future maintenance/ replacement 
of existing aging assets reaching 
end of serviceable life. 
Existing isolated areas of existing 
seepage under the defence 
through older life expiring assets  
Negative impact on operation 
and appearance for Weymouth 
Harbour must be embedded into 
the design to maintain its value. 
Options should consider these 
users needs can be integrated 
into the design.  

Continued safe amenity for 
human health/ environment. 
Temporary impact on human 
health from limited access to 
amenity and construction related 
impact during works (e.g. noise, 
dust etc.). 
Reduced degeneration and 
degradation to townscape. 
Potential impact on visual 
appearance from raised walls. 
Reduced risk of overtopping 
affecting cultural/ list building 
assets. 
Impact on access for 
pedestrians, vehicles and 
vessels. 

Help maintain development and 
economic growth as a safe place 
from flood risk to maintain its 
tourism attraction. 
CapEx and OpEx required. 

Current crest level provides SoP 
less than current day 0.5% AEP 
event with no freeboard for 
climate change. 
Significant FCRM benefit to 
residential and commercial 
property.  
Raising walls at Zone 4 provides 
limited FCRM benefit, however, 
could provide significant 
opportunity for future economic 
growth in this area. Wall raising 
within Zone 4 should be included 
within the strategic approach to 
ensure a coherent and efficient 
delivery that could unlock future 
development and economic 
growth.  

Shortlisted. 

Demountable 
defences. 

Design feasibility of limiting wave 
overtopping. Reliance on 
successful deployment and 
assumed effectiveness in each 
flood condition. 

Limited impact on townscape 
and visual when demountable 
defences are not deployed. 

CapEx for retrofitting the existing 
promenade to include. OpEx for 
maintenance, storage and 
deployment of demountable 
defences. 

Flood risk benefit, however 
reliant on advance warning to 
enable deployment in time. 
May require increased frequency 
of deployment into the future. 

Rejected 
(Note: To 
be revisited 
at OBC 
optioneering 
and 
appraisal 
stage). 

P
age 152



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 39 

 

 
Option 
Group 

Description 
Overview 

Technical (Design & Delivery) Environmental and Social Economic 
Flood Risk (including climate 

change) 
Shortlisted/ 

Rejected 

Tidal barrier and 
maintain 
Weymouth 
Harbour walls at 
existing defence 
height. 

Due to CapEx a barrier would 
need to be implemented to 
provide a SoP up to the end of 
the assessment period 
(potentially longer if feasible 
within the design), however will 
provide limited benefit in short to 
medium term, therefore 
significant CapEx and OpEx 
would be incurred from year zero 
with benefit only recognised in 
long term. Opportunity to 
implement in future as part of 
adaptive pathway approach.  
Fluvial floodplain storage 
capacity when tidal barrier in 
operation would need to be 
considered within Weymouth 
Harbour and Radipole Lake from 
the River Wey inflow with 
consideration for joint probability 
events throughout design life. 
Potential need for pumped outfall 
to prevent fluvial inundation. 

When barrier in operation 
potential increased saltwater 
mixing and tidal inundation could 
impact on Radipole Lake, 
designated sites, WFD status 
associated habitats including 
(ecology, flora & fauna, fresh 
water and saline aquatic 
ecology). 
Depending on barrier form and 
location, it is likely to impact on 
commercial and recreational 
vessel operation (including 
current RNLI Station and 
Pontoon). 

Significant CapEx and OpEx. 

Impact on upstream fluvial flood 
risk and tide locking when barrier 
is in operation with consideration 
for joint probability and climate 
change scenarios required to be 
embedded into design. 
Significant FCRM benefit to 
residential and commercial 
property. 

Shortlisted. 

Zone 6 

Do 
Nothing 

Assumes no 
further 
intervention 
including 
cessation of all 
maintenance 
and operation. 

Sluices and mechanical elements 
likely to fail reducing the ability 
for River Wey to discharge to 
Weymouth Harbour and Bay. 
No future raising may lead to 
increased risk and frequency of 
tidal overtopping into Radipole 
Lake. 

Increased saltwater mixing and 
tidal inundation could impact on 
Radipole Lake, designated sites, 
WFD status associated habitats 
including (ecology, flora & fauna, 
fresh water and saline aquatic 
ecology). 
Damaged assets and increased 
overtopping and increased 
frequency in flood events may 
restrict pedestrian and vehicle 
access. 
 

No CapEx or Op Ex, however 
potential significant impact on 
economy through flooding. 

No future raising may lead to 
increased risk and frequency of 
tidal overtopping in the future 
within Radipole Lake. 
Reduced SoP into the future and 
risk of failure to flood defence 
assets resulting in defence 
breach.  

 Shortlisted 
for appraisal 
purposes. 

Do 
Minimum 

Maintain the 
‘status quo’ 
through 
continued 
maintenance 
and operation of 
the existing 
assets, however 
no new assets 
or asset raising. 

On-going maintenance and 
repair of Westham Bridge sluices 
and mechanical elements 
required to maintain River Wey 
discharge to the Weymouth 
Harbour and Bay. 
No future raising may lead to 
increased risk and frequency of 
tidal overtopping in the future 
within Radipole Lake. 

OpEx likely to increase into the 
future. 

No future raising may lead to 
increased risk and frequency of 
tidal overtopping in the future 
within Radipole Lake. 
Reduced SoP into the future and 
risk of failure to flood defence 
assets resulting in defence 
breach. 

 Shortlisted 
for appraisal 
purposes. 

Do 
Something 

Westham 
Bridge/ weir 
removal. 

Removal of bridge and 
associated sluice/ weir. 

Impact on Radipole Lake, 
upstream geomorphology and 
their associated habitats. 
Increased saltwater mixing and 
tidal inundation could impact on 

Remove OpEx of Westham 
Bridge sluices and mechanical 
elements. 

Significant change on upstream 
flood risk profile.  
Tidal extent would significantly 
increase into Radipole Lake 

Rejected. 

P
age 153



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 40 

 

 
Option 
Group 

Description 
Overview 

Technical (Design & Delivery) Environmental and Social Economic 
Flood Risk (including climate 

change) 
Shortlisted/ 

Rejected 

Radipole Lake, designated sites, 
WFD status associated habitats 
including (ecology, flora & fauna, 
fresh water and saline aquatic 
ecology). 
Impact on pedestrian and cycle 
access to town centre and 
reduction to available parking. 
Opportunity to increase capacity 
of Harbour, however, would have 
an impact on natural 
environment that would need to 
be balanced. 

increasing the tidal flood risk to a 
number of locations.  
Reduce risk during fluvial peak 
events due to unrestricted 
outflow into Weymouth Harbour/ 
Bay. 
FRCM benefit to be further 
investigated at OBC through 
development of joint probability 
analysis to establish impact of 
future joint fluvial and tidal events 
on flood risk and SoP upstream 
of Westham Bridge. 

Westham 
Bridge raising. 

Raising flood defences in line 
with those proposed for Zone 5. 
Consideration of maintaining 
access over Westham Bridge. 

Protect Radipole Lake from 
saltwater mixing. 
Change to Radipole Lake, 
designated sites, WFD status 
associated habitats including 
(ecology, flora & fauna, fresh 
water and saline aquatic 
ecology). 

CapEx and OpEx. 
Significant FRCM benefit by 
preventing tidal flood extent 
continuing up into Radipole Lake. 
FRCM benefit to be further 
investigated at OBC through 
development of joint probability 
hydraulic modelling to establish 
impact of future joint fluvial and 
tidal events on flood risk and SoP 
upstream of Westham Bridge.  

Shortlisted. 

Increase flood 
plain storage 
and flood 
defence 
surrounding 
Radipole Lake. 

The requirement for an increased 
fluvial flood plain storage 
capacity and raising flood 
defences within Radipole Lake 
needs to be investigated through 
further joint probability hydraulic 
modelling at OBC stage to 
consider the consequence of 
future combined fluvial and tidal 
flood events. 

Change to Radipole Lake, 
designated sites, WFD status 
associated habitats including 
(ecology, flora & fauna, fresh 
water and saline aquatic 
ecology). 

CapEx and OpEx. Shortlisted. 

P
age 154



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 41 

 

3.3.2 Initial Short Listing 

‘Do nothing’ and ‘do minimum’ options have been rejected in principle as they are not 

considered acceptable due to the significant negative impact and consequence 

associated with the risk of flooding and coastal erosion. They neither meet the critical 

success factors or the schemes’ objectives.  

The ‘do nothing’ and ‘do minimum’ scenarios have therefore only been considered to 

form a baseline for comparison to the ‘do something’ scenarios. 

The short list of options incorporates an adaptive pathway approach to achieve a 

balance between maximising the benefits, whilst limiting the impacts of the intervention 

under a changing climate. The basis behind adaptive planning, is to generate a wide 

array of ‘pathways’ through which policy objectives are achieved under changing 

climate and socio-economic conditions. Three key elements are central to the 

adaptative pathways concept: 

• Responses to changes that are effective under the widest set of all plausible future 

scenarios. 

• Responses do not foreclose future options or unnecessarily constrain future 

choice.  

• Relevant changes are foreseen through targeted monitoring and scenarios of the 

future are continuously being reassessed. 

Proposed strategic adaptive pathways were considered within the Weymouth Harbour 

& Esplanade FCRM Strategy Update (WSP UK Ltd, 2019) and Weymouth Harbour & 

Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk Management Strategy (Dorset Council, 2020c). 

The adaptive pathways seek to provide a 1 in 200-year standard of protection of 

flooding from the sea and prevent erosion until at least 2120. This time horizon is 

important to allow planning development to be brought forward with adequate FCRM. 

Pathways consist of grouped ‘do something’ interventions, optimised to ensure that 

the SoP is maintained for the 100-year duration of the FCRM scheme. Technical, 

environmental & social, financial and economic impacts of such pathways are 

assessed to look for an optimal approach and are summarised in Table 9. 

Table 9: Adaptive Pathway Options 

 
Pathway 
Option 

Intervention 

Zones 1,2 & 
3 
(Esplanade) 

A 
Phased approach to improve the existing defences along 
the esplanade. Interventions in years 0 and 50. Providing 
the 200-year standard for the 100-year scheme life. 

B 

Advance the line approach to reprofiling the beach, 
removing the requirement for any structural work along the 
esplanade. Providing the 200-year standard for the 100-
year scheme life and offering the scope for continuous 

Page 155



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 42 

 

 
Pathway 
Option 

Intervention 

intervention into the long-term future, alongside sustained 
amenity benefits. 

Zone 4 & 5 
(Harbour) 

1 

All existing Weymouth Harbour quay walls replaced and 
raised in year 0, providing the 200-year standard for the 
100-year scheme duration. No requirement for a tidal 
barrier. 

2 

Phased replacing and raising of the harbour walls for the 
100-year scheme life. Interventions in years 0, 20 and 50. 
No requirement for a tidal barrier. Providing the 200-year 
standard of protection up until year 100. 

3 

Phased replacing and raising of Weymouth Harbour quay 
walls for the 50-year scheme life. Interventions in years 0 
and 20. No requirement for a tidal barrier. Providing the 
200-year standard of protection up until year 50. 

4 

Phased replacing and raising of Weymouth Harbour quay 
walls. Interventions in years 0, 20 and 50. Tidal barrier 
implemented in year 20, reducing the requirement for 
upstream wall raising. Providing the 200-year standard for 
the 100-year scheme life. 

5 

Phased replacing and raising of Weymouth Harbour quay 
walls. Interventions in years 0, 20 and 50. Tidal barrier 
implemented in year 50, reducing the requirement for 
upstream wall raising. Providing the 200-year standard for 
the 100-year scheme life. 

Zone 6 
(Radipole 
Lake) 

1 

Phased raising of flood defences and/ or flood plain 
storage capacity increase, and Westham Bridge 
maintenance and further intervention to be confirmed 
through further investigation and results of integrated 
hydraulic modelling including joint probability analysis for 
future scenarios. 

To inform all Weymouth Harbour and the Esplanade ‘Do Something’ options, assets 

have undergone further recent condition inspection and appraisal (JBA Consulting, 

2019a) & (JBA Consulting, 2019b) to determine anticipated residual life and detailed 

crest heights. The scheduling of interventions has then been calculated by the earlier 

of the two scenarios listed below: 

• The exceedance of the existing crest level by the corresponding 1 in 200 year flood 

level. 

• The existing structure reaches the end of its residual life. 

All assets and their respective interventions can be found within the detailed tables 

contained in Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note. The preferred strategic 

pathway for the FCRM scheme, as presented in Figure 14 includes phased 

approaches to wall raising, wall replacements and the possible inclusion of a future 

Page 156



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 43 

 

tidal barrier and enables flexibility for further optioneering and refinement to the 

proposed intervention at the OBC stage.  

It should be noted that the consideration of demountable flood defences, in likely 

combination with other interventions will be necessary at optioneering stage. This may 

be required for example, to provide an adequate standard of protection in advance of 

full scheme completion, or to provide ‘gap-filling’ to allow the realisation of benefits. 

It is expected that comprehensive options appraisal will be undertaken at OBC stage. 

Page 157



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 44 

 

Figure 14: Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Scheme Preferred Strategic Pathway (Dorset Council, 2020c) 

 

Note: Since publication of the above document, the location of a tidal barrier has been reviewed. A more suitable location may be the Peninsula although 
this is a detail for further consideration at OBC stage. 

P
age 158



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 45 

 

3.4 Economic appraisal 

The economic performance of a FCRM scheme is determined through its BCR. 

Benefits are measured in terms of the PV of economic damages avoided over the 

lifespan of the scheme, with the present value of scheme capital and maintenance 

costs also being estimated over the same period. 

3.4.1 Assessment of benefits 

The economic appraisal was undertaken to the guidance set out within the Flood 

and Coastal Erosion Risk Management: A Manual for Economic Appraisal (E. 

Penning-Rowsell, et. al., 2013) also known as the ‘Multi Coloured Manual’ (MCM 

and the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management: Handbook and Data for 

Economic Appraisal 2020 (E. Penning-Rowsell, et. al., 2020) also known as the 

Multi-Coloured Handbook (MCH) and is presented in full in Appendix A – 

Economics Assessment. It should be noted that the assessment is considered high 

level and was undertaken early in the FCRM strategy process to provide 

confidence around scheme viability. 

This assessment has undertaken analysis of Grant in Aid eligible benefits, which 

are attributable to the reduction of flood and coastal erosion risk and reflect 

economic impacts on the nation. These will form the basis for the assessment of 

the quantum of Grant in Aid that may be available to the FCRM scheme, as 

calculated using the Partnership Funding Calculator (Environment Agency and 

Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, 2020b). 

The FCRM scheme will reduce the flood and coastal erosion risk to residential and 

commercial properties and important local infrastructure. The benefits of each of 

the options has been quantified by calculating the damage prevented during flood 

events with an AEP between 50% and 0.1% (1 in 2 years and 1 in 1000 years). 

Direct and indirect benefits have been considered in this assessment.  

The key facts and assumptions that have been incorporated into the economic 

appraisal are summarised below. 

• Damages are based on a GIS level assessment which maps the flood extent 

based on the elevation components of the flood event and its hydraulic 

connectivity to the surrounding area based on its topography. (Note: This 

methodology was chosen appropriate to SOC stage development, as opposed 

to using computer modelled outputs from earlier studies, given the data 

reliability issues discussed previously in Section 2.4.4). 

• The Gross Domestic Product (GDP) Deflator Index has been applied to the PV 

damages. 

• Base year assumed taken as 2020 with a 100-year appraisal period.  

• Climate change allowance using UKCP18 95th percentile of RCP 8.5. 

Page 159



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 46 

 

• Discount rates separated to Standard (starting at 3.5%) and Health (starting at 

1.5%) (Environment Agency and Department for Environment, Food & Rural 

Affairs, 2020a). 

• Direct flooding damages to properties and vehicles. 

• Mental health damages from flooding and erosion (Environment Agency, 

2020c). 

• Commercial intangible losses. 

• Benefits to stress and health through mitigating flood risk. 

• Predicted erosion losses. (Noting that eroded properties are removed at their 

year of loss from the dataset to prevent accrual (and thus double counting) of 

flood risk damages). 

• All economic losses use the latest MCM guidance (E. Penning-Rowsell, et. al., 

2013) and MCH tabulated data (E. Penning-Rowsell, et. al., 2020). 

• 10.7% of property damage value added to account for emergency services 

costs. 

• Clean up costs are included within depth-damage data from MCM (E. Penning-

Rowsell, et. al., 2013).  

• Damages capped at the estimated ‘risk free’ property market values from UK 

House Price Index (HM Land Registry, 2020). 

• Once a property has been capped, all additional damages associated to that 

property stop accruing (evacuation, mental health damages, Risk to Life etc.). 

• Road closure disruption and road infrastructure damage included for main 

routes. 

3.4.2 Assessment of costs 

Present Value Costs (PVc) for the adaptive pathway approach in comparison to 

baseline scenarios are shown in Table 10. Further details on cost assessment are 

provided in Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note. 

Cost estimates consider; asset type, height, length, work type etc., and are 

conservatively determined using the Environment Agency Long Term Costing Tool 

(Environment Agency, 2015a) and contractor supplied data from similar schemes.  

Professional fees and survey costs have been derived by the project team using 

assessment of recent similar work type costs.  

The base date for the cost estimates and benefits is 2020. 

For the purposes of allowing for risk contingency within the 100-year economic 

appraisal, consistent methodology in accordance with FCRM-AG has been 

applied. A 60% rate has been applied equitably to all options and future capital 

costs.  

Page 160



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 47 

 

Table 10: Initial Economic Appraisal Results 

Option PVc 
£k 

PVb 
£k 

BCR 

1 - Do Nothing 0 0  

2 - Do Minimum £22m* £458m 20.8:1 

3 – Pathway 2A (Phased Wall raising, wall 
replacements & esplanade defences) 

£52m £470m 9:1 

4 – Pathway 2A With Future Barrier £57m £470m 8.2:1 

*Some steel sheet piled harbour wall assets cannot physically be maintained as 

they reach the end of their design life. A number of assets would have to be 

replaced for example as Dorset Council is the Statutory Harbour Authority. 

3.4.3 Economic sensitivity 

It should be noted that the potential inclusion of a tidal barrier intervention post 

year fifty as part of the FCRM scheme, whilst expensive in financial terms (at an 

estimated cash cost £29m), has limited impact to present day economic appraisal. 

This is solely due to the effect of discounting. 

In addition, a further sensitivity assessment was undertaken to review the impact 

of replacing all of the steel sheet piled structures 50 years after their initial 

intervention. Given the high level nature of cost assessment and significant 

optimism bias budgets, an additional round of replacements equates to around 7% 

variation in Present Value Cost. 

3.5 Carbon appraisal 

At OBC stage as part of detailed appraisal, a carbon assessment will be 

undertaken using the latest industry guidance and modelling tools. 

Dorset Council will seek to develop FCRM scheme options that efficiently minimise 

whole life carbon impacts by following the carbon management hierarchy. It is of 

significant importance to Dorset Council and this FCRM scheme will seek to make 

a positive contribution towards carbon emission reduction and Dorset Council’s 

target of achieving net zero as a council by 2040 and as a county by 2050. 

In addition, the damages assessment to date, has not taken account of the carbon 

losses associated with flood damages, which has the potential to be significant. 

Do-something options avoid such carbon impacts for example, from the 

emergency response and recovery prompted by flood events in the absence of 

investment. 

Page 161



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 48 

 

Commercial Case 
 

How will the scheme be delivered? 

  

Page 162



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 49 

 

4.0 Commercial Case 

4.1 Introduction and Procurement Strategy  

Dorset Council has significant recent experience with Public Contract Regulations 

(PCR) 2015 (HM Government, 2015), procurement and tendering requirements 

and has internal resource capacity to lead these tasks. Dorset Council will achieve 

value for money and efficient corporate procurement of works, goods and services 

to meet its operational, financial, social and administrative corporate policies. 

The business case development and production of this SOC has been completed 

by the Dorset Council team with support by consultant WSP UK, with advice 

provided by the Environment Agency’s Wessex Area Partnerships & Strategic 

Overview (PSO) team. 

It is anticipated that development of the OBC will be procured through the current 

Transport and Engineering Partnership (TEPS) Contract which is serviced by WSP 

UK and has been used to appoint WSP UK to support development of this SOC. 

The TEPS Contract and scope includes provision of services in relation to flood 

risk management and coastal schemes, and its use for the OBC stage will (a) 

enable prompt procurement, and (b) enable continuation of the knowledge 

developed by WSP UK to date to be carried forward into the OBC to make rapid 

progress without the need to get up to speed that an alternative supplier would 

have to. 

At OBC stage, a decision should be taken regarding the optimum delivery path for 

the FCRM scheme (i.e. a traditional route with Detailed Design prior to awarding a 

delivery contract, or ‘Design and Build’), depending on the scope of the design 

work and scale of the construction works. This will dictate the scope of the work 

needed to complete the detailed design stage.  

To support this flexible approach, the next stage will be limited to the appraisal 

work needed to deliver the OBC only.  

Full details of the commercial case for the detailed design and construction of the 

scheme will be presented in the OBC. 

4.1.1 Key contractual terms & risk allocation 

All services and works to be provided are likely to be based on the terms of the 

relevant New Engineering Contract (NEC) form of contract. The proposed contract 

choice for any services to be procured will be the NEC Professional Services 

Contract (PSC) and for the works it is anticipated to be the NEC Engineering and 

Construction Contract (ECC). NEC4 has replaced NEC3 as Dorset Council’s 

preferred default form of contract. 

Page 163



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 50 

 

Payment options to define the contractual approach are yet to be decided, however 

are likely to be either be NEC Option A or E (Priced Activity Schedule or Time 

Charge) for any design activity, and NEC Option A or C (Priced Activity Schedule 

or Target Cost) for the construction ECC. A Procurement Initiation Document (PID) 

recommending the approach will be set out by Dorset Council after SOC approval, 

once certainty of funding is in place. The PID will be assessed and signed off by 

Dorset Council’s senior leadership team and cabinet, thus ensuring the council 

achieve best value for the public funds.  

Dorset Council will lead the appraisal and OBC stage under the project governance 

arrangements set out in the Management Case. Risk allocation for future stages 

will be set out in legal agreements detailing how the Environment Agency, Dorset 

Council and other funding partners will work together and share the financial and 

other risks. The agreement will be approved by the Project Board.  

4.1.2 Procurement route and timescales 

The project will be delivered in conjunction with Dorset Council’s Procurement 

Team to deliver best value and legally compliant procurements. 

Dorset Council use the ProContract eTendering solution provided by Proactis via 

Supplying the South West. This supports all procurement activities above 

£100,000 and activities covered by the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (HM 

Government, 2015). 

Dorset Council publish details of all opportunities with a contract value over 

£100,000 via ‘Contracts Finder’. This is a free service for businesses, government 

buyers and the general public. The Council will also publish an award notice on 

‘Contracts Finder’ once the contract has been awarded. 

Contracts exceeding the PCR thresholds are also subject to a compliant process, 

meeting the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (HM Government, 2015), following 

all timescales as laid down in the regulations. Such contracts will be advertised via 

Find a Tender and Suppliers will receive email alerts on existing or new 

opportunities via this service. An award notice will also be published on Find a 

tender following contract award. 

4.2 Efficiencies and commercial arrangements 

Efficiencies have been identified and realised to date through the collaborative 

delivery of the SOC. The Environment Agency’s Combined Efficiency Reporting 

Tool (CERT) (Environment Agency, 2017), is being used for the scheme and will 

continue to be used for future stages of the FCRM scheme and will be reviewed 

on a monthly basis. Efficiencies of between 10% and 15% will be sought, to 

contribute to national targets.  

Page 164



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 51 

 

With other regeneration and water side projects in the area being developed for 

Dorset Council, opportunities for efficiencies through joint delivery will be 

considered. This will also include seeking opportunities to work with other 

organisations planning to deliver works in the area. Not only is this relevant for the 

appraisal and design phases, but also in construction, since combined contracts 

would allow for significant savings on procurement and mobilisation. 

Efficiency opportunities will be considered and presented in more detail at the OBC 

stage. 

  

Page 165



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 52 

 

Financial Case 
 

How will the scheme be funded? 

  

Page 166



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 53 

 

5.0 Financial Case 

5.1 Summary of financial appraisal 

The capital costs for each of the interventions to deliver the FCRM scheme’s 

adaptive pathway were calculated using the rates provided in the Environment 

Agency’s ‘Long-Term Costing Tool’ (Environment Agency, 2015a). 

This provides unit costs for FCRM measures based on previously undertaken 

schemes. The rates within the tool were uplifted to PV using the Consumer Price 

Index (CPI). 

A number of variations for costing options were undertaken to provide a sensitivity 

analysis around potential cost estimates. These include simple or defined 

approaches with lower, average and upper percentiles. Further detail on this 

approach can be found in Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note. 

Cost outputs from the Environment Agency’s ‘Long-Term Costing Tool’ 

(Environment Agency, 2015a) have been benchmarked and validated against 

recent works at ‘Wall D’ of Weymouth Harbour. Good correlation was found, adding 

to the confidence of the cost assessment, and is considered robust for this stage 

of the FCRM schemes development. 

Maintenance costs have been considered to ensure whole life costs are inclusive 

of routine repairs and inspections. They have been conservatively determined 

using the Environment Agency ‘Long Term Cost Tool’ (Environment Agency, 

2015a) and contractor supplied data. 

Professional fees and survey costs have been derived by the Project Team using 

assessment of recent similar work type costs. 

In line with Green Book supplementary guidance: optimism bias guidance (HM 

Treasury, 2013) and FCRM industry best practice, an ‘Optimism Bias’ uplift of 60% 

(apart from OBC development costs where 30% has been applied) has been 

added to all costs which is considered appropriate use during this SOC stage of 

the FCRM scheme. A summary of the estimated FCRM scheme whole life cash 

cost is presented in Table 11, where cash cost represents the estimated cost at 

any given point today and/ or in the future. 

Table 11: Summary of FCRM Scheme Whole-life Cash Cost 

 Cost Heading Whole-life cash cost 
(to nearest £m) 

Phase 1 
(2020-2040) 

Lead-in & Construction £29m 

Operation & Maintenance £1m 

Optimism Bias £17m 

 

Page 167



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 54 

 

 Cost Heading Whole-life cash cost 
(to nearest £m) 

Phase 2 
(2040-2060) 

Lead-in & Construction £5m 

Operation & Maintenance £1m 

Optimism Bias £3m 

 

Phase 3+ 
(2060-2120) 

Lead-in & Construction £32m 

Operation & Maintenance £5m 

Optimism Bias £19m 

 

TOTAL  £113m 

 

For the development of the SOC, Dorset Council have contributed £50k up to 

August 2021. An estimate of required costs for the OBC development of the FCRM 

scheme are presented in Table 12 which relates to value of approval being sought 

as part of this SOC. Dorset Council have committed to fund the OBC and funds 

are not being sought from the Environment Agency. 

Table 12: Estimate of FCRM scheme OBC costs 

OBC Section Assumptions OBC 
Estimate 
(£k) 

Flood Modelling Collation of existing models and initial gap 
analysis. Improvements in representation of 
combined probabilities of tidal and fluvial 
flooding and consideration of surface water 
risks. Application of latest UK CP18 climate 
change scenarios and sensitivity testing for 
alternative FCRM scheme interventions (e.g. 
tidal barrier), modelling should also look at 
optimised timing of scheme interventions. 
Potential modelling efficiency to link to 
Dorset’s strategic flood risk assessment Level 
2 requirements and potentially the Wessex 
Water's drainage and wastewater 
management plan. 

£100k 

Engineering Site 
Investigation & 
Surveys 

Gap analysis to identify proportionate surveys 
sufficient for outline design, with consideration 
of efficiencies for more complete assessments 
where appropriate. 
Prioritised surveys are likely to include ground 
investigation, topographic, bathymetric, 
statutory undertakers/utilities, UXO etc. 

£280k 

Page 168



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 55 

 

OBC Section Assumptions OBC 
Estimate 
(£k) 

Reference design 
– flood & erosion 
measures 

Options assessment and outline design of 
proposed Weymouth Harbour wall 
replacements, esplanade and sea wall 
interventions, preliminary barrier design 
considerations and other interventions 
including beach management and surface 
water drainage. 

£200k 

Reference design 
– public realm 

To enhance from consentable scheme only, 
through to high value public realm with 
consideration of public use/ access 
requirements. 

£30k 

Early Supplier 
Engagement and 
Early Contractor 
Involvement 

To enhance cost certainty. £25k 

Stakeholder 
liaison 

Significant engagement with Dorset Coast 
Forum to lead to strengthen support of the 
FCRM scheme. 

£45k 

Environmental 
assessment, 
investigation & 
surveys 

Data reviewing, programming future surveys 
(eg benthic), statutory meetings, EIA 
Screening & Scoping, HRA, WFD, MMO, 
heritage development to inform proposed 
FCRM scheme option selections. 

£160k 

Funding strategy/ 
negotiations 

Financial case development, liaison with 
funding partners, agreements, viability 
assessments etc to refine cost and delivery 
certainty. 

£40k 

Broader Economic 
Assessment 

Economic case development to include 
refinement of Recreational Gains & Losses 
related to amenity/tourism valuations. In 
addition, consideration of wider economic 
consequence, supporting economic resilience, 
and the unlocking of Weymouth’s economic 
potential. 

£60k 

Legal agreements Harbour and landowners to gain FCRM 
scheme support. 

£40k 

Dorset Council & 
Support Staff 
Costs 

In-house and external specialist resource. £150k 

OBC Production Including supporting studies e.g. Carbon 
appraisal, residual uncertainty etc. 

£100k 

Risk  30% Optimism Bias applied to lead-in costs. £370k 

  
TOTAL 

 
£1,600k 

Page 169



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 56 

 

5.2 Funding sources 

5.2.1 Funding – Introduction 

It is anticipated that significant funding will be forthcoming from Flood Defence 

Grant-in-Aid (FDGiA). The recommendations relevant to Weymouth from the 

approved South Devon and Dorset Shoreline Management Plan (SMP) 2 will be 

delivered by this project. 

Flood and coastal erosion resilience partnership funding or ‘partnership funding’ 

aims to share the costs between national and local sources of funding for 

worthwhile projects (where benefits are greater than costs). 

The success of this approach depends on: 

• creating strong partnerships; 

• clearly defining roles for responsible organisations and their partners; and 

• securing and managing contributions to help reduce flood and coastal erosion 

risks and achieve more benefits for the economy, local people and the 

environment. 

It is a current condition from Defra that the Government’s FDGiA funding 

settlement will realise a minimum of 15% ‘Partnership Funding’ contributions to its 

overall FCRM capital investment programme.  

In addition, the current rationale is that those that are set to benefit from FDGiA 

scheme investment should likewise contribute to scheme cost. Contributions are 

considered from all groups and organisations that will benefit the most from the 

project. Private or third sector contributors (voluntary organisations) are 

encouraged, as this reduces the amount of funding needed from other local 

government spending. 

Accordingly, the Grant Memorandum (Environment Agency, 2018) for Local 

Authorities sets out the prerequisite to secure reliable commitments from funding 

partners. 

The Partnership Funding Calculator tool (Environment Agency and Department for 

Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, 2020b), is used to work out the amount of 

FDGiA a project is entitled to and the minimum amount of contribution it needs to 

obtain.  

5.2.2 Funding – Specifics 

Contributions – Identified in principle 

Page 170



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 57 

 

Dorset Council is anticipating being a significant contributor in the development 

and delivery of this FCRM scheme. For example, the Weymouth Harbour wall 

component identified under zone 4 (outer harbour) has wider benefits for the 

Council and therefore Dorset Council’s contribution should be at least equal or 

exceed the capital construction cost of these assets in addition to the routine 

maintenance costs that are usually incurred directly. In addition, Dorset Council 

are a notable landowner around the inner harbour (for example; former Council 

Office Site) and as such have a vested interest in unlocking future development 

opportunities. 

Future costs for maintenance of the assets will also be borne by Dorset Council 

and are equivalent to c. £7m in cash terms over the 100-year appraisal period and 

a PVc of c.£1.7m. Future maintenance for a Risk Management Authority (RMA)-

led project receives no Grant-in-Aid eligibility in accordance with the specified 

methodology. 

Dorset Council has recognised the need for flood and coastal defence investment 

and mechanisms are already in place for collecting and contributing to projects 

such as this. One such example is the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy 

(CIL) which collects money as a result of new development, with 40% of the CIL 

receipts being allocated to Flood Mitigation and Coast Protection in the Weymouth 

area (Dorset Council, 2019). 

Contributions – To be secured  

The significant value of tourism and amenity benefit realised locally from 

Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade works would also support the need for 

investment by Dorset Council or other major beneficences.  

Placemaking enhancements, including amenity or public realm enhancement, may 

not be required for a consentable FCRM scheme and as such are not eligible for 

FCRM GiA. Therefore, such enhancements are likely to need to secure alternative 

funding arrangements. 

A Local Levy contribution will be sought from the Wessex Regional Flood & Coastal 

Committee (WRFCC). The Local Levy is a locally raised source of income used to 

support the WRFCC, in funding contributions to FCRM projects and initiatives. 

Weymouth remains a priority location for support within the WRFCC current 

committee strategy. 

Wessex Water (as the local water company) are a defined Risk Management 

Authority and have a responsibility for managing risk of flooding via the water and 

sewage network. The management of coastal and fluvial flood risk is intricately 

linked to flood risk via the drainage / sewer network as Weymouth can face tide 

locking, pumping issues and sewer capacity issues associated to wave 

overtopping. As such Wessex Water are identified as a potential funding 

contributor and further discussions are planned, noting that water company 

Page 171



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 58 

 

investment cycles often require long lead-in times to gain funding commitments. In 

addition, work in conjunction with Wessex Water will be required to develop 

integrated modelling which can support both OBC development and Strategic 

Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) updated for Weymouth. 

There are many other potential funders which will be explored in greater detail in 

the next stage of FCRM scheme development through the production of a detailed 

funding strategy during the OBC. Other funders could include: 

• Weymouth Town Council, 

• Network Rail, 

• train service operators, 

• bus service operators, 

• utility statutory undertakers (including BT, Southern Gas Network, Scottish & 

Southern Power Distribution etc), 

• local businesses, 

• private developers / landowners, 

• charitable organisations (including the Royal Society for the Protection of 

Birds), 

• non-departmental public body (including Historic England and Natural 

England), and 

• harbour users (including the marina, charter boats, visiting craft, events – 

Seafood Festival etc). 

It is anticipated that opportunities may arise for interventions to be made outside 

of, or not in accordance with the overall strategic pathway. For example, if a 

harbourside development came forward, planning a wall replacement ahead of any 

planned scheme intervention, it may be prudent to secure opportunistic 

improvement or combine objectives. 

It is hoped that such interventions could be acknowledged by and feature as 

potential partnership funding contributions to the overall scheme. 

5.2.3 Funding – Partnership Funding Calculator 

A Partnership Funding Calculator (Environment Agency and Department for 

Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, 2020b) has been completed and is included as 

Appendix D. This calculator has assumed that Phase 1 and 2 capital sums seek 

approval in one singular application. The raw Partnership Funding Score is 78% 

and the adjusted Partnership Funding Score is 102%.  

It should be noted that the PF Calculator has presented all values respective to a 

duration of benefits period of 50 years. This is the timespan before the next major 

capital investment is proposed (e.g. a major investment being more than 20% of 

Page 172



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 59 

 

the value of the investment being considered today in today’s prices, without 

inflation added). The investment made in 2071 (Year 50) is anticipated to exceed 

a cash value of >£50m hence the curtailment in the duration of benefits to 50 years. 

Whilst the adjusted PF Score is only marginally above 100%, it does indicate that 

investment to further refine and develop the scheme understanding is worthwhile. 

There is obviously risk that any change to benefits or costs could lead to a funding 

shortfall, and a below 100% score which would in turn require further funding 

contributions to be secured. 

Table 13: Sources of Funding 

Scheme Sources of 
Funding 

100 Year Present Value 
£m Commitment 

50 Year Present Value 
£m Commitment 

Environment Agency 
contribution (Grant in Aid) 

TBC £38m+ TBC £31m+ 

Local Levy TBC £3m+? TBC £1m+? 

Dorset Council 
Contributions 

TBC £12m+? TBC £8m+? 

Other Contributions TBC TBC 

Total funding TBC £52m+ TBC £40m+ 

Table 14: Partnership Funding Score (50year Duration of Benefit) 

 % 

Raw Partnership Funding score       78% 

Adjusted Partnership Funding score      102% 

5.3 Expenditure and income profile 

Table 15: OBC Stage Expenditure Profile 

Income and Expenditure 
streams £k 

2021 2022 2023 Total 

Cost less contingency 200k 630k 400k 1,230k 

Contingency 60k 189k 120k 370k 

Total cost 320k 640k 640k 1,600k 

Grant in aid 0 0 0 0 

Contribution 320k 640k 640k 1,600k 

  

Page 173



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 60 

 

Management Case 
 

How will the scheme be managed? 

  

Page 174



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 61 

 

6.0 Management Case 

6.1 Project management 

The scheme is being efficiently and effectively project managed in accordance with 

Dorset Council’s project management processes. Professional support is provided 

at this SOC stage by consultant, WSP UK Ltd, operating under rigid technical and 

quality assurance procedures as part of an integrated business management 

system. The nature and operation of the Dorset Council/WSP UK Ltd relationship 

allows full and seamless integration of team members from both organisations to 

best utilise capabilities and capacity. A similar arrangement will be taken into 

subsequent stages of the FCRM scheme development and delivery, with Dorset 

Council working closely with external consultants and contractors. 

All stakeholder engagement for the FCRM scheme is managed by Dorset Council, 

supported by the Dorset Coast Forum and guided by a live stakeholder 

engagement plan. Key consultees are the Dorset Council Harbours Committee, 

Weymouth Town Council, the Environment Agency, Wessex Water, Natural 

England, Marine Management Organisation, numerous landowners and multiple 

service departments within Dorset Council. 

6.1.1 Project structure and governance  

Dorset Council have put in place a governance structure to define roles and 

responsibilities, reporting mechanisms and decision-making processes to facilitate 

project delivery. 

The scheme is overseen by a Project Board comprising senior management 

representation from Dorset Council, the Environment Agency and WSP UK Ltd (as 

senior supplier for the current SOC stage of the scheme). The Project Board is the 

overall authority for the FCRM scheme and is accountable for its success or failure. 

The individual members of the Project Board have sufficient authority to carry out 

their responsibilities effectively. The Project Board has met quarterly through the 

development of this SOC, providing direction and guidance to the Project Delivery 

Team. 

Operating beneath the Project Board is the Project Delivery Team who are 

responsible for project delivery and implementation. The Project Delivery Team 

comprises the Dorset Council Project Manager, Assistant Project Manager, 

Engineering Projects Manager; the Environment Agency Wessex Area Coastal 

Engineer; and the WSP UK Ltd Supplier Project Manager. This team have met 

monthly through the development of this SOC. 

Dorset Council are the lead delivery and contracting body on behalf of the partners 

involved in the project. Dorset Council have access to a full range of supporting 

Page 175



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 62 

 

and complementary services from WSP UK Ltd, which have been utilised in 

development of this SOC.  

6.1.2 Project roles and responsibilities  

The main roles and responsibilities for the scheme are detailed in Table 16. 

 

Page 176



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 63 

 

Table 16: Project Roles & Responsibilities (as currently defined for this SOC stage) 

Project Role Responsibility 
Team Member 

(for SOC Stage) 
Job Title Participation 

Project Sponsor 
(SRO) 

Sets strategic direction for the project – Enable 
linkage between the top level strategic 
direction of the organisation and the 
management activities required to achieve 
strategic objectives. (Both project delivery and 
asset operation/ inspection/ maintenance all sit 
within the portfolio of the Dorset Council 
Sponsor). 

Dave Thompson 
Corporate Director for 
Property and Assets, 
Dorset Council 

Project Board 

Project Executive 

Accountable for the project – ensures that the 
scheme remains focussed on achieving its 
objective and delivering to realise the projected 
benefits. 

Sarah Cairns 
Service Manager – 
Major Projects, 
Dorset Council 

Project Board 

Project Manager 
Responsible for delivering the project – runs 
the project on a day-to-day basis on behalf of 
the Project Board. 

Alan Frampton 

Strategy & Policy 
Manager at BCP 
Council, 
Working on behalf of 
Dorset Council 

Project Board & 
Delivery Team 

Assistant Project 
Manager 

Supports project manager in running project on 
day-to-day basis. 

Rob Thomas 
FCRM Project Engineer, 
Dorset Council 
 

Project Board & 
Delivery Team 

Supplier WSP 
Project Manager 

Responsible for coordination of WSP delivery 
and for achieving required standards of quality 
within the specified constraints of time and 
cost. 

Ben Murray 

Associate Director 
(Water Risk 
Management and 
Engineering), 
WSP UK Ltd  

Project Board & 
Delivery Team 

P
age 177



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 64 

 

Project Role Responsibility 
Team Member 

(for SOC Stage) 
Job Title Participation 

Senior User – 
Dorset Council 
FCRM 

Responsible for ensuring the project meets the 
requirements of the end user. 

Matt Penny 

Lead Manager – Flood 
& Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management, 
Dorset Council 

Project Board & 
Delivery Team 

Senior User – 
Dorset Council 
Harbours 

Responsible for ensuring the project meets the 
requirements of the end user. 

Ken Buchan 
Head of Environment & 
Wellbeing, 
Dorset Council 

Project Board 

Senior User – 
Environment 
Agency Wessex 
Area 

Responsible for ensuring correct linkage and 
consideration of the EA’s Strategic Overview 
role and for monitoring/claiming of OM’s. 

Ron Curtis / Matt 
Akers 

Area Flood Risk 
Management, 
Wessex EA 

Project Board 

Senior Advisor – 
Environment 
Agency Wessex 
Area 

Responsible for ensuring correct linkage and 
consideration of the EA’s Strategic Overview 
role and for monitoring/claiming of OM’s. 

Dave Picksley 
Coastal Engineer, 
Wessex EA 

Project Board & 
Delivery Team 

Senior Advisor – 
Dorset Council 
Finance 

Advises on financial matters relating to project 
proposals. 

Paul Ackrill 
Finance Advisor / Place 
Business Partner, 
Dorset Council 

Project Board 

Senior Advisor – 
Dorset Council 
Comms 

Advises on project communications and 
engagement. 

James Potten 

Communications 
Business Partner – 
Place, 
Dorset Council 

Project Board 

Senior Advisor – 
Dorset Council 
Legal 

Advises on legal matters relating to project 
proposals. 

Hannah Massey 
Lawyer – Regulatory, 
Dorset Council 

Project Board 

P
age 178



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (Strategic Outline Case) Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 65 

 

Project Role Responsibility 
Team Member 

(for SOC Stage) 
Job Title Participation 

Senior Supplier 
Responsible for the technical integrity of the 
elements of the project under their 
commissions. 

Hamish Hall 
Director, Water – Head 
of Profession, 
WSP UK Ltd 

Project Board 

P
age 179



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 66 

 

6.2 Schedule 

The project schedule is a living document and will be re-visited as the FCRM 

scheme progresses. The key milestones are listed in Table 17. 

Table 17: FCRM Scheme Outline Programme Milestones 

Activity Date  

Strategic Outline Case – Submit to LPRG  July 2021 

Strategic Outline Case – Approval September 2021 

Award Outline Business Case/appraisal tender 
package (appoint Consultant & Early Contract 
Involvement (ECI) Supplier) 

Autumn 2021   

Outline Business Case development 2021 – 2023 

Outline Business Case – Submit to LPRG  March 2023 

Outline Business Case – Approval April 2023 

Detailed Design & Consents Spring 2023 – Summer 2024 

 Construction Start – Initial Phases Autumn 2024 

Construction End – Initial Phases 2040  

6.3 Outcomes/Benefits 

A Benefits Realisation Plan covering what benefits are to be measured will be 

developed in the next stage (OBC) of the FCRM scheme. This will state who is 

accountable for the expected benefits, how and when achievement of expected 

benefits will be measured and what resources are needed to carry out the work. 

The Project Manager will work closely with the Project Board to profile anticipated 

benefits. 

The primary benefit of the scheme is to significantly reduce the risk of flooding and 

coastal erosion to the town of Weymouth, thereby realising c.£470m of PV 

economic benefit (100yr appraisal period). Whilst the economic benefit is very 

large, the principal reportable metrics for the Environment Agency concerns the 

number of ‘at-risk’ households moved to a lower risk category as identified as 

Outcome Measures 2A, 2B and 3. 

Careful consideration of how to claim and release Outcome Measures will need to 

be undertaken, whether through ‘flood cell’ style benefit assignment, intervention 

benefit apportionment or upon individual phase completion for example.   

Table 18 Outcome Measures delivered by the FCRM Scheme 

Guidance 
Ref 

Outcome Measures Value 

4.1 Ratio of whole-life benefits to whole life costs over 
the duration of benefits period. 

9 : 1 

Page 180

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/partnership-funding-supporting-documents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/partnership-funding-supporting-documents


   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 67 

 

Guidance 
Ref 

Outcome Measures Value 

4.2 OM 1A – Qualifying benefits over the appraisal 
period (PVb taken from table 2) 

c.£470m 

4.4 OM 1B - benefits to people that are not associated 
with avoiding household damages, eg, less 
stress/risk to life. 

c.£30m 

4.5 Duration of benefit period (not the appraisal period) 50yrs 

5.2 OM 2A – Households at risk of flooding before the 
investment and which are going to benefit from a 
reduction in flood risk at the end of the duration of 
benefits period (households at risk today) 

1,036 

5.3 OM2B – Additional households that are at risk from 
the impacts of climate change before 2040 

72 

6.1.1 OM 3 – Households at risk of loss in the medium 
term 

57 

6.1.1 OM 3 – Households at risk of loss in the longer term  109 

7.2 OM 4A – Habitat created or improved (ha) 0 

7.3 OM 4B – Rivers enhanced – river habitats and 
natural processes restored and enhanced (km) 

0 

6.4 Risk management 

The key project risks, risk owners and the proposed mitigation measures for each 

are summarised earlier in this report in Table 4. The scheme risks are assessed in 

further detail in the risk register included as Appendix E. This will be further 

developed in subsequent stages of FCRM scheme development. 

Day to day management of risk is undertaken by the Delivery Team while strategic 

risk management is undertaken by the Project Board. The Project Board receives 

risk reports from the project team and provides review and input into identification 

and management of risk. 

Optimism bias at this stage of FCRM scheme development has been set at 60% 

on all costs, in accordance with FCERM-AG and related guidance. 

6.5 Assurance 

Project assurance of the SOC has been provided by peer reviews from key 

representatives integrated into the Delivery Team. These include Engineering, 

Legal, Finance, Procurement and Communications professionals. 

Assurance of the SOC delivery has been carried out by the Project Board which 

will continue for the future phases of the FCRM scheme. 

Page 181

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/partnership-funding-supporting-documents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/partnership-funding-supporting-documents


   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 68 

 

The Project Executive is ultimately accountable for the delivery of the project in 

accordance with the requirements of the Project Board and Full Council. This role 

will be supported by an integrated delivery team resourced from specialist 

departments within Dorset Council and external resources as required. 

The ratification of and decision to submit this SOC was made at Dorset Council’s 

Cabinet on xx/xx/xxx. 

Assurance of the decision to progress to OBC development is sought via 

submission of this SOC to the EA’s Large Projects Review Group (LPRG). 

6.6 Engagement with Stakeholders and compliance with 

the Equality Act 2010 

External engagement was carried out through the development of previous studies 

that led to the preferred strategic adaptive pathway approach set out in the 

Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy (Dorset Council, 2020c), 

approved by Dorset Council in October 2020. The engagement on those previous 

studies included consultation with statutory consultees including Historic England, 

Natural England, the LLFA and the Environment Agency, to obtain EIA scoping 

opinions on a range of strategic options to help inform selection of the preferred 

strategic pathway defined in the Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM (Dorset 

Council, 2020c). 

Continuing engagement will be required during the forthcoming detailed appraisal 

and option selection during the OBC and future stages of the FCRM scheme. This 

will include further consultation with statutory consultees, interested parties and 

the wider public. 

At the start of the OBC stage the Dorset Council project team will work with the 

Dorset Coast Forum (DCF) to develop a Stakeholder Engagement and 

Communications Plan, which will follow best practice guidance approaches and 

comply with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (NB: an Equalities Impact 

Assessment (EqIA) will need to be approved by Dorset Council’s Equality and 

Diversity Action Group before proceeding to OBC). DCF are a trusted independent 

facilitator for projects along the Dorset coast, and their involvement in this stage of 

the FCRM scheme development will also enable co-ordination of OBC 

engagement/ communications with other parallel initiatives around Weymouth that 

DCF are currently leading on, including the Dorset Harbours Strategy and the 

INTERREG VA France (Channel) England Programme “Building Resilience in 

Flood-Disadvantaged Communities (BRIC)” project. 

The Stakeholder Engagement and Communications Plan will set out the 

communication aims and objectives and identify an action plan to deliver these. 

The appraisal consultant will support the stakeholder engagement process by 

attending key meetings and preparing information, plans and display materials. 

Page 182



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 69 

 

It is envisaged that future engagement with the local community will follow the 

following key stages: 

• Raise awareness of the flood and coastal erosion risk. 

• Input through consultation at the optioneering stage. 

• Engage the public around the emerging preferred option. 

• Communicate the decision on the proposed FCRM scheme, and how the 

consultation has helped to shape this. 

We will also provide the local community with regular updates on progress with the 
FCRM scheme, for example through press releases and regular postings to a 

dedicated project website.  

Page 183



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 70 

 

List of References 

Dorset Coast Forum, 2011. The Dorset Coast Strategy 2011-2021, s.l.: s.n. 

Dorset Council, 2019. How will the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) be spent 

in West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland. [Online]  

Available at: How will the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) be spent in West 

Dorset, Weymouth & Portland 

[Accessed 06 05 2021]. 

Dorset Council, 2020a. Climate and Ecological Emergency. [Online]  

Available at: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/emergencies-severe-

weather/climate-and-ecological-emergency.aspx 

[Accessed 03 03 2021]. 

Dorset Council, 2020b. Dorset Council’s Plan | 2020 to 2024, s.l.: s.n. 

Dorset Council, 2020c. Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk 

Management Strategy. Version 4.0., s.l.: s.n. 

E. Penning-Rowsell, et. al., 2013. Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management: 

A Manual for Economic Appraisal (1st Edition). s.l.:Routledge. 

E. Penning-Rowsell, et. al., 2020. Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management: 

Handbook and Data for Economic Appraisal, s.l.: s.n. 

Environment Agency and Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, 

2020a. Guidance: Discount rates, price indices and capping: flood defence grant-

in-aid. [Online]  

Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/appraisal-guidance-

supporting-documents/discount-rates-price-indices-and-capping-flood-defence-

grant-in-aid 

[Accessed 04 03 2021]. 

Environment Agency and Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, 

2020b. Guidance: Partnership funding supporting documents. [Online]  

Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/partnership-funding-

supporting-documents 

[Accessed 04 03 2021]. 

Environment Agency, 2010. Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

appraisal guidance. s.l.:Environment Agency. 

Environment Agency, 2010. Weymouth Flood Risk Management Strategy, s.l.: 

Environment Agency. 

Page 184



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 71 

 

Environment Agency, 2015a. Research and analysis: Long term costing tool for 

flood and coastal risk management. [Online]  

Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/long-term-costing-tool-

for-flood-and-coastal-risk-management 

[Accessed 04 03 2021]. 

Environment Agency, 2015b. South West River Basin District River Basin 

Management Plan, s.l.: Environment Agency. 

Environment Agency, 2017. Combined Efficiencies Reporting Tool (spreadsheet). 

s.l.:s.n. 

Environment Agency, 2018. Coastal Design Sea Levels - Coastal Flood Boundary 

Extreme Sea Levels (2018). [Online]  

Available at: https://data.gov.uk/dataset/73834283-7dc4-488a-9583-

a920072d9a9d/coastal-design-sea-levels-coastal-flood-boundary-extreme-sea-

levels-2018 

[Accessed 17 05 2021]. 

Environment Agency, 2018. Grant Memorandum, s.l.: s.n. 

Environment Agency, 2020a. Flood and coastal risk projects, schemes and 

strategies: climate change allowances. [Online]  

Available at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-and-coastal-risk-projects-

schemes-and-strategies-climate-change-allowances#general-approach 

[Accessed 01 03 2021]. 

Environment Agency, 2020b. Policy paper: National Flood and Coastal Erosion 

Risk Management Strategy for England. [Online]  

Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-

coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2 

[Accessed 03 03 2021]. 

Environment Agency, 2020c. Mental health costs of flooding and erosion, s.l.: 

DEFRA. 

Environment Agency, 2021a. Check your long term flood risk. [Online]  

Available at: https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/long-term-flood-risk/ 

[Accessed 03 03 2021]. 

Environment Agency, 2021b. Flood map for planning, s.l.: Environment Agency. 

Halcrow, 2011. Shoreline Management Plan Review (SMP2) Durlston Head to 

Rame Head , s.l.: Halcrow. 

HM Government, 2008. Climate Change Act 2008, s.l.: The Stationery OYce 

Limited. 

Page 185



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 72 

 

HM Government, 2015. Public Contract Regulations 2015, s.l.: s.n. 

HM Government, 2018. A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the 

Environment, s.l.: s.n. 

HM Government, 2018. South Inshore and Offshore Marine Plan , s.l.: s.n. 

HM Land Registry, 2020. UK House Price Index. [Online]  

Available at: https://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/ukhpi 

[Accessed 04 03 2021]. 

HM Treasury, 2013. Guidance: Green Book supplementary guidance: optimism 

bias. [Online]  

Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/green-book-

supplementary-guidance-optimism-bias 

[Accessed 04 03 2021]. 

HM Treasury, 2020. The Green Book: Central Government Guidance on Appraisal 

and Evaluation. s.l.:Open Government Licence. 

JacksonHyder, 2018. Weymouth and Portland Borough Council Weymouth Bay 

Coastal Processes Study: Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade. 5021-UA006941-

UU41-R-10. Revision 10., s.l.: s.n. 

Jacobs, 2019. Weymouth Beach Management Plan. B2352100. Revision 1.0, s.l.: 

s.n. 

JBA Consulting, 2019a. Weymouth Harbour Walls Condition Survey 2018-19 

(Masonry Wall Condition Survey Report). ASV-JBAU-00-01-RP-C-0001-S3. 

Revision P03, s.l.: s.n. 

JBA Consulting, 2019b. Weymouth Harbour Walls Condition Survey 2018-19 

(Sheet Pile Condition Survey Report). ASV-JBAU-00-02-RP-C-0001-S3. Revision 

P04, s.l.: s.n. 

JBA Consulting, 2019c. Weymouth Inundation Modelling Report, s.l.: s.n. 

Jurassic Coast Trust, 2020. Jurassic Coast Partnership Plan: 2020-2025. [Online]  

Available at: https://jurassiccoast.org/what-is-the-jurassic-coast/world-

heritage/looking-after-the-jurassic-coast/jurassic-coast-partnership-plan/ 

[Accessed 03 03 2021]. 

Met Office, 2018. UKCP18 data. [Online]  

Available at: 

https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/approach/collaboration/ukcp/download-

data 

[Accessed 03 03 2021]. 

Page 186



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 73 

 

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 2014. Flood Risk and 

Coastal Change Planning Practice Guidance , s.l.: s.n. 

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, 2019. Policy Paper: 

National Planning Policy Framework, s.l.: s.n. 

United Nations, 2015. 17 Goals to Transform Our World. [Online]  

Available at: https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-

development-goals/ 

[Accessed 03 03 2021]. 

Weymouth & Portland Borough Council, 2009. Weymouth Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment Level 2, s.l.: s.n. 

Weymouth & Portland Borough Council, 2015a. West Dorset, Weymouth & 

Portland Local Plan, s.l.: s.n. 

Weymouth & Portland Borough Council, 2015b. Weymouth Town Centre 

Masterplan: Supplementary Planning Document, s.l.: s.n. 

Weymouth & Portland Borough Council, 2015c. Weymouth Town Centre 

Masterplan: Vision Document, s.l.: s.n. 

WSP UK Ltd, 2019. Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade: FCRM Strategy Update. 

70051255-002. Revision 1., s.l.: s.n. 

  

Page 187



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 74 

 

List of Abbreviations 

AEP 
Annual Exceedance 

Probability  

AFCRM 
Area Flood and 

Coastal Risk Manager 

AIMS 
Asset Information 

Management System 

BCP 

Bournemouth, 

Christchurch And 

Poole  

BCR Benefit Cost Ratio 

BMP 
Beach Management 

Plan 

BRIC 

Building Resilience in 

Flood-Disadvantaged 

Communities  

Cap Ex Capital Expenditure 

CDM 
Construction Design 

and Management 

CERT 
Capital Efficiency 

Reporting Tool  

CIL 
Community 

Infrastructure Levy  

CP18 & 

UKCP18 

UK Climate Predictions 

2018 

CPA 
Coast Protection 

Authority  

CPI Consumer Price Index  

CSF 
Critical Success 

Factors 

DCF Dorset Coast Forum  

EA Environment Agency 

ECC 
Engineering and 

Construction Contract  

ECI 
Early Contract 

Involvement 

EIA 
Environmental Impact 

Assessment 

FCERM-AG 

Flood and Coastal 

Erosion Risk 

Management Appraisal 

Guidance 

FCRM  

Flood and Coastal 

Erosion Risk 

Management  

FDGiA & 

GiA 

Flood Defence Grant-

In-Aid 

GDP 
Gross Domestic 

Product  

GIS 
Geographic 

Information System 

HM & HMG 
Her Majesty's 

Government 

HRA 
Habitat Regulation 

Assessment  

HRO 
Harbour Revision 

Order  

ILP 
Indicative Landscape 

Plan 

LLFA 
Lead Local Flood 

Authority  

LPA 
Local Planning 

Authority 

LPRG 
Large Projects Review 

Group  

LTCT Long Term Cost Tool  

MCH 
Multi Coloured 

Handbook 

MCM Multi Coloured Manual 

MMO, 
Marine Management 

Organisation 

NEC 
New Engineering 

Contract  

OBC Outline Business Case 

OD or ODN 
Ordnance Datum 

(Newlyn) 

OM Outcome Measure  

Op Ex 
Operational 

Expenditure 

PCR 
Public Contract 

Regulations  

PEIR 

Preliminary 

Environmental 

Information Report 

Page 188



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 75 

 

PF Partnership Funding 

PID 
Procurement Initiation 

Document  

PSC 
Professional Services 

Contract 

PSO 
Partnerships & 

Strategic Overview 

PV Present Value 

RCP 

Representative 

Concentration 

Pathways  

RFCC 

Wessex Regional 

Flood & Coastal 

Committee  

RMA 
Risk Management 

Authority 

RNLI 
Royal National 

Lifeboat Institution 

RTL Risk to Life 

SAC 
Special Area of 

Conservation  

SFRA 
Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment 

SMP 
Shoreline 

Management Plan 

SOC Strategic Outline Case 

SRO Senior Project Sponsor  

SSSI 
Site of Special 

Scientific Interest 

TEPS 

Transport and 

Engineering 

Partnership  

TWAO 
Transport and Works 

Act Order  

UNESCO 

United Nations 

Educational, Scientific 

and Cultural 

Organization 

UN SDG 

United Nations 

Sustainable 

Development Goals  

UXO Unexploded Ordnance 

WFD 
Water Framework 

Directive 

WPBC, 

Weymouth And 

Portland Borough 

Council 

WRFCC 

Wessex Regional 

Flood & Coastal 

Committee  

 

  

Page 189



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Page | 76 

 

List of Appendices 

 

APPENDIX A  Economics Assessment 

APPENDIX B Financial Case Technical Note 

APPENDIX C PV Costs 

APPENDIX D PF Calculator 

APPENDIX E Risk Register 

APPENDIX F Tidal Barrier Report 

APPENDIX G Next Steps Technical Note 

Page 190



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Appendices 

 

APPENDIX A: 

Economics Assessment 

  

Page 191



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 0 
 

 

  

APPENDIX A – ECONOMICS 
ASSESSMENT TECHNICAL 
NOTE  

WEYMOUTH FCRM SCHEME SOC 

 

Page 192



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 1 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The damages and funding scenario presented in Table 1 & Table 2 assumes mitigating all tidal flooding and 

erosion for the appraisal period of 100 years. This presents the likely ceiling funding values available.  

Table 1 - FCERM GiA eligibility for mitigating flood and erosion risk in the Do Nothing scenario 

FCERM GiA Eligibility 
 

OM1a funding (flooding 
and erosion damage to 
property) 

£22.0m 

OM1a funding (amenity 
damages assessment) 

£3.3m 

OM1b funding (flooding 
and erosion damage to 
people) 

£4.9m 

OM1b funding (risk to life) £1.0m 

OM2 funding £4.0m 

OM3 funding £3.8m   

Total GiA Eligibility ~£39.0m 

 
Table 2 –Do Nothing damages and Benefits 

Damages 

Property (capped) £245.9m 

Mental health £13.1m 

Evacuation £4.9m 

Parked cars £3.2m 

Emergency services £13.8m 

Benefits to health and 
stress 

£3.6m 

Commercial intangible 
damages 

£1.0m 

Transport damages £2.3m 

Risk to life £4.9m 

Amenity/tourism £178.2m 

  

Total PVD ~£470.8m 

 

  

Page 193



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 2 
 

INTRODUCTION 

Following the Weymouth coastal protection scheme peer review (WSP UK Ltd, 2019), and the subsequent 

Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy (Dorset Council, 2020c), the Strategic Outline Case for 

Weymouth has now been assessed, in accordance with the updates to the Partnership funding algorithm. 

This assessment calculates the economic damages to property, amenity and transport infrastructure caused 

by tidal flooding and erosion, as well as the potential funding available for mitigating these risks, through 

Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid (FCERM GiA) via the updated partnership funding 

calculator (Environment Agency and Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, 2020b). 

This document summarises the economic benefits of the proposed strategy approach pathways as well as 

defining the methodology for how the economic case was derived.  

  

Page 194



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 3 
 

METHODOLOGY 

Scenarios considered 

DO NOTHING 

The Do-Nothing scenario assumes no maintenance to the existing harbour walls or beach frontage. It is 

assumed that sections of the existing harbour walls fail in 2030, leading to erosion and increased flood risk 

within the harbour (see Figure 5, Figure 6 and Figure 7) for the economic damage of the Do-Nothing scenario 

over the 100 year scheme life).  

DO MINIMUM 

The Do Minimum scenario assumes the existing harbour walls set at +2.3mOD is maintained over the 

appraisal period. As such, the practical changes in outcome measures are: 

• No properties erode (no OM3s) 

• more properties being at flood risk (OM2a & OM2b) (due to later capping and/or write off) 

• more properties being exposed to flood risk and associated damages (OM1a & OM1b), and 

• and a higher population being exposed via risk to life (again via OM1b). 

Tidal flooding 

The calculation of damages from flooding has used standard approaches and data from Flood and Coastal 

Risk Management - A Manual for Economic Assessment (Flood Hazard Research Centre, 2013) and the 

‘Green Book’ (HM Treasury, 2020). Damages considered by this assessment: 

• the direct flooding damage to properties and vehicles 

• mental health damages from flooding and erosion 

• the costs of evacuation (via temporary and alternative accommodation) 

• commercial intangible losses 

• risk to life 

• damages through delays to the transport network 

• flooding damages to road infrastructure 

• the costs to the emergency services, and  

• benefits to stress and health through mitigating flood risk. 

Damages that have not been monetised include wave damage to properties within Weymouth. 

The assessment of tidal flooding used the UKCP18 extreme tide projections to understand flood depths at 

properties over the scheme duration (2021 to 2120). The sea level rise information was informed by the 95th Page 195



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 4 
 

percentile of the Regional Concentration Pathway (RCP) 8.5 scenario from UKCP18 dataset. The damages 

were calculated at 4 epochs over the appraisal period: 2020s, 2040s, 2070s and 2120s. Damages were 

linearly interpolated between these years and all years were then discounted to present value (PV) using the 

relevant HM Green Book discount rate.  

Tidal flooding was not hydraulically modelled as part of this study but instead flood depths were assigned to 

properties using a GIS assessment that took account of hydraulic connectivity based on the land elevation 

using Environment Agency DTM LiDAR data (see Figure 1). This approach removed the time aspect of the 

flooding, but still required a flow route to the property from the sea for a flood depth to be assigned. This 

approach assumes that the tide reaches its full (hydraulically linked) extent within the town. Whether or not 

the tide would reach its full extent within the town is hard to judge without undertaking full hydraulic modelling 

as the total volume of overtopping is limited by the duration of the peak tidal event and the discharge over 

the harbour wall during this time period. The following points should also be noted. 

• The harbour wall is permeable and groundwater flow routes link the marina to low lying areas of 
Custom House Quay road where it passes under Town Bridge. 

• The drainage network would act as a distribution system for the tidal water once within the town. 

• Once the harbour walls fail (in 2030 in the Do-Nothing scenario) then the rate of inundation within 
the town would be higher. It should be noted from Figure 7 that the vast majority of PVd comes from 
2030 (the year of wall failure).   

Page 196



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 5 
 

Figure 1 - Tidal flood depth grid generated for the flood damages assessment. Tide level is +2.3mOD in the picture shown, 
representing a present-day flood with a 1.33% annual exceedance probability. Flooding shown in white. 

 

The existing tidal defence wall levels were modelled in this approach by assigning a lowest wall level in the 

harbour (currently +2.3mOD) and applying it as a threshold to the extreme tide levels. For the Do-Nothing 

scenario the existing harbour walls are assumed to fail in 2030. From 2030 the masking out of flood levels 

below 2.3mOD was removed and the filtered LiDAR and threshold surveys dictated the flood levels at the 

properties. The esplanade levels were also picked up in the filtered LiDAR data so that the impact on flow 

routes into the town is already incorporated within the GIS flooding workflow. 

Once the flood depths for the various return periods and epochs were assigned to the properties, they 

informed a flooding damages assessment in accordance with the MCM initial appraisal approach. The short 

duration flooding (<8hrs), salt water damage tables were used. The annual average damage at each property 

was calculated based on the 95th percentile, RCP 8.5 data for each epoch (2020s, 2040s, 2070, 2120s). The 

damage at each decade was then linearly interpolated for the intermediate years to estimate annual average 

damage for each property accounting for sea level rise over the appraisal period. 

Page 197



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 6 
 

Transport damages 

Under the do-nothing scenario, consideration was given to the potential costs associated with traffic 

diversions and additional flooding damages to road infrastructure that are incurred. These two values were 

assessed using guidance from the MCM handbook. 

The MCM handbook offers four methods of calculating the loss due to traffic disruption, which are selected 

based on the suitability of the scenario and available information. The guidance mentions the most justifiable 

scenarios for which the assessment can take place are: 

• when annual probability of flood event that causes the disruption are greater than 20%, 

• when a significant part of a local network is affected, 

• when the duration of the flooding is several days/weeks/months. 

The A354, the major road connecting Portland to the mainland, runs along the western edge of Weymouth 

Harbour and is at risk of frequent inundation without future interventions. It was therefore assumed that the 

effect of flooding on this highway justifies the requirement for a transport assessment to take place. Method 

1 from the MCM, the delayed-hour method, which provides an average cost per hour for a delay on an 

average Highways Agency road was selected as the most suitable. The method is the coarsest, however, 

only one road within the area of interest has DFT data available, so the other more complex procedures were 

unwarranted.  

To undertake the traffic losses assessment, data was first collected from the department for transport. This 

provided the annual vehicle count for the A354 between the years of 2011 and 2017. The MCM provides a 

range of resource cost (pence/km) for each vehicle type, dependent on the assumed average speed along 

the carriageway. The total resource cost per day could then be obtained using the individual resource costs 

and the vehicle count data. The MCM also provides indicative incurred delays (hrs) due to various flood 

events based on their likelihood of occurrence. The total cost per day was then calculated using the resource 

costs and the length of the affected road, followed by the total cost incurred per flood event. 

The annual average damage could then be calculated using the costs for each of these flood events and the 

likelihood of their occurrence. This was then discounted over the life-time of the scheme to provide a present 

value damage cost. 

Average speed for the A354 was selected to be 40km/hr.  The affected length of road was assumed to be 

0.7km. The DFT data was selected from 2016 as this provided the maximum total traffic count. 

Page 198



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 7 
 

Table 3 – Annual average damage from delays incurred by tidal flooding in each epoch 

 
 Damage per event in each epoch (£)  

Return 
period 

2020s 2040s 2070s 2120s 

1 0 0 12,208 36,625 

5 1,526 3,052 36,625 36,625 

10 1,526 3,052 36,625 36,625 

20 3,052 12,208 36,625 36,625 

50 6,104 24,417 36,625 36,625 

100 12,208 24,417 36,625 36,625 

200 24,417 36,625 36,625 36,625 

inf. 36,625 36,625 36,625 36,625 
     

AAD  1,473  3,220  27,042  36,808  
 

Direct Damages to Road Infrastructure 

The MCM handbook offers a range of unit reconstruction costs for resurfacing of a local road, (£15/m2 - 

£50/m). The assessment undertaken assumes a roads surface to be damaged upon inundation. In reality, a 

flood event may not incur enough damage to require resurfacing. As the assessment was only high-level, it 

seemed unnecessary to assess further parameters such as flood depth required to cause damage etc., 

therefore the lower rate of £15/m2 was taken forward.  

To correspond with the other economic assessments undertaken in this wider study and to comply with the 

current EA guidance, the extreme water levels used in this assessment were taken from RCP 8.5. The 5 th, 

50th and 95th percentile water levels were all assessed. The 95th percentile was utilised in the final 

calculations. To reduce the total computational time of calculating the direct damages, only the flood event 

years of 2020, 2070 and 2120 were reviewed.  

A GIS analysis was undertaken to predict the total area of inundation, producing vectors outlining areas falling 

within each extreme water level threshold. This assumed hydraulic connectivity to the tidal water, however 

had no dependence on time i.e. the total area was flooded immediately upon the occurrence of the event. 

The areas of road falling within each of these flood extents was then obtained for each of the flood events. 

The total cost per event could then be calculated, using the rate previously stated, and ensuring that the flood 

level exceeded the current minimum defence height of 2.3m. 

The annual average damage was then calculated and discounted over the lifetime of the scheme to obtain 

the present value damage. 

Page 199



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 8 
 

Table 4 - Present value damage from direct damage to road infrastructure over each epoch in the Do Nothing scenario, NB the 
2040 values have been linearly interpolated between the 2020 and 2070 epochs 

 
Epoch 

 2020 2040 2070 2120 

Return 

Period 

Incurred (£) Interpolated (£) Incurred (£) Incurred (£) 

1 - - - - 

2 - 60,367 150,918 190,079 

5 - 69,750 174,376 204,317 

10 - 72,994 182,486 209,748 

25 - 76,077 190,192 221,742 

50 - 78,770 196,924 226,562 

100 137,614 163,217 201,622 250,507 

200 148,537 172,075 207,383 262,463 

inf. 159,461 180,934 213,143 274,420 

     

AAD 2,916 51,558 124,521 151,132 

     

   Total PVd £1,922,826 

Erosion 

In the Do-Nothing scenario the Harbour walls fail, and erosion occurs within the harbour. The erosion was 

modelled in two phases: an initial erosion envelope that occurs in the year of wall failure (2030), then a yearly 

erosion rate of 0.5m/year. 

The initial erosion envelope was calculated by estimating the height of the harbour walls (from the bed level 

of the harbour to the ground level behind the wall). Then applying a buffer around the wall by assuming an 

angle of repose of 45 degrees from the harbour base. This gave the area that would be eroded in the year of 

harbour wall failure (2030 in the Do-Nothing scenario). Following the initial wall failure, continual erosion is 

modelled by buffering the initial erosion envelope landward by 0.5m/year. This erosion rate is an assumption 

based on anecdotal evidence of the poor quality granular fill retained behind the harbour walls and the 

anticipated impact of twice daily tidal scour action. 

A property was counted as lost when the erosion footprint came within 5m of the property footprint. The 

damage taken was the valuation of the lost property, discounted to the year of loss (using the HM Treasury 

Green Book discounting rates). Once a property is eroded, all damages associated with that property cease 

to accrue. The property is also removed from the risk to life calculation of people exposed to risk.  

Page 200



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 9 
 

Figure 2 - Weymouth properties coloured by their distance from the initial erosion envelope 

 

Amendment to NRD dataset 

An amendment was made to the NRD dataset for this project to better represent the flooding and erosion 

damages within Weymouth. The change made was: 

• Large ASDA supermarket amended in the NRD Dataset from MCM code of 9 to 2 – the 9 assigned 
to the ASDA meant no damage was associated with it. This was changed to 2 to better represent its 
building use and likely depth/damage curve. 

 

ASSUMPTIONS AND VARIABLES 

Threshold levels 

Two threshold surveys were available with coverage of the study area, from 2010 and 2015, surveyed by 

Lewis Brown Chartered Land Surveyors. Combined, these surveyed 1,581 of the 4,775 properties in the 

assessment. Where a property was not covered by the threshold survey, it was assumed to have a threshold Page 201



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 10 
 

of 0.15m (two courses of brick) above the average filtered LiDAR level under the property footprint. This 

assumption was deemed acceptable given the property type and typical threshold arrangement within the 

study area, validated by review of street imagery and physical site walkover.  

Vehicle damages 

Vehicle damages were assigned in accordance with the MCM initial scale appraisal, by assigning a vehicle 

value of £3,600 to each residential property. The vehicle damage is incurred when a flood reaches 0.35m 

above the ground level at the property (average LiDAR level under the building footprint, ignoring threshold 

level). 

Emergency services 

The MCM has two potential values to apply for emergency response costs, 5.6% or 10.7% of the direct 

damages to buildings. The different values are meant to capture how dispersed a settlement is and reflect 

economies of scale for the work of the emergency services in responding and dealing with flooding incidents. 

Whilst the damages at Weymouth are focused in a densely populated area, the emergency services value 

for this assessment was taken as 10.7%. Taking the larger value is justified in this case because of the cut-

off nature of the historic centre of Weymouth. In a flood event the access routes to the historic centre of 

Weymouth become constrained increasing the complexity and challenge of the emergency services (see 

Figure 1). In addition, the scale of flooding, in terms of property numbers is closer to the MCM 10.7% 

referenced example from the year 2000 (10,000 properties) as opposed to the MCM 5.6% referenced 

example from the year of 2007 (73,000). 

Indirect losses to NRP 

Indirect losses for commercial properties are taken as 3% of the direct damages to the properties. This is to 

capture: 

• The loss of business to overseas competitors. 

• The additional costs of seeking to respond to the threat of disruption or to disruption itself which fall 

upon firms when flooded. 

Taken from Chapter 5, section 5.7 of the MCM (Penning-Rowsell, et al., 2013). 

Evacuation costs 

Evacuation of residential properties is necessary during and after a flood whilst the property is repaired to a 

liveable standard. The costs associated with this are: 

• temporary and alternate accommodation 

• food 

• additional transport costs, and Page 202



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 11 
 

• loss of earnings. 

Evacuation costs for residential properties were calculated in accordance with the MCM Initial appraisal 

guidance. This calculates evacuation costs from property type and flood depth. 

Mental health damages 

The Environment Agency released guidance in April 2020 that gives a defined approach to quantifying the 

economic damages to mental health through flooding and erosion. Note that the assessment of mental health 

damages is separate from the assessment of benefits to stress and health from a scheme being in place. 

The methodology is based on determining the number of adults in each residential property and multiplying 

by the mental health costs per adult for each flood event. It is then necessary to convert these damages to 

an annual average damage and discount them using the Environment Agency appraisal guidance 

(Environment Agency, 2020c). 

Table 5 - Mental health damages associated with different depths of internal flooding per adult 

Flood depth band 

above internal floor 

level 

Mental health 

losses per adult per 

flood event 

>0cm <30cm £1,878 

30-100cm £3,028 

>100cm £4,136 

The above mental health damages are multiplied by the number of adults in each property (Table 10) and 

applied to each residential property within the appraisal and summed until the point at which the property is 

capped when it is assumed that no further losses are incurred.  

The guidance also states that there are mental health damages associated with the erosion of a property, 

these are stated as £9,546 for each adult within a residential property applied in the year of loss.  

Floor levels 

National receptor database (NRD) floor levels were used to understand if a property is ground or upper floor. 

These floor levels were used to assign flooding and erosion damages to the correct buildings. Flooding 

damages only apply to properties on the ground floor. Erosion damages apply to both ground and upper floor 

properties. 

For the 43 properties at Harbour Lights Court manually added to the assessment (constructed since the latest 

NRD update), 14 were assigned as ground floor, and the remaining 29 were assumed upper floor (roughly 

1/3rd to 2/3rd, as the 43 properties are split over three floors). 

Page 203



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 12 
 

Capping application 

When the direct property damages, discounted over the scheme life, came to more than the valuation of the 

property then the damage was ‘capped’ at the property value. All associated damages, such as vehicle 

damages, mental health damages, evacuation damages etc. cease to accrue beyond the capping year. 

Write-off application 

MCM guidance suggests that buildings should be written off when they flood on average at least once every 

3 years. Due to sea level rise, the extreme still water level associated with the 2 year return period event 

increases over the appraisal period. Each property was assigned the year in which it became flooded by the 

2 year return period event as its write-off year.  

Benefits to stress and health 

Benefits to stress and health have been included in this assessment in accordance with MCM initial appraisal 

guidance. This is calculated by understanding the improvements to standard of protection before and after a 

scheme is in place. An annual average damage is assigned for each property in each epoch (from Table 6) 

based on the onset of flooding. The standard of protection after a scheme is in place has been assumed as 

a 150yr return period for all properties in the assessment. The damages are then discounted to present value 

over the appraisal period. 

Table 6 - Intangible benefits associated with flood risk management improvements (table 4.7 from MCH 2020) 

Standard of Protection After – AFP (RP in years) 

St
an

d
ar

d
 o

f 
p

ro
te

ct
io

n
 b

ef
o

re
 –

 
A

FP
 (

R
P

 in
 y

ea
rs

) 

    0.007 0.008 0.01 0.013 0.02 0.033 0.05 0.1 

-150 -125 -100 -75 -50 -30 -20 -10 

0.008 125 £6 £0 - - - - - - 

0.01 100 £26 £21 £0 - - - - - 

0.013 75 £92 £88 £67 £0 - - - - 

0.02 50 £205 £200 £179 £114 £0 - - - 

0.033 30 £273 £267 £247 £180 £67 £0 - - 

0.05 20 £290 £285 £266 £199 £85 £19 £0 - 

0.1 10 £303 £297 £276 £209 £96 £30 £11 £0 

1 1 £308 £304 £283 £216 £103 £36 £17 £7 

Risk to life 

Flooding can result in risk to life. DEFRA flood and coastal defence appraisal guidance contains a 

methodology for assessing the risk to life from flood hazard and the number and vulnerability of residents.  

The assessment of risk to life works by calculating the likelihood of a fatality in a flood event, then assigning 

a value to human life and using these to derive a loss to the economy through fatal injury. Page 204



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 13 
 

The equation to calculate the number of potential fatalities is: 

𝑁𝐹 = 𝑓(𝑁𝑧, 𝐻𝑅, 𝑉𝐴, 𝑉𝑃) 

Where: 

𝑁𝐹 = 𝑝𝑜𝑠𝑠𝑖𝑏𝑙𝑒 𝑛𝑢𝑚𝑏𝑒𝑟 𝑜𝑓 𝑓𝑎𝑡𝑎𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑖𝑒𝑠 

𝑁𝑧 = 𝑝𝑜𝑝𝑢𝑙𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜𝑛 𝑤𝑖𝑡ℎ𝑖𝑛 𝑡ℎ𝑒 𝑧𝑜𝑛𝑒 𝑎𝑡 𝑟𝑖𝑠𝑘 𝑜𝑓 𝑓𝑙𝑜𝑜𝑑𝑖𝑛𝑔 

𝐻𝑅 = 𝑓𝑙𝑜𝑜𝑑 ℎ𝑎𝑧𝑎𝑟𝑑 𝑟𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑛𝑔 

𝑉𝐴 = 𝑎𝑟𝑒𝑎 𝑣𝑢𝑙𝑛𝑒𝑟𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑦 

𝑉𝑃 = 𝑝𝑒𝑜𝑝𝑙𝑒 𝑣𝑢𝑙𝑛𝑒𝑟𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑦 

Full methodology for calculating the risk to life from flooding is described in DEFRA’s flood and coastal 

defence appraisal guidance, supplementary note1.  

Flood Hazard Zones 

The risk to life calculates the potential number of fatalities for flood hazard zones. As specified in the guidance 

a convenient basis for the flood hazard zones is the distance from the source of flooding. Therefore, for 

Weymouth flood hazard zones where established at 50m intervals from the harbour walls and sea front. The 

flood hazard zones allow for a standard approach to assess the variation in risk depending on proximity to 

the risk to life source. Figure 3 show the risk to life zones used for the Do Minimum and Do Nothing options.  

 

Figure 3 - Risk to Life zones used in the assessment of the Do Nothing scenario 

 
1 DEFRA Risk to life guidance available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/181441/risktopeopl
e.pdf Page 205

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/181441/risktopeople.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/181441/risktopeople.pdf


 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 14 
 

 

Flood Hazard Rating 

Flood hazard is calculated as a function of the depth, velocity and a debris factor. The debris factor is derived 

based on depth of water and land cover which then provides a score. For this assessment, the flood hazard 

results were provided by Dorset Council from a previous hydraulic model. The outputs had hazard results for 

the 2, 5, 10, 25, 50, 100, 200 & 1000yr return periods and for 2015, 2065,2115 and 2126. 

These epochs and return periods don’t neatly align with the damages assessment; the hazard ratings under 

each of the RTL zones was interpolated to create a 2020, 2029, 2030, 2070 and 2120 grid. In each epoch a 

20-year return period was interpolated from the 10yr and 25 year grids.   

Erosion of the harbour walls is a key breakpoint in the risk to life assessment as this is a step change 

(reduction) in the number of people exposed to the risk. Hazard grids at the years of harbour wall loss (2030 

in DN scenario), were linearly interpolated using average hazard for each RTL zone in the modelled years. 

Page 206



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 15 
 

More comprehensive modelling of hazard at the key breakpoints is recommended at Outline Business Case 

stage. 

Area Vulnerability 

Area vulnerability is derived from three variables, which provide a standardised score, and are summed to 

give a final value. The three variables are: 

• Flood Warning Score – flood warning score is based on the flood warning system that is in place for 
a scheme the range of scores goes from 1 (good warning system) to 3 (no warning system). The 
guidance provides an indicative value for the South West of 2.17 

• Speed of onset – based on the speed of onset of flooding (low risk - very gradual many hours, 
medium risk – an hour, high risk – rapid). As the rising of the tide is relatively gradual, one might 
initially assign a low risk, but as key crest levels are reached flood waters spill swiftly into new areas 
of the town and hence a medium onset speed was selected; and,  

• Nature of the area – classification based on the type of housing within the scheme area (e.g. low 
risk - multi storey apartments, medium risk – 2 storey homes/commercial and industrial properties, 
high risk - bungalows, mobile homes, busy roads etc). The medium risk bands has been assigned 
as the most representative.   

The flood warning score (2.17), speed of onset score (2) and nature of the area score (2) are combined to 

give a total Area Vulnerability score of 6.17. 

People Vulnerability  

The people vulnerability component is the percentage of people suffering from long term illness plus the 

percentage of residents aged 75 or over. Percentages for Weymouth were taken from the 2011 census with 

5.6% suffering from long term illness and 11.7% aged 75 or over. These values summed give a people 

vulnerability score of 17.3. In the absence of detailed census data, the people vulnerability was assumed to 

be uniform across all buffer zones.  

Impact of Tourism on Risk to Life 

The people exposed to risk value is currently based only on commercial and residential property in each 

hazard zone. A separate assessment calculated the number of expected visitors to the harbourside area due 

to tourism. This number has been modelled to reduce through time due to the failure of the harbour walls and 

expected blight and associated decline in tourism. Table 7 shows the expected population at risk in each 

epoch based on tourism.  

Table 7 - Additional population at risk due to tourism 

Epoch 
Base 

population 
exposed 

Expected 
visitors 

Net 
population 

exposed Page 207



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 16 
 

2020 19,111 5,327 24,437 

2029 15,800 5,327 21,126 

2030 10,121 4,794 14,915 

2070 6,883 0 6,883 

2120 2,635 0 2,635 

 

With the above variables calculated / sourced the final calculation of the number of fatalities could be derived. 

This was done for all the return periods from the 2020, 2029, 2030, 2070 and 2120 epochs. Using these 

numbers monetary value was attributed to these potential losses by using the estimated annual average 

number of possible fatalities (suffered or avoided) multiplied by a reference valuation (value of one life).   

Risk to Life Damages  

Risk to life damages are shown in the following tables. Table 8 shows the estimated total risk to life damages 

for each epoch and return period. 

Table 8 - Risk to life - number of fatalities in each return period at each epoch 

Return 
period 

No. of Fatalities 

2020 2029 2030 2070 2120 

2 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

5 0.16 0.18 0.10 0.04 0.04 

10 0.23 0.26 0.17 0.11 0.09 

20 0.43 0.41 0.30 0.15 0.14 

50 0.61 0.58 0.42 0.25 0.22 

100 0.69 0.67 0.50 0.29 0.27 

200 0.79 0.78 0.60 0.36 0.34 

1000 1.36 1.26 1.01 0.54 0.49 

The erosion of the harbour walls in 2030 causes a step-change reduction in the population at risk because 

several harbourside properties are lost. The population at risk in each following epoch is based on the number 

of residential and commercial properties that remain un-eroded.  

Table 9 - Risk to life AAD in each epoch 

Epoch Raw AAD Tourism factored AAD 

2020 £127,628 £163,200 

2029 £127,272 £170,179 

2030 £74,773 £110,188 

2070 £58,292 £58,292 

2120 £54,746 £54,746 

Page 208



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 17 
 

As well as erosion removing properties and therefore people at risk, when the flooding onset of a property 

reaches the 2-year return period, it is written-off and removed from the assessment. This writing-off of 

properties causes a large impact on reducing the people at risk and therefore the PVD. This reduction of 

properties at risk outweighs the increasing hazard caused by climate change resulting in AAD reducing in 

each future epoch (Figure 4). 

Figure 4 - Do Nothing annual average damage (AAD) throughout the appraisal period 

 

The total PVD caused through Risk to life over the 100-year appraisal period is £4,922,832 in the Do-Nothing 

scenario. 

Property valuation 

Residential and commercial properties have been valued for capping purposes. Residential property 

valuation was taken from Land Registry data portal on 02/02/2021 for Weymouth and Portland. Table 10 

shows average house price split by house types. 

Table 10 - Average residential property values for Weymouth and Portland – (Land registry, 2021) 

Property type Average value 
Average number 

of adults per 
property 

Detached £442,447 2.01 

 -

 20,000

 40,000

 60,000

 80,000

 100,000

 120,000

 140,000

2020 2040 2060 2080 2100 2120

A
n

n
u

al
 a

ve
ra

ge
 d

am
ag

e
 (£

)

Year

Do Nothing Annual average damage from risk to life  
throughout the appraisal period

DN

Page 209



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 18 
 

Semi Detached £290,334 2.00 

Terraced £233,858 1.95 

Flat £166,294 1.45 

Weighted average £299,552 1.85 

Commercial properties are valued in one of two ways; either through finding the rateable value from the 

Valuation Office Agency (VOA) for the property and multiplying this by a factor of 10 (in accordance with 

MCM) or, where VOA data was not available for a property valuation was carried out using the properties 

bulk class. 

Building areas 

Where multiple units are within one building footprint, to assign areas to each building unit (for valuation and 

to calculate commercial flooding damages) the total area of the building was divided by the number of ground 

floor units. This gave a representative unit area for each NRD record within the building. 

Page 210



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 19 
 

ECONOMIC SUMMARY 

Do-Nothing 

The Do-Nothing scenario for Weymouth includes failure of the existing +2.3mOD wall between 2020 and 

2030 and erosion starting from 2030. The economic damages, flood risk and erosion risk property counts are 

presented below in Table 11, Table 12, Table 13, Table 14 and Table 15 . 

Table 11 - Present value damage to properties in Weymouth from tidal flooding and erosion – Do Nothing scenario 

Damages 

Property (capped) £245.9m 

Mental health £13.1m 

Evacuation £4.9m 

Parked cars £3.2m 

Emergency services £13.8m 

Benefits to health 
and stress 

£3.6m 

Commercial 
intangible damages 

£1.0m 

Transport damages £2.3m 

Risk to life £4.9 

Amenity/tourism £178.2m 

  

Total PVD £470.8m 

 
Table 12 - Flood risk counts for residential properties in Weymouth (Using OM2 definitions) – Do Nothing scenario 

 IMD Band 
Moderate 

risk 
Intermediate 

risk 
Significant 

risk 

Very 
significant 

risk 

2020 
property risk 

20% most deprived areas 44 940 0 0 

21-40% most deprived areas 7 37 0 0 

60% least deprived areas 0 8 0 0 

2040 
property risk 

20% most deprived areas 25 30 55 928 

21-40% most deprived areas 11 0 4 32 

60% least deprived areas 0 0 0 8 

2070 
property risk 

20% most deprived areas 16 13 17 1080 

21-40% most deprived areas 0 0 1 42 

60% least deprived areas 0 0 0 8 

2120 
property risk 

20% most deprived areas 4 11 19 1243 

21-40% most deprived areas 3 3 3 56 

60% least deprived areas 12 21 7 70 Page 211



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 20 
 

Table 13 shows the OM2b property counts in the Do Nothing scenario. These are the additional properties 

at risk in 2040 that were previously not at any risk in 2020.  

Table 13 - OM2b property counts – Do Nothing scenario 

 IMD Band 
Moderate 

risk 
Intermediate 

risk 
Significant 

risk 

Very 
significant 

risk 

OM2b 

20% most deprived areas 25 30 5 0 

21-40% most deprived areas 11 0 1 0 

60% least deprived areas 0 0 0 0 

 

Table 14 - Erosion counts for residential properties in Weymouth (using OM3 definitions) – Do Nothing scenario 

IMD Band Long-term 
loss 

Medium-term 
loss 

20% most deprived areas 81 14 

21-40% most deprived areas 28 43 

60% least deprived areas 0 0 

 

Table 15 - FCERM GiA funding breakdown – Do Nothing  

FCERM GiA Eligibility 
 

OM1a funding (flooding 
and erosion damage to 
property) 

£22.0m 

OM1a funding (amenity 
damages assessment) 

£3.3m 

OM1b funding (flooding 
and erosion damage to 
people) 

£4.9m 

OM1b funding (risk to 
life) 

£1.0m 

OM2 funding £4.0m 

OM3 funding £3.8m   

Total GiA Eligibility ~£39.0m 

 

 

Page 212



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 21 
 

Figure 5 - Distribution of PV economic damages from flooding and erosion - Do Nothing scenario 

 Page 213



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 22 
 

Figure 6 - Distribution of present value erosion damages - Do Nothing scenario 

 Page 214



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 23 
 

Figure 7 - Annual average damages over the appraisal period - Do Nothing scenario 

 

Figure 7 shows the annual average damages to property over the appraisal period. There is a large spike in 

damage in 2030, the year of harbour wall failure. The majority of the damages in 2030 are not caused by 

erosion of properties from the initial erosion envelope (33 properties erode in 2030) but are caused by the 

writing-off of properties. The removal of the 2.3mOD defence crest allows the 2 year return period to flood 

large parts of the town, including the large cluster of residential terraces in the north of the town writing off 

626 properties in 2030. 

Do Minimum 

The Do Minimum scenario for Weymouth assumes the harbour walls are maintained at +2.3mOD for the 

appraisal period.  

0

20,000,000

40,000,000

60,000,000

80,000,000

100,000,000

120,000,000

20
21

20
2

5

20
2

9

20
3

3

20
3

7

20
4

1

20
4

5

20
49

20
5

3

20
5

7

20
6

1

20
6

5

20
6

9

20
7

3

20
7

7

20
8

1

20
8

5

20
8

9

20
9

3

20
97

21
0

1

21
0

5

21
0

9

21
1

3

21
1

7

A
n

n
u

al
 a

ve
ra

ge
 d

am
ag

e
 (£

)

Annual Average Damage over the appraisal period - Do nothing scenario 

Emergency services AAD

Vehicle AAD

Clean-up AAD

Evac AAD

Mental health AAD

Property AAD

Page 215



 

Appendix A – Economics Assessment Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix A - Economics assessment REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Jack Heslop 

CHECKED: Ben Murray APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 24 
 

Table 16 - Present value damage to properties in Weymouth from tidal flooding and erosion – Do Minimum scenario 

Damages 

Property (capped) £202.0m 

Mental health £25.7m 

Evacuation £10.7m 

Parked cars £8.2m 

Emergency services £22.6m 

Benefits to health 
and stress 

£7.3m 

Commercial 
intangible damages 

£1.3m 

Transport damages £2.3m 

Risk to life Not calculated 

Whilst as expected the direct property damages are less than the do-nothing scenario (due to lesser flooding 

and no erosion), the deferral of capping and write-off of a significant number of properties until later in the 

appraisal period has noticeable impacts. As a result, the associated flood risk damages such as mental health 

and emergency services are much more significant. 

Page 216



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Appendices 

 

APPENDIX B: Financial 

Case Technical Note 

  

Page 217



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 1 

 

  

APPENDIX B – FINANCIAL 
CASE TECHNICAL NOTE 

WEYMOUTH FCRM SCHEME SOC 

 

Page 218



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 2 

 

SUMMARY 

The Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood & Coastal Risk Management (FCRM) Strategy Update (WSP 

UK Ltd, 2019) was informed by the condition assessment of Weymouth Harbour quay wall and associated 

assets, undertaken in 2019 (JBA Consulting, 2019a) and (JBA Consulting, 2019b). This has in turn led to the 

development of the Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy (Dorset Council, 2020c) which focuses 

on interventions to provide a 200-year standard of protection from flooding up to 2120 whilst maintaining 

amenity within Weymouth. 

This technical note provides a high-level assessment of the construction costs associated to the adaptive 

scheme pathway options presented in the strategic documents which has informed the construction cost 

estimates within the Weymouth FCRM Strategic Outline Case (SOC).  

It should be noted that the adaptive scheme pathway options presented (WSP UK Ltd, 2019) and (Dorset 

Council, 2020c) focus on the tidal flood protection measures (this being the dominant flood risk source), 

however the Weymouth FCRM scheme is being developed to provide comprehensive flood and coastal risk 

management from all flood risk sources. Interventions for other flood risk sources are less defined at this 

stage and will be developed during the next phase (Outline Business Case) of the FCRM scheme following 

further assessment and modelling work to inform the nature and extent of interventions required. 

The adaptive pathway design options (WSP UK Ltd, 2019) and derived cost estimates are outlined below in 

Table 1 with a breakdown of the assessment methodology presented in the following sections of this technical 

note. 

Table 1 - Options considered during Weymouth H&E FCRM Strategy Update (WSP UK Ltd, 2019) 

Approach Area Adaptive Pathway Interventions 
Discounted Capital Costs 

(£m) 

1 
Weymouth 

Harbour  

No tidal barrier included in the costs.  

Undertake all remedial works in year 0, 

including replacing all existing quay walls and 

raising them to the required flood defence level 

for 2120. 

£13.3m 

2 
Weymouth 

Harbour  

No tidal barrier included in the costs. Phased 

approach to quay wall replacement/ raising to 

be undertaken in year 0, 20 and 50. 100-year 

scheme life. 

£9.1m 

Page 219



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 3 

 

Approach Area Adaptive Pathway Interventions 
Discounted Capital Costs 

(£m) 

3 
Weymouth 

Harbour  

No tidal barrier included in the costs. Phased 

approach to quay wall replacement/ raising to 

be undertaken in year 0, 20 and 50. 50-year 

scheme life. 

£8.7m 

4 
Weymouth 

Harbour  

Phased approach to quay wall replacement/ 

raising to be undertaken in year 0, 20 and 50 

where required with tidal barrier implemented in 

year 20. 100-year scheme life. 

£39.3m 

5 
Weymouth 

Harbour  

Phased approach to quay wall replacement/ 

raising to be undertaken in year 0, 20 and 50 

where required with tidal barrier implemented in 

year 50. 100-year scheme life. 

£20.7m 

A 
The 

Esplanade 

Replacement, repair and betterment of the 

existing flood defences along the Esplanade 

Frontage. 

£16.4m 

B 
The 

Esplanade 

Advance the line approach - beach 

management and replenishment over the 100-

year scheme life to act as a natural flood 

defence 

£17.4m  

Following a comparison of the discounted costs, the preferred scheme pathway proposed as identified in 

Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade FCRM Strategy (Dorset Council, 2020c) incorporates ‘Approach 2’ 

(Weymouth Harbour) and ‘Approach A’ (the Esplanade). However the exact timing of the strategic pathway’s 

future interventions and preferred design options will be left open as part of the Strategic Outline Case (SOC) 

to enable flexibility within the scheme refinement/ development at the next stage, Outline Business Case 

(OBC). The scheme may or may not therefore incorporate a tidal barrier as part of future interventions. 

For cost feasibility purposes a sensitivity assessment has been undertaken to review the cost implications 

for a second round of steel sheet pile (SSP) wall replacement around Weymouth Harbour as part of the 

preferred ‘Approach 2 & A’. This second replacement has been considered due to the FCRM economic 

appraisal period of 100 years and potential for SSP replacement at circa year 50 associated to accelerated 

deterioration as observed on the existing SSPs existing performance within Weymouth Harbour. It should be 

noted that during the OBC and subsequent stages of the FCRM scheme consideration will be made to design 

Page 220



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 4 

 

the most optimum economic option and design life of SSPs in the Weymouth Harbour environment. A 

summary of the SSP cost comparison is presented in Table 2. 

Table 2 - Preferred Scheme Pathway costs comparison including the requirement to replace the sheet-pile walls at the end of an 
assumed 50-year design life 

Scheme Pathway 

Without Secondary Sheet Pile 

replacement (100yr life) 

With Secondary Sheet Pile 

replacement (50yr life) 

Cash Cost (£m) 
Discounted Cost 

(£m) 
Cash Cost (£m) 

Discounted Cost 

(£m) 

2A £62.3m £30.6m £79.4m £32.7m 

 

  

Page 221



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 5 

 

BASELINE DATA 

The site has been divided into two discrete focus areas, Weymouth Harbour (Figure 1) and (Figure 2) the 

Esplanade.  

Figure 1: Weymouth Harbour – Wall Sections 

 

Page 222



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 6 

 

Figure 2: The Esplanade Wall Sections 

Page 223



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 7 

 

 

Page 224



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 8 

 

The updated condition surveys (JBA Consulting, 2019a) and (JBA Consulting, 2019b) assumed residual life 

and existing crest level is presented in Table 3 to Table 5 with an overview of when the assets crest levels in 

relation to the predicted extreme still water level, and proposed timings of interventions based on the 2020, 

2040 and 2070 interventions.  

Table 3 - Summary of Asset Residual Life, Crest Level and Timings of Proposed Intervention (Phase 1 Interventions 2020) 

 

Table 4 - Summary of Asset Residual Life, Crest Level and Timings of Proposed Intervention (Phase 2 Interventions 2040) 

 

PHASE 1 INTERVENTIONS 2020

Asset 

Identifier Structure Type

Crest 

Level

Residual 

Life

+2.43m 

ODN 

(2020)

+2.58m 

ODN 

(2040)

+2.92m 

ODN 

(2070)

+3.74m 

ODN 

(2120) Phase Work Reason

A SSP 2.48 5 0.05 -0.1 -0.44 -1.26 1 Replace Condition

Ai SSP 2.48 15 0.05 -0.1 -0.44 -1.26 1 Replace Condition Replacement Wall Lengths Total

B SSP 2.27 5 -0.16 -0.31 -0.65 -1.47 1 Replace Condition 1372m Steel Sheet Pile 5,044,387£          

C SSP 1.98 5 -0.45 -0.6 -0.94 -1.76 1 Replace Condition

Ci SSP 2.3 20 -0.13 -0.28 -0.62 -1.44 1 Raise Level

2 Blockwork & Conc 2.1 20 -0.33 -0.48 -0.82 -1.64 1 Raise Level Wall Raising Lengths Total 

2i Blockwork & Conc 2.1 20 -0.33 -0.48 -0.82 -1.64 1 Raise Level 860m Flood wall raising 1,572,720£          

3 Masonry Brickwork 2.3 20 -0.13 -0.28 -0.62 -1.44 1 Raise Level

3i RC Wall 2.3 20 -0.13 -0.28 -0.62 -1.44 1 Raise Level

4 Masonry Blockwork 2.2 10 -0.23 -0.38 -0.72 -1.54 1 Replace Condition

4i Concrete Panel 2.2 0 -0.23 -0.38 -0.72 -1.54 1 Replace Condition

6 Mass Concrete 2.5 20 0.07 -0.08 -0.42 -1.24 1 Raise Level

6i Masonry Wall 2.5 20 0.07 -0.08 -0.42 -1.24 1 Raise Level

7 RC Panels 2.3 20 -0.13 -0.28 -0.62 -1.44 1 Raise Level

11 Concrete Panel 2.45 0 0.02 -0.13 -0.47 -1.29 1 Replace Condition

5

Concrete caissons with culverts & sluice 

gates 2.4 50
-0.03 -0.18 -0.52 -1.34

1 Raise Level

E SSP 3.36 5 0.93 0.78 0.44 -0.38 1 Replace Condition

F SSP 4.1 10 1.67 1.52 1.18 0.36 1 Replace Condition Replacement Wall Lengths Total

Fi SSP 4.1 0 1.67 1.52 1.18 0.36 1 Replace Condition 679m Steel Sheet Pile 3,178,823£          

G SSP 3.27 0 0.84 0.69 0.35 -0.47 1 Replace Condition

3 Toe Protection SSP 1 New Condition

3 Replace seawall & surface 1 Replace Condition

PHASE 2 INTERVENTIONS 2040

Asset 

Identifier Structure Type

Starting 

Crest 

Height @ 

2040

Residual 

Life

+2.58m 

ODN 

(2040)

+2.92m 

ODN 

(2070)

+3.74m 

ODN 

(2120)
Phase Work Reason

Ci SSP 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

2 Blockwork & Conc 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition Replacement Wall Lengths Total

2i Blockwork & Conc 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition 1007m Steel Sheet Pile 4,123,878£          

3 Masonry Brickwork 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

3i RC Wall 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

6 Mass Concrete 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

6i Masonry Wall 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

7 RC Panels 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

8 Mass Concrete 3.1 30 0.52 0.18 -0.64 2 Replace Condition

Height of existing crest level above (+ve) or 

below (-ve) UKCP18 Extreme Still Water 

Level (ESWL) (m AODN)

Height of existing crest level above (+ve) or 

below (-ve) UKCP18 Extreme Still Water 

Level (ESWL) (m AODN)

TOTAL LENGTHS AND CASH COST (EXC RISK)

TOTAL LENGTHS AND CASH COST (EXC RISK)

16,391,991£                                                                                                 

H
ar

b
o

u
r 

W
al

l 

G
en

er
al

H
ar

b
o

u
r 

Se
a 

D
ef

en
ce

s

Esplanade

H
ar

b
o

u
r 

Se
a 

D
ef

en
ce

s

PHASE 1 INTERVENTIONS 2020

Asset 

Identifier Structure Type

Crest 

Level

Residual 

Life

+2.43m 

ODN 

(2020)

+2.58m 

ODN 

(2040)

+2.92m 

ODN 

(2070)

+3.74m 

ODN 

(2120) Phase Work Reason

A SSP 2.48 5 0.05 -0.1 -0.44 -1.26 1 Replace Condition

Ai SSP 2.48 15 0.05 -0.1 -0.44 -1.26 1 Replace Condition Replacement Wall Lengths Total

B SSP 2.27 5 -0.16 -0.31 -0.65 -1.47 1 Replace Condition 1372m Steel Sheet Pile 5,044,387£          

C SSP 1.98 5 -0.45 -0.6 -0.94 -1.76 1 Replace Condition

Ci SSP 2.3 20 -0.13 -0.28 -0.62 -1.44 1 Raise Level

2 Blockwork & Conc 2.1 20 -0.33 -0.48 -0.82 -1.64 1 Raise Level Wall Raising Lengths Total 

2i Blockwork & Conc 2.1 20 -0.33 -0.48 -0.82 -1.64 1 Raise Level 860m Flood wall raising 1,572,720£          

3 Masonry Brickwork 2.3 20 -0.13 -0.28 -0.62 -1.44 1 Raise Level

3i RC Wall 2.3 20 -0.13 -0.28 -0.62 -1.44 1 Raise Level

4 Masonry Blockwork 2.2 10 -0.23 -0.38 -0.72 -1.54 1 Replace Condition

4i Concrete Panel 2.2 0 -0.23 -0.38 -0.72 -1.54 1 Replace Condition

6 Mass Concrete 2.5 20 0.07 -0.08 -0.42 -1.24 1 Raise Level

6i Masonry Wall 2.5 20 0.07 -0.08 -0.42 -1.24 1 Raise Level

7 RC Panels 2.3 20 -0.13 -0.28 -0.62 -1.44 1 Raise Level

11 Concrete Panel 2.45 0 0.02 -0.13 -0.47 -1.29 1 Replace Condition

5

Concrete caissons with culverts & sluice 

gates 2.4 50
-0.03 -0.18 -0.52 -1.34

1 Raise Level

E SSP 3.36 5 0.93 0.78 0.44 -0.38 1 Replace Condition

F SSP 4.1 10 1.67 1.52 1.18 0.36 1 Replace Condition Replacement Wall Lengths Total

Fi SSP 4.1 0 1.67 1.52 1.18 0.36 1 Replace Condition 679m Steel Sheet Pile 3,178,823£          

G SSP 3.27 0 0.84 0.69 0.35 -0.47 1 Replace Condition

3 Toe Protection SSP 1 New Condition

3 Replace seawall & surface 1 Replace Condition

PHASE 2 INTERVENTIONS 2040

Asset 

Identifier Structure Type

Starting 

Crest 

Height @ 

2040

Residual 

Life

+2.58m 

ODN 

(2040)

+2.92m 

ODN 

(2070)

+3.74m 

ODN 

(2120)
Phase Work Reason

Ci SSP 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

2 Blockwork & Conc 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition Replacement Wall Lengths Total

2i Blockwork & Conc 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition 1007m Steel Sheet Pile 4,123,878£          

3 Masonry Brickwork 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

3i RC Wall 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

6 Mass Concrete 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

6i Masonry Wall 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

7 RC Panels 2.58 20 0 -0.34 -1.16 2 Replace Condition

8 Mass Concrete 3.1 30 0.52 0.18 -0.64 2 Replace Condition

Height of existing crest level above (+ve) or 

below (-ve) UKCP18 Extreme Still Water 

Level (ESWL) (m AODN)

Height of existing crest level above (+ve) or 

below (-ve) UKCP18 Extreme Still Water 

Level (ESWL) (m AODN)

TOTAL LENGTHS AND CASH COST (EXC RISK)

TOTAL LENGTHS AND CASH COST (EXC RISK)

16,391,991£                                                                                                 

H
ar

b
o

u
r 

W
al

l 

G
en

er
al

H
ar

b
o

u
r 

Se
a 

D
ef

en
ce

s

Esplanade

H
ar

b
o

u
r 

Se
a 

D
ef

en
ce

s

Page 225



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 9 

 

Table 5 - Summary of Asset Residual Life, Crest Level and Timings of Proposed Intervention (Phase 3 Interventions 2070+) 

 

Table 3, 4 and 5 Notes: 

• Wall D had been replaced since the 2019 condition assessment and therefore a residual life of 50 years has been 
considered.  

• Wall 5 (Westham Bridge) was out of the scope of the previous condition assessments however has been included with 
associated crest level and an assumed 50-year residual life, before replacement.  

The predicted future extreme still water levels including an allowance for sea level rise were compared 

against the existing crest levels to identify the year and extreme tidal still water level that would result in tidal 

inundation. The flood levels for 2020, 2040, 2070 and 2120 presented in Table 6 were obtained from UKCP18 

using the Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 8.5 at the 95th percentile scenario, in accordance 

with the latest Environment Agency guidance for climate change allowances for risk management authorities 

seeking FCERM grant-in-aid (GIA) for flood and coastal risk projects, schemes and strategies (Environment 

Agency, 2020a). 

 

PHASE 3 INTERVENTIONS 2070+

Asset 

Identifier Structure Type

Starting 

Crest 

Height @ 

2070

+2.92m 

ODN 

(2070)

+3.74m 

ODN 

(2120)
Phase Work Reason

A SSP 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

Ai SSP 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level Replacement Wall Lengths Total

B SSP 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level 400m Steel Sheet Pile 2,258,314£          

C SSP 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

Ci SSP 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

D SSP 3.15 0.23 -0.59 3 Replace Condition Wall Raising Lengths Total 

2 Blockwork & Conc 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level 2381m Flood wall raising 4,354,239£          

2i Blockwork & Conc 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

3 Masonry Brickwork 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

3i RC Wall 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

4 Masonry Blockwork 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

4i Concrete Panel 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

6 Mass Concrete 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

6i Masonry Wall 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

7 RC Panels 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

8 Mass Concrete 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

11 Concrete Panel 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Raise Level

5

Concrete caissons with culverts & sluice 

gates 2.92
0 -0.82

3 Replace Condition

1 Masonry Stone & timber 3.4 0.48 -0.34 3 Replace Condition

1i Masonry encapsulated in concrete 3.4 0.48 -0.34 3 Replace Condition Replacement Wall Lengths Total

2 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Replace Condition 1590m Steel Sheet Pile 5,694,880£          

2i 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Replace Condition

2ii Blockwork & concrete 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Replace Condition

2iii Blockwork & concrete 2.92 0 -0.82 3 Replace Condition

9 Embedded Concrete 3.1 0.18 -0.64 3 Replace Condition

10 SSP & Tube Combi 3.1 0.18 -0.64 3 Replace Condition

1 Replace sea wall & set back def's 3

2 Replace sea wall & set back def's 3

3 Set back walls 3

TOTAL LENGTHS AND CASH COST (EXC RISK)

Height of existing crest level above (+ve) or 

below (-ve) UKCP18 Extreme Still Water 

Level (ESWL) (m AODN)

 £                                                                                                  19,711,594 

H
ar

b
o

u
r 

Se
a 

D
ef

en
ce

s
H

ar
b

o
u

r 
W

al
l G

en
er

al

Blockwork & concrete

Esplanade

Page 226



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 10 

 

Table 6 - Predicted Extreme Still Water Levels (UKCP18 RCP 8.5 95th Percentile) for 1 in 1, 10, 50, 200 and 1000 year return 
period events 

Return 

Period 
AEP 2020 (mAOD) 2040 (mAOD) 2070 (mAOD) 2120 (mAOD) 

1yr 100% 1.90 2.05 2.39 3.21 

10 10% 2.13 2.28 2.62 3.45 

50 2% 2.29 2.44 2.75 3.61 

200 0.5% 2.43 2.58 2.92 3.74 

1000 0.1% 2.59 2.74 3.08 3.91 

 
 

  

Page 227



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 11 

 

COST ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY 

1.0 Assessment of the Weymouth Harbour Quay Wall/ Flood Defences 

Based on Table 1’s Weymouth Harbour  ‘Approach 1’, it was assumed that all the defences would be replaced 

and raised in year zero to give a baseline cost for the proposed works.  

For the remaining four approaches, the proposed works were grouped into 3 phases / epochs as below, from 

a base year of 2020: 

• Phase 1 [2020-2039]  

• Phase 2 [2040-2069] 

• Phase 3 [2070-2119]. 

Whilst calculating the discounted costs, the works were assumed to be undertaken during the first year of 

each of these phases to give a conservative discount approach. For example, if a structure had a residual 

life of 30 years, the intervention year 2050 would fall into the phase 2 works and would therefore be 

discounted using the discount value for year 20 (2040).  

1.1 Wall Replacement 

At the end of the residual life, the assets were assumed to be replaced by a new SSP wall, regardless of the 

existing construction. This simplified the process so that each structure would not require different 

mobilisation, construction and maintenance costs, which is considered a proportionate approach at this stage 

of cost estimation. 

The costs associated were calculated using the ‘Sheet Piling’ tab of the Environment Agency’s Long-Term 

Costing Tool (Environment Agency, 2015a), with all prices uplifted to 2020 values using the relevant 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) value. The tool offers a number of different approaches, three of which have 

been considered as outlined in Table 7 below. 

Table 7 - Sheet Pile Cost Assumptions input into the EA’s Long-term Costing Tool 

Condition Details 

Simple (Average Percentile) 
Used for High Level Assessments using the average cost percentile  

Inputs required: 

Asset Length (Exact value) 

Area (Reach type) – Urban or Rural 

Simple (80th Percentile) 
Used for High Level Assessments using the average cost percentile  

Inputs required: 

Asset Length ((Exact value) 

Page 228



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 12 

 

Condition Details 

Area (Reach type) – Urban or Rural 

Defined 
Used for a higher level of detail in the costing 

Inputs required: 

Asset Length – pre-defined length.  

Approximate Piling Depth (Pre-set to 5, 10, 15 or 20m). 

Area (reach type) – Urban or Rural 

The ‘Defined’ condition has been taken forward into the preferred cost comparison as it offers the higher level 

of detail and more cost certainty. The assumed piling depth was taken as 15.0m based on anecdotal ground 

conditions and the ‘Reach type’ as ‘Urban’. As the asset length input required can only be entered as a 

defined value, two methods were compared as outlined below: 

• Individual: Each of the asset lengths were rounded up to the nearest defined length and the output 

cost taken. These values were then totalled. 

• Cumulative: Each of the asset lengths within each phase of works were first totalled and then this 
total length was rounded up to the nearest defined length. Where the total length exceeded the 
highest defined length, the total was broken into the fewest suitable segments and the costs 
recorded.  

The cumulative approach was taken forward as the preferred method as it was a more realistic representation 

of grouped mobilisation and construction costs that would be applied during each phase of work. 

1.2 Wall Raising 

If the extreme tidal still water level exceeded the crest level of the flood defence asset, however the asset 

had residual life (and assumed residual capacity) and therefore did not yet require full replacement, then 

raising the existing flood defence asset was proposed.  

This approach would however need to be considered through further structural and geotechnical 

investigations. This may identify that there is insufficient capacity to accommodate future raising across the 

next two interventions and therefore a more detailed cost comparison would be undertaken at the OBC stage 

to confirm the most efficient design option to be taken forward. 

Assuming sufficient residual capacity, the costs associated were calculated using the ‘Costal Wall’ tab of the 

EA’s Long-Term Costing Tool (Environment Agency, 2015a), with all prices uplifted to 2020 values using 

relevant CPI value (Penning-Rowsell, et al., 2020). 

The parameter inputs into the spreadsheet are listed below in Table 8. 

Page 229



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 13 

 

Table 8 – Harbour wall raising assumptions input into the EA’s Long-term Costing Tool 

Parameter Input 

Defence type “Wall Raising” 

Defence Length Length of asset taken from condition assessment 

Cost Range of Uncertainty   “Average” or “Upper” 

For each asset, the costs were calculated using the average and upper cost range of uncertainty and the 

upper range conservatively taken forward into the preferred cost comparison. 

If future wall raising of an asset was required following the replacement of the SSP quay wall at year zero, 

a discount factor of 0.7 was applied to account for potential cost savings and efficiencies that could be 

realised. This could arise by designing the initial intervention with sufficient residual capacity within the SSP 

quay wall to accommodate future raising, thus reducing the overall cost of the future interventions.  

1.3 Tidal Barrier 

The Weymouth Tidal Barrier: Tidal Barrier Advice Report (Jacobs, 2021) includes a high level cost estimate 

for the construction of a tidal barrier over a 2 to 3-year period (not including lead in design and consenting 

within 3 year programme) as £3.9m for project development costs (excluding legal costs) and recognising 

other recent tidal barrier capital costs ranged between £25m and £60m.  

Anticipated high level barrier costs were previously provided in the Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study 

(JacksonHyder, 2018). These costs were reverse discounted using their equivalent years to the base year of 

the barrier intervention to give a capital cost and then re-discounted to give the costs in year 20 or year 50 

for approaches 4 and 5 respectively.    

2.0 Assessment of the Esplanade Defences 

The approaches developed for the Esplanade, as presented in Table 1, are based on the interventions 

outlined in the Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study (JacksonHyder, 2018). The Esplanade was split into 

3 focus sections, and the interventions undertaken in the years suggested in the report. The 3 areas of focus 

are as follows: 

• Section 1 – Pavilion to Memorial Clock. 

• Section 2 – Memorial Clock to Brunswick Terrace. 

• Section 3 – Brunswick Terrace to Rock Groyne. 

2.1 Sheet Piling to repair identified Scour 

Page 230



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 14 

 

The Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study (JacksonHyder, 2018) identified an area of scour at the toe of 

the sea wall within section three, proposing sheet pile toe protection. Similarly, to the harbourside sheet-piles, 

the costs were developed using the ‘Sheet Piling’ tab of the Environment Agency’s (EA) long-term costing 

tool and all assumptions made remained consistent. 

2.2 Replacement of the Seawall 

The Weymouth Beach Management Study (Jacobs, 2019) presented an estimated residual life of the seawall 

within each of the focus areas, given a shortest, longest and best estimate. These are presented below in 

Table 9: 

Table 9 - Weymouth Sea Wall Residual Life (Weymouth Beach Management Study, Jacobs 2019) 

Focus 

Section 

With Ongoing Maintenance Without Ongoing Maintenance 

Shortest 

(yrs) 

Longest 

(yrs) 
Best (yrs) 

Shortest 

(yrs) 

Longest 

(yrs) 
Best (yrs) 

1 20 90 50 15 90 45 

2 30 90 45 30 90 45 

3 5 30 15 5 30 15 

The ‘best’ estimation values were taken forward into the assessment and conservatively assumed that no 

further maintenance would be undertaken between now and the end of its residual life. The costs for the 

construction of a new seawall were developed using the ‘Coastal Wall’ tab of the EA’s Long-Term Costing 

Tool, with all prices uplifted to 2020 values using relevant CPI value. 

The parameter inputs into the spreadsheet are listed below in Table 10. 

Table 10 – Sea Wall replacement assumptions input into the EA’s Long-term Costing Tool 

Parameter Input 

Defence type “Wave/Retaining Wall” 

Defence Length Length of each section of wall taken from Aerial Mapping 

Cost Range of Uncertainty   “Average” or “Upper” 

Page 231



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 15 

 

For each section of wall, the costs were calculated using both the average and upper cost range of uncertainty 

and the upper range conservatively taken forward into the preferred cost comparison. 

2.3 Raising/Resurfacing the promenade 

There is no resource in the long-term costing tool to calculate the cost associated with promenade 

raising/resurfacing. Therefore, the rates from a previous comparable scheme were used as a best estimate. 

The total area of the Esplanade that required raising was obtained from a plan area extraction from aerial 

mapping and totals c.30,000m². These costs included the potential requirements to include ramp access 

along the esplanade frontage. 

2.4 Construct secondary set-back flood walls 

For storm events where the seawall may overtop, the requirement for a secondary defence between the 

existing planters was identified. The most appropriate method of cost development from the EA’s Long-Term 

Costing Tool was again the ‘Coastal Wall’ tab. The parameter inputs into the spreadsheet are listed below in 

Table 11. 

Table 11 – Set-back wall assumptions input into the EA’s Long-term Costing Tool 

Parameter Input 

Defence type “Wall Raising” 

Defence Length Total length of the proposed secondary walls within each focus area taken 

from Aerial Mapping 

Cost Range of Uncertainty   “Average” or “Upper” 

For each section of wall, the costs were calculated using both the average and upper cost range of uncertainty 

and the upper range conservatively taken forward into the preferred cost comparison. 

2.5 Advance the line 

Approach B proposed an advance the line scheme involving increasing the width of the beach by importing 

material to reclaim land and develop dunes as a natural flood defence. The Environment Agency’s 2m Digital 

Terrain Model Lidar data and Channel Coastal Observatory bathymetric data was used to generate profiles 

across the existing bed level up to the esplanade. The volume of material required to initially raise the beach 

level to the 200-year standard of protection for year 20 was firstly calculated and assumed as the required 

intervention in year zero. The assumed beach length was 2km, the proposed width of the reclaimed beach 

was to be 200m and the proposed dune crest width was 20m. The volume of material was calculated to 

increase the height of the beach to initially defend until the year 2030. A further volume was calculated to 

Page 232



 

Appendix B – Financial Case Technical Note  

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix B - Financial Case Technical 

Note 

REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: Sam Long 

CHECKED: Jo Welbourn APPROVED: Ben Murray 

 

Page 16 

 

raise this defence height to the 200-year extreme still water level in year 100. This additional volume was 

then equally divided and assumed to occur at the beginning of each decade between year 20 and year 100. 

These natural structures would be able to be elevated to the required defence levels over a series of phased 

interventions however, this may not be required as the natural response of the nourished material may 

continue to develop the height of the dunes such that a suitable level of protection is maintained. For the 

sake of this costing assessment, it was assumed that a further volume of material be nourished over the 

remaining lifetime of the scheme, with an intervention at the beginning of each decade up to 2120, starting 

from year 20. 

Two rates per m3 of material were compared during the assessment, the first obtained from the ‘coastal 

recharge’ tab of the long-term costing and the second from a previous flood defence scheme. The more 

conservative value was taken forward in the assessment. 

3.0 Maintenance Costs 

Indicative maintenance costs (£/m of defence type) were taken from a similar previous Flood Defence 

scheme and interpolated between year 0 and year 100. These costs were then discounted and applied to 

each proposed Approach. 

Maintenance costs were calculated for all approaches other than Approach B, as the proposed beach 

replenishment works themselves were in essence maintenance activities. 

The maintenance of the scour protection measures included in approach A was omitted from this assessment 

as it was assumed that if the protection is required, it will remain covered by the beach during design life, 

removing the requirement for maintenance. 

4.0 Sheet Pile Design Life Sensitivity 

A further sensitivity assessment was undertaken on the preferred option to assess the impact on the cost of 

replacing all of the sheet pile structures 50 years after their installation as they reached the end of their design 

life.  

The sensitivity assessment reviewed all structures around the harbour including the additional assets, 

however the esplanade works were not included. The only sheet pile installation on the esplanade is shortly 

replaced by the new seawall – which itself should be designed to have a 100-year design life. 

For the case in which the end of the design life matched the end of the scheme life (2120), the structure was 

not included in the sensitivity. This was the case for wall 5 and wall 10 where the first sheet pile replacement 

was required in 2070. 

The costs developed again utilised the ‘Sheet Pile’ tab of the long-term costing tool and all assumptions made 

were the same as outlined above in Section 1.1. 

Page 233



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Appendices 

 

APPENDIX C: 

PV Costs 

  

Page 234



FCDPAG3 PV Costs

Present Value Costs for all options
Client/Authority

Project name Results £

Project reference -
Base date for estimates (year 0) Jan-2021
Scaling factor (e.g. £m, £k, £) £ PV total costs
Initial discount rate 3.5%

Option 1 TOTALS: PV PV PV PV Option 2 TOTALS: PV PV PV

Capital Maint. Other
Negative
costs Cash Capital Maint Other

Negative
costs Capital Maint. Risk

Negative
costs Cash Capital Maint Risk

cash sum 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 66,000,000.00 6,767,867.11 39,600,000.00 - 112367867.11 31141062.37 1713864.31 18684637.42
Discount

year Factor
0 1.000 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2021 200,000 45,270 120,000 365270.01 200000.00 45270.01 120000.00
1 0.966 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2022 400,000 45,723 240,000 685722.71 386473.43 44176.54 231884.06
2 0.934 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2023 400,000 46,175 240,000 686175.41 373404.28 43105.24 224042.57
3 0.902 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2024 3,500,000 46,628 2,100,000 5646628.11 3156799.47 42055.89 1894079.68
4 0.871 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2025 3,500,000 47,081 2,100,000 5647080.81 3050047.80 41028.21 1830028.68
5 0.842 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2026 3,500,000 47,534 2,100,000 5647533.51 2946906.08 40021.94 1768143.65
6 0.814 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2027 3,300,000 47,986 1,980,000 5327986.21 2684552.13 39036.82 1610731.28
7 0.786 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2028 3,200,000 48,439 1,920,000 5168438.92 2515171.07 38072.55 1509102.64
8 0.759 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2029 48,892 - 48891.62 0.00 37128.86 0.00
9 0.734 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2030 49,344 - 49344.32 0.00 36205.45 0.00

10 0.709 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2031 49,797 - 49797.02 0.00 35302.04 0.00
11 0.685 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2032 50,250 - 50249.72 0.00 34418.33 0.00
12 0.662 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2033 50,702 - 50702.42 0.00 33554.01 0.00
13 0.639 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2034 5,500,000 51,155 3,300,000 8851155.12 3516722.84 32708.79 2110033.70
14 0.618 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2035 5,500,000 51,608 3,300,000 8851607.82 3397799.85 31882.37 2038679.91
15 0.597 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2036 52,061 - 52060.52 0.00 31074.43 0.00
16 0.577 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2037 52,513 - 52513.22 0.00 30284.68 0.00
17 0.557 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2038 52,966 - 52965.92 0.00 29512.81 0.00
18 0.538 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2039 53,419 - 53418.62 0.00 28758.51 0.00
19 0.520 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2040 5,000,000 53,871 3,000,000 8053871.32 2600778.45 28021.47 1560467.07
20 0.503 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2041 54,324 - 54324.02 0.00 27301.40 0.00
21 0.486 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2042 54,777 - 54776.72 0.00 26597.98 0.00
22 0.469 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2043 55,229 - 55229.42 0.00 25910.92 0.00
23 0.453 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2044 55,682 - 55682.12 0.00 25239.90 0.00
24 0.438 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2045 56,135 - 56134.82 0.00 24584.64 0.00
25 0.423 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2046 56,588 - 56587.52 0.00 23944.84 0.00
26 0.409 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2047 57,040 - 57040.22 0.00 23320.19 0.00
27 0.395 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2048 57,493 - 57492.92 0.00 22710.41 0.00
28 0.382 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2049 57,946 - 57945.62 0.00 22115.20 0.00
29 0.369 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2050 58,398 - 58398.32 0.00 21534.27 0.00
30 0.356 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2051 58,851 - 58851.02 0.00 20967.35 0.00
31 0.346 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2052 59,304 - 59303.72 0.00 20513.24 0.00
32 0.336 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2053 59,756 - 59756.42 0.00 20067.79 0.00
33 0.326 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2054 60,209 - 60209.12 0.00 19630.90 0.00
34 0.317 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2055 60,662 - 60661.82 0.00 19202.42 0.00
35 0.307 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2056 61,115 - 61114.52 0.00 18782.26 0.00
36 0.298 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2057 61,567 - 61567.22 0.00 18370.28 0.00
37 0.290 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2058 62,020 - 62019.92 0.00 17966.36 0.00
38 0.281 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2059 62,473 - 62472.62 0.00 17570.39 0.00
39 0.273 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2060 62,925 - 62925.32 0.00 17182.25 0.00
40 0.265 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2061 63,378 - 63378.02 0.00 16801.80 0.00
41 0.257 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2062 63,831 - 63830.72 0.00 16428.95 0.00
42 0.250 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2063 64,283 - 64283.42 0.00 16063.56 0.00
43 0.243 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2064 64,736 - 64736.12 0.00 15705.52 0.00
44 0.236 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2065 65,189 - 65188.82 0.00 15354.71 0.00
45 0.229 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2066 65,642 - 65641.52 0.00 15011.00 0.00
46 0.222 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2067 66,094 - 66094.22 0.00 14674.30 0.00
47 0.216 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2068 66,547 - 66546.92 0.00 14344.47 0.00
48 0.209 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2069 67,000 - 66999.62 0.00 14021.41 0.00
49 0.203 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2070 67,452 - 67452.32 0.00 13705.00 0.00
50 0.197 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2071 32,000,000 67,905 19,200,000 51267905.02 6312406.97 13395.13 3787444.18
51 0.192 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2072 68,358 - 68357.72 0.00 13091.68 0.00
52 0.186 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2073 68,810 - 68810.42 0.00 12794.54 0.00
53 0.181 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2074 69,263 - 69263.12 0.00 12503.61 0.00
54 0.175 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2075 69,716 - 69715.82 0.00 12218.77 0.00
55 0.170 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2076 70,169 - 70168.52 0.00 11939.91 0.00
56 0.165 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2077 70,621 - 70621.22 0.00 11666.94 0.00
57 0.160 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2078 71,074 - 71073.92 0.00 11399.73 0.00
58 0.156 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2079 71,527 - 71526.62 0.00 11138.20 0.00
59 0.151 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2080 71,979 - 71979.32 0.00 10882.23 0.00
60 0.147 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2081 72,432 - 72432.02 0.00 10631.72 0.00
61 0.143 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2082 72,885 - 72884.72 0.00 10386.57 0.00
62 0.138 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2083 73,337 - 73337.42 0.00 10146.68 0.00
63 0.134 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2084 73,790 - 73790.12 0.00 9911.96 0.00
64 0.130 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2085 74,243 - 74242.82 0.00 9682.30 0.00
65 0.127 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2086 74,696 - 74695.52 0.00 9457.61 0.00
66 0.123 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2087 75,148 - 75148.22 0.00 9237.79 0.00
67 0.119 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2088 75,601 - 75600.92 0.00 9022.76 0.00
68 0.116 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2089 76,054 - 76053.62 0.00 8812.41 0.00
69 0.112 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2090 76,506 - 76506.32 0.00 8606.67 0.00
70 0.109 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2091 76,959 - 76959.02 0.00 8405.43 0.00
71 0.106 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2092 77,412 - 77411.72 0.00 8208.62 0.00
72 0.103 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2093 77,864 - 77864.42 0.00 8016.14 0.00
73 0.100 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2094 78,317 - 78317.12 0.00 7827.91 0.00
74 0.097 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2095 78,770 - 78769.82 0.00 7643.84 0.00
75 0.094 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2096 79,223 - 79222.52 0.00 7463.85 0.00
76 0.092 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2097 79,675 - 79675.22 0.00 7323.42 0.00
77 0.090 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2098 80,128 - 80127.93 0.00 7185.39 0.00
78 0.087 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2099 80,581 - 80580.63 0.00 7049.75 0.00
79 0.085 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2100 81,033 - 81033.33 0.00 6916.44 0.00
80 0.083 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2101 81,486 - 81486.03 0.00 6785.44 0.00
81 0.081 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2102 81,939 - 81938.73 0.00 6656.72 0.00
82 0.079 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2103 82,391 - 82391.43 0.00 6530.24 0.00
83 0.077 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2104 82,844 - 82844.13 0.00 6405.97 0.00
84 0.075 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2105 83,297 - 83296.83 0.00 6283.88 0.00
85 0.074 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2106 83,750 - 83749.53 0.00 6163.94 0.00
86 0.072 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2107 84,202 - 84202.23 0.00 6046.10 0.00
87 0.070 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2108 84,655 - 84654.93 0.00 5930.35 0.00
88 0.068 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2109 85,108 - 85107.63 0.00 5816.65 0.00
89 0.067 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2110 85,560 - 85560.33 0.00 5704.96 0.00
90 0.065 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2111 86,013 - 86013.03 0.00 5595.26 0.00
91 0.063 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2112 86,466 - 86465.73 0.00 5487.53 0.00
92 0.062 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2113 86,918 - 86918.43 0.00 5381.71 0.00
93 0.060 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2114 87,371 - 87371.13 0.00 5277.80 0.00
94 0.059 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2115 87,824 - 87823.83 0.00 5175.75 0.00
95 0.057 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2116 88,277 - 88276.53 0.00 5075.54 0.00
96 0.056 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2117 88,729 - 88729.23 0.00 4977.14 0.00
97 0.055 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2118 89,182 - 89181.93 0.00 4880.52 0.00
98 0.053 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2119 89,635 - 89634.63 0.00 4785.65 0.00
99 0.052 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2120 90,087 - 90087.33 0.00 4692.51 0.00

Do-nothing

Option 1
Do-nothing

0

DS - Wall raising/replacement

DS - Wall raising/replacement

Dorset Council

Weymouth FCRM Scheme

Page 235



FCDPAG3 PV Costs

Sheet Nr. 10

Prepared (date) 00/01/1900
Printed 30/04/2021
Prepared by 0
Checked by 0
Checked date 0

PV Option 3 TOTALS: PV PV PV PV Option 4 TOTALS: PV PV PV PV
Negative
costs Capital Maint. Other

Negative
costs Cash Capital Maint Other

Negative
costs Capital Maint. Other

Negative
costs Cash Capital Maint Other

Negative
costs

0.00 95000000 6767867.112 39600000 0 141367867.11 36695061.21 1713864.31 18684637.42 0.00 21223210 6767867.11 12733926 0 40725003.11 12402090.19 1713864.31 7441254.12 0.00

0.00 200,000 45,270 120,000 365270.01 200000.00 45270.01 120000.00 0.00 8,223,210 45,270 4,933,926 13202406.01 8223210.00 45270.01 4933926.00 0.00
0.00 400,000 45,723 240,000 685722.71 386473.43 44176.54 231884.06 0.00 45,723 - 45722.71 0.00 44176.54 0.00 0.00
0.00 400,000 46,175 240,000 686175.41 373404.28 43105.24 224042.57 0.00 46,175 - 46175.41 0.00 43105.24 0.00 0.00
0.00 3,500,000 46,628 2,100,000 5646628.11 3156799.47 42055.89 1894079.68 0.00 46,628 - 46628.11 0.00 42055.89 0.00 0.00
0.00 3,500,000 47,081 2,100,000 5647080.81 3050047.80 41028.21 1830028.68 0.00 47,081 - 47080.81 0.00 41028.21 0.00 0.00
0.00 3,500,000 47,534 2,100,000 5647533.51 2946906.08 40021.94 1768143.65 0.00 47,534 - 47533.51 0.00 40021.94 0.00 0.00
0.00 3,300,000 47,986 1,980,000 5327986.21 2684552.13 39036.82 1610731.28 0.00 47,986 - 47986.21 0.00 39036.82 0.00 0.00
0.00 3,200,000 48,439 1,920,000 5168438.92 2515171.07 38072.55 1509102.64 0.00 48,439 - 48438.92 0.00 38072.55 0.00 0.00
0.00 48,892 - 48891.62 0.00 37128.86 0.00 0.00 48,892 - 48891.62 0.00 37128.86 0.00 0.00
0.00 49,344 - 49344.32 0.00 36205.45 0.00 0.00 49,344 - 49344.32 0.00 36205.45 0.00 0.00
0.00 49,797 - 49797.02 0.00 35302.04 0.00 0.00 49,797 - 49797.02 0.00 35302.04 0.00 0.00
0.00 50,250 - 50249.72 0.00 34418.33 0.00 0.00 50,250 - 50249.72 0.00 34418.33 0.00 0.00
0.00 50,702 - 50702.42 0.00 33554.01 0.00 0.00 50,702 - 50702.42 0.00 33554.01 0.00 0.00
0.00 5,500,000 51,155 3,300,000 8851155.12 3516722.84 32708.79 2110033.70 0.00 51,155 - 51155.12 0.00 32708.79 0.00 0.00
0.00 5,500,000 51,608 3,300,000 8851607.82 3397799.85 31882.37 2038679.91 0.00 51,608 - 51607.82 0.00 31882.37 0.00 0.00
0.00 52,061 - 52060.52 0.00 31074.43 0.00 0.00 52,061 - 52060.52 0.00 31074.43 0.00 0.00
0.00 52,513 - 52513.22 0.00 30284.68 0.00 0.00 52,513 - 52513.22 0.00 30284.68 0.00 0.00
0.00 52,966 - 52965.92 0.00 29512.81 0.00 0.00 52,966 - 52965.92 0.00 29512.81 0.00 0.00
0.00 53,419 - 53418.62 0.00 28758.51 0.00 0.00 53,419 - 53418.62 0.00 28758.51 0.00 0.00
0.00 5,000,000 53,871 3,000,000 8053871.32 2600778.45 28021.47 1560467.07 0.00 5,000,000 53,871 3,000,000 8053871.32 2600778.45 28021.47 1560467.07 0.00
0.00 54,324 - 54324.02 0.00 27301.40 0.00 0.00 54,324 - 54324.02 0.00 27301.40 0.00 0.00
0.00 54,777 - 54776.72 0.00 26597.98 0.00 0.00 54,777 - 54776.72 0.00 26597.98 0.00 0.00
0.00 55,229 - 55229.42 0.00 25910.92 0.00 0.00 55,229 - 55229.42 0.00 25910.92 0.00 0.00
0.00 55,682 - 55682.12 0.00 25239.90 0.00 0.00 55,682 - 55682.12 0.00 25239.90 0.00 0.00
0.00 56,135 - 56134.82 0.00 24584.64 0.00 0.00 56,135 - 56134.82 0.00 24584.64 0.00 0.00
0.00 56,588 - 56587.52 0.00 23944.84 0.00 0.00 56,588 - 56587.52 0.00 23944.84 0.00 0.00
0.00 57,040 - 57040.22 0.00 23320.19 0.00 0.00 57,040 - 57040.22 0.00 23320.19 0.00 0.00
0.00 57,493 - 57492.92 0.00 22710.41 0.00 0.00 57,493 - 57492.92 0.00 22710.41 0.00 0.00
0.00 57,946 - 57945.62 0.00 22115.20 0.00 0.00 57,946 - 57945.62 0.00 22115.20 0.00 0.00
0.00 58,398 - 58398.32 0.00 21534.27 0.00 0.00 58,398 - 58398.32 0.00 21534.27 0.00 0.00
0.00 58,851 - 58851.02 0.00 20967.35 0.00 0.00 58,851 - 58851.02 0.00 20967.35 0.00 0.00
0.00 59,304 - 59303.72 0.00 20513.24 0.00 0.00 59,304 - 59303.72 0.00 20513.24 0.00 0.00
0.00 59,756 - 59756.42 0.00 20067.79 0.00 0.00 59,756 - 59756.42 0.00 20067.79 0.00 0.00
0.00 60,209 - 60209.12 0.00 19630.90 0.00 0.00 60,209 - 60209.12 0.00 19630.90 0.00 0.00
0.00 60,662 - 60661.82 0.00 19202.42 0.00 0.00 60,662 - 60661.82 0.00 19202.42 0.00 0.00
0.00 61,115 - 61114.52 0.00 18782.26 0.00 0.00 61,115 - 61114.52 0.00 18782.26 0.00 0.00
0.00 61,567 - 61567.22 0.00 18370.28 0.00 0.00 61,567 - 61567.22 0.00 18370.28 0.00 0.00
0.00 62,020 - 62019.92 0.00 17966.36 0.00 0.00 62,020 - 62019.92 0.00 17966.36 0.00 0.00
0.00 62,473 - 62472.62 0.00 17570.39 0.00 0.00 62,473 - 62472.62 0.00 17570.39 0.00 0.00
0.00 62,925 - 62925.32 0.00 17182.25 0.00 0.00 62,925 - 62925.32 0.00 17182.25 0.00 0.00
0.00 63,378 - 63378.02 0.00 16801.80 0.00 0.00 63,378 - 63378.02 0.00 16801.80 0.00 0.00
0.00 63,831 - 63830.72 0.00 16428.95 0.00 0.00 63,831 - 63830.72 0.00 16428.95 0.00 0.00
0.00 64,283 - 64283.42 0.00 16063.56 0.00 0.00 64,283 - 64283.42 0.00 16063.56 0.00 0.00
0.00 64,736 - 64736.12 0.00 15705.52 0.00 0.00 64,736 - 64736.12 0.00 15705.52 0.00 0.00
0.00 65,189 - 65188.82 0.00 15354.71 0.00 0.00 65,189 - 65188.82 0.00 15354.71 0.00 0.00
0.00 65,642 - 65641.52 0.00 15011.00 0.00 0.00 65,642 - 65641.52 0.00 15011.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 66,094 - 66094.22 0.00 14674.30 0.00 0.00 66,094 - 66094.22 0.00 14674.30 0.00 0.00
0.00 66,547 - 66546.92 0.00 14344.47 0.00 0.00 66,547 - 66546.92 0.00 14344.47 0.00 0.00
0.00 67,000 - 66999.62 0.00 14021.41 0.00 0.00 67,000 - 66999.62 0.00 14021.41 0.00 0.00
0.00 67,452 - 67452.32 0.00 13705.00 0.00 0.00 67,452 - 67452.32 0.00 13705.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 32,000,000 67,905 19,200,000 51267905.02 6312406.97 13395.13 3787444.18 0.00 8000000 67,905 4,800,000 12867905.02 1578101.74 13395.13 946861.04 0.00
0.00 29,000,000 68,358 29068357.72 5553998.85 13091.68 0.00 0.00 68,358 68357.72 0.00 13091.68 0.00 0.00
0.00 68,810 - 68810.42 0.00 12794.54 0.00 0.00 68,810 - 68810.42 0.00 12794.54 0.00 0.00
0.00 69,263 - 69263.12 0.00 12503.61 0.00 0.00 69,263 - 69263.12 0.00 12503.61 0.00 0.00
0.00 69,716 - 69715.82 0.00 12218.77 0.00 0.00 69,716 - 69715.82 0.00 12218.77 0.00 0.00
0.00 70,169 - 70168.52 0.00 11939.91 0.00 0.00 70,169 - 70168.52 0.00 11939.91 0.00 0.00
0.00 70,621 - 70621.22 0.00 11666.94 0.00 0.00 70,621 - 70621.22 0.00 11666.94 0.00 0.00
0.00 71,074 - 71073.92 0.00 11399.73 0.00 0.00 71,074 - 71073.92 0.00 11399.73 0.00 0.00
0.00 71,527 - 71526.62 0.00 11138.20 0.00 0.00 71,527 - 71526.62 0.00 11138.20 0.00 0.00
0.00 71,979 - 71979.32 0.00 10882.23 0.00 0.00 71,979 - 71979.32 0.00 10882.23 0.00 0.00
0.00 72,432 - 72432.02 0.00 10631.72 0.00 0.00 72,432 - 72432.02 0.00 10631.72 0.00 0.00
0.00 72,885 - 72884.72 0.00 10386.57 0.00 0.00 72,885 - 72884.72 0.00 10386.57 0.00 0.00
0.00 73,337 - 73337.42 0.00 10146.68 0.00 0.00 73,337 - 73337.42 0.00 10146.68 0.00 0.00
0.00 73,790 - 73790.12 0.00 9911.96 0.00 0.00 73,790 - 73790.12 0.00 9911.96 0.00 0.00
0.00 74,243 - 74242.82 0.00 9682.30 0.00 0.00 74,243 - 74242.82 0.00 9682.30 0.00 0.00
0.00 74,696 - 74695.52 0.00 9457.61 0.00 0.00 74,696 - 74695.52 0.00 9457.61 0.00 0.00
0.00 75,148 - 75148.22 0.00 9237.79 0.00 0.00 75,148 - 75148.22 0.00 9237.79 0.00 0.00
0.00 75,601 - 75600.92 0.00 9022.76 0.00 0.00 75,601 - 75600.92 0.00 9022.76 0.00 0.00
0.00 76,054 - 76053.62 0.00 8812.41 0.00 0.00 76,054 - 76053.62 0.00 8812.41 0.00 0.00
0.00 76,506 - 76506.32 0.00 8606.67 0.00 0.00 76,506 - 76506.32 0.00 8606.67 0.00 0.00
0.00 76,959 - 76959.02 0.00 8405.43 0.00 0.00 76,959 - 76959.02 0.00 8405.43 0.00 0.00
0.00 77,412 - 77411.72 0.00 8208.62 0.00 0.00 77,412 - 77411.72 0.00 8208.62 0.00 0.00
0.00 77,864 - 77864.42 0.00 8016.14 0.00 0.00 77,864 - 77864.42 0.00 8016.14 0.00 0.00
0.00 78,317 - 78317.12 0.00 7827.91 0.00 0.00 78,317 - 78317.12 0.00 7827.91 0.00 0.00
0.00 78,770 - 78769.82 0.00 7643.84 0.00 0.00 78,770 - 78769.82 0.00 7643.84 0.00 0.00
0.00 79,223 - 79222.52 0.00 7463.85 0.00 0.00 79,223 - 79222.52 0.00 7463.85 0.00 0.00
0.00 79,675 - 79675.22 0.00 7323.42 0.00 0.00 79,675 - 79675.22 0.00 7323.42 0.00 0.00
0.00 80,128 - 80127.93 0.00 7185.39 0.00 0.00 80,128 - 80127.93 0.00 7185.39 0.00 0.00
0.00 80,581 - 80580.63 0.00 7049.75 0.00 0.00 80,581 - 80580.63 0.00 7049.75 0.00 0.00
0.00 81,033 - 81033.33 0.00 6916.44 0.00 0.00 81,033 - 81033.33 0.00 6916.44 0.00 0.00
0.00 81,486 - 81486.03 0.00 6785.44 0.00 0.00 81,486 - 81486.03 0.00 6785.44 0.00 0.00
0.00 81,939 - 81938.73 0.00 6656.72 0.00 0.00 81,939 - 81938.73 0.00 6656.72 0.00 0.00
0.00 82,391 - 82391.43 0.00 6530.24 0.00 0.00 82,391 - 82391.43 0.00 6530.24 0.00 0.00
0.00 82,844 - 82844.13 0.00 6405.97 0.00 0.00 82,844 - 82844.13 0.00 6405.97 0.00 0.00
0.00 83,297 - 83296.83 0.00 6283.88 0.00 0.00 83,297 - 83296.83 0.00 6283.88 0.00 0.00
0.00 83,750 - 83749.53 0.00 6163.94 0.00 0.00 83,750 - 83749.53 0.00 6163.94 0.00 0.00
0.00 84,202 - 84202.23 0.00 6046.10 0.00 0.00 84,202 - 84202.23 0.00 6046.10 0.00 0.00
0.00 84,655 - 84654.93 0.00 5930.35 0.00 0.00 84,655 - 84654.93 0.00 5930.35 0.00 0.00
0.00 85,108 - 85107.63 0.00 5816.65 0.00 0.00 85,108 - 85107.63 0.00 5816.65 0.00 0.00
0.00 85,560 - 85560.33 0.00 5704.96 0.00 0.00 85,560 - 85560.33 0.00 5704.96 0.00 0.00
0.00 86,013 - 86013.03 0.00 5595.26 0.00 0.00 86,013 - 86013.03 0.00 5595.26 0.00 0.00
0.00 86,466 - 86465.73 0.00 5487.53 0.00 0.00 86,466 - 86465.73 0.00 5487.53 0.00 0.00
0.00 86,918 - 86918.43 0.00 5381.71 0.00 0.00 86,918 - 86918.43 0.00 5381.71 0.00 0.00
0.00 87,371 - 87371.13 0.00 5277.80 0.00 0.00 87,371 - 87371.13 0.00 5277.80 0.00 0.00
0.00 87,824 - 87823.83 0.00 5175.75 0.00 0.00 87,824 - 87823.83 0.00 5175.75 0.00 0.00
0.00 88,277 - 88276.53 0.00 5075.54 0.00 0.00 88,277 - 88276.53 0.00 5075.54 0.00 0.00
0.00 88,729 - 88729.23 0.00 4977.14 0.00 0.00 88,729 - 88729.23 0.00 4977.14 0.00 0.00
0.00 89,182 - 89181.93 0.00 4880.52 0.00 0.00 89,182 - 89181.93 0.00 4880.52 0.00 0.00
0.00 89,635 - 89634.63 0.00 4785.65 0.00 0.00 89,635 - 89634.63 0.00 4785.65 0.00 0.00
0.00 90,087 - 90087.33 0.00 4692.51 0.00 0.00 90,087 - 90087.33 0.00 4692.51 0.00 0.00

DMDS - Walls + Barrier

57,093,563

Option 3
DS - Walls + Barrier

51,539,564
DS - Wall raising/replacement

Option 2

21,557,209 0

Option 4
DM

Option 5
Option 5

Page 236



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Appendices 

 

APPENDIX D: 

PF Calculator 

  

Page 237



Key input selection

SECTION 1: Project details

9.4 to 1

12.4 to 1

42.2 to 1

44 940 984 -44 -940 0 0

7 37 44 -7 -37 0 0

8 8 0 -8 0 0

low risk moderate risk intermediate 

risk

significant risk very significant 

risk

low risk moderate risk intermediate 

risk

significant risk very significant 

risk

984

44 0 59 294 1000 1589

8

low risk moderate risk intermediate 

risk

significant risk very significant 

risk

25 30 5 0 60 -25 -30 -5 0

11 1 0 12 -11 0 -1 0

0 0 0 0 0

low risk moderate risk intermediate 

risk

significant risk very significant 

risk

low risk moderate risk intermediate 

risk

significant risk very significant 

risk

60

12 0 59 294 1000 1589

0

low risk moderate risk intermediate 

risk

significant risk very significant 

risk

81 14 6,800£           6,800£           

28 43 50                  20                  years

1,341£           3,417£           

long-term 

loss

medium-term 

loss

Long-term loss Medium-term 

loss

Poor Moderate Good Poor Moderate Good

kilometre(s)

OM deprivation %age Test Raw score

OM1a overall 89.7% 6 64.9% 78% 22%

OM1b people related 6.2% 20 14.8% 62% 37%

20% most 1.9% 45 10.1% 78% 22%

21% to 40% 0.1% 30 0.3% 77% 23%

60% least 0.0% 20 0.0% 79% 21%

20% most 1.0% 45 5.5% 76% 23%

21% to 40% 1.2% 30 4.3% 35% 64%

60% least 0.0% 20 0.0% N/A n/a

habitat 0.0% 20 0.0%

rivers 0.0% 20 0.0%

pv appraisal costs

pv costs for approval

9,005,132£                              

-£                                        

39,623,818£                            

9,005,132£                              826,669£                                 

959,877£                                 

pv private and voluntary sector

pv other Environment Agency

pv sub-total

8,005,132£                              

SECTION 5B: Outcome Measure 2B (2040) - households at risk in 2040 that are better protected against flood risk by this project (over the remaining duration of benefits period)

at risk after duration of benefits

Intertidal habitat

pv qual. benefits

21% to 40% most deprived

Economic data included in business case?

21% to 40% most deprived

Duration of benefits (DoB) period

Annual damages avoided

50

change due to project

Minimum pv contribution/saving required

23,868,778£                            

14,795,163£                            

-£                                            pv FCERM GiA future costs

pv WLB (appraisal period)

pv maximum eligible FCERM GiA

40,450,487£                            

31,538,187£                            

pv design and construction costs

pv risk contingency

pv total contributions

380,438,326£                          Economic summary sheet completed

towards pv appraisal costs

8,730,164£                              

SECTION 3: Costs and contributions for the PREFERRED OPTION (over the duration of benefits period)

towards pv qualifying 

outcomes up-front

towards pv qualifying 

outcomes futureContributions secured to date

Other RMAs not eligible for FCERM GiA towards future costs

pv future costs

30,618,686£                            

Contributions to future costs are not included in GiA calculation.  Other RMAs are encouraged to 

secure contributions towards future costs, separately

1,000,000£                              

pv qual. benefits

6,891,828£                              

Present value of Year 1 loss (i.e. first year damages, 

discounted based on when loss is expected)

Contributor(s) or Fund(s)

278,927£                                 

change due to project

58,110£                                   

at risk after duration of benefits

168,894£                                 

18,189£                                   

-£                                        

380,438,326£                          

23,416,026£                            

N
o
 households in deprived areas

The deprivation categories are taken from the Index of Multiple Deprivation, available through gov.uk (see 

guidance and version sheet for links)

at risk today

pv FCERM GiA up-front costs

 £                                          -   Comprehensive restoration

'after' condition at end of DoB (Ha)

Length of river habitat enhanced (OM4B)

Year when measures are ready for service 

- Gateway 4

-£                                        

'before' condition (Ha)

21% to 40% most deprived

60% least deprived

N
o
 households in deprived areas

20% most deprived

20% most deprived

 £                                          -   

The deprivation categories are taken from the Index of Multiple Deprivation, available through gov.uk (see 

guidance and version sheet for links)

Ponds/lakes

Heathland

pv qual. benefits

-£                                        

Grassland

Wetlands/wet grassland

Wet woodland

Woodland

25,721,673£                            

9,404,859£                              

8,300,146£                              

9,126,365£                              

SA6: Strategic considerations not demonstrated

Example sensitivity analyses

PF Calculator (above) 8,730,164£                              

8,730,164£                              

18,636,118£                            

%age of 

whole life 

costs

Loss expected in

Annual damages avoided (£) compared with a household at low risk

at risk from 2040 

 £                                          -   

No OM4 contribution

Contributions required

SA2: OM2 - Flood risks lower than assumptions made

SA3: OM3 - Erosion risks lower than assumptions made

11,622£                                   

 £                                          -   

 £                                          -   

 £                                          -   

 £                                          -   

 £                                          -   

 £                                          -   

Partial restoration

A single, major physical 

improvement

pv qual. benefits

3,864,302£                              

4,556,003£                              

at risk today

Project teams are required to provide a copy of the PF Calculator within their business case for approval of FCERM GiA.

pv WLB (DoB = OM1A)

SECTION 4: Outcome Measure 1 - economic benefits arising from FCERM

pv WLC (over duration of benefits)

pv Local Levy

pv other public sector

Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM)
Partnership Funding (PF) calculator 2020 for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant-in-Aid (FCERM GiA)
Version 1: March 2020 (for use by projects delivering FCERM outcomes after 1 April 2021)

Lead RMA

FCERM GiA applicant type

Effective return on contributions:

Effective return to taxpayer:

Project benefit to cost ratio:

Adjusted PF Score

Confirmed strategic approach?

Raw PF Score

calculated cells

Project costs

See guidance.  Evidence provided in the business case

Option reference

Project stage

National Project number

Towards qualifying outcomes

Date of PF Calculator

Local Authority

All values in £ (pound Sterling)

30 April 2021

Dorset Council

Review maturity of the risk contingency and any contributions to minimise the risk of 

exceeding FCERM GiA limits

Benefit:Cost ratio

78% 101%

Yes

Project Name

SECTION 2: Prospect of eligibility for FCERM GiA

Weymouth FCRM Scheme (50yr Phase 1&2 - 2020-2070)

Figures in blue to be included in the national FCERM capital programme for the chosen option

-£                                        

-£                                        

Ref:

People related impacts - due to measures 

proposed (DoB = OM1B)

60% least deprived

SECTION 6: Outcome Measure 3 - households better protected against coastal erosion

N
o
 households in deprived areas

20% most deprived

21% to 40% most deprived

60% least deprived

Damages per household avoided:

SECTION 7: Outcome Measure 4 - environmental improvements

SECTION 5A: Outcome Measure 2A (today) - households at risk today that are better protected against flood risk by this project (over the duration of benefits period)

N
o
 households in deprived areas

20% most deprived

21% to 40% most deprived

60% least deprived

N
o
 households in deprived areas

20% most deprived

pv qual. benefits

SA1: pv WLC - Affordability

Annual damages avoided (£) compared with a household at low risk

SA4: Duration of benefits - Option choice is conservative

SA5: Duration of benefits - Option choice is optimistic

-£                                        

20,471,163£                            

Qualifying benefits Eligible FCERM GiA

-£                                        

Payment rate

%age 

benefits

 £                                          -   

3,177,325£                              

 £                                          -   

SA7: Change in environmental habitat is optimistic

297,116£                                 

Total 380,438,326£                          pv max. eligible GiA 31,538,187£                            

1,366,801£                              

OM4
-£                                        

 60% least deprived

2023

341,186,047£                          

23,416,026£                            

4,556,003£                              

SECTION 8: Qualifying benefits and eligible FCERM GiA arising from project

OM3

3,864,302£                              1,738,936£                              

OM2

7,060,722£                              

4,683,205£                              

89,135£                                   

58,110£                                   

Arable land

Type of habitat (OM4A)

-£                                        Page 238



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Appendices 

 

APPENDIX E: 

Risk Register 

  

Page 239



1 Negligible 1 < 10 %

Project: 2 Minor 2 11% - 25%

Date reviewed: 3 Moderate 3 26% - 50%

Reviewed by: 4 Major 4 51% - 80%

Revisoin: 5 Catastrophic 5 > 80%

1) Raw risk score: a “worst case scenario” assuming that no controls are functioning.

2) Current risk score: the present situation taking into account all controls that are believed to be functioning. All controls currently in place should be recorded.

3) Target risk score: the situation we aim to reach once any further controls are put in place and are fully-functioning. This records the residual risk that the council is willing to accept.

Ref Due to [CAUSE] [EVENT] could occur Results in [IMPACT] Risk 

Cat

Risk 

Type

Risk owner I L Score Response to date I L Score Risk Rating Current 

Date

Response Strategy to Reduce Risk 

Score

Target 

Date

I L Score

001 Covid-19 Impact on future streetscape 

layout/ policy (e.g. wider streets)

Change to design 

requirements, layout and 

perception of public 

realm space
E T

Client/ 

Designer

3 3 9 Develop design options at OBC stage based 

on current design standards with consideration 

of potential opportunities, trends and changes in 

expectations for public realm usages/ layout 

where practicable

3 3 9 Medium 0

002 Covid-19 Project Delay (delay in survey 

work, engagement, staff availability 

etc.)

Delay in strategy delivery

E T

Client 3 3 9 Monitor evolving changes and integrate 

potential delay uncertainties into OBC 

programme

2 3 6 Low 0

003 Third party support Land ownership  & stakeholder 

agreements, land acquisition, 

liabilities and delay in agreements

Delays to programme / 

abortive work and 

change events incurring 

more fees if land owners 

don’t agree

E T

Client 4 2 8 Prepare and implement stakeholder 

engagement plan early in OBC to influence 

strategy development (inc. key stakeholders, 

organisations, land owners, user groups, and 

other relevant interested parties).

3 2 6 Low 0

004 Strategy Endorsement Delay to adoption and/ or delivery 

of strategy

Delay in strategy delivery

E T

Client 4 2 8 Clear governance structure, reporting, progress/ 

review and programme identified and 

continually reviewed

3 2 6 Low 0

005 Funding Funding - delays in negotiating 

GiA and third party contributions

Project start delayed

E T

Client 4 3 12 Develop funding strategy and refine project 

costs further during OBC through further 

assessment and survey work to increase 

confidence and reduce funding gap (if gap 

identified).

3 2 6 Low 0

006 Funding Strategy benefit and cost certainty 

and potential resulting funding gap 

(both GiA and third party funding)

Delay in strategy delivery 

or feasibility if funding 

cannot be achieved.

E T

Client 4 3 12 Undertake comprehensive modelling to 

establish robust damages/benefits assessment. 

Develop funding strategy and refine project 

costs further during OBC through further 

assessment and survey work to increase 

confidence and reduce funding gap (if gap 

identified).

3 3 9 Medium 0

007 Planning & Consents Objection by statutory body to 

planning application and/ or 

environmental consents

Potential for delay and 

potential for increase in 

cost for additional 

studies and mitigation 

measures (see Ref. 009 - 

012).

E T

Client 4 3 12 Prepare and implement stakeholder 

engagement plan early in OBC to influence 

strategy development (inc. key stakeholders, 

organisations, land owners, user groups, and 

other relevant interested parties).

4 2 8 Medium 0

008 Planning & Consents Objection by non statutory 

organisation/ group or individuals

Potential for delay from 

local resistance and 

opposition with linked 

potential for missed 

opportunity for 

engagement / funding to 

provide wider scheme 

enhancement/ 

efficiencies

E T

Client 4 3 12 Prepare and implement stakeholder 

engagement plan early in OBC to influence 

strategy development (inc. key stakeholders, 

organisations, land owners, user groups, and 

other relevant interested parties).

3 2 6 Low 0

009 Environmental 

assessment/ impacts

Requirement for further 

environmental assessment work

Potential for delay and 

potential for increase in 

cost for additional 

studies and mitigation 

measures.

E T

Client 4 3 12 Prepare and implement stakeholder 

engagement plan early in OBC development to 

influence strategy development with relevant 

engagement and pre-app/ scoping/ screening 

identify further proportionate environmental 

assessment work, project risks, mitigation 

requirements and opportunities to inform the 

cost plan, programme and design. 

(Engagement inc. key stakeholders, 

organisations, land owners, user groups, and 

other relevant interested parties)

3 2 6 Low

010 Environmental 

assessment/ impacts

Identification of protected species Programme delay, further 

assessment work and 

mitigation leading to 

restricted seasonal 

working and increased 

cost associated to 

mitigation
E T

Client 4 3 12 Prepare and implement stakeholder 

engagement plan early in OBC development to 

influence strategy development with relevant 

engagement and pre-app/ scoping/ screening 

identify further proportionate environmental 

assessment work, project risks, mitigation 

requirements and opportunities to inform the 

cost plan, programme and design. 

(Engagement inc. key stakeholders, 

organisations, land owners, user groups, and 

other relevant interested parties)

3 2 6 Low 0

011 Environmental 

assessment/ impacts

Safeguarding/ enhancement to 

designated sites

Programme delay, further 

assessment work and 

mitigation leading to 

restricted seasonal 

working and increased 

cost associated to 

mitigation
E T

Client 4 3 12 Prepare and implement stakeholder 

engagement plan early in OBC development to 

influence strategy development with relevant 

engagement and pre-app/ scoping/ screening 

identify further proportionate environmental 

assessment work, project risks, mitigation 

requirements and opportunities to inform the 

cost plan, programme and design. 

(Engagement inc. key stakeholders, 

organisations, land owners, user groups, and 

other relevant interested parties)

3 2 6 Low 0

012 Environmental 

assessment/ impacts

Construction/ operational potential 

impacts and management (e.g. 

noise, dust, vibration, pollution, 

transport, heritage etc.)

Programme delay, further 

assessment work and 

mitigation leading to 

restricted seasonal 

working and increased 

cost associated to 

mitigation
E T

Client 4 3 12 Prepare and implement stakeholder 

engagement plan early in OBC development to 

influence strategy development with relevant 

engagement and pre-app/ scoping/ screening 

identify further proportionate environmental 

assessment work, project risks, mitigation 

requirements and opportunities to inform the 

cost plan, programme and design. 

(Engagement inc. key stakeholders, 

organisations, land owners, user groups, and 

other relevant interested parties)

3 2 6 Low 0

013 Earthworks/ Ground 

Penetrating works

Impact on utility infrastructure, 

buried services/ assets 

Impact on design 

feasibility and result in 

programme delay and 

increased cost for 

bespoke design 

alterations

E T

Client 4 3 12 Proportionate survey work to be undertaken to 

inform design development. Preliminary 

investigations (e.g. desk top study) to be 

undertaken at OBC stage with further 

requirements idented to inform future design 

development

3 2 6 Low 0

014 Earthworks/ Ground 

Penetrating works

UXO Delay to construction and 

cost implication to 

resolve unforeseen 

constraints
E T

Client 4 3 12 Proportionate survey work to be undertaken to 

inform design development. Preliminary 

investigations (e.g. desk top study) to be 

undertaken at OBC stage with further 

requirements idented to inform future design 

development

3 2 6 Low 0

015 Earthworks/ Ground 

Penetrating works

Marine debris/ shipwrecks Delay to construction and 

cost implication to 

resolve unforeseen 

constraints
E T

Client 4 3 12 Proportionate survey work to be undertaken to 

inform design development. Preliminary 

investigations (e.g. desk top study) to be 

undertaken at OBC stage with further 

requirements idented to inform future design 

development

3 2 6 Low 0

016 Earthworks/ Ground 

Penetrating works

Contaminated land Mobilisation/ pollution 

during works if not 

identified prior to works 

that require remediation 

or disposal resulting in 

programme delay/ 

increase cost

E T

Client 4 3 12 Proportionate survey work to be undertaken to 

inform design development. Preliminary 

investigations (e.g. desk top study) to be 

undertaken at OBC stage with further 

requirements idented to inform future design 

development

3 2 6 Low 0

(L) Likelihood(I) Impact

Rare

Unlikely

Possible

Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM SOC

14/05/2021

Core Project Team

Risk Details 3) Target Response1) Raw 2) Current Response

Likely

Almost certainv3.0

Page 240



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Appendices 

 

APPENDIX F: 

Tidal Barrier Report 

  

Page 241



Weymouth Tidal Barrier
Tidal Barrier Advice

P03

17 March 2021

Dorset Council

SCH3241

Page 242



Page 243



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 i

Weymouth Tidal Barrier

Project No: B2416400

Document Title: Tidal Barrier Advice

Document No.: B2416400/001

Revision: P03

Document Status: Final

Date: 17 March 2021

Client Name: Dorset Council

Client No: SCH3241

Author: Russell Corney

File Name: Weymouth Tidal Barrier Advice Report vP03 Final

Jacobs U.K. Limited

Aperture @, Pynes Hill Court, Pynes Hill, Exeter EX2 5SP

www.jacobs.com

© Copyright 2019 Jacobs U.K. Limited. The concepts and information contained in this document are the property of Jacobs. Use or copying of
this document in whole or in part without the written permission of Jacobs constitutes an infringement of copyright.

Limitation:  This document has been prepared on behalf of, and for the exclusive use of Jacobs’ client, and is subject to, and issued in accordance with, the
provisions of the contract between Jacobs and the client.  Jacobs accepts no liability or responsibility whatsoever for, or in respect of, any use of, or reliance
upon, this document by any third party.

Page 244



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 ii

Tidal Bar rier A dvice
D
o
r
s
e
t
C
o
u
n
c
i
l

Weymouth Tidal Barrier – Tidal Barrier Advice

Document history and status

Revision Date Description Author Checked Reviewed Approved

P01 22 Feb 2021 Draft for client review RC RH CS CS

P02 08 March 2021 Final RC RH CS CS

P03 17 March 2021 Final RC RH CS CS

Distribution of copies

Revision Issue
approved

Date
issued

Issued to Comments

P01 Draft 22/02/21 Client For review and comment

P02 Final 12/03/21 Client Final

P03 Final 18/03/21 Client Section 2.2 amended

Page 245



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 iii

Contents
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................ 1

2. Function ................................................................................................................................................................... 2

2.1 Current Preferred Option ..................................................................................................................................................... 2

2.2 Gate Type ................................................................................................................................................................................... 2

2.3 Flood Defences ........................................................................................................................................................................ 6

2.4 Storage of Fluvial Flows during Barrier Closure.......................................................................................................... 6

3. Construction ............................................................................................................................................................ 8

3.1 Space for Construction ......................................................................................................................................................... 8

3.2 Access for Construction ........................................................................................................................................................ 9

3.3 Harbour Operations during Construction ...................................................................................................................... 9

3.4 Barrier Foundation and Seepage Cutoff ..................................................................................................................... 10

3.5 Existing Services and Infrastructure ............................................................................................................................. 10

3.6 Temporary Construction Impacts .................................................................................................................................. 10

3.7 Seasonal Constraints .......................................................................................................................................................... 10

4. Operation & Maintenance ................................................................................................................................. 12

4.1 Gate Configuration .............................................................................................................................................................. 12

4.2 Operational Site and Building ......................................................................................................................................... 12

4.3 Silt and Dredging ................................................................................................................................................................. 12

4.4 Harbour Operations ............................................................................................................................................................ 13

4.5 Frequency of Barrier Operation ...................................................................................................................................... 14

4.6 Stop Logs ................................................................................................................................................................................ 14

4.7 Navigation Lock .................................................................................................................................................................... 14

4.8 Responsible Authority ........................................................................................................................................................ 15

5. Further Studies .................................................................................................................................................... 16

5.1 Studies ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 16

6. Delivery Programme .......................................................................................................................................... 18

6.1 Programme Stages .............................................................................................................................................................. 18

6.2 Programme ............................................................................................................................................................................ 19

6.3 Consenting Route ................................................................................................................................................................ 19

6.4 Costs .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 20

6.5 Barrier Costs ........................................................................................................................................................................... 20

7. Conclusions .......................................................................................................................................................... 22

Appendix A. Client Brief

Page 246



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 iv

Limitation Statement

This report was prepared for the exclusive use of Dorset Council and its designated representatives. Any use a
third party makes of this report, or any reliance on or decisions made based on it are the responsibility of such
third parties. Jacobs UK Ltd (Jacobs) accepts no responsibility for damages suffered by any third party as a result
of decisions made or actions taken based on this report.

The sole purpose of this report is to give advice on the location and type of a proposed tidal barrier at Weymouth
and the studies and process required to deliver such a structure.

Any information received from Dorset Council or that is in the public domain is presumed accurate in preparing
the report.

No warranty or guarantee, whether express or implied, is made with respect to the data reported or to the
findings, observations and conclusions expressed in this report.

The report is to be read in full with no excerpts to be representative of the findings.

The report is based on the conditions and constraints apparent at the time of writing, changes to any of these
conditions and constraints may require the report to be re-evaluated.

Page 247



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 1

1. Introduction

Dorset Council as the Flood Risk Management Authority are developing a long-term solution to flood and
coastal erosion risk to the harbour and esplanade areas of Weymouth. The Council have produced and internally
adopted the Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood & Coastal Risk Management Strategy, WSP, 2020 which sets
out an adaptive pathway for managing the risks over the next 100 years. The Strategy includes improvements to
flood and coastal defences, with the option of a tidal surge barrier in Weymouth harbour. In the absence of any
formally approved FCRM Strategy for this area, the Council have been advised to produce a Strategic Outline
Case (SOC) as the first step to securing central government funding through Flood Defence Grant in Aid.

In order to inform the development of the SOC by WSP, Jacobs have been asked to undertake a review of
previous work relating to the tidal barrier and advise on the practicality of the current proposals with regard to
the spatial requirements of the barrier and associated infrastructure. The intention is to safeguard land in
Weymouth for flood risk management infrastructure within the developing Dorset Local Plan. The Brief is
included in Appendix A.

The documents reviewed as part of the study are:

· Weymouth Quay Regeneration Scheme (WQRS) Design and Access Statement, Clarity:NS Ltd, 2020

· WQRS Current Design_v1, AustinSmithLord, 2020

· Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk Management Strategy, WSP, 2020

· Weymouth Inundation Modelling Study, JBA, 2019

· Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study, JacksonHyder, 2018

· Weymouth Model Updates, JBA, 2016

· Weymouth Flood Risk Management Strategy, Royal Haskoning, 2010

A site visit was undertaken on 8 February 2021 by Rob Thomas (Dorset Council), Alan Frampton (BCP Council),
Jamie Joyce (Harbour Master), John Buttivant (Environment Agency) and Russell Corney (Jacobs).

As part of the review we have considered the current preferred barrier location and sites downstream. We have
not considered sites upstream because we do not consider that they would be practical in terms of construction,
siting an operational site and building, and connecting to flood defences linking the barrier to high ground.

Page 248



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 2

2. Function

2.1 Current Preferred Option

The primary function of a tidal barrier in Weymouth Harbour would be to exclude extreme tides that would
otherwise cause flooding by entering the harbour and overtopping the harbour walls. To prevent the barrier
being bypassed by overland flood water, the barrier would be connected to high ground by flood defences on
the south bank and to raised defences along the open coast Esplanade on the north bank.

The current preferred location of the barrier is between Custom House Quay on the north bank of the harbour
and Nothe Parade on the south bank, WSP, 2020. The preferred barrier gate type are mitre gates which would
close a single, 24m opening in the barrier structure, the gates would be approximately 9m high, JacksonHyder,
2018. We understand that the preferred location was based mainly on cost considerations given the narrower
width of the harbour at this location.

Whilst the barrier gates were closed, preventing outflow from the harbour, fluvial flows in the River Wey would be
stored in Radipole Lake upstream of Westham Bridge.

2.2 Gate Type

Various gate types were considered by JacksonHyder in 2018 with mitre gates being recommended as the best
solution for the site due to the simplicity of design and operation. We have considered potential alternatives to
mitre gates and whether these may be appropriate for conditions in Weymouth.

Vertical lift gates have advantages in silty marine environments because the gate and all the operating gear are
out of the water and accessible for maintenance. The gate can be used to clear silt away from the sill by creating
a differential head across the barrier and sluicing silt downstream. The design and manufacture of vertical lift
gates is also relatively simple compared to other gate types. The main disadvantage of vertical lift gates on a
navigable waterway is that when raised in the open position they have to be high enough to allow vessels to pass
underneath. At Weymouth there are tall masted vessels that use the marina, so the gate would have to be held
above mast height. If the clearance required is say 20m, the gate is 10m tall and the gate operating gear is above
the gate, then the overall height of the barrier structure could be 35 – 40m above water level, this equates to a
10 – 12 storey building. The height can be reduced if the gate moves to the horizontal in the open position, like
Hull Barrier. A vertical lift gate would have a very significant visual impact in the harbour and would obstruct the
important views up and down the harbour. A photo of Hull Barrier vertical lift gate in included in Figure 3.

Sector gates whether rising or vertical are a very robust gate design for tidal barriers and, can operate against
differential heads and in the case of vertical sector gates (VSG) have low power requirements for operation and
can clear silt from the sill. They also do not require a significant height of structure above the top of the gate.
They are however a relatively complex design and require large recesses either in the bed or in the sides of the
structure to house the gate in the open position, however this would not be an issue at Weymouth where there is
plenty of channel width available. The key advantage of VSGs is that they can operate against differential head in
either direction and are therefore more flexible in operation than mitre gates. This might be important at
Weymouth depending on the operational regime required. The main disadvantage is that VSGs are generally
more expensive than mitre gates to construct. Silt accretion in the gate recesses can be an issue unless a
significant head differential can be regularly created across the gate to then generate the velocity and duration
of flow required to flush the silt out.

Rising sector gates have been constructed at Ipswich and Boston, but these had secondary requirements to
impound water upstream to control flow velocities or for navigation, which justified the additional cost. These
requirements seem unlikely for Weymouth.

Mitre gates are a relatively simple gate type and have been successfully used for surge barriers in the UK. The
gates would be closed to exclude extreme tides and then opened on the falling tide to release fluvial flows
stored upstream during barrier closure. The gates would be open and closed by a hydraulic ram connected nearPage 249



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 3

the top of the gate. They could open under gravity as the tide falls if the mechanical operating equipment failed.
When open, the barrier would allow free flow in and out of the harbour. The sill of the structure should be at, or
slightly above normal bed level of the channel. Examples of tidal barrier mitre gates in the UK include the Colne
Tidal Barrier (Figure 1) and Ipswich Wet Dock Gate (Figure 2).

Figure 1 - Colne Barrier – mitre gate, 30m wide opening, overall width 130m

© 2021 Google

Mitre gates

Operational
building

River Colne

Side sluices

Page 250



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 4

Figure 2 – Ipswich Wet Dock Gate - mitre gate,15m wide opening

Figure 3 – Hull Barrier from A63 bridge – vertical lift gate, 30m opening, clearance 23m above
normal water level

© 2021 Google

Vertical lift
gate turned
horizontal

River Hull

Page 251



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 5

The key issues with mitre gates are:

1. They can only be opened once the downstream (tidal) water level has fallen to the upstream water level.
This dictates the closure period and means they cannot be opened early against the tide in an
emergency. A separate sluicing arrangement is sometimes included in the barrier structure to allow
water levels to be equalised across the gate. However, the advantage is that if the gate fails in the closed
position then the head of water upstream will open the gate as the tide falls, unlike a vertical lift or
sector gate which require mechanical opening. The likely gate operating sequence is given in Figure 4.

2. Debris or silt on the sill can cause problems with gate closure and with returning the gate to its recess in
the open position. Depending on the silt load in the harbour, jetting systems or sluices in the gate may
be required to keep the sill and recesses clear.

3. Mitre gates are normally designed to include some level of buoyancy within them and can therefore be
affected by wave action. In their open position they are latched back to mitigate against this movement
caused by waves/boatwash. In their closed position, if waves are a problem, the design and level of
buoyancy can usually be modified to prevent this being an issue. The wave conditions at the barrier
locations would need to be studied to establish overtopping, wave impact and the dynamic effects of
wave action on the gates so as to inform the design of the gates.

4. The gate buoyancy is an advantage for gate replacement as it allows the gates to be floated out of
position and taken to the quayside for removal by crane and/or lifting on to a barge. VSGs and other
non-buoyant gate types require lifting by a crane directly from the barrier structure. This would require a
much bigger mobile crane than lifting a gate from the quayside.

Mitre gates can be manually operated in an emergency as follows:

· Using hand wound winches or tirfors with winch ropes – to avoid hand winding battery driven winches
are very often used but are limited in pull to say 6 to 8 tonne capacity.

· The size of winch required for a Weymouth barrier would most likely dictate that they are fixed in situ
within a removable secure protective housing.

· If manually winching, the Weymouth size mitre gate will probably take some time (circa half an hour)
with 1000s of hand winds, although with correct gearing ratio on the winch, up to a limit, a power drill
with suitable chuck on the end can be used – similar to actuators for operating sluice gates if power fails.

· Each leaf of the mitre gate needs to be connected to two winches – one pulling and one paying out – so
you keep control of the gate leaf. The hydraulic ram/cylinder will have been put into free flow, so no
control is offered by it.

· Normally the gate leaves have an access walkway on the top – this enables the operator to walk out
along the gate and latch on the winch rope.

· The key issue is that this operation would be limited to operating in same time frame and tidal
conditions as if the gate was operating normally other than when needing to open the gate with the tide
going out or in limited circumstances closing it as the tide is coming in.

· The issue is that by the time all the other redundancy measures have been tried and failed, it could mean
that deployment of the gate using the winches is happening 30 minutes later than planned and only
completes 30 minutes thereafter – so head differential is starting to build up as the tide starts to rise or
fall.

Page 252



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 6

Based on the discussion above we consider that mitre gates are probably the most appropriate gate type for a
Weymouth barrier. However, once all the conditions and constraints in the harbour are understood and the likely
frequency of closure and the timing of barrier operation relative to the tide has been established, a more
detailed study into gate types involving a gate design specialist and considering the advantages and
disadvantages of the leading options including VSGs should be carried out

2.3 Flood Defences

In order to form a continuous defence, the barrier would be connected to flood defences that extend to:

1. High ground at The Nothe on the south bank. These defences would be relatively straightforward
wherever the barrier is located due to the close proximity of the rising ground, although the defences
may have to cross privately owned land.

2. The Esplanade defences. This would require a defence to extend across the ‘neck’ of the Peninsula and
may require flood gates across the highway. This arrangement is relatively complicated, but this type of
defence has been successfully achieved at locations in the UK; e.g. a series of highway flood gates
recently constructed by the Environment Agency for Exeter Flood Defence Scheme and under
construction at Exmouth Tidal Defence Scheme. Existing services are often the main problem as the
defences and gates require substantial foundations and often a seepage cutoff under the foundation.

The further upstream in the harbour the barrier is located, the longer the connected flood defences are likely to
be, with associated impacts on construction, cost, visual amenity and harbour operations.

2.4 Storage of Fluvial Flows during Barrier Closure

The main technical issue with the operation of tidal barrier would appear to be the storage of fluvial flows from
the River Wey during barrier closure. JacksonHyder carried out a high-level assessment of this issue in 2018 and
concluded that there was probably insufficient storage in Radipole Lake in the future and that pumping out of
the harbour may be required during barrier closures in order to limit water levels upstream of the barrier.

Whether a tidal barrier is constructed in the harbour or not, fluvial flood risk upstream of Westham Bridge will be
an issue in the future as sea levels rise causing longer periods of tide locking and as peak river flows increase
requiring larger volumes of water to be stored. Therefore, a catchment scale strategy for fluvial flood risk
management is likely to be required and this could help to solve the issue of fluvial storage for a barrier scheme
through passive rather than active measures. If pumping is the only option in the future, then space will need to
be allocated for a pumping station. As an example, Ipswich barrier may require a 20 m3/s pumping station in the
future as there is no ability to create additional upstream storage to deal with the estimated 30% increase in
fluvial flows that may occur due to climate change.

Excluding extreme tides from the harbour could help to manage surface water flood risk in Weymouth by
reducing groundwater flooding behind defences and reducing tide locking of surface water systems. However
this is always very difficult to manage as the barrier gate has to be deployed based on a 12 hour forecast of what
the rainfall intensity is likely to be. Forecasting error may mean closing the gates far more frequently and with a
lot greater impact on navigation.

To progress a tidal barrier scheme with confidence this is an issue that needs to be studied further to ensure that
there is a viable, sustainable and affordable solution. We would agree with JacksonHyder that a joint probability
analysis of tidal and fluvial events should be carried out followed by further hydraulic modelling of scenarios
(including climate change allowances and surge tide shapes) to determine the best use of the available storage
and to investigate potential fluvial and pluvial flood risk management measures.

The timing of barrier closure on the incoming tide will require further investigation; refer to Figure 4.

Page 253



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 7

· If the barrier is closed around low water before the forecast surge tide, then the maximum amount of
upstream storage volume for fluvial flows will be available in Radipole Lake and in the harbour but, more
fluvial flow will require storage because the barrier will be closed for longer. The harbour will be closed
to navigation for the longest period of time.

· If the barrier is closed as late as possible on the incoming tide, then there will be less upstream storage
volume available but, less fluvial flow will require storage because the barrier will be closed for the
minimum period of time. The harbour will be closed to navigation for the shortest time.

Barrier open - tide flows in and
out

Surge tide expected - barrier
closed on incoming tide.

Peak of the tide – fluvial flow
stored upstream.

Tide falls - barrier opened
when tide level below
upstream water level

Figure 4 – Barrier operation sequence

Page 254



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 8

3. Construction

3.1 Space for Construction

A key issue for the location of the barrier will be adequate landside and waterside space to construct the
structure. Barrier construction is a relatively large scale and heavy-duty operation requiring large plant such as
cranes and piling rigs and extensive temporary works as well as offices, welfare facilities, parking and material
storage areas. Space is also required to safely manoeuvre plant, separate the workforce and plant and lay down
materials. Ensuring that the works can be constructed in a safe manner is a requirement of the Construction
(Design and Management) Regulations 2015. The construction sites for Ipswich and Boston barriers are shown in
Figures 6 and 7. The main construction compounds for these projects had an area of approximately 2,500m2

and 3,300m2 respectively.

The current preferred barrier location at Custom House Quay to Nothe
Parade has very little space on the south bank with only 4m between
the face of the buildings and the edge of the quay. On the north bank
(Figure 5), the platform between the road and the edge of the quay is
approximately 8m wide, using the whole platform for the construction
compound would give an area of approximately 1,200m2, although it
would be a long, thin compound and not ideal.

Figure 5 – Limited space at Custom House Quay

From a construction point of view, a barrier located at the Peninsula would offer the opportunity of a suitably
sized construction compound on the north bank. A compound of 2,500-3,000m2 could be accommodated
However, this will need to take into account the WQRS proposals and be sited accordingly. The compound may
even have to be split in two, although this would be less desirable. There is very little room on the south bank,
although there is a boat yard and an area behind the inshore lifeboat station that could be utilised if agreement
could be reached with the landowner.

In order to access the southern barrier pier from the north side, a crane mounted jack-up barge in the channel
may be required during construction. This is a factor that needs to be considered when planning the barrier
location and configuration. It is likely that the mitre gates would be delivered by sea and craned into position
from a barge.

Figure 6 – Ipswich barrier under construction (left) and completed (right)

Barrier in
cofferdam

Construction
site

Open channel
during construction

Barrier

Control
building

Page 255



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 9

Figure 7 – Boston barrier under construction

3.2 Access for Construction

Suitable access to the construction site for heavy plant and material deliveries is an important consideration. On
the north bank, access to the current preferred location is possible although Custom House Quay is narrow, has
car parking along one side and is directly adjacent to houses. A site at the Peninsula would be much easier to
access from the Esplanade. There is very limited access for light vehicles only to the south bank in either case.

3.3 Harbour Operations during Construction

During the construction of a tidal barrier, given the number of vessels, the commercial interests and its
importance to the town, the harbour will have to remain open. The barrier structure is likely to be constructed
within a piled cofferdam in the harbour and therefore an open channel past one side of the cofferdam will need

© 2021 Google

Barrier in
cofferdam

Control
building

Construction
site Open channel

during construction

Page 256



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 10

to be maintained for navigation. Once the barrier is constructed, the cofferdam would be removed, navigation
would be through the barrier and a closure would be constructed across the open channel.

There needs to be sufficient width at the barrier site to accommodate the cofferdam and the open channel. At
the current preferred location, the harbour is approximately 65m wide and at the Peninsula 80-90m wide. The
cofferdam might be in the order of 30-40m wide so in either location there would be sufficient room for an open
channel of at least 20m width, which would be sufficient for one-way working at least. At the Peninsula there
would probably be sufficient room for two-way working.

The position of the barrier structure across the harbour would need consideration as regards the impact on
berths, silt movement, current velocities, wave action and the natural position of the navigation channel. The
narrower the open channel during construction, the higher the current velocities, and this could impact on
navigation at some states of the tide. This is an issue that could be investigated as part of further hydraulic
modelling studies.

3.4 Barrier Foundation and Seepage Cutoff

British Geological Survey (BGS) data and the ground investigation that has been carried out around the harbour,
JacksonHyder, 2018, indicates that the bedrock geology underlying the site would be Oxford Clay. A review of
the available data should be carried out to confirm whether or not the Oxford Clay is likely to be suitable to
found the barrier structure on and whether a seepage cutoff under the barrier is likely to be required.

Arrangements will need to be made for the disposal of material excavated for the barrier foundation. This may
be disposal to a licenced area at sea or involve drying out and disposal to land. In either case the excavated
material will require testing to check for contamination. For the Marine Licence, a sampling plan is usually
required and agreed in advance with the Marine Management Organisation (MMO).

3.5 Existing Services and Infrastructure

Existing services and infrastructure can have a significant impact on the barrier construction and the costs of
construction, particularly if services need diversion to make space for construction or underground infrastructure
has to be moved. Potential barrier sites should therefore be reviewed against available site information and
further surveys carried out if data is incomplete to identify any issues that could impact on barrier construction.

Services routes to the barrier and operational building also need to be considered. For resilience, two separate
power supplies from different parts of the grid are often provided.

3.6 Temporary Construction Impacts

Construction of a large barrier structure will have temporary adverse impacts on the local environment. These
could include noise and vibration, additional traffic, closure of rights of way and visual impact. These impacts can
be managed and mitigated to an acceptable level; however this will be more difficult to achieve with a barrier site
nearer the centre of the town and easier to achieve with a site more remote from the centre. Objections to
consent applications are more likely to be made and sustained on the basis of construction impacts if the site is
near to residential properties and businesses, particularly if it can be demonstrated that a suitable alternative is
available that has lower impacts.

3.7 Seasonal Constraints

There may be programme constraints on the construction programme related to tourism, ecology or human
impacts. These should be established early in the project development so that they can be included in
construction programming and costing.

Due to the high establishment and running costs of the barrier construction site, the objective should be to have
continuous construction operations without seasonal breaks or significant working hours or noise restrictions etc.Page 257



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 11

This is likely to be more achievable at a site at the Peninsula rather than at the current preferred location. There
is also a reduced risk of delays or restrictions accessing the site due to traffic congestion at a Peninsula site.

Page 258



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 12

4. Operation & Maintenance

4.1 Gate Configuration

The current proposed configuration for the barrier is for a single 24m opening with mitre gates. Most tidal
barriers in the UK, with various gate types, have a single opening. However, during the development of
Bridgwater Tidal Barrier, discussions with Environment Agency operations teams indicated that twin gates with a
smaller span would have some advantages. These included:

· Smaller gates (and stop logs) to install, maintain and replace, requiring smaller and more readily
available mobile cranes or floating plant;

· Flexibility of operation, allowing one gate to be removed or maintained in place while still maintaining
the operability of the barrier by closing off the gate opening with stop logs;

· Two-way navigation through separate barrier openings one for outgoing and one for incoming vessels.

The main disadvantage is the additional capital cost of a central pier to the barrier and 2 sets of all operating
equipment.

A twin opening solution was adopted for Bridgwater and is worth consideration at Weymouth.

4.2 Operational Site and Building

Tidal barriers generally have an associated operational building close to the barrier containing the control room,
electrical/machinery room, backup generator, stores for spare parts, offices and welfare facilities. They are often
two storey with the control room on the first floor to allow visibility upstream and downstream of the barrier. The
critical operational equipment requires additional flood protection, the current EA standard is for greater than
the 0.1% AEP (1 in 1000 year) flood level, to ensure that the barrier remains operational even if an exceedance
design event occurs. At Ipswich the operational building has a footprint of about 140m2, at Colne 170m2, at
Boston 200m2 and at Bridgwater 600m2.

Most barriers have a dedicated operational site on one side, directly adjacent to the barrier. The site contains the
operational building, storage and parking and also provides space for operational and maintenance activities.
Off-site storage for spare parts is also an option. It is preferable if it is on-site for easy access during planned and
unplanned maintenance and for exercising of key spares to ensure that they are ready for immediate use, but
other locations can be considered if space at the site is a constraint. The size and orientation of the site depends
on the land available, the size of the building, which should not obstruct access to the barrier, and space required
for a mobile crane or other plant. The security of the barrier also needs consideration and normally the public
are excluded from the barrier structure. Current EA guidance for critical infrastructure requires 2.4m high fencing
and a secure compounds at the barrier to control public access and safeguard the safety and security of staff and
their vehicles and equipment.

At Weymouth, the visual impact of a building will need careful consideration given the town conservation area
and the setting of listed buildings and scheduled monuments.

Space and visual impact considerations in particular would indicate that an operational site and building at the
current preferred barrier location would be difficult to achieve.

4.3 Silt and Dredging

If silt accumulates on the gate sill this could cause a problem with fully closing the gates in a timely manner
when required. In order to mitigate the risk of silt accretion the following may be required:

Page 259



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 13

· The design of the barrier and sill should minimise silt accretion with the sill at, or just above normal
channel bed level, if this cannot be achieved then:

· The barrier is likely to be operated once or twice a month to check its operation, this can be used to
check for obstructions and sweep silt from the sill;

· A water jetting system mounted near the bottom of the gate to agitate silt. This should be a last resort if
other methods are unlikely to be successful.

The gate sill should be set at a level that helps it to self-clear either through flows in and out of the harbour or by
the action of passing vessels. Ideally it would be set at, or just below the target dredged channel level.

Silt may also accrete upstream of the barrier due to the reduction in current velocities when the barrier is closed.
A review of the hydraulic modelling results with the barrier included should indicate if this is likely to be an issue.

The scale of the problem will depend on the rate of silt accretion around the barrier. A way to understand this
might be to review bathymetric survey records around Town Bridge to see how silt accretes around the
abutments and at what rate.

We understand that the current dredge method is plough dredging on approximately a 5-year basis. We assume
that the plough dredging re-distributes bed material or moves some of it into suspension to be removed by the
outgoing tide. This method is unlikely to be useable around the barrier structure because of the risk of damaging
the structure or the dredging equipment. Instead, suction dredging or water injection dredging is likely to be
required around the barrier. Suction dredging would remove silt from the water and it would therefore need to
be disposed of elsewhere. This could require a disposal licence.

4.4 Harbour Operations

A barrier will be a hazard to navigation in the harbour and will require the normal aids to navigation. The barrier
will be open most of the time and should allow 2-way traffic. If the barrier has a single 24m opening, then
hydraulic conditions through the barrier will be similar to those at the Town Bridge. As the tidal prism is
constrained by Westham Bridge and the relatively small tidal range, the current velocities through the structure
are not likely to be excessive, although this could be investigated during hydraulic modelling studies. The further
downstream the barrier the more it will be affected by wave action from the harbour entrance.

Barrier operations will need to be coordinated with operation of Town Bridge to ensure that queues of vessels in
the harbour are avoided.

The aids to navigation will probably include signs upstream and downstream of the barrier to warn of its status.
Matrix signs for this purpose have been installed at Boston and are planned for Bridgwater. Waiting pontoons,
buoys or quays are likely to be required downstream (and possibly upstream) of the barrier so vessels can wait
safely during closures. The number and location of these will need to be determined in consultation with the
harbourmaster and through the Navigation Risk Assessment. Those downstream of the barrier (especially if the
barrier is at the Peninsula) will be subject to wave action and will need to be designed accordingly. Their safety of
use in such conditions will also need to be addressed.

The current preferred location of the barrier would not impact on either lifeboat stationed in the harbour. If the
barrier was constructed at the peninsula it would certainly impact on the all weather lifeboat and could affect the
inshore lifeboat. In this case, it may be necessary to relocate the lifeboats and early consultation with the RNLI is
therefore recommended.

The barrier could affect the position and number of berths in the harbour and this would need to be factored into
the planning of a barrier. In particular, silt is very likely to accumulate in the corners of the closure walls from the
barrier piers to the quay side, both upstream and downstream of the barrier. This could affect the position and
depth of berths available in these locations.

Page 260



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 14

The impact of the barrier on fishing operations and other commercial users in the harbour will be a key
consideration as barrier closures could disrupt their operations. Early consultation with these user groups will be
key to understand their concerns and how they might be accommodated. Fishing operations were an important
issue in the representations on the Boston Barrier TWAO. We understand that it is proposed that the fish landing
quay is to be relocated to the Peninsula, just downstream of the Pavilion, (WQRS, 2020). This might therefore be
the downstream limit of the potential barrier sites.

4.5 Frequency of Barrier Operation

A key issue for the development of a barrier project, the gate type, the environmental impact assessment and
maintenance will be the frequency of barrier operation. The barrier will be closed against surge tides forecast
above a certain level but also for maintenance purposes. Barrier closures for surge tides are likely to last a few
hours (2 or 3 hours JacksonHyder, 2018), closures for maintenance would be planned and might last 1 hour.

The trigger for barrier closure would need to be decided. This might be a forecast of an extreme still water level
and wave height. Once the potential for extreme conditions is forecast, the barrier would be staffed and then
closed once the water level reaches a pre-determined level. The lower the trigger level the more frequently the
barrier would be closed. The frequency and duration of barrier closure will increase with time due to sea level
rise. The more the barrier is operated the more maintenance and replacement of parts will be required.

The location of the barrier would not affect the frequency of operation, but it could have a small impact on the
duration of closure due to variations in upstream storage volumes in the harbour.

4.6 Stop Logs

Mitres gates are likely to require full refurbishment every 20-25 years. This could involve removal of the gates
and refurbishment elsewhere or replacement with a new set of gates.

Removal of the gates for refurbishment elsewhere would leave the barrier without its tidal defence function for
several weeks. In this case, stop logs could be installed across the opening to impound water in the harbour and
provide tidal defence. Fluvial flows could be released through sluices in the structure, but navigation would not
be possible. Alternatively, the opening could be left open, with the harbour remaining operational, but there
would be no tidal defence.

If there were two openings in the barrier, one set of gates could be removed and replaced with stop logs,
maintaining the harbour and flood defence functions. The stop logs would be shorter than for a single opening
but would still be required to the full gate height.

For gate replacement the removal and replacement might take about a week, in which case stop logs would
probably not be required.

Stop logs are substantial items as they are long and have to resist the hydraulic loads. Some barriers have had
stop logs supplied with the barrier and stored in the operational site. Others have made provision for them to be
fabricated for the first planned use. In other cases, e.g. Hull barrier, the gate has been refurbished in situ at a time
of year when the risk of a surge tide is very low.

The gate refurbishment or replacement strategy needs to be considered during the concept or outline design so
that appropriate provision can be made within the structure design and spatial arrangement.

4.7 Navigation Lock

On some schemes there has been pressure to provide a navigation lock in parallel with the barrier so that vessels
can pass even when the barrier is closed. As the frequency of barrier operation increases with time the need for a
lock is said to increase. This will need consideration at Weymouth and will depend on commercial and
recreational interests in the harbour, the predicted frequency of barrier operation and the availability of other

Page 261



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 15

harbours nearby. A lock could be incorporated into the barrier as a second opening or as a single opening with
two sets of gates. Two sets of gates would allow for refurbishment of one set of gates at a time without the need
for stop logs.

Locating a barrier at the Peninsula would make it easier to incorporate a lock due to the extra channel width
available.

4.8 Responsible Authority

Consideration would need to be given at an early stage to which organisation was responsible for operating and
maintaining the barrier. There is a considerable specialist staffing and cost requirement in operating the barrier
regularly and in maintaining it. This would need to be evaluated and accounted for at the Outline Business Case
(OBC) stage in particular when the funding strategy is considered.

Page 262



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 16

5. Further Studies

5.1 Studies

The following studies are recommended to further appraise the technical feasibility of a barrier.

1. A joint probability analysis of extreme tide levels and fluvial flows in the River Wey, including for climate
change scenarios, to determine the probability of coincidence of a barrier closure with fluvial flow
sufficient to exceed the available storage volume. This could also include an assessment of pluvial
flooding related to tide levels.

2. Hydraulic modelling to determine:

· The fluvial flood risk during barrier closures and options for passive mitigation;

· The optimum time to close the barrier and the duration of closure;

· Current velocities around the barrier cofferdam during construction;

· Current velocities through the open barrier structure;

· Potential for siltation within the harbour.

3. Analysis of the frequency of barrier operation accounting for extreme tides, wave height, climate change
scenarios, uncertainty in parameters and the defence levels upstream of the barrier.

4. A more detailed study into the options to confirm the preferred gate type. This should involve a
specialist gate designer and would document the advantages and disadvantages of the various gate
types and the decisions made. This would provide a solid basis for moving forward with a particular gate
design.

5. A concept barrier design phase to explore the form of the barrier, the size and number of openings and
the spatial arrangement in the harbour channel. Although this would only be a concept, it would help to
inform all the subsequent stages of the work, discussions about buildability and construction
methodology and discussions with stakeholders.  It would consider the advantages and disadvantages of
various arrangements and document these and the decisions made.

6. There should be ongoing engagement with the harbour authority, harbour master, harbour users, both
commercial and recreational, and the RNLI. Gathering their views, keeping them informed of progress
and documenting the engagement will be important when it comes to obtaining their support and
demonstrating the adequacy of the process when making consent applications.

7. The ground investigation undertaken and geotechnical data gathered to date should be used to
understand the potential foundation type for the barrier and this will help to inform discussions about
buildability and temporary works. Once the preferred location and type of barrier is firmly fixed, a further
ground investigation, potentially including in-channel boreholes, should be undertaken to provide
sufficient information for detailed design and the Marine Licence.

8. Following the revised assessment of the economic benefits that a scheme involving a barrier would
generate, WSP, 2020, there is scope to reconsider the timing of barrier construction and the
replacement/improvement of harbour walls to find the optimum time to deliver the barrier. It may be
more cost effective to deliver the barrier earlier than beyond 2060, if it reduced the amount of harbour
wall improvement required.

Page 263



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 17

9. The project will need to consider the carbon impact of options and of a preferred barrier scheme. Carbon
impacts are ever more important and central government funding is likely to require that an assessment
identifying the least carbon option and the steps taken to reduce carbon impacts of the preferred option
has been carried out. A carbon assessment will also inform actions to comply with Council policies
related to the Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategy.

Page 264



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 18

6. Delivery Programme

6.1 Programme Stages

The key stages in developing a barrier project from approval of OBC are detailed below.

1. Develop the design of barrier, operational site and building suitable for consent applications, may
include:

· Hydraulic modelling;

· Outline geotechnical, civil, M&E and architectural design;

· Early contractor involvement including construction methodology and temporary works;

· Public and stakeholder engagement including public exhibitions.

This is an important stage to ensure that there is a design sufficiently detailed for subsequent stages and
that it has general support locally such that objections are minimised and the risk of a public inquiry at
consent stage is reduced. The level of effort required at this stage will depend on how much
development has been done at OBC stage.

2. Environmental impact assessment including all baseline surveys, design of mitigation measures and
including preparation of an Environmental Statement for submission with consent applications. The key
topics for assessment were scoped by JacksonHyder in 2018 as part of the Preliminary Environmental
Information.

3. Preparation and submission of consent applications including:

· Transport and Works Act Order (TWAO) or Harbour Revision Order (HRO);

· Planning consent either deemed under the TWAO or separately;

· Marine Licence.

The client will require legal advisors to assist with the preparation of a TWAO or HRO. The preparation of
the documents required for the applications in the form required is a lengthy process and sufficient time
should be allowed for it in the programme.

4. Ground investigation of barrier site. An investigation around the harbour was carried out by
JacksonHyder in 2014. However, an in-channel investigation at the proposed barrier site itself would be
required to inform the detailed design and the temporary works design. Data may also be required for
the Marine Licence application (refer to 6.3) which can be collected at the same time. This is likely to
cost in excess of £1 million due to the requirement for a jackup barge or similar platform. The
investigation could be undertaken at any stage before detailed design but there should be reasonable
confidence that the proposed site will be consented before it is undertaken.

5. Tender for detailed design only or Design and Build (D&B). Once the project is consented, or before if
there is confidence that consent will be granted, a tender for detailed design can be prepared, issued
and assessed and a contract awarded. A tender for D&B will take longer than design only. In either case,
the tender documents should be sufficiently detailed so that the client gets what they want and retains
control over important elements. The client may want to appoint an independent technical advisor to
assist them with the technical aspects of the project. The contract strategy is likely to have been decided
at OBC stage.

Page 265



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 19

6. Detailed design, design only or D&B. Development of the design suitable for tendering and construction.
For a barrier this is a complex process and sufficient time to prepare a well detailed design will reap
benefits at the construction stage and during the lifetime of the scheme in reduced maintenance costs.

7. Construction tender (for design only route). Preparation, issue, tendering and assessment.

8. Preparation and submission of the Full Business Case. Following assessment of the returned tenders and
the selection of the preferred tenderer, the OBC is updated to the FBC and submitted for funding
approval before award of the construction contract.

9. Construction. The construction of both Ipswich and Boston barriers took around 2.5 years, the keys dates
for Ipswich barrier are given below.

Ø Construction start: October 2015

Ø Temporary cofferdam completed: July 2016

Ø Gate delivered: November 2017

Ø Construction completion: April 2018.

An estimate for Weymouth barrier construction would therefore be in the range of 2 – 3 years.

6.2 Programme

An indicative programme of the key project activities is presented at the end of this section. This is based on a
TWAO and a design only then construct contract strategy.

6.3 Consenting Route

Recent tidal barriers at Ipswich and Boston have received consent via a Transport and Works Act Order
determined by the Department for Transport or Defra, because the applicant, the Environment Agency, is not the
harbour authority. If Dorset Council is the applicant and the harbour authority at Weymouth, then it may be
possible to obtain consent via a Harbour Revision Order (works order) determined by the MMO.

If a TWAO route is followed a planning application would be included with the TWAO application and consent
would be deemed under the Order. If a HRO route is followed a separate planning application determined by the
Local Planning Authority is likely to be required.

In either case if there are objections to the Order that cannot be resolved through written representations, then a
public inquiry may be held.

A separate Marine Licence application determined by the MMO will be required for all works below Mean High
Water Springs.

Jacobs are not qualified to give legal advice and Dorset Council should obtain separate advice on the best
consenting route to meet the project needs.

Page 266



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 20

6.4 Costs

Indicative consultant costs (not including legal) for each stage of the delivery programme are given in Table 1.
These costs relate to the barrier and the operational site and building only and not the associated flood
defences.

Stage Indicative Cost (£k)1

1 Develop the design including modelling and consultation 500

2 PEI report, scoping, environmental impact assessment and ES 450

3 Preparation of consent submissions and support to applications (not
including public inquiry)

125

4 Ground investigation scope, tender, supervise, report 175

5 Tendering for detailed design including developing detailed tender
documents

75

6 Detailed design 2,500

7 Tendering for construction 50

8 Full business case 30

TOTAL 3,905

Table 1 – Indicative Project Development Consultant Costs (excluding legal costs)

1 at 2021 rates

6.5 Barrier Costs

For reference, the construction cost of recent tidal barriers in the UK is:

· Ipswich barrier, 20m rising sector date, completed 2018, £25-30 million;

· Bridgwater barrier, 2 x 15m vertical lift gates, planned completion 2027, £60 million;

· Tilbury barrier, replacement of 3 sets of 30m lock mitre gates, planned 2021/22, £30 million.

Page 267



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 21

Activity Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Notes

Approval of OBC

Develop design for consent
applications

Appraise, design, consult

Environmental impact
assessment

Surveys, data collection,
assessment, ES, mitigation
design, WFD

Prepare consent applications Including legal input

Consent determination Likely timescale for TWAO,
assuming no Public Inquiry

Ground investigation Plan, tender, execute, testing,
reporting

Design tender Prepare, issue, tender period,
assess returns

Detailed design Barrier, operational building
and site

Construction tender For design only strategy -
prepare, issue, tender period,
assess returns

Full Business Case and
contract award

To secure funding

Start construction Likely construction period
2 – 3 years

Indicative Project Delivery Programme

P
age 268



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 22

7. Conclusions

The current proposed barrier mitre gates are appropriate given the functional requirements, setting and
constraints. However, once all the conditions and constraints of the proposed barrier location are understood, a
more detailed review of gate types should be undertaken.

The current proposed barrier location between Custom House Quay and Nothe Parade is not appropriate. We
consider that whilst the tidal barrier could operate successfully in this location, given the scale of the
construction operations, there is insufficient space and access to construct the barrier efficiently and safely and
the operations risk significant disruption to the town and harbour. There is also not enough space for the
operational building and site adjacent to the barrier.

We consider that a barrier site further downstream at the Peninsula would be more appropriate. There is
sufficient space available on the north bank to provide a temporary construction compound and a permanent
operational site. There is also sufficient room in the harbour channel for the construction works in a cofferdam
and a parallel open channel for navigation during construction. Based on the size of the construction compound
at previous tidal barriers an allocation of 2,500 to 3,000m2 adjacent to the barrier site would seem appropriate.
The area available for a compound location will be impacted by the WQRS proposals. Access to the site would be
better than sites further upstream and although there would undoubtedly be some impacts on the town during
construction, these would be much reduced compared to the current proposed location. The harbour channel at
the Peninsula at 80-90m wide is wider than at the current proposed location and there would therefore be more
construction work. However, it is likely that this would be outweighed by the efficiency and programme benefits
of having sufficient room for construction and temporary arrangements at the Peninsula. Refer to Figure 8 for
potential barrier locations and indicative size of compound.

The key technical challenge to overcome is the upstream fluvial flood risk and ensuring that there is sufficient
storage volume for fluvial flows during barrier closures. This flood risk exists with or without a barrier scheme
and therefore indicates that an integrated fluvial and tidal flood risk management solution is required for
Weymouth and the River Wey. This will need to be co-developed with the Environment Agency, Lead Local Flood
Authority and Wessex Water.

A key constraint to a barrier at the Peninsula is the location of the lifeboats and fishing and commercial interests.
We would recommend that discussions are held with the RNLI, businesses and user groups at an early stage to
explore options for the lifeboat berths, fish landing and other commercial operations if a barrier is delivered in
the future.

Page 269



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001 23

Figure 8 – Weymouth Harbour at the Peninsula

Pavilion

Lifeboats

© 2021 Google

Potential construction
compound approx.

3000m2

Proposed fish
landing quay

Page 270



Tidal Barrier Advice

B2416400/001

Appendix A. Client Brief

Page 271



 

 Brief for expert tidal barrier 
advice 
15th January 2021 

 
 

Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Strategic Outline Case 

Brief for expert tidal barrier advice 

Prepared by: Alan Frampton 

Reviewed by: Rob Thomas and Matthew Penny 

Date:  15th January 2021 

 

Statement of requirements 

Dorset Council has appointed WSP to produce a Strategic Outline Case (SOC) for the long-
term management of coastal flood and erosion risk around the harbour and esplanade 
frontages of Weymouth. This work follows adoption of the Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade 
Flood & Coastal Risk Management Strategy by Dorset Council in 2020 (also prepared by 
WSP), which sets out an adaptive pathway for managing the risks over the next 100 years.  

As part of that adaptive pathway, in approximately 2060 it is expected that a decision will need 
to be made whether long-term management of risk will require a tidal barrier or not. In 
developing this SOC, independent expert review is sought of all previous work relating to a 
potential future tidal barrier within Weymouth Harbour to advise on the practicality of tidal 
barrier and infrastructure spatial requirements for the currently expected preferred location, 
such that a degree of certainty can be afforded to securing the necessary land area for future 
infrastructure within the currently developing new Dorset Local Plan. 

To this end, we would request a quote from the Consultant to deliver the following activities: 

1. Desk-top review of all previous studies and assessments regarding the technical and 
environmental rationale for type and location of a tidal barrier within Weymouth Harbour. 

2. Site visit to review the area and understand the current constraints with regard potential 
infrastructure needed for any future tidal barrier. This site visit is expected to be attended 
by the Consultant, the Client PM (Alan Frampton) and assistant PM (Rob Thomas), John 
Buttivant of the Environment Agency, and the Weymouth Harbourmaster (Jamie Joyce). 
We envisage this site visit taking place in early February 2021, allowing the Consultant 
time to have undertaken an initial review of existing data in advance. 

3. A short technical report summarising the findings of the review, and advising on: 

a. Is the currently proposed recommended type and location of a future tidal barrier 
appropriate and practical to deliver (both in terms of constructability and 
operation) given current information and constraints (including landscape setting 
and upstream flood risk)? If not, what would the Consultant recommend as the 
preferred location and/or barrier type? 

b. What area of land is recommended to be set aside for future tidal barrier 
infrastructure to inform the developing new Local Plan? To be considered in terms 
of both: 

i. how a barrier would operate once constructed (e.g. where will spare parts / 
back-up generators be stored? What space is required for onsite welfare 
facilities, meeting room(s), desk space etc.?); and 

ii. how a barrier could be constructed (e.g. crane access/operation)? 

Page 272



 
 
 

c. What additional technical work is recommended for future studies and 
investigations to further appraise the technical feasibility in the coming years, 
including modelling and ground investigations, with high level estimate of costs to 
undertake those tasks?  

d. An outline programme to cover the key tasks and activities required in the period 
from decision to implement a tidal barrier to construction completion, with high 
level estimate of costs to undertake those tasks and activities, and the likely 
approvals/consenting route that would need to be followed assuming current 
legislation (e.g. could this be done under a HRO or would TWAO be required?).  

 

Contract terms 

This work will be contracted via the Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Consultancy 
Services - Framework Agreement, Southern England (Annex B). The contract will be direct 
awarded as an Option A, lump sum contract. 

 

Programme 

We would like the work to commence on Monday 25th January 2021. 

A draft for review is to be submitted by Friday 19th February 2021.  

The draft will be reviewed by the Client PM and John Buttivant of the Environment Agency. 
Comments will be sent to the Consultant by Friday 26th February 2021.  

Completion of the final technical report is to be achieved by Friday 5th March 2021. 

 

Documents to be provided for desk study review 

Year Author Title 

2020 Clarity:NS Ltd WQRS Design and Access Statement 

2020 AustinSmithLord WQRS Current Design_v1 

2020 WSP Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk 

Management Strategy 

2019 JBA Weymouth Inundation Modelling Study  

2018 JacksonHyder Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study (main report and 

appendices inc. PEIR) 

2016 JBA Weymouth Model Updates 

2010 Royal 

Haskoning 

Weymouth Flood Risk Management Strategy (NB: now 

superseded but contains some initial appraisal of tidal barrier 

options) 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 273



   

 

Weymouth FCRM Scheme 
(Strategic Outline Case) 

Version: V2.0 May 2021 Appendices 

 

APPENDIX G: 

Next Steps Technical Note 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 274



 

APPENDIX G – Next Steps Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix G - Next Steps Technical Note REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: JW 

CHECKED: BM APPROVED: BM 

 

Page 1 
 

  

APPENDIX G – NEXT STEPS 
TECHNICAL NOTE  
 

WEYMOUTH FCRM SCHEME SOC 

 

Page 275



 

APPENDIX G – Next Steps Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix G - Next Steps Technical Note REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: JW 

CHECKED: BM APPROVED: BM 

 

Page 2 
 

INTRODUCTION 

This note has been written to summarise recommended activities to support the future development of the 

Weymouth Flood & Coastal Risk Management (FCRM) Scheme and has been prepared alongside the 

development of the Strategic Outline Case (SOC) report. 

It is not considered an exhaustive list but provides a broad set of recommendations relating to activities to 

support scheme development – in particular those pertinent to the production of a HM Treasury compliant 

Outline Business Case (OBC) which will be developed upon approval of the SOC by the Environment 

Agency. 

RECOMMENDED ACTIVITIES 

Flood Modelling 

• Collation of existing models, comprehensive review and initial gap analysis including potential 
efficiencies by integrating the modelling requirements associated with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority led Weymouth Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. 

• Further numeric integrated hydraulic modelling is considered necessary and should include the 
below listed activities/ assessments: 

o Improve representations for joint probability scenarios between various flood risk sources 
(tidal, fluvial, pluvial, sewer). 

o Develop better understanding of surface water/ sewer flooding and potential contributions 
from groundwater flooding. 

o Surface water pumped drainage assessment. 

o River Wey tide locking and assessment/consideration for any requirement for fluvial 
floodplain storage noting downstream flow control at Westham Bridge and potential 
consequence of control feature failure. 

o River Wey fluvial modelling with sensitivity testing of a variable tidal boundary (including 
consideration of the impacts from a potential tidal barrier). 

o Fluvial flood risk during possible barrier closures. 

o Assess velocities through any barrier structure (to consider navigation, siltation, erosion risks 
etc). 

o Determine frequency of operation for any potential barrier structure. 

o Sensitivity testing to sea level rise scenarios associated with UKCP18 datasets. 

o Review and update of wave overtop risk using latest Coastal Flood Boundary CFB and 
climate change projection (UKCP18) datasets. 

o Review of flood hazard ratings for the updated predicted flood event scenarios. 
Page 276



 

APPENDIX G – Next Steps Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix G - Next Steps Technical Note REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: JW 

CHECKED: BM APPROVED: BM 

 

Page 3 
 

Engineering Site Investigation & Surveys 

• Initial gap analysis to identify proportionate survey needs. 

• Further investigations and surveys are likely to include: 

o Ground investigation (for physical and chemical parameter determination, to follow initial 
optioneering and inform further design development and better understanding of 
groundwater seepage). 

o Geo-environmental investigation (to help inform environmental assessment and any 
constraints). 

o Topographic and bathymetric surveys. 

o Property surveys (threshold, floor levels etc). 

• Statutory undertakers/Utility providers – services plans/records review, collation & assessment. 

• Unexploded ordnance (UXO) and unexploded bomb (UXB) surveys. 

• Land registry search. 

• Asset record/ as-built drawing review and collation. 

Optioneering & Design 

Informed by the proposed flood modelling further optioneering of the proposed form of interventions should 
include the below listed activities/ assessments: 

• A non-exhaustive list of design constraints that should be considered as part of design development 
with allowance for climate change. 

• Detailed review of technical, environmental, flood/erosion risk and economic constraints and 
opportunities including whole life costing of proposed and existing assets based on their current 
condition, expected residual life and maintenance requirements (including Westham Bridge). 

• Review of design standard of protection, crest levels and timing of intervention. 

• Review of design feasibility, buildability and maintainability ensuring proportionate allowance for 
residual geotechnical & structural capacity and asset degradation/ durability where phased raising is 
proposed. 

• Undertake a Multi-Criteria Assessment (MCA) to identify leading option/s. 

• Public realm and amenity development to consider interaction with local setting embedding user 
needs into design through further public, stakeholder/ landowner and statutory authority 
consultation.  

• Consideration of acceptable overtop limits and public safety. 

• Review existing asset durability, degradation and design capacity. 

• Review resilience of foundation depths and erosion control measures against future risk of erosion 
action. 

Page 277



 

APPENDIX G – Next Steps Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix G - Next Steps Technical Note REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: JW 

CHECKED: BM APPROVED: BM 

 

Page 4 
 

• Review of beach modelling/coastal geomorphology to date to check beach response, profile and 
level information informed design. 

• Consideration of modelling data confidence and allowance for additional freeboard to design in 
proportionate resilience to account for uncertainty through assessment predated flood events (to 
inform design crest levels). 

• Initial barrier design considerations; gate types, size, arrangement etc leading to a concept barrier 
design. 

• Outline design drawings to include plans, cross-sections and elevations of works proposed. 

• Designer’s risk management schedule, significant residual risk register and draft Basis of Design 

(BoD) document. 

Early Supplier Engagement 

• Establish relationship with construction contractor/s to provide: 

o Buildability and construction methodology inputs, and 

o cost assessment and benchmarking to give greater cost certainty. 

Stakeholder Liaison  

To strengthen support for the scheme, understand user requirements and define all constraints and 
opportunities, further work must include the below listed activities. 

• The development of the stakeholder engagement plan (for financial contribution and impact to third 
part landowners/ users). To be done in conjunction with engagement planned for other projects in 
the area to ensure engagement activities and communications are joined-up. 

• Wide and inclusive engagement with identified stakeholders. 

• Establish network of key regulatory stakeholders to assist with consenting regime. 

Environmental Assessment, Investigation & Surveys 

Assessment and consideration of the environmental impacts (both positive and negative) and environmental 
risk will require the below listed assessments, investigations and surveys: 

• Undertaking environmental and planning appraisal of potential options to support the process for the 
selection of preferred option(s). 

• Support the Council to identify and help obtain the necessary licences and permits for the scheme. 

• Prepare the set of documents forming part of the Preliminary Environmental Information Report 

(PEIR) to be submitted with the OBC.  

• Terrestrial and Marine Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Screening Report. 

• Submit an EIA Screening Opinion Request to Dorset Council (in their role as the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA)) with accompanying documentations (including HRA Screening Report if necessary) Page 278



 

APPENDIX G – Next Steps Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix G - Next Steps Technical Note REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: JW 

CHECKED: BM APPROVED: BM 

 

Page 5 
 

to confirm whether an EIA is required. Identification of acceptability for combined screening for 
terrestrial and marine screening to be led through LPA including consultation with MMO to be 
undertaken to eliminate requirement for independent MMO screening requirement. 

• Appraisal Summary Tables (AST) as defined in the EA guidance (reporting the findings of the 
options environmental appraisal). 

• Water Framework Directive Assessment (WFDa) Screening Report. 

• Carbon assessment. 

• Further consideration of environmental mitigation and net gain enhancements such as landscaping, 
public realm and habitat improvements. 

The anticipated scope of work of further environmental data collection and assessment to support the 
PEIR process will comprise the below listed activities: 

• Terrestrial & Marine Ecology (Protected species, intertidal habitat, benthic species etc). 

• Fish (assemblage studies, migratory studies etc). 

• Surface and Groundwater (Water Quality and Flood Risk). 

• Physical processes (Hydrodynamics and Geomorphology) (This will need to include consideration of 

geomorphological implication to Radipole and potential change as result of any barrier options). 

• Terrestrial and Marine Historic Environment. 

• Landscape/ Seascape/ Townscape. 

• Socio-Economic (Population and Health, tourism and recreation, and economic effects). 

• Contamination and Ground Conditions. 

• Navigation. 

• Construction Effects (Construction Access & Traffic, Air Quality, Noise and Vibration). 

• Sustainability (Climate Change, Climate Resilience, Waste and Resources). 

Further planning and consents review will be required to ensure full compliance with associated 
consents and licencing requirements and should include the below summarised activities: 

• Marine Management Organisation (MMO) licensing and consents 

• Local Authority T&CPA terrestrial consenting 

• Harbour Revision Order (HRO) review 

• Miscellaneous permits (FRAP etc). 

Funding Strategy 

• Work with funding specialists to develop a detailed funding strategy. 

• Development of planning instruments to support the funding and implementation of the scheme 

approach (if required). Page 279



 

APPENDIX G – Next Steps Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix G - Next Steps Technical Note REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: JW 

CHECKED: BM APPROVED: BM 

 

Page 6 
 

• Further consideration of maintenance and whole life funding aspects. 

Broader Economic Assessment 

• Refinement of scheme costs and benefits. 

• Further investigate and quantify economic opportunity and potential in relation to heritage, 
environmental and cultural outcomes, interfaces with Harbour asset management, and areas of 
growth and regeneration. 

• Develop and refine a ‘Recreational Gains & Losses’ economic assessment to value amenity and 
tourism benefits. 

• Consider wider economic consequence, supporting economic resilience and unlocking economic 
potential. 

• Develop the business case further to link local/wider economic growth directly to FCRM investment 
and implementation – demonstrating improved BCR and value for money. 

Other General Activities 

• Consider potential synergies, efficiencies and opportunities of integrating the Weymouth FCRM 
Scheme modelling requirements and other associated assessment works with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority for the Weymouth Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. This in turn will provide 
information to update Dorset Council’s Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. 

• Consider legal and land agent review in relation to landownership, third party compensation, access 

and other related land ownership/ lease agreements and maintenance obligations. 

• Outline Business Case authoring and production. 

• Develop a robust risk management process including a quantified analysis of risk. 

• Undertake Monte Carlo assessment of risk and use to inform, optimise and assign risk budgets. 

Page 280



 

APPENDIX G – Next Steps Technical Note 

DATE: 17 May 2021 CONFIDENTIALITY: Public 

SUBJECT: Appendix G - Next Steps Technical Note REVISION: 2.0 

PROJECT: Weymouth FCRM Scheme SOC AUTHOR: JW 

CHECKED: BM APPROVED: BM 

 

Page 7 
 

INDICATIVE OUTLINE ACTIVITY SCHEDULE 

This indicative activity schedule sets out a general high-level programme with multiple concurrent activities. 

It is not intended to be definitive and will require detailed assessment at the start of the OBC stage, whereby 

comprehensive scheme definition and critical path analysis (though Jul-Sep 2021) can be undertaken. 

It should be noted that the flood modelling works are critical path to enable the design development to be 

taken forward and thereafter inform the other associated works outlined within this note.  

It is therefore recommended that early discussions are undertaken to agree a scheme definition to enable 

the scope of modelling works to be confirmed.   

 

Ju
l

A
ug

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
pr

M
ay

Ju
n

Ju
l

A
ug

Se
p

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Ja
n

Fe
b

M
ar

A
pr

M
ay

Ju
n

Scheme Definition

Flood Modelling 

Engineering Site Investigation & Surveys

Reference design – flood & erosion measures

Reference design – public realm

Early Supplier Engagement and Early Contractor Involvement

Stakeholder liaison

Environmental assessment, investigation & surveys

Funding strategy/ initial negotiations

Broader Economic Assessment

Initial Legal agreements

OBC Production

2021 Q3 2021 Q4 2022 Q1 2022 Q2 2022 Q3 2022 Q4 2023 Q1 2023 Q2

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank



Weymouth Harbour &
Esplanade Flood and Coastal

Risk Management Strategy

Document: 1 Version: 4.0

 September 2020

Page 283



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

Document history

Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk Management Strategy

Dorset Council

This document has been issued and amended as follows:

Version Date Description Created Checked Approved

0.1 12/05 First Draft (for internal check) BM SL

0.2 15/05 Second Draft (for internal
approval)

BM SL HH

1.0 15/05 Issue (for Client Review) BM SL HH

1.1 12/06 Working BM SL

2.0 12/06 Issue BM SL HH

3.0 22/06 Issue BM SL HH

4.0 15/09 Final BM SL HH

Prepared by Ben Murray CEng BEng(Hons) MIMMM AMICE

Approved by Hamish Hall CEng BEng(Hons) MICE

WSP UK

First Floor, Keble House

Southernhay Gardens, Exeter

EX1 1NT

Page 284



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

2

Contents
Executive Summary 3
1 Background 4
2 Flood and Erosion Risk 6
2.1 Sea Level Rise and Climate Change Projections 6
2.2 Existing Flood Defences 7
2.3 Properties at Flood Risk 7
2.4 Coastal Erosion Risk 8

3 Strategic Pathways 10
3.1 The Adaptive Pathway Approach 10
3.2 Categorisation of Assets 12

4 Financial Case 15
4.1 Cost Assessment 15
4.2 Funding - General 15
4.3 Funding – Weymouth Specific 16
4.4 Forecast Cost Profile 16
4.5 Spatial Planning & Delivery 19

5 Economic Case 20
5.1 Appraisal Introduction 20
5.2 Appraisal Findings 20

6 Conclusion 21
7 References 22

Appendices
Appendix A Adaptive Pathway Interventions

Appendix B High Level Cost Summary

Appendix C Adaptive Pathway Phase Maps

Page 285



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

3

Executive Summary

This is a non-technical report intended for a general readership.

Weymouth already floods and is impacted by coastal erosion. With
a robust prediction of an acceleration in sea level rise and more
intense weather events as a result of climate change, the problems
facing Weymouth will increase significantly. Without investment in
managing this flood and erosion risk, Weymouth faces increasing direct losses through
flooded assets and infrastructure and indirect impacts such as a failing property market due
to blight and increasing social deprivation.

Dorset Council as;

(i) The principal asset owner of harbour and seafront infrastructure,
(ii) The Local Planning Authority,
(iii) The defined Lead Local Flood Authority, and
(iv) Coast Protection Authority;

now need to promote a coherent plan for the long-term sustainable flood and coastal risk
management of Weymouth Harbour and the Esplanade. This document sets out the
Council’s preferred strategic approach; bringing together the findings and recommendations
from numerous recent studies undertaken by both the Council and the Environment Agency.
It should be noted that this strategy excludes river and surface water flood risk.

The preferred strategic approach is to undertake a comprehensive programme of wall
replacement and wall raising around both the Harbour and Esplanade frontages.  This will
both reduce flood risk and replace deteriorating walls, some of which are already at the end
of their design life. It is a phased and adaptive approach which provides the opportunity to
keep under review a number of factors including rates of climate change, asset deterioration
and changes in spatial planning needs and requirements.

The scale of engineering works is significant and will require investment from multiple
funding sources in line with Government’s Partnership Funding approach. Investment in
excess of £115million in cash cost terms will be required over the next one-hundred years.

Through economic appraisal, it can be clearly demonstrated that a robust case can be
formed with Present Value Benefits totalling in excess of £750million (PVb). The wider
financial benefits to Dorset and the South West Region will be several times greater.
Economic benefit alone will return a Benefit Cost Ratio in excess of 14:1.

Page 286



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

4

1 Background

This document aims to bring together the findings and recommendations from a number of
recent studies undertaken by Weymouth & Portland Borough Council (now Dorset Council)
and the Environment Agency, namely:

• Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study (Jackson-Hyder, 2015 to March 2018).

• Weymouth Model Updates (JBA, August 2016)

• Weymouth Inundation Modelling Study (JBA, February 2019)

• Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood & Coastal Risk Management Strategy Update
(WSP, March 2019)

• Masonry Harbour Walls Condition Assessment (JBA, June 2019)

• Sheet Pile Harbour Walls Condition Assessment (JBA, June 2019)

• Weymouth Beach Management Plan (Jacobs, July 2019).

The above studies have all built upon the original Weymouth Flood Risk Management
Strategy (Royal Haskoning, 2010) which itself aligns to the long-term policy to continue to
defend Weymouth Harbour and seafront through ‘Hold the Line’ policy adoption defined in
the South Devon & Dorset Shoreline Management Plan (Halcrow, 2011).

Section 2 of this report sets out the risks faced in Weymouth from coastal flooding and
erosion if no action is taken to maintain or improve the current harbour and esplanade
defences and assets. This is considered in the context of the challenges posed from climate
change over the next 100 years and beyond, particularly sea level rise and more extreme
weather events.

Sections 3 to 5 consolidate the recent reports into a preferred strategic pathway to managing
coastal flooding and erosion risks. Short term implementation can be defined with a
reasonable level of confidence given the recent studies and reports, whilst the longer-term
approach needed in the second half of this century should allow for a range of possible
scenarios whilst still achieving the overall objective. Factors which could influence the
longer-term approach in the coming decades include;

• Availability of national funding to deliver different possible future options.

• Availability of local funding / partnership funding contributions.

• The rate of sea level rise.

• The frequency of flooding and erosion incidents.

• The rate of beach narrowing along the seafront.

• The rate of degradation in the condition of harbour walls.

• Willingness/acceptability for specific future options.

Page 287



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

5

• Spatial planning direction and drivers.

• Future economic need and tourism.

This report has been reviewed and is supported by the Environment Agency who maintain
strategic oversight on flood and coastal risk matters in England and who also manage the
majority of government investment into reducing flood and coastal risk.

Weymouth has the attention of the Wessex Regional Flood and Coast Committee and
features as a priority location within its committee strategy.

Page 288



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

6

2 Flood and Erosion Risk
2.1  Sea Level Rise and Climate Change Projections
Coastal management schemes must account for accelerated sea level rise caused by global
warming.  This is normally informed by the latest climate change projections, which are
currently those released in November 2018 by the UK Climate Predictions 2018 (UKCP18)
project.  That project was undertaken by the Met Office and funded by Defra, with the
purpose of reviewing and updating climate change projections for the UK. Figure 2.1 shows
how sea level rise is expected to affect high water levels in Weymouth in comparison to the
current 2.3m Ordnance Datum (OD) crest level over the next 100 years.

The target Standard of Protection (SoP) against coastal flooding at Weymouth is 1 in 200
years (0.5% annual probability of exceedance).

Figure 2.1 Projected rise in the 1 in 200-year water level at Weymouth to 2120 under the
UKCP18 ‘High’ emissions projection (WSP, 2019).

The water level is shown rising with the upper limit of the UKCP18 ‘High’ emissions scenario
(RCP 8.5 95th Percentile) and this represents a conservative estimate.

Over this time period, the 1 in 200-year level can be seen to increase from a present-
day level of +2.43m Ordnance Datum (OD) to a level of +3.74mOD; a rise of 1.3m over
the next 100 years in the worst case UKCP18 projections.  The current typical defence
level is +2.30mOD around the harbour and between +3.0mOD and +3.5mOD along the
esplanade frontage. Current harbour walls below the desired standard of protection
means increased level of risk and stifles development without specific mitigation
measures.

Page 289



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

7

2.2 Existing Flood Defences
The most recent flood protection scheme constructed in Weymouth Harbour was that built in
2001/2002 by the Environment Agency. It was designed to a 1 in 200-year Standard of
Protection which at that time required a crest level of +2.30mOD.

The wall heights around the harbour vary and some are higher, and some are lower than the
original scheme level. There are multiple construction forms and types of wall assets built
over centuries and are accordingly in variable condition. Corresponding residual asset life for
wall sections range from less than a year up to greater than 60 years. Residual life refers to
the length of time before the asset is deemed to have reached failure/unserviceable state
and is based on individual condition assessment surveys undertaken. However, even walls
with reasonable residual life may require raising or replacement in order to achieve the
required crest level to afford flood risk protection. There needs to be a consistent wall height
throughout the town to safeguard against the risk.

2.3 Properties at Flood Risk
If a 1 in 200-year flood event were to occur, various technical reports (which include
computer flood modelling simulations) have estimated the number of residential and non-
residential properties around the harbour and behind the esplanade to be at risk of flooding.
The flood risk mechanism could be either, or a combination of, extreme still water level
and/or wave overtopping. Extreme still water level refers to an exceptionally large tidal event
independent of any waves. In addition, the flood risk impacts from any failure of individual
sections of harbour wall have been analysed.

In the present day (2020), this could be as many as 440 properties at flood risk (JBA,
2019c), in turn rising to over 2,000 properties by 2120.

Figure 2.2 is an example of the mapped outputs produced to depict flood extents across
Weymouth – in this case, 1 in 50, 100 and 200 year still water events in the year 2065.

Page 290



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

8

Figure 2.2 Map of still water scenarios for 2065 (JBA, 2019c)

2.4 Coastal Erosion Risk
Within the strategy area, erosion risk is most prevalent to the northern part of the Weymouth
seafront area, between the Pier Bandstand and the Greenhill Groyne. The risk would
increase if the seawall were to fail as a result of being undermined, particularly during storm
events.

Once defences have failed and coupled with sea level rise, a period of initial ‘coastal catch-
up’ would most likely occur. Coastal catch up describes the behaviour of the coast which can
exhibit an increased level of short-term shore retreat in the immediate period following the
loss of coastal protection before recession falls to a lower and more constant rate.

Coastal erosion at rates between 0.5-1.0m/year poses risk to properties (Jacobs,
2019), Greenhill Gardens and the B3155 highway which runs parallel to the shoreline.

Figure 2.3 displays that should the existing defences fail, erosion loss of between 25 and
50m could be expected after 50 years. This would rise to between 50 and 100m after 100
years. An erosion loss of just 25m would render the loss of the promenade as well as the
majority of properties located between the beach and the B3155 road.

Page 291



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

9

Figure 2.3 Map of Coastal Erosion Risk Zones (Jacobs, 2019)

The narrowing or loss of the beach would not only increase erosion risk but would also
exacerbate flood risk through increased wave overtopping.

Greenhill Groyne

Pier Bandstand

Page 292



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

10

3 Strategic Pathways
3.1 The Adaptive Pathway Approach
The basic idea behind adaptive planning is to generate a wide array of "pathways" through
which policy objectives are achieved under changing climate and socio-economic conditions.
Three key elements are central to the adaptation pathways concept:

1. responses to changes that are effective under the widest set of all plausible future
scenarios;

2. responses do not foreclose future options or unnecessarily constrain future choice;

3. relevant changes are foreseen through targeted monitoring and scenarios of the
future are continuously being reassessed.

Proposed strategic adaptive pathways were considered in recent studies (WSP, 2019), all
seeking to provide a 1 in 200-year standard of protection from sea flooding and preventing
erosion until at least 2120. This time horizon is important to allow development to be brought
forward with adequate flood and coast risk management.

Pathways were made up of grouped interventions, optimised to ensure that the standard of
protection is maintained for the 100-year duration. Financial and economic impacts of such
pathways were assessed to look for an optimal approach.

All harbour and esplanade assets have undergone further recent condition inspection and
appraisal (JBA, 2019a&b and Jacobs, 2019) to determine anticipated residual life and
detailed crest heights. The scheduling of interventions has then been calculated by the
earlier of either; the exceedance of the existing crest level by the corresponding 1 in 200
year flood level; or, the existing structure reaches the end of its residual life. All assets and
their respective interventions can be found within the detailed tables contained in Appendix
A.

The pathways included phased approaches to wall raising, wall replacements and the
possible inclusion of a future tidal barrier. Further consideration of these options has resulted
in a leading strategy pathway as shown overleaf in Figure 3.1. The specific detail as to which
wall section and in what phase an intervention is made can be found in Appendix C.

Page 293



HARBOUR SEA 
DEFENCE WALLS

ESPLANADE SEA 
DEFENCE

HARBOUR WALLS 
GENERAL

Replace nine sections of 
harbour walls (eg Nothe 

Parade, Commercial Rd, Cove 
Row)

Replace seven sections of
harbour walls (eg North Quay 

Rd, Custom House Quay, 
Westwey Rd) and raise nine 
sections (eg Commercial Rd, 

Cove Row, Nothe Parade)

Decision Gateway - 
Consider Further wall 
raising or tidal barrier 

choice?

Further wall 
raising

Tidal barrier 
between Custom 
House Quay and 

Nothe Parade

Capital repair to Greenhill 
section sea wall foundation 

Continue ongoing beach 
recycling activities

Greenhill section sea wall with 
associated promenade works

Replace four sections of
peninsula walls

Replace Pavilion to Brunswick 
sea wall with associated 

promenade works and set 
back walls

Replace and/or major capital 
refurbishment to 8 wall 

sections (eg Nothe Parade, 
Ferry Berths, Stone Pier)

WEYMOUTH FCRM HARBOUR & ESPLANADE ADAPTIVE PATHWAY

2020 - 2030

2020 - 2026

2034 - 2035

2020 - 2027

2040 - 2045

2060

2070

2065 - 2067 2060 - 2075

Phases 3+ 
(2060-2120)

£59M Capital Works
costed on further wall 
raising / replacements

Inclusive Risk
£5m Maintenance

Phase 2 
(2040-59)

£9m Capital Works
Inclusive Risk

£1m Maintenance

Phase 1 
(2020-39)

£47m Capital Works
Inclusive Risk

£1m Maintenance

2039 Strategy 
Review

2059 Strategy 
Review

Consider potential future 
beach recharge to replace / 

delay future capital 
interventions

Figure 3.1 Adaptive Pathway 11

P
age 294



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

12

3.2 Categorisation of Assets
To fulfil the identified adaptive pathways, it is essential that clear responsibilities and
liabilities are understood, and it is necessary to categorise the assets requiring ongoing
management and upgrade. The harbour and esplanade assets can be split into three
categories as follows;

Harbour Sea Defence Walls

A significant number of harbour walls (approximately 2.5km in plan length) form not only a
functional harbour quay wall but also provide a flood risk function to mitigate tidal flooding to
residential and commercial property.

It is therefore essential that these walls are replaced and/or raised at the appropriate
intervention timings to ensure the desired standard of protection is maintained. In addition, a
number of locations are known to suffer from tidal water rising up behind the defences
contributing to the flood risk.

An example of such an asset is Wall 7 (spanning part Commercial Road and part Custom
House Quay) as show in Figure 3.2. Whilst the concrete flood wall was added in the early
2000’s by the Environment Agency, the supporting harbour wall itself has a residual life of
around twenty years. In addition, the current crest height of 2.30mOD would be exceeded
even in a present day (2020) 1 in 200-year tidal flood event. It should be noted that the
present-day flood levels are based on the most up-to-date guidance which has changed
significantly since the Environment Agency scheme was designed in 2001.

Figure 3.2 Typical existing ‘Harbour Sea Defence Wall’ (Wall 7, adjacent to Lifting Bridge
abutment)

Page 295



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

13

Harbour Walls General

A further number of harbour walls (approximately 2.0km in plan length) provide limited Flood
and Coastal erosion Risk Management (FCRM) benefit. However, in order to consider the
total harbour wall requirements and to ensure coherent and efficient delivery, they should be
included within the strategic approach.

An example of such an asset is Wall G (northern side of the Pavilion Peninsula) as shown in
Figure 3.3.  The condition of this wall is poor and has reached the end of its effective design
life. When it is replaced, it will not need its crest level raising for flood defence purposes.
However, should development be brought forward on the peninsula, mitigation measures
funded by developers may be required.

Figure 3.3 Typical existing ‘Harbour Walls General’ (Wall G, northern side of Pavilion
Peninsula)

Esplanade Sea Defences

The Esplanade Sea Defences provide a dual purpose in terms of offering flood risk benefit
and also mitigating erosion risk. They are important to protect against wave overtopping for
the low-lying areas of the town set behind the Esplanade frontage.

Page 296



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

14

An example of such an asset is the seawall and beach along the frontage of the Esplanade
within Section 2 (Jubilee Clock to the Pier Bandstand) as shown in Figure 3.4.  Here, future
interventions are anticipated in approximately 45 years with the installation of set-back
defences to manage flood risk. If the beach levels lower, further structural measures may be
required including potential replacement of the Promenade seawall.

Figure 3.4 Typical existing ‘Esplanade Sea Defences’ (Esplanade Section 2, looking north
from the Jubilee Clock)

Other Esplanade assets such as Section 3 (Pier Bandstand to Greenhill Groyne) are
impacted to a greater extent by coastal erosion. As such, interventions here include for
considering undermining and erosion of the wall structures.

Current beach management activities should continue which includes recycling of sand and
reprofiling of the beach. This provides a cost-effective measure of delaying more significant
capital interventions.

Page 297



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

15

4 Financial Case
4.1 Cost Assessment
The capital costs for each of the interventions to deliver the adaptive pathway were
calculated using the rates provided in the Environment Agency’s ‘Long-Term Costing Tool’.
This provides unit costs for FCRM measures based on previously undertaken schemes. The
rates within the tool were uplifted to present day value using the Consumer Price Index.

A number of variations for costing options were undertaken to provide a sensitivity analysis
around potential cost estimates. These include simple or defined approaches and lower,
average and upper percentiles.

Cost outputs from the Environment Agency’s ‘Long-Term Costing Tool’ have been
benchmarked and validated against recent works at Wall C of Weymouth harbour. Good
correlation was found, adding to the confidence of the cost assessment.

Maintenance costs have been considered to ensure whole life costs are inclusive of routine
repairs and inspections.

In line with HM Treasury guidance and FCRM industry best practice, an ‘Optimism Bias’
uplift of 60% has been added to all costs.

A summary of the high-level costing exercise for the 100-year adaptive pathway can be
found tabulated in Appendix B.

4.2 Funding - General
At the present time, Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (Defra) allocates
funding to FCRM projects through the Environment Agency.

Flood and coastal erosion resilience partnership funding or ‘partnership funding’
(Environment Agency, 2020a) aims to share the costs between national and local sources of
funding. This approach allows any worthwhile project (where benefits are greater than costs)
to qualify for Government money, known as Flood Defence Grant-in-Aid (FDGiA).

The success of this approach depends on:

· creating strong partnerships;
· clearly defining roles for responsible organisations and their partners; and
· securing and managing contributions to help reduce flood and coastal erosion risks

and achieve more benefits for the economy, local people and the environment.

It is a condition from Defra that the Government’s FDGiA funding settlement will realise a
minimum of 15% ‘Partnership Funding’ contributions to its overall FCRM capital investment
programme.

In addition, the current rationale is that those that are set to benefit from FDGiA scheme
investment should likewise contribute to scheme cost. Contributions are considered from all
groups and organisations that will benefit the most from the project. Private or third sector
contributors (voluntary organisations) are encouraged, as this reduces the amount of funding
needed from other local government spending.

Page 298



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

16

Accordingly, the Grant Memorandum for Local Authorities (Environment Agency, 2018) sets
out the prerequisite to secure reliable commitments from funding partners.

A tool, known as the partnership funding calculator (PF Calculator), is used to work out the
amount of FDGiA a project is entitled to and the minimum amount of contribution it needs to
obtain.

4.3 Funding – Weymouth Specific
Dorset Council would be expected to be a significant contributor in the development and
delivery of this strategy. For example, the harbour wall component identified under Section 3
has wider benefits for the Council and therefore Dorset Council’s contribution should be at
least equal or exceed the capital cost of the ‘Harbour Walls – General’ in addition to the
routine maintenance costs that are usually incurred directly.

The significant value of tourism and amenity benefit realised locally from harbour and
esplanade works would also support the need for investment by Dorset Council or other
major beneficences. The Council has recognised the need for flood defence investment and
mechanisms are already in place for collecting and contributing to projects such as this.  One
such example is the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy which collects money as a
result of new development.1

Completion of the PF Calculator demonstrated that the delivery of the strategy could attract
in excess of £50m PVc (Present Value Cost) of FDGiA (WSP, 2019).

Updated PF arrangements and a revised calculator were released by Defra on 17/04/20
(Environment Agency, 2020b). The latest changes increase the funding payment rates
available and allow for the inclusion of specific additional benefits not previously eligible for
quantification. This will only help to strengthen the case for FDGiA investment in Weymouth
at the point of individual business case submissions. The revised PF Calculator will be
utilised in all future business cases and investment making decisions.

4.4 Forecast Cost Profile
The adaptive pathway, shown in Figure 4.1, should be considered in phases to ensure
cohesive delivery packages whilst still providing opportunity for further future adaptation and

1https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/community-infrastructure-levy/west-dorset-and-
weymouth-and-portland-community-infrastructure-levy/how-will-the-community-infrastructure-levy-cil-be-spent-in-west-
dorset-weymouth-portland.aspx

Page 299



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

17

variability. Appendix C contains a suite of maps indicating the asset interventions to be
considered in each of the delivery phases, an excerpt of which is shown in Figure 4.1 below.

Figure 4.1 Excerpt of Phase 1 (2020-39) Intervention Map (see Appendix C for full suite)

It is intended that the strategy be reviewed at least twelve months prior to the
commencement of each future phase of the pathway. In addition, it is anticipated that a light
touch ‘refresh’ of the strategy be undertaken every five years. Table 4.1 indicates the
anticipated cost profile across the phases and potential scale of contributions required.

Table 4.1 Phased Forecast Cost Profile

Years Estimated Dorset
Council
Contribution (£m)

Estimated FDGiA
/ Local Levy /
Other (£m)

Estimated Total
Costs (£m)

Phase
1

2020-
2039

£7m £40m £47m

Phase
2

2040-
2059

£2m £7m £9m

Phase
3+

2060-
2120

£17m £42m £59m

TOTALS £26m £89m £115m

Sea Defence Wall
Replacement

Sea Defence
Wall Raising

General
Harbour Wall
Replacement

Page 300



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

18

To provide a comparison against additional costs associated with a tidal barrier option, Table
4.2 presents a similar phased approach but with the inclusion of a barrier from 2070.

Table 4.2 Phased Forecast Cost Profile – Provided for comparison with inclusion of Phase 3
barrier costs

Years Estimated Dorset
Council
Contribution (£m)

Estimated FDGiA
/ Local Levy /
Other (£m)

Estimated Total
Costs (£m)

Phase
1

2020-
2039

£7m £40m £47m

Phase
2

2040-
2059

£2m £7m £9m

Phase
3+

2060-
2120

£43m £42m £85m

TOTALS £52m £89m £141m

Page 301



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

19

4.5 Spatial Planning & Delivery
Following local government re-organisation in April 2019, Dorset Council has started work on
preparing a new local plan which will replace those adopted local plans of the predecessor
District and Borough Councils.

The Council intends to undertake a consultation on the emerging plan in autumn/winter
2020, publish a pre-submission draft of the local plan in autumn/winter 2021 and adopt the
new local plan in spring 2023. As part of preparations for the new local plan the Council will
be undertaking a Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) that covers the entire
Council area and a Level 2 SFRA for Weymouth.

The risks from flooding and coastal erosion around Weymouth Town Centre need to be
effectively managed and mitigated in order to secure re-development of parts of the town,
and to encourage regeneration and investment. The policies in the emerging local plan that
relate to Weymouth will take account of both the Level 1 and 2 SFRA, in addition to this
Harbour and Esplanade FCRM strategy.

The local plan is likely to;

· identify the parts of the town that need to be safeguarded to allow coastal and flood
defences to be constructed,

· require that the design of development adjacent to flood risk and coastal erosion
defences should take account of future plans (as outlined in this Strategy) to alter or
replace these defences,

· require that the Council or developers explore the opportunities to improve the quality
of the public realm as part of any flood risk or costal erosion defence works, and;

· require that the design of coastal and flood defences takes account of Weymouth’s
heritage assets (including conservation areas, listed buildings and scheduled
monuments).

The Council will also be preparing an updated charging schedule for the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL), and the priorities for spending on infrastructure.

Page 302



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

20

5 Economic Case
5.1 Appraisal Introduction
The economic performance of a FCRM scheme is determined through its Benefit Cost Ratio
(BCR). Benefits are measured in terms of the present value (PV) of economic damages
avoided over the lifespan of the scheme, with the present value of scheme capital and
maintenance costs also being estimated over the same period.

The economic appraisal period is typically taken as 100 years and all damages and costs
are discounted according to The Green Book, HM Treasury, 2018.

5.2 Appraisal Findings
A recent economic appraisal (WSP, 2019), identified that through the provision of a 1 in 200
standard of protection adaptive pathway over a 100-year economic appraisal period, in
excess of £750m present value benefit (PVb) can be realised.

The appraisal calculates the economic damages to property, amenity and transport
infrastructure caused by flooding and erosion and includes the following;

· The direct flooding damage to properties and vehicles;
· The cost of evacuation and clean-up;
· The cost to emergency services;
· Traffic loss assessment;
· Direct damage to road infrastructure;
· Recreation amenity assessment;
· The impact of flooding on human health: and
· Direct loss of assets due to erosion.

Whilst the economic benefit (benefit to the UK) of a coherent Harbour and Esplanade FCRM
adaptive pathway are significant at more than £750m, the local financial benefit to the town,
wider Dorset and the South West region are likely to be many times greater.

This can be summarised in Table 5.1 below.

Table 5.1 Economic Summary

Total Benefits
(£m PVb)

Total Costs
(£m PVc)

Benefit Cost
Ratio (BCR)

£768m £54m 14.2

Page 303



Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy

21

6 Conclusion
Through consideration of previous studies and information, the adaptive pathway approach
proposes a comprehensive phased programme of asset replacements, raising and
upgrades. Excerpts from the adaptive pathway and supporting maps shown below in Figure
6.1 provide an example of a clear and practical way through Phase 1.

Figure 6.1 Excerpts from the adaptive pathway and maps showing example delivery through
Phase 1

The implementation of the pathway will ensure that flood and coastal erosion risk is
managed whilst ensuring that other wider benefits to Weymouth such as commercial,
amenity and recreation can be enhanced. The approach remains flexible and can be
adjusted to manage any future change.

The next steps in progressing Phase 1 of the pathway (2020-2039) should begin
immediately with the forming of appropriate project governance and management structures
to direct the project. Development and production of an appropriate HM Treasury compliant
business case  should follow as a priority activity.

Ambition and commitment from all stakeholders is required to ensure that this vital scheme is
progressed. Dorset Council and the Environment Agency need to give their full support to
the pathway and endorse its progression. The significant capital investment need will act as
a catalyst for delivery of a multi-functional scheme, cementing Weymouth’s reputation as a
safe and attractive place to work and visit.

Page 304



7 References
Environment Agency (2020a). Operational principles to follow when setting up funding
partnerships to tackle flood and coastal erosion. Environment Agency. April 2020.

Environment Agency (2020b). Calculate grant-in-aid funding for flood and coastal
erosion risk management projects. Environment Agency. April 2020.

Jacobs (2019). Weymouth Beach Management Plan. Dorset Council. July 2019.

JBA (2019a). Weymouth Masonry Harbour Walls Condition Assessment. Weymouth &
Portland BC. June 2019.

JBA (2019b). Weymouth Sheet Pile Harbour Walls Condition Assessment. Weymouth &
Portland BC. June 2019.

WSP (2019). Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade Flood & Coastal Risk Management
Strategy Update. Weymouth & Portland BC. March 2019.

JBA (2019c). Weymouth Inundation Modelling Report v3. Weymouth & Portland BC.
February 2019.

Environment Agency (2018). Memorandum relating to capital grants for local authorities
and internal drainage boards in England. Environment Agency. June 2018.

Jackson-Hyder (2018). Weymouth Bay Coastal Processes Study. Weymouth & Portland
BC. March 2018.

JBA (2016). Weymouth Model Updates. Weymouth & Portland BC. August 2016.

Halcrow (2011). Durlston Head to Rame Head Shoreline Management Plan Review
(SMP2). Shoreline Management Plan (Final). South Devon and Dorset Coastal Advisory
Group (SDADCAG). June 2011.

Royal Haskoning (2010). Weymouth Flood Risk Management Strategy. Weymouth &
Portland BC. June 2010.

Page 305



Appendix A     Adaptive Pathway Interventions
HARBOUR SEA DEFENCE WALLS

Asset 
Identifier Structure Type Crest Level Residual Life Phase Work Reason Phase Work Reason Phase Work Reason Length (m)

A SSP 2.48 5 1 Replace Condition 3 Raise Level 115

Ai SSP 2.48 15 1 Replace Condition 3 Raise Level 55

B SSP 2.27 5 1 Replace Condition 3 Raise Level 218

C SSP 1.98 5 1 Replace Condition 3 Raise Level 40

Ci SSP 2.3 20 1 Raise Level 2 Replace Condition 2070 Raise Level 25

D SSP 4 50 3 Replace Condition 110

2 Blockwork & Conc 2.1 20 1 Raise Level 2 Replace Condition 2070 Raise Level 30

2i Blockwork & Conc 2.1 20 1 Raise Level 2 Replace Condition 2070 Raise Level 30

3 Masonry Brickwork 2.3 20 1 Raise Level 2 Replace Condition 2070 Raise Level 250

3i RC Wall 2.3 20 1 Raise Level 2 Replace Condition 2070 Raise Level 50

4 Masonry Blockwork 2.2 10 1 Replace Condition 3 Raise Level 82

4i Concrete Panel 2.2 0 1 Replace Condition 3 Raise Level 132

6 Mass Concrete 2.5 20 1 Raise Level 2 Replace Condition 2070 Raise Level 80

6i Masonry Wall 2.5 20 1 Raise Level 2 Replace Condition 2070 Raise Level 80

7 RC Panels 2.3 20 1 Raise Level 2 Replace Condition 2070 Raise Level 315

8 Mass Concrete 3.1 30 2 Replace Condition 3 Raise Level 149

11 Concrete Panel 2.45 0 1 Replace Condition 3 Raise Level 730

5
Concrete caissons with 
culverts & sluice gates 2.4 50 1 Raise Level 3 Replace Condition 115

HARBOUR WALLS GENERAL

Intervention 1
Asset 

Identifier Structure Type Crest Level Residual Life Phase Work Reason Length (m)

E SSP 3.36 5 1 Replace Condition 163

F SSP 4.1 10 1 Replace Condition 30

Fi SSP 4.1 0 1 Replace Condition 137

G SSP 3.27 0 1 Replace Condition 349

1 Masonry Stone & timber 3.4 40 3 Replace Condition 433

1i
Masonry encapsulated in 

concrete 3.4 40 3 Replace Condition 150

2 2.1 40 3 Replace Condition 140

2i 2.1 40 3 Replace Condition

2ii Blockwork & concrete 2.1 40 3 Replace Condition 150

2iii Blockwork & concrete 2.1 40 3 Replace Condition 185

9 Embedded Concrete 3.1 40 3 Replace Condition 143

10 SSP & Tube Combi 3.1 50 3 Replace Condition 58

Intervention 2 Intervention 3

Blockwork & concrete

Intervention 1

P
age 306



Appendix B High Level Cost Summary

Cost for economic
appraisal (PV) £k

Whole life cash
cost £k

Costs to OBC:
EA & LA staff costs 75

Site investigation & survey 100
MMO Fees 5

Consultant fees 180
Early Contractor Involvement (ECI) 15

Cost consultant fees 1
Sub-total 1,000

OBC to Construction:
EA & LA staff costs 100 100

Site investigation & survey 150 150
Consultant fees 918 918

Early Contractor Involvement
Cost consultant fees 15 15

Other costs (consultation) 15 15
Sub-total 1,000 1,000

Construction:
Construction costs 30,598 62,331

Inflation
EA & LA Staff Costs 306 306

Site supervision 153 153
Cost consultant fees 76 76

Other costs (ECC PM) 76 76
Sub-total 31,000 63,000

Future Costs
Maintenance 2,000 7,000

Risk Contingency
Risk for approval (Optimism Bias 60%)
Risk for appraisal (Optimism Bias 60%) 20,000 43,000

Contributions
Total 54,000 115,000

**NB. All summed values have been rounded to the nearest £1000k.

Page 307



Appendix C Adaptive Pathway Phase Maps

Page 308



THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN WSP  AND MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR WRITTEN CONSENT
CONTAINS ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHT 2019, ENVIRONMENT AGENCY INFORMATION © ENVIRONMENT AGENCY AND DATABASE RIGHT 2019
 BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MATERIALS © NERC 2019

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-1

1 
11

:4
0:

18
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

65
52

00
0

65
52

50
0

65
53

00
0

-273500 -273000 -272500 -272000

70069393-A

Weymouth FCRM
update.qgz 11/06/20

70069393 A

HARBOURSIDE WALLS
NAMING CONVENTION

WEYMOUTH HARBOUR &
ESPLANADE FCRM STRATEGY

DORSET COUNCIL

Keble House, Southernhay Gardens,
Exeter, Devon EX1 1NT

Tel: +44 (0) 1392 267 500

www.wsp.com

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

A 11.06.20 SL FIRST ISSUE BM BM

Harbour Walls Naming Convention

Harbour Sea Defence Walls

Harbour Walls General

KEY:

SL BM BM

P
age 309



THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN WSP  AND MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR WRITTEN CONSENT
CONTAINS ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHT 2019, ENVIRONMENT AGENCY INFORMATION © ENVIRONMENT AGENCY AND DATABASE RIGHT 2019
 BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MATERIALS © NERC 2019

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-0

8 
16

:0
8:

47
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

65
52

00
0

65
52

50
0

65
53

00
0

-273500 -273000 -272500 -272000

70069393-01

Weymouth FCRM
update.qgz 08/06/20

70069393 B

HARBOURSIDE INTERVENTIONS
PHASE 1 2020-2039

WEYMOUTH HARBOUR &
ESPLANADE FCRM STRATEGY

DORSET COUNCIL

Keble House, Southernhay Gardens,
Exeter, Devon EX1 1NT

Tel: +44 (0) 1392 267 500

www.wsp.com

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

A 15.05.20 SL FIRST ISSUE BM BM

Harbourside Phase 1

Harbour Sea Defence Walls - Raise

Harbour Sea Defence Walls - Replace

Harbour Walls General - Replace

KEY:

SL BM BM

B 08.06.20 SL REVISION 1 BM BM

P
age 310



THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN WSP  AND MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR WRITTEN CONSENT
CONTAINS ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHT 2019, ENVIRONMENT AGENCY INFORMATION © ENVIRONMENT AGENCY AND DATABASE RIGHT 2019
 BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MATERIALS © NERC 2019

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-0

8 
16

:1
0:

22
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

65
52

00
0

65
52

50
0

65
53

00
0

-273500 -273000 -272500 -272000

70069393-02

Weymouth FCRM
update.qgz 08/06/20

70069393 B

HARBOURSIDE INTERVENTIONS
PHASE 2 2040-2059

WEYMOUTH HARBOUR &
ESPLANADE FCRM STRATEGY

DORSET COUNCIL

Keble House, Southernhay Gardens,
Exeter, Devon EX1 1NT

Tel: +44 (0) 1392 267 500

www.wsp.com

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

A 12.05.20 SL FIRST ISSUE BM BM

Harbourside Phase 2

Harbour Sea Defence Walls - Replace

Harbour Walls General - Replace

KEY:

SL BM

B 08.06.20 SL REVISION 1 BM BM

BM

P
age 311



THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN WSP  AND MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR WRITTEN CONSENT
CONTAINS ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHT 2019, ENVIRONMENT AGENCY INFORMATION © ENVIRONMENT AGENCY AND DATABASE RIGHT 2019
 BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MATERIALS © NERC 2019

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-0

8 
16

:1
1:

36
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

65
52

00
0

65
52

50
0

65
53

00
0

-273500 -273000 -272500 -272000

70069393-03

Weymouth FCRM
update.qgz 08/06/20

70069393 B

HARBOURSIDE INTERVENTIONS
PHASE 3 2060-2120

WEYMOUTH HARBOUR &
ESPLANADE FCRM STRATEGY

DORSET COUNCIL

Keble House, Southernhay Gardens,
Exeter, Devon EX1 1NT

Tel: +44 (0) 1392 267 500

www.wsp.com

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

A 12.05.20 SL FIRST ISSUE BM BM

Harbourside Phase 3

Harbour Sea Defence Walls - Replace

Harbour Sea Defence Walls - Raise

Harbour Walls General - Replace

KEY:

SL

B 08.06.20 SL REVISION 1

BM

BM

BM

BM

P
age 312



THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN WSP  AND MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR WRITTEN CONSENT
CONTAINS ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHT 2016, ENVIRONMENT AGENCY INFORMATION © ENVIRONMENT AGENCY AND DATABASE RIGHT 2016
 BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MATERIALS © NERC 2016

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-1

1 
11

:5
3:

35
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

65
52

00
0

65
52

50
0

65
53

00
0

65
53

50
0

65
54

00
0

65
54

50
0

65
55

00
0

65
55

50
0

-273000 -272500 -272000 -271500

70069393-B

Weymouth FCRM
update.qgz 11/06/20

70069393 A

ESPLANADE SECTIONS

WEYMOUTH HARBOUR &
ESPLANADE FCRM STRATEGY

DORSET COUNCIL

Kings Orchard, 1 Queen Street,
Bristol, BS2 0HQ

Tel: +44 (0) 117 930 2000

www.wsp.com

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

A 11.06.20 SL FIRST ISSUE BM BM

Esplanade Sections

1 - Pavillion Peninsula to Jubilee Clock

2 - Jubilee Closk to Pier Bandstand

3 - Pier Bandstand to Greenhill Groyne

KEY:

SL

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-1

1 
11

:5
3:

39
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

BM BM

Page 313



THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN WSP  AND MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR WRITTEN CONSENT
CONTAINS ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHT 2016, ENVIRONMENT AGENCY INFORMATION © ENVIRONMENT AGENCY AND DATABASE RIGHT 2016
 BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MATERIALS © NERC 2016

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-1

2 
10

:2
3:

11
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

65
54

00
0

65
54

50
0

65
55

00
0

65
55

50
0

-272500 -272000

70069393-04

Weymouth FCRM
update.qgz 12/06/20

70069393 B

ESPLANADE INTERVENTIONS
PHASE 1 2020-2039

SECTION 3

WEYMOUTH HARBOUR &
ESPLANADE FCRM STRATEGY

DORSET COUNCIL

Kings Orchard, 1 Queen Street,
Bristol, BS2 0HQ

Tel: +44 (0) 117 930 2000

www.wsp.com

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

A 11.05.20 SL FIRST ISSUE BM BM

Esplanade Phase 1 

New Seawall 

Sheet Pile Toe Protection

Resurface Promenade 

Esplanade Sections

1

2

3

KEY:

SL

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-1

2 
10

:2
3:

15
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

B 12.06.20 SL REVISION 1 BM BM

BM BM

Page 314



THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN WSP  AND MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR WRITTEN CONSENT
CONTAINS ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHT 2016, ENVIRONMENT AGENCY INFORMATION © ENVIRONMENT AGENCY AND DATABASE RIGHT 2016
 BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MATERIALS © NERC 2016

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-0

8 
16

:1
6:

34
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

65
52

50
0

65
53

00
0

65
53

50
0

65
54

00
0

-273000 -272500

70069393-05

Weymouth FCRM
update.qgz 08/06/20

70069393 B

ESPLANADE INTERVENTIONS
PHASE 3 2060-2120

SECTIONS 1 & 2

WEYMOUTH HARBOUR &
ESPLANADE FCRM STRATEGY

DORSET COUNCIL

Kings Orchard, 1 Queen Street,
Bristol, BS2 0HQ

Tel: +44 (0) 117 930 2000

www.wsp.com

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

A 11.05.20 SL FIRST ISSUE BM BM

Esplanade Phase 3 

New Seawall 

Ramps

Set-Back Walls Between Existing Planters

Resurface Promenade 

Esplanade Sections

1

2

3

KEY:

SL

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-0

8 
16

:1
6:

38
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

BM BM

B 08.06.20 SL REVISION 1 BM BM

Page 315



THE PROPERTY OF THIS DRAWING AND DESIGN IS VESTED IN WSP  AND MUST NOT BE COPIED OR REPRODUCED IN ANY WAY WITHOUT THEIR WRITTEN CONSENT
CONTAINS ORDNANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT AND DATABASE RIGHT 2016, ENVIRONMENT AGENCY INFORMATION © ENVIRONMENT AGENCY AND DATABASE RIGHT 2016
 BRITISH GEOLOGICAL SURVEY MATERIALS © NERC 2016

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-1

2 
10

:2
4:

11
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

65
54

00
0

65
54

50
0

65
55

00
0

65
55

50
0

-272500 -272000

70069393-06

Weymouth FCRM
update.qgz 12/06/20

70069393 A

ESPLANADE INTERVENTIONS
PHASE 1 2020-2039

SECTION 3

WEYMOUTH HARBOUR &
ESPLANADE FCRM STRATEGY

DORSET COUNCIL

Kings Orchard, 1 Queen Street,
Bristol, BS2 0HQ

Tel: +44 (0) 117 930 2000

www.wsp.com

FOR INFORMATION ONLY

A 11.05.20 SL FIRST ISSUE BM BM

Esplanade Phase 3

New Seawall 

Ramps

Set-Back Wall Between Existing Planters

Resurface Promenade 2065

Esplanade Sections

1

2

3

KEY:

SL

C
re

at
ed

 b
y:

 U
K

S
A

L0
04

 -
 2

02
0-

06
-1

2 
10

:2
4:

15
 -

 \\
uk

.w
sp

gr
ou

p.
co

m
\c

en
tr

al
 d

at
a\

P
ro

je
ct

s\
70

06
93

xx
\7

00
69

39
3 

- 
W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
D

oc
um

en
t\0

3 
W

IP
\0

2 
C

on
di

tio
n 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t R

ev
ie

w
\G

IS
\W

ey
m

ou
th

 F
C

R
M

 u
pd

at
e.

qg
z

B 12.06.20 SL REVISION 1 BM BM

BM BM

Page 316



 

Environment Agency, Wessex Area                          
Rivers House, Sunrise Business Park, Blandford Forum, Dorset, DT11 8ST          
Tel: 02030 259389                                                      
Email:  ron.curtis@environment-agency.gov.uk                                            
 
 

 
  Dear John 
 

Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM Strategy 
 
 
I am writing in support of the recently issued Weymouth Harbour & Esplanade FCRM 
Strategy, which I understand is a non-technical document designed to obtain 
commitment to future strategic investment by Dorset Council in this important area.  
 
Weymouth has been subject to detailed scrutiny in its attempts to establish a clear 
strategic approach to adapting over the next 100 years to the challenges posed by 
climate change.  We support an adaptive pathway being developed and implemented, 
with trust that the Council can sign up to this way forward. 
 
You may have noted that last week, the Environment Agency unveiled their Flood & 
Coastal Risk Management Strategy, setting out how it will better protect and prepare 
millions of homes and businesses from the risk of flooding caused by climate change 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-
management-strategy-for-england--2). 
This will see the investment of £5.2 billion of funding over the next 6 years to better 
protect 336,000 properties, along with an additional £170m announced to invest in 
‘spade ready’ projects. There is an expectation that future works around Weymouth 
will be able to utilise some of this government funding to secure further investment in 
defences.  
 
We have worked closely with the Engineering Projects Team over recent years to 
investigate flood and coastal erosion risk to Weymouth Town Centre and have funded 
and supported technical investigations to inform this report.  If members can adopt the 
preferred strategic approach it will form an important cornerstone to securing a funding 
partnership to tackle long-term flood and erosion risk.  Partnership funding 
contribution requirements have recently been revised and Cabinet members should 
be made aware of our ambition to secure a reliable commitment from partners.  
 
Subject to the development and submission of a Strategic Outline Case with a range 
of options considered, grant-in-aid project funding formulas would then apply to the 
further development of an Outline Business Case for the preferred option.   

John Sellgren 
Executive Director of Place 
Dorset Council 
County Hall 
Colliton Park 
Dorchester 
Dorset 
DT1 1XJ 

 

 
 
 

Our ref:  Weymouth FCRM Strategy 

Your ref:  
Date:  20/07/2020 

 

Page 317



  

Environment Agency, Wessex Area                          
Rivers House, Sunrise Business Park, Blandford Forum, Dorset, DT11 8ST          
Tel: 02030 259389                                                      
Email:  ron.curtis@environment-agency.gov.uk  

I encourage you to take these steps at the earliest opportunity in order to refine the 
actual amount of Flood Defence Grant in Aid that  any scheme would be eligible for. 
 
Any future commitment may need to adapt as appropriate to changing circumstances 
during the course of the phased delivery programme outlined in your document. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

 
 
Ron Curtis  
Area Flood & Coastal Risk Manager, Wessex East 

 

Page 318



Place and Resources Overview Committee
1st June 2021
Management of Council Owned Trees

For Recommendation to Cabinet
Portfolio Holder:  Cllr R Bryan, Highways, Travel and Environment

Local Councillor(s):  County Wide

Executive Director:  John Sellgren, Executive Director of Place
 

Report Author: Matt Reeks
Title: Coast and Greenspace Service Manager
Tel: 01202795309
Email: matt.reeks@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation:

Place and Resources Overview Committee consider the contents of the Draft 
Management of Council Owned Tree’s Policy and recommend its final approval 
to Cabinet.

Reason for Recommendation:     

1. Executive Summary 

Dorset Council owns and is responsible for approx. 250,000 trees which will be 
managed against this Policy. The Policy builds upon and combines existing tree 
policies from the predecessor district and county authorities, and has been 
written with input and advice from the Health and Safety Executive  reflecting the 
legal obligations of Dorset Council to manage its Tree stock e.g. Occupiers 
Liability Act 1984 and Highways Act 1980.  

Page 319

Agenda Item 10



2. Financial Implications

Following advice from the Health and Safety Executive the interval between 
inspections of Council owned Trees has been reduced to 3 years (for A, B and C 
roads) and 6 years for D and unclassified roads (previously 5 and 10 years). The 
increased frequency of inspection will create a need for additional resource and 
as a result an additional Tree Inspector is required at a cost of £40,000 per 
annum.  Permanent funding for this post will be considered as part of the 
2022/23 budget setting process, with the post representing an unfunded cost 
pressure until that time.

3. Climate implications

Trees make a significant contribution to the quality of our environment in a 
number of ways and play a significant role in carbon sequestration, improving air 
quality and micro-climate characteristics. Trees have a proven ability to not only 
provide high quality landscape features, contribute to ecological networks and 
habitat quality, they also offer carbon storage to offset the effect of climate 
change. The draft Policy includes a commitment to only remove trees if 
absolutely necessary and any Tree removed will be replaced with a minimum of 
two new trees (previously none or one)

4. Risk Assessment

Having considered the risks associated with this report, the level of risk has been 
identified as:

Current Risk: High

Residual Risk: Low

Trees present an inherent risk which is compounded by the location in which they 
are growing and how busy the location is. It is considered that the proposed draft 
Policy and particularly the inspection frequencies and methodologies manage the 
risk to a low level. As this policy has been developed in line with advice from the 
Health and Safety Executive there is a reputational and legislative risk to the 
Council of not following that advice.

5. Equalities Impact Assessment –

There are no equalities implications relating to the content of this report. 

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Dorset Council draft Management of Council Owned Trees Policy 

Page 320



7.   Background

7.1 All of the predecessor Councils owned and managed trees. As a result of 
Local Government Reorganisation  this tree stock has come together 
under Dorset Council, along with the various policy approaches against 
which they were managed.

7.2 The policy document being considered today consolidates predecessor 
council policies, but also includes recommendations made by the Health 
and Safety Executive following  a fatality on the B3081 in 2019 caused by 
a falling Council owned tree. . 

7.3 The updated policy covers areas such as public safety, arboricultural 
standards, maintenance and biodiversity considerations, inspection 
frequency and data recording, tree removal and replacement and 
procedures when damage is done to or by a council owned tree. 

8. Conclusion 

8.1 This Policy aims to ensure that Dorset Council’s tree stock is managed in 
line with all relevant legislation, takes into account the contribution that 
trees make to landscape, ecology and climate change and limits Dorset 
Council’s liability to claims for damage caused to private property by 
Council owned trees.

Page 321



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT

1

Management of 
Council Owned 
Trees
Policy summary

Purpose

The policy defines the way in which Dorset Council will 
manage the Trees that the Council own and are responsible 
for. 

Scope

The Policy ensures that the Council meets its legal and 
Health and Safety obligations, provides clear guidance for 
officers to implement. The Policy also recognises the value 
of Trees to the natural environment in terms of landscape, 
ecology and climate change. 

1. Introduction

1.1. Dorset Council currently owns in the order of 250,000 trees situated 
across the highway network, amenity and open space areas, the DC 
property estate and other areas of Council owned land.

1.2. Trees make a significant contribution to the quality of our environment in a 
number of ways including:

 Improving air quality, micro-climate characteristics and mitigating the 
‘urban heat island’ effect in towns

 Providing aesthetic, mental health and social benefits
 Providing a sense of place, continuity and belonging
 Contributing to the urban design, landscape and character of the county, 

including flood mitigation
 Contributing to the ecological network through providing habitats for a 

range of wildlife, especially in urban areas
 As Ancient, Veteran or Notable trees in their own right – providing high 

biodiversity, cultural and heritage value

Appendix 4

Page 323



DRAFT

2

 Contributing to carbon storage and offsetting to help mitigate climate 
change

1.1 Trees adjacent to the highway are subject to particular conditions as set 
out in the Highways Act 1980 and other relevant highway best practice. 
(Appendix 1)

2 Policy Details 

2.1  Public Safety

2.1.1 Dorset Council will manage its trees to ensure that it meets its legal 
responsibilities regarding public safety, for example Health and Safety at 
Work Act 1974, Duty of Care, Managing Health and Safety at Work 
Regulations 1999, Highways Act 1980, New Roads and Street Works 
Act 1991, Working at Height Regulations 2005, Occupiers’ Liability Act 
1984 and the Well Managed Highway Infrastructure guidelines..

2.1.2 Public safety is of paramount importance when making decisions about 
trees and the Council has in place programmes for the regular 
inspection and maintenance of its trees (see Appendix A for inspection 
frequencies). These inspection frequencies are based upon Industry 
guidelines but can be varied according to identified local needs and 
budget. The Council will take into account the guidance given by the 
National Tree Safety Group’s ‘Common Sense Risk Management of 
Trees’ and the HSE, in its work to achieve this.

2.1.3 Community safety – Consideration will be given on a case by case basis 
for additional pruning over and above the tree maintenance schedule 
where serious obstruction of CCTV coverage by trees has occurred. 
Primarily this will address community and public safety priorities where 
critical factors apply. The welfare of trees and the maintenance of our 
tree stock will be of paramount importance when considering the extent 
of any additional tree works for CCTV coverage. 

2.2 Arboricultural Standards, Maintenance and Biodiversity

2.2.1 The Council will ensure that all Council tree work is carried out in 
accordance with BS3998:2010 British Standards Recommendations for 
Tree Work, and BS5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition 
and Construction.

2.2.2 All tree work will be conducted in line with policy and legislation 
requirements relating to wildlife.  This includes the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
2000), the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (amended 

Page 324



DRAFT

3

EU exit 2019) and Statutory Notices under the Plant Health (Forestry) 
Order 2005. Dorset Council’s Tree Policy will contribute to the Council’s 
duty to conserve and enhance biodiversity, as required under the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 and advocated in 
the Dorset Council Biodiversity Strategy amended 2010).

2.2.3 Planning applications for development on Council land where trees are 
affected should be accompanied by a BS5837:2012 (Trees in relation to 
design, demolition and construction) survey and an Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment. They will also be assessed under the Dorset Biodiversity 
Appraisal Protocol to ensure that all impacts on biodiversity (including 
those on protected species associated with trees such as bats which are 
a European Protected Species) and impacts on Ancient/Veteran/Notable 
trees are avoided, mitigated or compensated and that the mandatory 
requirement for 10% net gain is achieved.

2.2.4 Relevant local, regional and national planning policy and guidance which 
relates to trees include the following, and proposed development will be 
assessed against the following policies:

  Planning Policy Framework 2019 (Chapter 15 – Conserving and 
enhancing the natural environment, particularly Para 175c on ancient and 
veteran trees and ancient woodland and Para 175a which sets out the 
biodiversity hierarchy).

 Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended 
2012) which places a duty on local authorities to include appropriate 
provision for the preserving and planting of trees.

2.2.5 The Council’s Planning Tree Officers will be responsible for the                            
implementation and management of Tree Preservation Orders and for 
the implementation and management of Conservation Areas related to 
trees. Where appropriate, the Council’s Arboricultural Team will liaise 
and work with the Planning Tree Officers when carrying out work to trees 
in Conservation Areas or on trees with Tree Preservation Orders on 
them.

2.3 Inspection and Data Recording

2.3.1 All formal inspections will be carried out by suitably qualified and 
experienced inspectors

2.3.2 Inspections will be carried out against categories of risk and at agreed 
intervals (appendix 2)

2.3.3 All inspection records will be captured and stored using a bespoke 
electronic data system called Ezytreev – a nationally recognised tree 
management package that ensures transparency and clear data capture 

Page 325



DRAFT

4

and creates an audit trail from interval of inspection through to 
completion of identified safety works

2.3.4 Informal tree inspections will be carried out and recorded by Community 
Highways Officers (CHO’s) as part of their highway network inspection 
schedule. CHO’s will also record any wider environmental conditions 
that they may consider as having negative impacts on surrounding 
Trees. Informal inspections will be recorded by the CHO’s on the 
Confirm system and any areas of concern will be reported to the Arb 
team via Confirm.

2.3.5 CHO’s will receive regular basic tree inspection training, (every 5 years) 
from the Arboricultural Officers. Online toolbox training will be provided 
to the Highway Operations staff.

2.3.6 Out of Hours call outs relating to Tree issues will be reported by the duty 
supervisor to the Arb team who will carry out follow up inspections to 
ensure no further work is required. Works required to Council owned 
trees will be carried out by the Arb team, issues with privately owned 
trees will be dealt with by the CHO team.

2.3.7 Information regarding road closures or road space booking for tree 
works will be passed by the Highways team to the Arb team for 
consideration if additional inspection is required.

2.4 Tree Removal

2.4.1 Dorset Council operates a presumption in favour of retaining trees 
unless there is a sound arboricultural reason not to do so. Measures 
such as coppicing, pollarding and canopy reduction will be used to 
ensure that every effort is made to conserve and enhance biodiversity 
while safeguarding the public. This will particularly apply where a tree is 
Ancient, Veteran or Notable.

2.4.2 Trees will only be removed for sound arboricultiral reasons such as:

 Dead, dying or dangerous
 Proven to be causing significant structural damage in subsidence claims
 Considered by the Arboricultural Team to be an inappropriate species for 

the location i.e. Poplars or Robinia’s in pavements
 When removal is required as part of an agreed management plan, or as an 

overall agreed improvement project. For example, where a scheme has a 
robust project plan and there has been both public and Member 
engagement, or have been subject to the appropriate Planning process 
and assessment under the Dorset Council Biodiversity Strategy

Page 326



DRAFT

5

2.4.3 Where a tree(s) is identified for removal an advanced notice(s) will be 
placed on the tree(s) to inform the public, except where urgent and 
emergency works apply. The local councillor(s) will also be informed.

2.5 Tree Replacement 

2.5.1 The current policy of replacing one felled tree with one new one is to be 
altered so that for every tree felled, at least two new ones will be 
planted.

2.5.2 The Council will replace trees wherever possible with regard to the ‘right 
tree for the right site’ and with the aim of achieving age and species 
diversification of its tree stock. Species selection will include, but not be 
exclusively, native species of value to the environment.

2.5.3 The opportunities for planting of trees in pavements and highway verges 
is limited due to the location of services, width of verge and the need to 
maintain sight-lines. 

2.5.4 The Council has produced a ‘guide to tree planting’ leaflet which it will 
circulate to interested parties and members of the public who wish to 
plant trees on their own land. The Council will also work with other 
interested parties to support the planting of trees throughout the county.

2.5.5 This Policy does not cover the planting of additional trees for landscape, 
ecological or climate purposes as these are covered by the Climate and 
Ecological Emergency Strategy and Action Plan, but once planted, they 
will be managed in line with the principles included in this policy.

2.6 Tree Pruning

2.6.1 The following reasons will NOT constitute grounds for the pruning or 
removal of trees by the Council.  However, if it is possible to improve the 
situation through general maintenance, this work will be carried out at 
the appropriate time as part of the cyclical maintenance regime:

 Obstruction of light and / or view
 Aphid honeydew, leaf fall, the dropping of fruits, flowers and seeds
 Renewable energy systems such as solar panels or wind turbines
 To improve satellite / digital television reception
 To clear telephone lines
 Roosting birds in a tree and their droppings
 Where a tree is perceived to be too large
 Allergies associated with trees, for example pollen and seed dispersal
 Someone willing to pay for the removal and replacement of a tree(s)
 Causing disturbance to pavements or kerbs (in such cases an engineering 

solution will be sought if possible)

Page 327



DRAFT

6

2.6.2 As a general principle, the Council will not create new pollards on street 
trees which have not been previously pollarded. However, this may be 
considered as a measure to prolong the life of the tree where the tree 
has high existing biodiversity or potential biodiversity. 

2.6.3 An acceptable reason for pollarding a tree might be where a tree has 
been linked to subsidence and pollarding it is preferable to it being 
removed. Trees which have previously been pollarded will be re-
pollarded every five years as appropriate.

2.6.4 Deadwood (standing or stacked alongside) will be retained on site 
wherever it is safe to do so for the benefit of wildlife.

2.7Damage to Council Owned Trees and Compensation

2.7.1 The Council will seek compensation from any external organisation, or 
individual responsible, for significant damage to, or removal of any 
council owned tree(s) to the value as calculated by the nationally 
recognised Capital Asset Value for Amenity trees (CAVAT) used by the 
Council.

2.8 Damage Caused by Council Owned Trees

2.8.1 On the assumption that all Council Owned Trees are managed in line 
with national best practice, any claim made of the Council in relation to 
damage caused by a Council Owned Tree will be thoroughly 
investigated and vigorously defended. 

2.8.2 In the case of subsidence claims, before any such claims can be 
considered by the Council, the claimant will need to provide a range of 
information as shown in Appendix 3. 

This document will be revised as required in line with changes in the management of 
the Council’s tree stock, related legislation and industry guidance documents.

Page 328



DRAFT

7

Glossary

Pollarding – removal of a tree’s branches to reduce its height and vigour, leaving 
only the trunk and stubs of large limbs.

Ancient Tree – one which has passed maturity, has a compact crown and a wide 
trunk, which may be hollow.

Veteran Tree – ancient trees are veteran trees, but not all veteran trees are old 
enough to be ancient. Veteran trees are such because their age, size or condition is 
of exceptional cultural, landscape or nature conservation value.

Notable Tree – these have community or national recognition as being of special 
importance because they commemorate important events in a nation’s heritage e.g. 
the Tolpuddle Martyrs Tree or the Remedy Oak.

Page 329



DRAFT

8

APPENDIX 1

Highway Tree Management

Introduction
Street trees are a relatively recent introduction in England. Prior to the 19th century 
there were relatively few trees that were either planted or allowed to grow within the 
curtilage of the highway. For the purposes of The Highways Act 1980, the ‘highway’ 
was defined not just as the carriageway (the road surface), but the adjacent footway 
running from the kerb edge all the way to the back edge of the pavement area. It 
also includes footpaths and public rights of way maintained at public expense. Trees 
growing in the highway are usually the responsibility of the local highway authority 
and are managed and maintained just like any other element of the highway 
infrastructure that requires maintenance or replacement from time to time: lamp 
columns, bollards, kerb edging, signage, etc. The current statutory requirement is for 
tree branches to be a minimum of 5.2m above the carriageway and 2.3m above 
footpaths, although where they combine with cycleways 2.5m is more appropriate. 
However, unlike other highway infrastructure trees do not remain static, they grow, 
enlarge over time, both above and below ground. They shed leaves and branches, 
and in some situations may fall over presenting a hazard to users of the highway. 
This growth and life cycle which may be perfectly benign in a natural setting is 
problematic when the tree interacts with the built infrastructure around it in a highway 
setting. Trees can cause maintenance issues for kerbs, footway paving, carriageway 
surfaces, adjacent shallowly founded structures (direct damage) and in certain 
conditions damage building foundations as well, when growing in a shrinkable clay 
soil (indirect damage). Despite all these issues, highway trees are a critical element 
in the overall canopy cover of the urban forest within towns in Britain. As such, they 
make a significant contribution in respect of visual amenity and the many aspects of 
ecosystem services they provide to people living in towns. Larger landscape scale 
trees provide the greatest overall benefits. When managing highway trees, this will 
be done in accordance with the guidelines in the Well-managed Highway 
Infrastructure guidelines (WMHI).  

Engineered Highway Solutions
Unfortunately, it is often the larger trees, which, if not adequately maintained in the 
highway context, may cause the most issues for the built infrastructure in their 
immediate vicinity. However, there are a range of engineering and maintenance 
solutions that can easily be applied throughout the trees’ life cycle that allow both the 
tree and the highway to mutually co-exist, each providing the benefits to society that 
are implicitly valued by residents and businesses in towns; safe, usable highways 
and a high quality, well managed and maintained urban forest.
Some examples, not exhaustive, are:

1. Use of flexible tree pit sizes, rather than relying on a small range of pre-
specified dimensions.

2. Use of narrow kerb profiles to accommodate trunk flare and buttress roots.
3. Dispensing with kerb edging when possible in appropriate streets.
4. Use of bonded gravel in the tree pit to provide an inclusively accessible 

surface.
5. Use of tarmac inserts around the base of trees where the footway surface has 

become deformed due to root growth.

Page 330



DRAFT

9

6. Use of flexible rubber crumb along pavements and as inserts where 
previously tarmac or paving has been deformed due to root growth.

7. Integrating tree pit locations into parking bays as kerbside buildouts. 
8. Creating kerbside buildouts to accommodate tree growth or redirect 

pedestrian footfall.

Tree Maintenance Solutions
1. Root pruning of non-structural surface roots to accommodate the laying of 

new paving, tarmac inserts, rubber crumbing surfacing. 
2. Root pruning of non-structural roots to accommodate relaying of kerb edging.
3. Placing barriers around trees to discourage parking on verges.
4. Regular pruning of the tree to control its water uptake and limit its root and 

trunk annual incremental expansion.

All of the above solutions will require the co-ordinated response and guidance of an 
experienced and qualified Arboriculturalist working closely with an experienced 
Highway Engineer. Some, such as the rubber crumb surfacing bring multi-purpose 
benefits in that larger areas of rubber crumb surfacing can act as a Sustainable 
Urban Drainage (SUD) element within the footway, by desynchronising flash flooding 
and providing additional available water to the tree itself.
Where there is potential for direct infrastructure damage as well as indirect 
foundation damage, the need for regular pruning of highway trees in particular can 
be difficult to justify to residents and incurs a cost. However, tree management and 
maintenance is a long term management activity and many tree managers take the 
view that when necessary, it is better to retain a large species, large landscape tree 
and its root system in situ, but maintained at a reduced size.
This is done in the expectation that at some future date due either to; a technical 
innovation that solves that the issue of building subsidence, a change in climatic 
factors (increased winter rainfall rehydrating the soil sufficiently annually) or a 
cultural shift that means property owners tolerate minor cracking (as was the case 
prior to 1971 before mortgage lenders and insurers covered subsidence as an 
insured risk) the trees could be allowed again, to redevelop their larger canopies 
quickly if the worst case scenarios for climate change were realised in the 2050’s to 
2080’s. Thereby providing a quick response to the need for increased canopy cover, 
restoring them at just the moment in time when they will be needed most and without 
the time lag and challenge of replanting from scratch. 
There is a wealth of technical advice and information available across the relevant 
sectors that provide practical and comparatively low-cost methods of achieving the 
objective of permitting highly valued trees to exist within a well maintained and 
modern inclusive highway. These solutions will require effective communication to 
Elected Members and Managers, as well as to the public, as to why they are suitable 
and necessary for achieving good highway tree management practice. 

Page 331



DRAFT

10

Appendix 2

Recommended inspection frequencies for Council owned trees

Tree Locations Recommended inspection frequency in 
years

Highways - urban (see notes below) 3 (previously 5)
Highways – rural (see notes below) 6 (previously 10)
DC schools 3 (previously 3)
Libraries 3 (previously 3)
Land around Council Buildings e.g. County 
Hall

3 (previously 3)

Cemeteries / Crematorium 3 (previously ad hoc)
Outdoor Activity Centres 3 (previously ad hoc)
Open Spaces 3 (previously ad hoc)
Country Parks 3 (previously ad hoc)
County Farms (trees alongside roads and 
property only)

3 (previously 12 – 18 months)

a) For trees with known defects, irrespective of location, they will be inspected every 12 
- 18 months, depending upon the nature and severity of the defect.

b)  Using the DC carriageway hierarchy classification system (zoning), the following 
inspection frequencies will apply:

Road classification Highways Inspectors – 
routine inspection 

Tree Inspector – specialist 
inspection

Strategic routes Monthly basic inspection Every 3 years
Main distributor roads Monthly basic inspection Every 3 years
Secondary distributor roads Monthly basic inspection Every 3 years
Local distributor 3 monthly basic inspection Every 3 years
Collector roads Annual basic inspection Every 3 years
Minor collector roads Annual basic inspection Every 3 years
Minor access roads Annual basic inspection Every 6 years
Unpaved No inspection Every 6 years

c) Carriageway inspections include the trees on them and are carried out by Highways 
Inspectors who have received basic tree inspection training. Any defects noted are 
reported to the Arboricultural Team for further inspection.

Page 332



DRAFT

11

APPENDIX 3

Information required when making a subsidence claim against the Council

Subsidence claims made against the Council will need to provide the following 
information:

 Plan, showing location of property and trees
 Age of property
 Depth and type of foundations
 Details of relevant property extensions
 Drainage details and location of other services
 Extent of damage
 Tree root data
 Soil and subsoil analysis
 Seasonal movement monitoring
 Evidence of live roots of the same family or species found below the level of 

the foundation depth.
 Soil moisture tests at varying depths to below foundation level.
 Evidence of desiccated soil.
 A geotechnical survey including trial pits and soil profiles.
 A structural report providing evidence of actual damage including crack 

monitoring records.
 Details of other vegetation within the theoretical zone of influence that is not 

easily visible from a public place.
 Level distortion survey

Page 333



DRAFT

12

APPENDIX 4

Related Documents
    

Biodiversity Strategy – www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/countryside-coast-
parks/biodiversity 

www.wildlifetrust.org.uk/dorset/biodversity 

Well Managed Highway Infrastructure – www.moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

National Tree Safety Group – www.ntsg.org 

Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategy – www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/climate - 
ecological emergency strategy

Dorset Council Tree Planting Guide - How you can help fight climate change right now - 
Dorset Council

Page 334

http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/countryside-coast-parks/biodiversity
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/countryside-coast-parks/biodiversity
http://www.wildlifetrust.org.uk/dorset/biodversity
http://www.moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/
http://www.ntsg.org/
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/climate
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/emergencies-severe-weather/climate-emergency/how-you-can-help-fight-climate-change-right-now.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/emergencies-severe-weather/climate-emergency/how-you-can-help-fight-climate-change-right-now.aspx


DRAFT

13

APPENDIX 5

Bibliography

Health and Safety Executive (2001). Reducing risks, protecting people – HSE’s 
decision -making process. HSE Books. Sudbury.

Health and Safety Executive (2007). Management of the risk from falling trees. HSE 
Sector Information Minute, SIM 01/2007/05.

Mynors, C, (2011). The Law of Trees, Forests and Hedgerows. Sweet & Maxwell.

Fay, N, Dowson, D & Helliwell, R (2005). Tree Surveys: A Guide to Good Practice. 
The Arboricultural Association.

Lonsdale, D (2000).  Managing hazards from trees: A general guide. Forestry 
commission, London. 

Davis, C, Fay, N & Mynors, C (2000). Veteran Trees: A guide to risk and 
responsibility. English Nature.

Department of Transport (2005). Well maintained highways: code of practice for 
highway maintenance management.

 

 
 

Page 335



This page is intentionally left blank



Place and Resources Overview Committee – DRAFT Forward Plan

Title Description Date of 
committee 
meeting

Requested 
by

Report author Portfolio 
Holder

Other 
meetings? 
(CLT / SLT / 
Cabinet)

Immobilisation and 
Removal of Vehicles 
Parked in 
Contravention of On-
Street and Off-Street 
Parking Places 

Review and creation 
of new policy for 
Dorset Council

1 June 
2021

Review of 
policy

Jack Wiltshire – 
Head of 
Highways

Cllr Ray Bryan - 
Portfolio Holder 
for Highways, 
Travel & 
Environment

Portfolio Holder 
decision

Asset Transfer Policy To review the policy 
for the transfer of 
Assets to Town & 
Parish councils and 
Community groups

1 June 
2021

Review of 
policy

Dave Thompson 
– Corporate 
Director for 
Property & 
Assets

Cllr Tony Ferrari 
– Portfolio 
Holder for 
Economic 
Growth, Assets 
& Property

Cabinet – 22 
June 2021

Street naming and 
numbering policy

To review the Street 
Naming and 
Numbering policy 
which provides a 
framework for Dorset 
Council to operate 
the service effectively 
and efficiently for the 
benefit of Dorset 
Council residents, 
businesses and 
visitors.

1 June 
2021

Review of 
policy

Emma Webb – 
Business 
Solutions 
Analyst

Cllr Peter Wharf 
- Portfolio 
Holder for 
Corporate 
Development & 
Change

Cabinet – 22 
June 2021

P
age 337

A
genda Item

 11



Title Description Date of 
committee 
meeting

Requested 
by

Report author Portfolio 
Holder

Other 
meetings? 
(CLT / SLT / 
Cabinet)

Weymouth Harbour & 
Esplanade Flood and 
Coastal Risk 
Management Strategic 
Outline Case (SOC)

Using the adopted 
2020 Weymouth 
Harbour and 
Esplanade Flood and 
Coastal Risk 
Management 
Strategy to produce a 
Strategic Outline 
Case that gains 
approval from the 
Environment 
Agency’s Large 
Project Review 
Group. It will provide 
a companion 
document to the 
adopted 2020 
strategy, containing 
additional technical 
detail in line with the 
Environment 
Agency’s guidance 
for producing SOCs.  

1 June 
2021

Sarah 
Cairns – 
Service 
Manager for 
Engineering 
Services

Sarah Cairns – 
Service 
Manager for 
Engineering 
Services

Cllr Ray Bryan - 
Portfolio Holder 
for Highways, 
Travel & 
Environment

Cllr Tony Ferrari 
– Portfolio 
Holder for 
Economic 
Growth, Assets 
& Property

Cabinet – 22 
June 2021

Management of 
Council Owned Tree 
Policy

The policy defines the 
way in which Dorset 
Council will manage 
the trees that the 
Council own and are 
responsible for

1 June 
2021

Matthew 
Reeks – 
Community 
& Open 
Spaces 
Manager

Matthew Reeks 
– Community & 
Open Spaces 
Manager

Cllr Ray Bryan – 
Portfolio Holder 
for Highways, 
Travel & 
Environment

Cabinet – 22 
June 2021

P
age 338



Title Description Date of 
committee 
meeting

Requested 
by

Report author Portfolio 
Holder

Other 
meetings? 
(CLT / SLT / 
Cabinet)

New Dorset Council 
Website and Customer 
Platform Progress

A report to update the 
committee of 
progress with the new 
council website and 
delivery of the 
customer platform 
made with support 
from the sub-group of 
councillors from the 
committee. 

31 August 
2021

Deborah 
Smart – 
Corporate 
Director 
Digital and 
Change

Deborah Smart 
– Corporate 
Director Digital 
and Change

Cllr Peter Wharf 
- Portfolio 
Holder for 
Corporate 
Development & 
Change

Dorset Council 
Overview Committees: 
Adding Value to 
Dorset’s Covid-19 
Recovery Strategy

To agree the role of 
the Overview 
Committees in 
Dorset’s Covid-19 
Recovery Work

31 August 
2021

Reset & 
Recovery 
Executive 
Advisory 
Panel

Rebecca 
Forrester - 
Business 
Partner – Policy, 
Research & 
Performance

Cllr Spencer 
Flower – Leader 
of Council

Lead Member - 
Cllr Noc Lacey-
Clarke

P
age 339



Title Description Date of 
committee 
meeting

Requested 
by

Report author Portfolio 
Holder

Other 
meetings? 
(CLT / SLT / 
Cabinet)

Taxi Licensing Policy A new Dorset Council 
Taxi Licensing Policy 
for Hackney Carriage 
& Private Hire 
vehicles, drivers & 
operators, bringing 
together the 
predecessor 
Council’s Taxi 
Licensing policies into 
one policy for the 
whole of the DC area

19 October 
2021

John 
Newcombe 
– Service 
Manager for 
Licensing & 
Community 
Safety

John 
Newcombe - 
Service 
Manager for 
Licensing & 
Community 
Safety

Cllr Jill Haynes 
– Portfolio 
Holder for 
Customer & 
Community 
Services

Licensing 
Committee 15 
June 2021
Cabinet 22 June 
2021
Licensing 
Committee 
November 2021 
tbc
Full Council 14 
December 2021

16 
December 
2021

10 
February 
2022

Review of policies from 
Policy Library – 
policies to be 
prioritised and 
allocated to committee 
dates

21 April 
2022

P
age 340



The Cabinet Forward Plan - April to July 2021 (Publication date 16 April 2021) updated on 4 May 2021 
For the period 1 MAY 2021 to 31 AUGUST 2021 

(Publication date 16 APRIL 2021)
Explanatory Note:
This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Cabinet and Council.  It is published 28 days before the next meeting of the Committee.  
The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions.  Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public or to be considered in a private part of the 
meeting.

Definition of Key Decisions
Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions of the Cabinet which are likely to -
(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 

local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 

the relevant local authority.”
In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act.  Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity.

Cabinet Portfolio Holders 2020/21
Spencer Flower Leader / Governance, Performance and Communications
Peter Wharf Deputy Leader / Corporate Development and Change
Gary Suttle  Finance, Commercial and Capital Strategy
Ray Bryan Highways, Travel and Environment 
Tony Ferrari Economic Growth, Assets & Property
David Walsh Planning
Jill Haynes Customer and Community Services 
Andrew Parry Children, Education, Skills and Early Help
Laura Miller Adult Social Care and Health
Graham Carr-Jones  Housing and Community Safety

P
age 341



May

Dorset Cultural Strategy 2021 - 
2026

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date 
18 May 2021

People and Health 
Overview Committee 
4 May 2021 

Portfolio Holder for 
Customer and 
Community Services

Paul Rutter, Service 
Manager for Leisure 
Services  
paul.rutter@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Annual Children's Services Self-
Evaluation Framework

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

To consider the annual Children’s’ 
Services Self-Evaluation Framework.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
18 May 2021

People and Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
20 Apr 2021 

Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Education, 
Skills and Early Help

Claire Shiels, Corporate 
Director - Commissioning, 
Quality & Partnerships  
claire.shiels@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk
Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy)

West Parley Eastern Link Road - 
Forward Funding

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt

This item seeks to reaffirm the 
Council's commitment to forward 
funding and agreement of associated 
terms.  This item was deferred from 
cabinet of 2 March 2021.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
18 May 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 
Environment

Neil Turner, Development 
Team Leader, Highways  
neil.turner@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Leisure Services Review

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
18 May 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Customer and 
Community Services

Paul Rutter, Service 
Manager for Leisure 
Services  
paul.rutter@dorsetcouncil.g

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and

Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

P
age 342



Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and

Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

Update on the Leisure Services 
Review as a follow up to the 6th 
October 2020 - Cabinet meeting

ov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Protocol for Planning Obligations 
Funding Allocation Community 
Schemes

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

To set out a protocol for determining 
suitability of eligible bodies entrusted 
to spend s106 financial contributions 
that have been collected for a specific 
purpose. To ensure the Council has a 
consistent, transparent and fair set of 
principles in place to secure the 
contributions are managed in 
accordance with the purposes for 
which they were collected.   

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
18 May 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Mike Garrity, Head of 
Planning  
mike.garrity@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Youth Justice Plan

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

To approve the Youth Justice Plan.

Decision Maker 
Dorset Council

Decision Date 
15 Jul 2021

People and Health Scrutiny 
Committee 
20 Apr 2021
Cabinet 

18 May 2021 

Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Education, 
Skills and Early Help

David Webb, Manager - 
Dorset Combined Youth 
Justice Service  
david.webb@bcpcouncil.go
v.uk
Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy)

Dorset Council Climate and 
Ecological Emergency Strategy

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Following public consultation, this 

Decision Maker 
Dorset Council

Decision Date 
15 Jul 2021

Place and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee 
25 Mar 2021
Cabinet 
6 Apr 2021
Place and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee 

Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 
Environment

Antony Littlechild, 
Sustainability Team 
Manager  
antony.littlechild@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk, Matt Reeks, 
Service Manager for Coast 
and Greenspace  

P
age 343



Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and

Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

report will present the results of the 
consultation and the post consultation 
updated final version of the Climate 
and Ecological Emergency Strategy 
for approval.

Deferred from Cabinet meeting of 6 
April 2021.

11 May 2021
Cabinet 
18 May 2021 

matt.reeks@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

June

Dorset Council Budget Quarterly 
Performance Report - Q4

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Audit and Governance 
Committee 
19 Apr 2021 

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy

Jim McManus, Corporate 
Director - Finance and 
Commercial  
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn)

Dorset Council Plan Quarterly 
Performance Report - Q4

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

To consider performance against the 
council plan January to March 2021.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Deputy Leader - 
Corporate 
Development and 
Change

Rebecca Forrester, 
Business Intelligence & 
Performance  
rebecca.forrester@dorsetco
uncil.gov.uk, Elizabeth 
Crocker  
Elizabeth.Crocker1@dorset
cc.gov.uk
Chief Executive (Matt 
Prosser)

Update on Dorset Council's 
response to Covid-19

Key Decision - No

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Leader of the Council Rebecca Forrester, 
Business Intelligence & 
Performance  
rebecca.forrester@dorsetco

P
age 344



Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and

Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

Public Access - Open

To update Cabinet on Dorset 
Council’s Covid-19 response.

uncil.gov.uk, Nina Coakley, 
Programme Manager  
n.coakley@dorsetcc.gov.uk
Chief Executive (Matt 
Prosser)

Redlands Community Sports Hub

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt

To consider a report on Redland 
Community Sports Hub.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Customer and 
Community Services

Paul Rutter, Service 
Manager for Leisure 
Services  
paul.rutter@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade 
Flood and Coastal Risk 
Management Strategic Outline 
Case

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

This project will utilise the adopted 
2020 strategy to produce a Strategic 
Outline Case (SOC) that gains 
approval from the Environment 
Agency’s Large Project Review 
Group. It will provide companion 
document to the adopted 2020 
strategy, containing additional 
technical detail in line with the 
Environment Agency’s guidance for 
producing SOC’s 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Place and Resources 
Overview Committee 
1 Jun 2021 

Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 
Environment

Sarah Cairns, Assistant 
Head of Assets and 
Infrastructure  
sarah.cairns@dorsetcouncil
.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Street Naming and Numbering 
Policy

Key Decision - No

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

People and Health 
Overview Committee 
1 Jun 2021 

Deputy Leader - 
Corporate 
Development and 
Change

Emma Webb, Business 
Solutions Analyst  emma. 
webb@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
Executive Director, 

P
age 345



Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and

Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

Public Access - Open

The Street Naming and Numbering 
policy provides a framework for 
Dorset Council to operate the service 
effectively and efficiently for the 
benefit of Dorset Council residents, 
businesses and visitors.

Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn)

Asset Transfer Policy

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

To review the policy for the transfer of 
assets to towns, parish and 
community groups. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Place and Resources 
Overview Committee 
1 Jun 2021 

Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth, 
Assets and Property

Dave Thompson, Corporate 
Director for Property & 
Assets  
dave.thompson@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Dorset Care Framework

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

To review and approve the new 
framework for Adult Social Care

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health

Jeanette Young, Interim 
Head of Commissioning & 
Improvement  
jeanette.young@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk
Vivienne Broadhurst

Encompass Contract

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt

To consider a review of encompass 
contract

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health

Jeanette Young, Interim 
Head of Commissioning & 
Improvement  
jeanette.young@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk
Vivienne Broadhurst

Tricuro Options Paper

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Fully exempt

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Social Care and 
Health

Jeanette Young, Interim 
Head of Commissioning & 
Improvement  
jeanette.young@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk

P
age 346



Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and

Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

Vivienne Broadhurst

Arne Parish Neighbourhood Plan 
2018 - 2034

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

The item relates to the making 
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan 
following on from an independent 
examination and referendum.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Ed Gerry, Prinicpal 
Planning Policy Team 
Leader  
ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov
.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Blandford + Neighbourhood Plan 
2011 - 2033

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

Decision Maker
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Ed Gerry, Prinicpal 
Planning Policy Team 
Leader  
ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov
.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Chickerell Town Neighbourhood 
Plan 2019 - 2036

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

The item relates to the making 
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan 
following on from an independent 
examination and referendum.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Philip Reese, Senior 
Planning Policy Officer  
philip.reese@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Milton Abbas Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 2019 - 2031

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

The item relates to the making 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Ed Gerry, Prinicpal 
Planning Policy Team 
Leader  
ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov
.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

P
age 347



Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and

Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan 
following on from an independent 
examination and referendum.

Portland Neighbourhood Plan 2017 
- 2031

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

The item relates to the making 
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan 
following on from an independent 
examination and referendum.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Joanne Langrish-Merritt, 
Senior Planning Policy 
Officer  joanne.langrish-
merritt@dorsetcouncil.gov.u
k
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Puddletown Neighbourhood Plan 
2019 - 2031

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

The item relates to the making 
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan 
following on from an independent 
examination and referendum.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Joanne Langrish-Merritt, 
Senior Planning Policy 
Officer  joanne.langrish-
merritt@dorsetcouncil.gov.u
k
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

Shaftesbury Neighbourhood Plan 
2019 - 2031

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

The item relates to the making 
(adoption) of the neighbourhood plan 
following on from an independent 
examination and referendum.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
22 Jun 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Philip Reese, Senior 
Planning Policy Officer  
philip.reese@dorsetcouncil.
gov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

July

P
age 348



Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and

Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

Dorset Council Homelessness & 
Rough Sleeper Strategy

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

A Homelessness & Rough Sleeper 
Strategy for Dorset Council replacing 
previous district and borough 
strategies. To determine, prioritise 
and explain the Council's strategy 
and action plan to meet our objectives 
to reduce homelessness and rough 
sleeping and improve services 
available to those households.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
27 Jul 2021

People and Health 
Overview Committee 
6 Jul 2021 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 
Community Safety

Sharon Attwater, Service 
Manager for Housing 
Strategy and Performance  
sharon.attwater@dorsetcou
ncil.gov.uk
Executive Director, People - 
Adults (Mathew Kendall)

Dorset Council Budget Quarterly 
Performance Report - Q1

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

To consider the Budget Performance 
report for Quarter 1.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
27 Jul 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy

Jim McManus, Corporate 
Director - Finance and 
Commercial  
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn)

Wimborne St Giles Neighbourhood 
Plan Area Designation

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

A final determination as to whether to 
designate a Wimborne St Giles 
Neighbourhood plans area.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
27 Jul 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

Nick Cardnell, Senior 
Planning Officer  
Nick.cardnell@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren)

P
age 349



Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and

Date of meeting(s)

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact

September

Annual Safeguarding Board Report

Key Decision - Yes
Public Access - Open

To receive the Annual Safeguarding 
Board Report from Anthony Douglas 
Independent Chair and Scrutineer of 
the Pan-Dorset Safeguarding 
Partnership

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
7 Sep 2021

Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Education, 
Skills and Early Help

Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy)

October

November

Communities Strategy

Key Decision - No
Public Access - Open

The Communities Strategy will shape 
how Dorset Council engages and 
enables of communities.

Decision Maker 
Cabinet

Decision Date 
7 Dec 2021

People and Health 
Overview Committee 
9 Nov 2021 

Portfolio Holder for 
Customer and 
Community Services

Laura Cornette, Corporate 
Policy & Performance 
Officer  
Laura.cornette@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk
Chief Executive (Matt 
Prosser)

P
age 350



11

Private/Exempt Items for Decision
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs. 

1. Information relating to any individual.  
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).  
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 

between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.  
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.  
6. Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:-

(a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment.  

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.  

P
age 351



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Immobilisation and Removal of Vehicles Parked in Contravention of On-Street and Off-Street Parking Places
	Appendix - Immobilisation and Removal of Vehicles Parked in Contravention of On-street and Off-street Parking Places

	7 Asset Transfer Policy
	Appendix 1 - Low Value Asset Transfer Policy
	Appendix 2 - High Value Asset Transfer Policy

	8 Street Naming and Numbering Policy
	Appendix 1 - Street Naming and Numbering Policy
	Appendix 2 - Equalities Impact Assessment

	9 Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk Management Strategic Outline Case
	Appendix 1 - Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk Management Strategic Outline Case final (inc. Apps) (WSP, April 2021)
	Appendix 2 - Weymouth Harbour and Esplanade Flood and Coastal Risk Management Strategy (WSP, June 2020)
	Appendix 3 - FCRM Strategy EA Support Letter (EA, July 2020)

	10 Management of Council Owned Trees
	Appendix A - Dorset Council draft Management of Council Owned Trees Policy

	11 Place and Resources Overview Committee Forward Plan
	Cabinet Forward Plan


